

# Impacts of Whole Grain Oats intake on Blood Pressure and Vascular Function; the role of Phenolic Acids on the Renin Angiotensin System

Thesis submitted for the Degree of

**Doctor of Philosophy** 

**Department of Food and Nutritional Sciences** 

Sarah Al Sharif

August 2018

## Declaration

I confirm that this is my own work and that the use of all material from other sources has been properly and fully acknowledged.

Sarah Al Sharif

Reading, August 2018

### Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to thank Allah for giving me the strength and courage to do my research and complete this thesis.

I would like to thank Professor Jeremy Spencer for giving me the opportunity to complete my PhD under his supervision, keeping me motivated throughout the writing and editing of my thesis. Special thanks to my second supervisor Dr Gunter Kuhnle for his invaluable advice and feedback on my research. Also, I gratefully acknowledge the funding received towards my PhD from king abdulaziz university, Jeddah Saudi Arabia.

My deep appreciation goes out to Dr. Gessica Serra for continues encouragement and advice through the challenges that faced me during the laboratory work. This PhD study would not have been possible without the corporation and support by Dr.Manuel Y. Schär, Gulten Soycan and Angelika Kristek throughout both clinical trials. I would also like to thank Dr Michelle Weech for always being available to give advices and information about LDI analysis. Also, thank all the staff in the Hugh Sinclair Unit, for all the advice, support in guiding me through the clinical trials.

I would like to thank my family and close friends, your unconditional love, support, patience, optimism and trust was more valuable than you could ever imagine. My mom, I am really lucky to have you, thank you for creating various opportunities in life for me. My grandmother, sisters and brothers, thank you for always believing in me. A very special word of thanks goes for my Fiancé Mohammed whose faithful support during the final stages of this Ph.D.

#### Abstract

Hypertension is a major risk factor for cardiovascular disease and there is substantial evidence that its reduction towards the normotensive state significantly reduces the risk of developing cardiovascular morbidity and mortality. In addition to pharmacological treatment of hypertension, diet is also capable of counteracting the development of high blood pressure and reducing it from an elevated state. Diets rich in plant foods have been found to attenuate blood pressure rises over time and a number of polyphenol-rich foods/beverages derived from plants have been shown to induce beneficial effects on endothelial function and blood pressure in human clinical trials. Polyphenol rich foods include many fruits and vegetables, cocoa, tea, coffee and their derived extracts. Less is known regarding other polyphenol-rich staple foods, such as whole grains which also contain relatively high levels of these bioactives. Whole grain oats are a rich source of small phenolic compounds, such as ferulic acid and avenanthramides, in addition to their widely recognised fibre content, so may also be capable of beneficial changes to endothelial function and blood pressure. This thesis tests this hypothesis and attempts to understand the actions of small phenolics and their metabolites from oats on the renin-angiotensin aldosterone system (RAAS), a major regulator of human blood pressure homeostasis.

To investigate the actions of the most abundant oat phenolics on the RAAS, we utilised kidney juxtaglomerular and HUVEC cells to test whether they and their metabolites influenced renin expression and whether this was regulated via interactions with the ERK-CRB/ATF pathway. Renin gene expression was significantly decreased by exposure to several polyphenols, including avenanthramides (AV-B) and phenolic acid (as trans-Ferulic Acid). Expression was modulated by significant inhibition of CREB, ERK and ATF transcription factors, which occurred when treated with any of the polyphenols. However, although we found small changes, contrary to some published studies, we found no significant inhibition of ACE activity via this mechanism, nor any significant increases in total NO, nitrite or nitrate. Therefore, we did not find conclusively that polyphenols reduce BP via the RAAS, however, we suggest that higher doses should be tested, as they may result in ACE inhibition.

In an acute randomised controlled crossover intervention trial (RCT) oat intake (90.2 g oats containing 50 mg phenolic acid) improved % FMD, however, while the improvements may have been medically relevant, they were not significant and were, therefore, inconclusive. Similarly, secondary outcomes including, notably, blood pressure and endothelium-independent vasodilation at early time points tended towards improvement; but the trials were not assessed

for power against secondary outcomes which, along with the lack of significance in the primary outcomes, prevents conclusions being drawn based on these results.

Similar outcomes which may signify lower stress on the vascular systems of the subjects, but were not statistically significant, were found from a chronic trial, where volunteers consumed different levels of oat based avenanthramides and phenolic acids. In particular, 24 hour ambulatory blood pressure and % FMD responses improved, as did night-time systolic blood pressure, which reduced by 5.1 mm Hg following a high phenolic oat intervention. High phenolic oats interventions also led to decreases in daytime and 24 h SBP by 0.15 and 1.16 mm Hg respectively and increased endothelial microvascular reactivity.

We conclude that there while there were indications of positive, medically relevant differences in vascular function, following both acute and chronic trials, none was statistically significant. The most marked improvements were seen in endothelium-independent blood flow at 2 h post consumption in the acute trial and lowered 24 h ambulatory BP in the chronic trial. The relatively short duration of the trials or likely too small, insufficiently powered sample sizes may have been responsible for the lack of conclusive statistical evidence.

# **Table of Contents**

DECLARATION	I
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	11
ABSTRACT	
TABLE OF CONTENTS	v
LIST OF FIGURES	x
LIST OF TABLES	XI
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND CONVENTIONS	XII
LIST OF PUBLICATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS	XV
CHAPTER: 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Overview	1
1.2 Cardiovascular Disease	3
1.2.1 Endothelial Dysfunction and Atherosclerosis	3
1.2.2 Risk Factors Associated With Endothelial Dysfunction	5
1221 Cholesterol	5
1222 BP	
1.2.2.3 Renin–Angiotensin–Aldosterone System	
1224 Nitric Oxide	11
1.2.2.5 Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate Oxidase	
	15
	16
	10
1.3.2 Dietary sources	
1.3.3 Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism and Excretion (ADME)	
a) Upper GI tract	18
b) Lower GI tract	19
1.4 POLYPHENOLS AND CVD	21
1.4.1 Impact of Polyphenol Intake on CVD	21
1.4.1.1 Epidemiological Evidence	22
1.4.1.2 Clinical and In Vitro Evidence	24
a) Blood Pressure and RAAS	24
b) Flow-Mediated Vasodilation (FMD)	25
c) Laser Doppler Iontophoresis	28
d) Nitric Oxide (NO)	29
1.4.2 Investigations into the Underlying Mechanisms of Polyphenols on Vascular Function	29
a) RAAS	29
b) NO	33

1.5	POLYPHENOLS OF WHOLE GRAINS	. 36
1.5.1	1 Whole Grain Phenolics	. 36
1.5.2	2 Bioavailability of Whole Grain Phenolics	. 40
1.6	Whole Grain and Vascular Function	. 42
1.6.1	1 Epidemiological Studies	. 42
1.6.2	2 Clinical and In vitro Studies	. 43
1.6.3	3 Investigations into Underlying Mechanisms of Whole Grain Phenolics on Vascular Function .	. 45
1.7	CONCLUSION, HYPOTHESIS AND STUDY OBJECTIVES	. 45
1.7.1	1 Conclusions	. 45
1.7.2	2 Hypothesis and Objectives	. 45
CHAPTER:	2 IN VITRO EXAMINATION OF THE IMPACT OF POLYPHENOLS AND THEIR CIRCULATING	
METABOL	ITES ON THE RENIN-ANGIOTENSIN-ALDOSTERONE SYSTEM (RAAS).	. 49
2.1		. 49
2.2	Materials and Methods	. 52
2.2.2	List of polyphenols used in the experiments	. 52
2.2.2	2 Other Materials	. 52
2.2.3	3 Cell Culture and Growth	. 53
2.	2.3.1 As4.1 Cells	53
2.	2.3.2 human umbilical vein endothelial cells	53
2.2.4	4 Preparation of Polyphenols	. 54
2.2.5	5 Evaluation of As4.1 Cells Viability	. 54
2.2.6	5 Renin Inhibition Assay	. 55
2.2.7	7 Renin Gene Expression by RT-PCR	. 56
2.	2.7.1 Stimulation of cells with different concentrations of polyphenols	56
2.	2.7.2 Extraction of RNA and cDNA synthesis	56
2.	2.7.3 Renin Gene Expression Measurement	56
2.2.8	3 Western Immunobiolling	. 57
2.	2.0.1 Lysale Fieparalion	
2.	2.8.3 Western Blot: Phase II (Transfer)	58
2.	2.8.4 Phase III (Protein detection)	58
2.2.9	9 Polyphenols and Angiotensin Converting Enzyme	. 59
2.	2.9.1 Shed ACE ELISA	59
2.	2.9.2 Membrane-Bound ACE ELISA	60
2.	2.9.3 Assay for ACE activity	60
2.2.2	10 Nitrite and Nitrate Analysis	. 61
2.2.2	11 Statistical Analysis	. 62
2.3	RESULTS	. 62
2.3.3	1 Cytotoxicity of Polyphenol Compounds on AS 4.1 Cells	. 62

2.3.2 Renin Inhibition Assay	64
2.3.3 Effect of Polyphenols on Renin mRNA Levels	65
2.3.4 Effects of Polyphenols on the Expression of CREB, ATF-1 and ERK1/2 Proteins	66
2.3.5 Shed and Membrane-Bound ACE	70
2.3.6 ACE Activity Inhibition	71
2.3.7 NO, Nitrite and Nitrate Analysis	72
2.4 Discussion	74
PRE- AND STAGE 1 HYDERTENSION	80
3.1 INTRODUCTION	80
3.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	82
3.2.1 Selection of Subjects	82
3.2.2 Study Design	83
3.2.3 Study Intervention Materials	83
3.2.4 Randomisation and Masking	84
3.2.5 Study Visits	84
3.2.6 Blood Collection	85
3.2.7 Outcome Assessments	87
3.2.7.1 Flow-Mediated Dilatation	87
3.2.7.2 Laser Doppler Iontophoresis (LDI)	87
3.2.7.3 Blood Pressure	88
3.2.7.4 Anthropometric measurement	88
3.2.7.5 Enzyme-Linked Immunoassays (ELISA)	88
a) ACE activity	
b) ACE Concentration	
c) Renin Concentration	
3.2.8 Sumple Size and Statistical Analysis	
3.3 RESULTS	
3.3.1 Flow-Mediated Dilatation	
3.3.2 Laser Doppler Iontophoresis	
3.3.3 Blood Pressure, Pulse Pressure and Heart Rate	
3.3.4 Angiotensin Converting Enzyme and Renin Enzyme Inhibition	
3.4 Discussion	101
CHAPTER: 4 INVESTIGATION OF THE VASCULAR EFFECTS OF CHRONIC OAT INTAKE ON ADU	JLTS WITH
PRE- AND STAGE 1 HYPERTENSION	104
	104
4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	
4.2.1 Selection of Subjects.	107

4.2.2	2 Study Design	
4.2.3	3 Study Visits	
4.2.4	4 Randomisation and Masking	
4.2.5	5 Anthropometric Measures	
	a) Anthropometric measurement	
	b) 24 h Blood Pressure Measurement	
	c) Flow-mediated dilatation (FMD)	
	d) Laser Doppler Iontophoresis (LDI)	
4.2.6	5 Diet diary analysis	
4.2	2.6.1 Blood Collection	113
4.2	2.6.2 Biochemical Measures	
	a) Blood Lipids	
	b) ACE Activity	
	c) ACE Concentration	
	d) Renin Concentration	
4.2	2.6.3 Urinary Mineral Excretion	
4.2	2.6.4 Sample Size and Statistical Analysis	
4.3	RESULTS	
4.3.1	1 Subject Cohort and Selection	
4.3.2	2 Subject Characteristics	
4.3.3	3 Flow-mediated Dilatation (FMD)	
4.3.4	4 Laser Doppler Iontophoresis (LDI)	
4.3.5	5 Twenty-four Hour Ambulatory Blood Pressure (ABPM)	
4.3.6	6 RAAS Enzyme Levels and Activity	
4.3.7	7 Lipid Profile Measures	
4.3.8	8 Mineral - Sodium (Na) and Potassium (K) Excretion	
4.3.9	9 Nutrient Intake Summary	
4.4	Discussion	
CHAPTER:	5 GENERAL DISCUSSION & FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	
5.1	STUDY OUTLINE	
5.2	IN VITRO ASSAYS – THE ROLE OF THE RAAS	
5.3	HUMAN INTERVENTION TRIALS WITH OAT POLYPHENOLS	
5.4	CONCLUSIONS	
5.5		137
5.5	TOTORE T ENSPECTIVES	
REFERENC	CES	
APPENDIX	( 1: PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET	
APPENDIX	( 2: HEALTH AND LIFESTYLE QUESTIONNAIRE	

APPENDIX 3: CONSENT FORM	. 188
APPENDIX 4: PREPARATION INSTRUCTIONS	. 189
APPENDIX 5: DIETARY RESTRICTIONS IN PREPARATION FOR THE STUDY	. 190
APPENDIX 6: PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET	. 191
APPENDIX 7: MEDICAL AND LIFESTYLE QUESTIONNAIRE	. 197
APPENDIX 8: CONSENT FORM	. 201
APPENDIX 9: DIETARY RESTRICTIONS IN PREPARATION FOR THE STUDY	. 203
APPENDIX 10: 24-HOURS AMBULATORY BLOOD PRESSURE MEASURMENT DIARY	. 204

# List of Figures

FIGURE 1.1 DIAGRAMMATIC REPRESENTATION OF THE TYPICAL PROGRESSION OF ATHEROSCLEROSIS IN AN ARTERY
FIGURE 1.2 DIAGRAM DEPICTING THE RENIN-ANGIOTENSIN-ALDOSTERONE SYSTEM (RAAS)
FIGURE 1.3 MICROSCOPIC STRUCTURE OF THE JUXTAGLOMERULAR APPARATUS (JGA)
FIGURE 1.4 VASODILATION AND ITS ROLE IN INCREASING BLOOD FLOW AND REDUCING BLOOD PRESSURE
FIGURE 1.5 NITRIC OXIDE SIGNALING IN THE VASCULAR ENDOTHELIUM
FIGURE 1.6 THE ROLE OF NADPH OXIDASE ACTIVITY AND NO BIOAVAILABILITY IN INCREASING OXIDATIVE STRESS
FIGURE 1.7 CLASSIFICATION OF POLYPHENOLS
FIGURE 1.8 THE METABOLIC PATHWAY OF DIETARY POLYPHENOL: FLAVONOID IN HUMAN SUBJECTS
FIGURE 1.9 SIMILARITIES BETWEEN THE ORTHO-METHOXY-SUBSTITUTED CATECHOL STRUCTURES
FIGURE 1.10 BREAK DOWN (STRUCTURE) OF A TYPICAL WHOLE GRAIN
FIGURE 1.11 FERULIC ACID ESTERIFIED TO ARABIDOXYLAN
FIGURE 1.12 CHEMICAL STRUCTURE OF CINNAMIC ACID DERIVATIVES, BENZOIC ACID DERIVATIVES AND AVENANTHRAMIDES A-C
FIGURE 1.13 THE ESTER TO FERULIC ACID CLEAVAGE REACTION
FIGURE 2.1 CYTOTOXICITY OF POLYPHENOLS ON AS4.1 CELLS
FIGURE 2.2 RENIN INHIBITORY ACTIVITY OF SELECTED POLYPHENOLS
FIGURE 2.3 EFFECTS OF 24 H EXPOSURE TO SELECTED POLYPHENOLS (ON LEVELS OF RENIN MRNA EXPRESSION IN
JUXTAGLOMERULAR CELLS (AS4.1 CELLS)
FIGURE 2.4 EFFECTS OF SELECTED POLYPHENOLS (1 MM) ON LEVELS OF CREB (SER 133) IN AS4.1
FIGURE 2.5 EFFECTS OF SELECTED POLYPHENOLS (1 MM) ON LEVELS OF ATF-1 (SER 63) IN AS4.1
FIGURE 2.6 EFFECTS OF SELECTED POLYPHENOLS (1 MM) ON LEVELS OF ERK1/2 (THR202/TYR204) IN AS4.1 CELLS
FIGURE 2.7 DETECTION OF SHED ACE IN SUPERNATANT OF HUVEC CELLS 24 H AFTER TREATMENT WITH SELECTED POLYPHENOLS
ат 1.0 мМ
FIGURE 2.8 EFFECT OF SELECTED POLYPHENOLS ON MEMBRANE BOUND ACE EXPRESSION ON THE SURFACE OF HUVEC CELLS AT
1.0 мМ7
FIGURE 2.9 ACE ACTIVITY IN HUVEC CELLS 24 H AFTER TREATMENT WITH SELECTED POLYPHENOLS AT 1.0 MM
FIGURE 2.10 TOTAL NO (A), NITRATE (B) AND NITRITE (C) PRODUCTION IN HUVEC CELLS AFTER 24 H INCUBATION WITH
SELECTED POLYPHENOLS AT 1 MM
FIGURE 3.1 OUTLINE STUDY DESIGN
FIGURE 3.2 FLOW CHART OF STUDY PARTICIPATION
FIGURE 3.3 CHANGES IN FMD AFTER CONSUMPTION OF PHENOL-RICH, WHOLEGRAIN OATS
FIGURE 3.4 EFFECTS OF OAT TREATMENTS ON: (A) ENDOTHELIUM-DEPENDENT VASODILATION (ACH) AND (B) ENDOTHELIUM-
INDEPENDENT VASODILATION (SNP), EXPRESSED AS IAUC.
FIGURE 3.5 EFFECTS OF OAT TREATMENTS ON: (A) ENDOTHELIUM-DEPENDENT VASODILATION AND (B) ENDOTHELIUM-
INDEPENDENT VASODILATION, EXPRESSED AS AUC

FIGURE 3.6 EFFECTS OF CONSUMING PHENOLIC-RICH, WHOLEGRAIN OATS, ON: (A) SYSTOLIC BLOOD PRESSURE (SBP), (B)	
DIASTOLIC BLOOD PRESSURE (DBP), (C) PULSE PRESSURE AND (D) HEART RATES	98
FIGURE 3.7 EFFECTS OF CONSUMING PHENOLIC-RICH, WHOLEGRAIN OATS ON: (A) RENIN CONCENTRATION; (B) ACE LEVEL	S AND
(C) ACE ACTIVITY	100
Figure 4.1 Study design	108
Figure 4.2 Volunteer's schedule for each visit	111
FIGURE 4.3 FLOW DIAGRAM FOR THE RECRUITMENTS AND RETENTION OF STUDY VOLUNTEERS	115
FIGURE 4.4 CHANGES FROM BASELINE IN FMD AT THE END OF THE 4-WEEK INTERVENTION PERIOD	117
FIGURE 4.5 CHANGES FROM BASELINE IN LDI-ACH AUC AND IAUC AT THE END OF THE 4-WEEK INTERVENTION PERIOD	119
FIGURE 4.6 CHANGES FROM BASELINE IN LDI-SNP AUC AND IAUC AT THE END OF THE 4-WEEK INTERVENTION PERIOD	119
Figure 4.7. Changes in 24 hour, day-time and night-time systolic (A) and diastolic (B) ambulatory blood pre	SSURE
(BP)	122

## List of Tables

TABLE 1.1. NUTRITIONAL COMPOSITIO	IN AND DISPOSITION OF OATS (SATIVA SPP.)	
TABLE 2.1 PRIMER USED FOR RT- PCR		57
TABLE 2.2 LIST OF ANTIBODIES USED FO	OR IMMUNOBLOTTING	59
TABLE 2.3 APPROXIMATION OF IC50 VA	ALUES OF TESTED POLYPHENOLS AGAINST RENIN ACTIVITY	65
TABLE 3.1 STUDY INTERVENTION MATE	ERIALS	84
TABLE 3.2 BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS	AT SCREENING	91
TABLE 3.3 RESULTS OF MEASUREMENT	ts of Cardiovascular Risk Biomarkers	92
TABLE 4.1 NUTRITIONAL CONTENT ANI	D QUANTITIES OF INTERVENTION FOOD MATERIALS	109
TABLE 4.2 MEASURED AND PHYSICAL C	CHARACTERISTICS OF OVERNIGHT FASTED STUDY PARTICIPANTS AT SCREENIN	ıg116
TABLE 4.3 VASCULAR MEASUREMENTS	PRE- AND POST-INTERVENTION FOR PHENOLIC OATS INTERVENTIONS	117
TABLE 4.4 AMBULATORY BLOOD PRES	SURE MEASUREMENTS PRE- AND POST-INTERVENTION FOR PHENOLIC OAT	S
INTERVENTIONS		121
TABLE 4.5 FASTING LIPID PROFILE, MIN	IERAL EXCRETIONS AND RAAS ENZYMES MEASUREMENTS PRE- AND POST-	INTERVENTION
FOR PHENOLIC OATS INTERVENTI	IONS	125
TABLE 4.6 DAILY INTAKE - DIETARY COI	MPARISON BETWEEN INTERVENTION GROUPS	

# List of Abbreviations and Conventions

Abbreviation	Description
°C	Degrees Celsius
μL	Microlitre
ABPM	Ambulatory Blood Pressure Monitoring
ACE	Angiotensin Converting Enzyme
Ach	Acetylcholine
ADH	Antidiuretic Hormone
ADME	Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism and Excretion
AF	Average Fluorescence
Akt	Protein Kinase B
АМРК	Adenosine Monophosphate-activated Protein Kinase
Ang I	Angiotensin I
Ang II	Angiotensin II
ATF-1	Cyclic AMP-dependent Transcription Factor
AT1R	Angiotensin II Type I Receptor
AUC	Area Under Curve
Avn	Avenanthramides
Avn-c	Avenanthramide-C
AX	Arabinoxylan
BMI	Body-Mass Index
BP	Blood Pressure
CA	Ca <sup>2+</sup> /calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II
CAD	Coronary Artery Diseases
cAMP	Cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate
cDNA	Complementary DNA
cGMP	Cyclic Guanosine Monophosphate
CHD	Chronic Heart Disease
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase
CRE	cAMP-Responsive Element
CREB	cAMP Regulatory-Binding Protein
CREM	cAMP-Responsive Element Modulator
CRP	Plasma C-Reactive Protein
CVD	Cardiovascular Disease
D	Day
DBP	Diastolic Blood Pressure
DF	Dietary Fibre
ECL	Enhanced Chemiluminescence
EDRF	Endothelium-Derived Relaxing Factor
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay
eNOS	Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase
ERK	Extracellular Signal-Related Kinase
ET-1	Endothelin-1
FA	Ferulic Acids

FAPGG	N-[3-(2-Furylacryloyl]-L-Phenylalanyl-Glycyl-Glycine)
FMD	Flow-Mediated Dilatation of the Brachial Artery
g	Gram
GAE	Gallic Acid Equivalents
GBD	Global Burden of Disease
GG	Glycylglycine
HDL	High-Density Lipoprotein
HDL-C	High-Density Lipid Cholesterol
Hg	Mercury
HR	Heart Rate
HRT	Hormone Replacement Therapy
HUVEC	Human Umbilical Veins
iAUC	Incremental Area Under Curve
IC <sub>50</sub>	The Concentration of Inhibitor Required to Inhibit 50
	% of the Renin Activity
IHD	Ischaemic Heart Disease
ISTD	Internal Standards
JG	Juxtaglomerular
JGA	Juxtaglomerular Apparatus
К	Potassium
kcal	Kilocalorie
kg	Kilogram
L	Litre
LDI	Laser Doppler Iontophoresis
LDL	Low-Density Lipoprotein
LDL-C	Low-Density Lipid Cholesterol
LOX-1	Lectin-Like Oxidised LDL Receptor-1
МАРК	Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase
МСР	Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein
mg	Milligram
ml	Millilitre
mm	Millimetre
mmol	Millimole
MMPs	Metalloproteinase Enzymes
MRM	Multiple Reaction Monitoring
MTT	Methyl Tetrazolium
Na	Sodium
NADPH	Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate
ng	Nanogram
NO	Nitric Oxide
NOS	Nitric Oxide Synthase
NOx	Nitrite/nitrate
ox-LDL	Oxidised Low-Density Lipoprotein
Р	Probability
PA	Phenolic Acid
pg	Picogram
PGI2	Prostacyclin
PGIS	Prostacyclin/Prostaglandin I 2 Synthase
Phenolic Oats	Intervention for consumption comprising

	Avenanthramides and Phenolic Acid (Ferulic Acid)
РКА	Protein kinase A
PRA	Plasma Renin Activity
PWA	Pulse Wave Analysis
RAAS	Renin–Angiotensin–Aldosterone System
RCT	Randomised control trial
ROS	Reactive Oxygen Species
RT	Room Temperature
SBP	Systolic Blood Pressure
SHR	Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats
SNP	Sodium Nitroprusside
TAG	Triglycerides
тс	Total Cholesterol
t-FA	Trans-Ferulic Acid
ТР	Total Polyphenol
ΤΝFα	Tumour Necrosis Factor-Alpha
TXA2S	Thromboxane A2 Synthase
WHO	World Health Organisation
WKR	Wistar-Kyoto Rats
у	Year

## **List of Publications and Presentations**

#### Publications

- Schär, M.Y., Corona, G., Soycan, G., Dine, C., Kristek, A., Alsharif, S. N., Behrends, V., Lovegrove, A., Shewry, P. R. and Spencer, J. P., 2018. Excretion of Avenanthramides, Phenolic Acids and their Major Metabolites Following Intake of Oat Bran. *Molecular nutrition & food research*, 62(2), p.1700499.
- Dodd, G. F., Rees, A. J., Soycan, G., Alroqaiba, N. A. A., Alsharif, S. N., Kristek, A., Currie, K., Spencer, J. P. E. Cerebrovascular disease: Possible protective effects of polyphenols and potential mechanisms of action (In preparation).

#### Poster presentations

1. (Poly)phenols inhibit renin activity and expression in mouse kidney cells: a potential mechanism underlying the blood pressure benefits of polyphenols?

Sarah Alsharif, Gessica Serra, Manuel Schär, Gunter Kuhnle, Jeremy Spencer

The 1st International Conference on Food Bioactives and Health. Norwich, UK from 13th to 15th September 2016.

2. Do oat phenolics improve blood pressure and vascular function in stage-1 and prehypertensive men through inhibition of the renin-angiotensin system?

Sarah Alsharif, Manuel Schär, Angelika Kristek, Gulten Soycan, Hanna Petsch, Peter Shewry, Gunter Kuhnle, Jeremy Spencer

8th International Conference on Polyphenols and Health. Québec City, Canada From October 3 to 6, 2017.

3. (Poly)phenols inhibit renin activities and expressions in mouse kidney cells: a potential mechanism underlying the blood pressure benefits of polyphenols?

Sarah Alsharif, Gessica Serra, Manuel Schär, Gunter Kuhnle, Jeremy Spencer

8th International Conference on Polyphenols and Health. Québec City, Canada From October 3 to 6, 2017.

## Chapter: 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 OVERVIEW

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) has a significant detrimental impact on human health, and is considered by the World Health Organisation to be the leading cause of mortality globally, (WHO, 2018), leading to 17.7 million or 31% of all deaths annually [8-11]. The most recent published Global Burden of Disease (GBD) figures for 1990 to 2015 show that CVD is prevalent in worldwide, and that, like the whole of Western Europe, the UK age-standardised death rate over that period was 91-220 per 1 x  $10^5$  of the population [8]. The figures also showed, however, a significant decline. Townsend et al. (2016), also based on the same WHO data, but in which information for 41 of the 52 European countries derives from 2010 or thereafter, reported that CVD accounted for 45% and 34% of all mortality in Europe and the UK respectively in 2015 [12]. Of world-wide mortality, an estimated 7.4 million deaths were due to coronary heart disease and 6.7 million were due to stroke; and over three-quarters of CVD deaths take place in low- and middle-income countries [13]. Furthermore, of the 17 million premature deaths (under the age of 70) due to non-communicable diseases in 2015, 82% are in low- and middle-income countries, and 37% are caused by CVD. In Europe, 3.9 million people die of CVDs each year, high systolic blood pressure (SBP) is the greatest medical risk factor, while diet was the most easily modifiable risk factor [13].

Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) are a major global health burden and create a substantial barrier to quality of life [8, 14]. A wide range of risk factors contribute to CVDs, including behavioural factors such as smoking, unhealthy diet, insufficient physical activity, and alcohol consumption, and physiological factors such as high BMI (body mass index), high total cholesterol, high blood pressure, and high fasting plasma glucose [13, 15, 16]. It is well established that one of the most important prognostic risk factors for cardiovascular disease risk is elevated blood pressure [17-20]. In particular, clinical data suggest that the maintenance of a healthy blood pressure is strongly associated with a reduced risk of CVDs [18, 21, 22]. Furthermore, the early detection and treatment of high blood pressure is thought to be an effective strategy for the prevention of early major cardiovascular events [23-27]. Notably, meta-analysis of existing studies indicate a decrease in ischaemic heart disease mortality risk by 30 % and stroke death by 40 % for a 10 mmHg reduction in systolic blood pressure (SBP) and/or 5 mmHg reduction in diastolic blood pressure (DBP) [28]. Indeed, the risk of developing CVD (relative risk [RR] 0.80, 95 % CI 0.77–

0.83), coronary heart disease (0.83, 0.78-0.88) or heart failure (0.72, 0.67-0.78) are all significantly reduced for every 10 mm Hg reduction in SBP [18].

People with CVD or who are at high risk of cardiovascular events from one or more risk factors, such as hypertension, diabetes and hyperlipidaemia, need early detection and management with both medical counselling and treatment [13, 15, 18, 22, 29, 30]. With respect to treatments, as well as pharmacological treatment, a number of clinical trials have suggested that hypertension may be modifiable through the improved diet, notably reducing high saturated fat and increasing the intake of plant foods [31-37]. A poor diet, rich in high-fat, processed foods and low in plant foods may impact directly on CVD risk via actions on a number of prognostic risk factors, such as blood pressure (BP), or indirectly by contributing to the development of obesity and/or diabetes which themselves lead to elevated BP [13, 38-41]. Polyphenols have been found to reduce CVD risk factors [42-52]; they are naturally occurring secondary metabolites found ubiquitously in plants. Their functions include: aiding growth and reproduction, providing defence against pathogens and protecting against environmental stressors. In addition, they contribute significantly to the sensory properties of fruits and vegetables and of products derived from them [53-55]. Polyphenol-rich foods decrease the incidence of coronary heart disease, inflammation and cancer [56-59].

It is well established among clinicians that early detection and control of high BP contributes to the prevention of major cardiovascular events [17, 24]. A London based study comparing electronic health records from 1997 to 2010 confirmed the importance of BP control, reporting that people with a systolic BP of 90-114 mm Hg presented the lowest risk of being diagnosed with cardiovascular diseases and that high SBP presents higher risks for intracerebral haemorrhage, angina, peripheral arterial disease and myocardial infarction in comparison to high DBP [20]. It has been asserted that a combination of medications directed towards reducing four risk factors associated with CVD (high BP, high low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, high serum homocysteine and platelets), may help to prevent 80 % of adults over the age of 55 developing the disease [60, 61]. However, the regular intake of a multi-drug treatment to influence these risk factors is in itself associated with several underlying complications, particularly with respect to the liver [62]. Consequently, people are increasingly recognising the potential benefits of diet as a substitute to, or a way of reducing the requirement for, complex drug treatments.

This chapter reviews the aetiology of CVD and the potential benefits that diet, in particular foods rich in plant polyphenols, can play in the prevention of these diseases.

#### **1.2 CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE**

CVD usually involves blood vessels and/or the heart and encompasses coronary artery disease (CAD) such as myocardial infarction and angina, and heart failure, rheumatic heart disease, stroke, hypertensive heart disease, peripheral artery disease, cardiomyopathy, arrhythmia, valvular heart disease, congenital heart disease, aortic aneurysms, carditis, thromboembolic disease, and venous thrombosis, among others [13, 63, 64]. Below the age of 65 years, most deaths from CVD are considered preventable (Townsend *et al.*, 2016), amounting to 80%, including strokes, according to WHO (2018) [12, 65, 66]. Many types of CVD are considered to be preventable with appropriate lifestyle changes [15, 67]. Much research evidence points to the strong likelihood that cardiovascular health is dependent to a large extent on the normal function of the vasculature that supplies blood to the heart and other vital organs. It is thus of crucial importance to understand the pathogenesis of vascular conditions that lead to peripheral artery disease and strokes. Both are associated with endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis.

#### **1.2.1** ENDOTHELIAL DYSFUNCTION AND ATHEROSCLEROSIS

The vascular endothelium is not just a physical barrier; it performs a range of functions including the release of a variety of agents to regulate vessel function. These include vasodilators (i.e. nitric oxide (NO), prostacyclins), vasoconstrictors (i.e. endothelin-1, prostaglandins), endothelial and smooth muscle cell growth regulators (i.e. fibroblast growth factor, endothelin, transforming growth factor, platelet-derived growth factor, heparin and heparan sulphate) and factors influencing platelet and leukocyte interactions (i.e. ICAM, VCAM and integrins) [68-75]. Loss of homeostasis of the vasculature (endothelial dysfunction) may arise from any adverse vascular events, including: physiological changes including reduced bioavailability of vasodilators derived from the endothelium, especially NO; increased bioavailability of contracting factors derived from the endothelium; changes in endothelium permeability; amplified expression of adhesion molecules on the surface of endothelial cells; reduced antithrombotic factor secretion; increased pro-coagulation factor production; and reduced endothelial antioxidant and anti-inflammatory capacity [76, 77]. Endothelial dysfunction leads to atherosclerotic processes in the blood vessel walls [78-81]. Atherosclerosis, the development of atheroma in arteries, also known as arteriosclerotic vascular disease, is a condition in which deposits of fatty material and plagues build up inside arteries [82, 83]. Plaques are composed of cholesterol, fat, calcium and other substances found circulating in the blood [84]. As the plaque increases in size, it becomes less pliable and can severely narrow an artery, thus limiting the flow of oxygen-rich blood to vital organs [83, 85]. In more advanced plaques, intracellular micro-calcifications also form within vascular smooth muscle cells of the surrounding muscular layer, specifically in the muscle cells

adjacent to the atheroma and as cells die, this leads to extracellular calcium deposits between the muscular wall and outer portion of the atheromatous plaques [82, 86, 87]. Although the disease process tends to be slowly progressive over time in medium-sized arteries, it usually remains asymptomatic until an atheroma ruptures, causing cardiac abnormalities such as acute myocardial infarction, unstable angina and ultimately sudden cardiac death [77, 82, 83, 87].

One of the processes thought to initiate the progression of atherosclerosis (Figure 1.1) is inflammation, which may lead to the oxidation of low-density lipoproteins (LDL) and their ingestion by monocytes [77, 88, 89]. These cholesterol-laden monocytes, promoted by recruiting factors such as VCAM-1, enter the artery wall, becoming "foam cells" which eventually rupture, depositing a greater amount of oxidised cholesterol into the artery wall. This triggers more proliferation of white blood cells and further inflammation, thus perpetuating the cycle [83, 89].



**Figure 1.1 Diagrammatic representation of the typical progression of atherosclerosis in an artery** Reproduced from Widmer *et al.*, 2016 [90].

Contributing risk factors for the progression of atherosclerosis include adherence to a 'western diet', characterised by the consumption of processed food and high-fat content foodstuffs [41]. A sedentary lifestyle also contributes, as do diabetes, obesity, smoking and excessive alcohol consumption [38, 77, 86, 91, 92] all of which lead to high BP, and high levels of circulating cholesterol and reactive oxygen species (ROS) [93, 94]. Atherosclerosis can be prevented and improved in a number of ways, notably by increasing the level of exercise, improving diet, the cessation of smoking and by limiting alcohol intake, it is also important to take appropriate measures to reduce the levels of associated health-related risks such as high blood lipid levels, diabetes and/or high BP [18, 25, 95-97].

#### 1.2.2 RISK FACTORS ASSOCIATED WITH ENDOTHELIAL DYSFUNCTION

It is necessary to understand the mechanisms of action of cholesterol, BP, Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone system (RAAS), nitric oxide (NO) and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase, on the endothelium, all of which are linked to CVD risk factors.

#### 1.2.2.1 CHOLESTEROL

Cholesterol, an isoprenoid lipid, is involved in two major biological processes. It provides structural support to cell membranes and myelin and it also acts as precursor from which oxysterols, steroid hormones, vitamin D<sub>3</sub> and bile acids are derived [98]. Cholesterol is synthesised *de novo* by liver and intestinal epithelial cells or is derived from dietary lipids [98, 99]. The amount of cholesterol absorbed from the diet is approximately 400 mg/day and from the bile it is approximately 1 g/day [99]. Fifty percent of dietary cholesterol is absorbed and the rest excreted. Both metabolic as well as genetic factors regulate cholesterol absorption in humans [99, 100].

Synthesis of cholesterol takes place via the isoprenoid biosynthetic pathway [101]. In the initial reactions of the pathway, HMG-CoA is formed from acetyl-CoA in the cytosol of liver cells. After some enzymatic reactions, HMG-CoA is converted into isopentenyl pyrophosphate, the basic isoprenoid carbon building block of cholesterol. The reaction is catalysed by HMG-CoA reductase [102]. Isopentenyl pyrophosphate is further reduced to squalene (composed of 6 isoprene units). The final stage of cholesterol biosynthesis, where squalene cyclisation takes place to form  $C_{30}$  lanosterol, requires molecular oxygen. Generation of  $C_{27}$  cholesterol from lanosterol requires at least 8 separate enzyme reactions [101]. Some enzymes involved in the cholesterol biosynthesis such as HMG-CoA reductase are present in the endoplasmic reticulum, whereas others are localised in the cytosol [99].

Serum lipoproteins transport cholesterol intra- as well as extra-vascularly. Lipoproteins generated by the liver and intestine transport cholesterol between the intestine and the liver, and between the liver and peripheral cells [103]. The general structure of mature lipoproteins is in the form of emulsion particles which have a core of neutral lipids, such as triacylglycerol (TAG), cholesteryl ester (CE) and cholesterol; stability of the core is maintained by outer layer of phospholipids, cholesterol and apolipoproteins. Apolipoprotein B100 (ApoB100) is the main protein component of LDL. LDL receptors on the cells recognise and internalise ApoB100-containing lipoproteins incorporating TAG and cholesterol. Hence ApoB100-containing LDL particles play an important role in atherogenesis. High-density lipoproteins (HDL) are key mediators in reverse cholesterol transport (RCT). In RCT, extrahepatic cholesterol is transported to the liver and excreted from the body in faeces, therefore, HDL particles help prevent atherosclerosis. ApoA-I, a constituent protein of human HDL, has important roles in processes including discoidal HDL particle generation, remodelling of HDL by lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) and interaction with scavenger receptor class B type 1 (SR-BI), all of which contribute to cholesterol delivery in RCT [104]. Cholesterol cannot be catabolised by cells in oxidative processes. Hence disposal of excess cholesterol involves transportation to the liver and conversion into excretable bile acids that are eliminated from the intestine [98, 104, 105]. Cholesterol homeostasis is achieved by various feedback mechanisms. Increased cholesterol levels modulate HMG-CoA reductase and suppress cholesterol biosynthesis. High cholesterol levels also affect expression of LDL receptor and lower cholesterol uptake. Cholesterol levels modulate activity of cholesterol 7 alpha-hydroxylase which in turn modulates cholesterol catabolism [105].

High levels of circulating blood cholesterol are significantly correlated with people who developed CVD, mainly due to the contribution of LDL particles to atherosclerosis [85]. Atherosclerosis is often associated with elevated levels of oxidised LDL molecules, particularly small dense LDLs [93, 94, 106]. An abnormal lipid profile is characterised by high LDL-C and triglycerides and low HDL-C concentrations in plasma [106]. HDL molecules are believed to be an important mechanism for removal of cholesterol from atheromas, and elevated levels of HDL are associated with reduced rates of atheroma progression, and, in some cases, regression [86]. The long-term impacts of serum cholesterol levels on mortality associated with coronary heart disease (CHD) and CVD were studied in healthy younger males; CHD increased 2.15 to 3.63 times in men with greater than or equal to 240 mg/dL cholesterol compared to standard (< 200 mg/dL); levels; corresponding CVD mortality risk increased 2.10 to 2.87 times [107]. A life expectancy gain of 3.8 to 8.7 years was estimated in males with normal cholesterol levels. HDL cholesterol (HDL-C) levels were inversely associated with mortality in the Framingham Heart Study and follow-up studies: the relative risk of death was 3.6 for CVD and 4.1 for CHD in men when HDL-C levels were > 54 mg/dL compared to < 35 mg/dL. In women, relative risk of death was 1.6 for CVD and 3.1 for CHD when HDL-C levels > 69 mg/dL compared to < 45 mg/dL) [108]. These figures represent a two percent reduction in atherosclerosis risk for every 1% reduction in LDL-C level [109].

The Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial (MRFIT) showed that cholesterol levels in diet are significantly and directly linked to diastolic blood pressure (DBP) as well as (SBP), while the Western Electric Study showed that average annual increases in BP were directly and significantly associated with dietary cholesterol levels [100]. The INTERMAP study showed that cholesterol intake levels were in direct proportion to SBP, but not correlated with DBP. SBP differences of 0.9 mm Hg between baseline and 2 standard deviation higher cholesterol consumption

(131.0 mg/1,000 kcal) were estimated across all participants, with, however, differences of 1.1 mm Hg in participants who did not have hypertension. Cholesterol levels in food varies between populations and the association of dietary cholesterol and BP is not yet clearly established across different communities with diverse diets, ethnicities and genders [100]. Of note, in relation to this study, dietary polyphenols have been shown to reduce TAG, LDL-C and total cholesterol [48, 110] and flavonoids have been inversely correlated with LDL-C and total cholesterol [111].

#### 1.2.2.2 BP

BP pertains to the pressure within arteries, as the result of blood forced into circulation throughout the body. SBP is the maximum pressure during ventricular contraction whereas DBP is the minimum pressure preceding the subsequent contraction [112], they are generally expressed as SBP/DBP mm Hg. A major risk factor for CVD is long-term high BP or hypertension [113, 114], which is classified as either primary, resulting from non-specific genetics and lifestyle factors, or secondary, resulting from particular causes, such as the development of atherosclerosis, chronic kidney disease or endocrine disorders [115]. High BP (hypertension) was previously defined as persistent resting BPs of 140/90 mm Hg or above [115, 116].

However, after extensive consultation, these guidelines have been revised [22] and four new BP categories have been introduced.

- 1. Normal BP: SBP < 120 and DBP < 80 mm Hg
- 2. Elevated BP: SBP 120-129 and DBP < 80 mm Hg
- 3. Stage 1 Hypertension: SBP 130-139 or DBP 80-89 mm Hg
- 4. Stage 2 Hypertension: SBP  $\geq$  140 or DBP  $\geq$  90 mm Hg

The new US guidelines, which have lower thresholds than NICE recommendations (2016), mean that there will be a substantially higher diagnosis of high BP in the USA, 46% of adults compared to 32% in the UK. However, for most US adults meeting the new definition of hypertension, non-pharmacological treatment is recommended. Since most people between 130-139 mm Hg SBP or 80-89 mm Hg DBP will not require medical treatment; there will only be a small increase in the percentage of adults for whom antihypertensive medication is recommended, albeit also in conjunction with lifestyle modifications [22].

Hypertension involves the activation of the sympathetic nervous system and the RAAS [117]. Almost 30% of UK adults have hypertension, and BP patterns inevitably change with age [118]. Hypertension related diseases cost the NHS approximately £2 billion per year, with extended raised BP being linked to a higher risk of renal failure, CVD and cardiovascular related mortality. Longitudinal data from the Framingham Heart Study showed that SBP/DBP at 130–139/85–89 mm Hg, more than doubles the risk of CVD, when compared to a normal BP range [22, 119]. By reducing BP by just 10 mm Hg systolic or 5 mm Hg diastolic, the risk of stroke occurrence is reduced by 41%, and CHD by 22 % [21]. Beneficial dietary interventions include reducing sodium intake [120], a Mediterranean diet [121], and the inclusion of dietary proteins from plants [122], low fat foods [123], fish oils [124], monounsaturated fats [125], potassium derived from fruit and vegetables [126] and polyphenols [127].

#### **1.2.2.3** RENIN–ANGIOTENSIN–ALDOSTERONE SYSTEM

The RAAS is a hormonal system that regulates the concentration of plasma sodium, and is critical in arterial BP homeostasis (Figure 1.2) [128-131]. The RAAS process functions in a cascade, leading to the generation of angiotensin II (Ang II), which is a major vascular effector [129]. Therefore, the RAAS is important for the study of hypertension and associated CVD [128, 132]. The RAAS precursor molecule is Angiotensinogen, a protein produced mainly by the liver, angiotensin I (Ang I) is formed by cleavage of the first 10 amino acid peptides from Angiotensinogen by the aspartyl protease renin [133, 134].

Renin is secreted from juxtaglomerular cells in the kidney (Figure 1.3), which sense changes in renal perfusion pressure through signals produced by stretch receptors in the vascular walls, it is the rate-limiting step in the activation of the RAAS [128, 133, 134]. The juxtaglomerular cells also release renin in response to signals from the *macula densa* located in the distal nephron, as a result of changes in blood flow [135]. The juxtaglomerular apparatus in the renal cortex represents a major structural component of the RAAS and is one of the most important regulatory sites of renal salt/water conservation and BP maintenance [136]. Baroreceptors in the kidneys are able to detect reductions in BP, sodium ion (Na<sup>+</sup>) levels or blood volume leading to an increase in sympathetic tone and the release of renin [137]. A schematic illustration of the juxtaglomerular apparatus (JGA) is shown in Figure 1.3.



Figure 1.2 Diagram depicting the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS).

Baroreceptors in the kidneys are able to detect reductions in blood pressure (BP), sodium (Na+) levels or blood volume leading to an increase in sympathetic tone and the release of renin. Plasma renin converts angiotensinogen, a precursor protein made in the liver, into angiotensin I. This is then converted by angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE), particularly found in the lungs, into angiotensin II (Ang II), a potent vasoconstrictive peptide. Ang II is able to exert effects in various organs and tissues throughout the body in order to increase blood pressure. In the kidneys, Ang II decreases the glomerular filtration rate, whilst in the adrenal gland, secretion of aldosterone is stimulated in order to retain Na+ and fluids. Ang II also increases cardiac output, vasoconstriction in blood vessels and stimulates the hypothalamus to release antidiuretic hormone (ADH) from the posterior pituitary gland, which allows greater reabsorption of water in the kidneys.



Figure 1.3 Microscopic Structure of the Juxtaglomerular Apparatus (JGA)

Upper image: high-power photomicrograph of the histology of the human renal glomerulus, stained with haematoxylin & eosin (H&E). Juxtaglomerular cells can be identified by their location and their histological appearance – they are large cells with pale, enlarged nuclei. (Adapted from Yale.edu teaching website: <u>http://medcell.med.yale.edu/histology/urinary system lab/juxtaglomerular ...</u> <u>apparatus.php</u> [Accessed – 1/6/2016].

Lower image: diagrammatic representation of the location of the juxtaglomerular cells in the wall of the afferent renal arteriole, which allows secretion of renin into the blood and renal lymph. Stretch receptors in the afferent arteriole and sympathetic nerve ends in the region of the JGA cells; these, and the renal tubular fluid reaching the *macula densa*, orchestrate the regulation of renin secretion. (Adapted from Davis, 1973).

Angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE), mainly found in the lungs, cleaves Ang I to a smaller, highly active, 8 amino acid peptide Ang II, which is a potent vasoconstrictor, causing the narrowing of blood vessels and a rise in BP, as well as stimulating the secretion of aldosterone from the adrenal cortex [134, 136, 138, 139]. Ang II has actions on various organs and tissues throughout the body, including the kidneys, where Ang II decreases the glomerular filtration rate [131]. It also increases cardiac output, vasoconstriction and stimulates the hypothalamus to release antidiuretic hormone (ADH), also termed arginine vasopressin, from the posterior pituitary gland, which leads to greater reabsorption of water by the kidneys [140]. ADH acts on the renal collecting ducts by stimulating Vasopressin V2 receptors, which increases water permeability through a Cyclic Adenosine Monophosphate (cAMP)-dependent mechanism. As a consequence, volume of blood is increased together with cardiac output, in addition, aldosterone acts on the renal tubules, resulting in an increased reabsorption of Na<sup>+</sup> and H<sub>2</sub>O into the blood, while maintaining electrolyte balance by excreting  $K^+$  [141]. The overall result is an increase in extracellular fluid volume within the body, and hence increased BP [140, 142, 143]. Thus, any abnormality or unwarranted increase in RAAS function results in hypertensive vasoconstriction and reabsorption of sodium ions.

ACE inhibitors and angiotensin II receptor blockers are effective at reducing BP in hypertensive individuals, even where there is no systemic RAAS activation [144-146]. Ang II localised within the kidneys is regulated independently from levels in the systemic RAAS and concentrations within the kidneys are higher than in blood plasma and can reach even greater levels in experimental hypertension models [147]. Systemic and kidney Ang I receptors contribute separately to baseline BP [148], furthermore, the presence of renal Ang I receptors determines long-term sensitivity to Ang II-induced hypertension [149]. Absence of renal ACE has been demonstrated to provide protection against hypertension, irrespective of plasma Ang II levels. In hypertension induced by Ang II, the shifting of the renal pressure–natriuresis relationship, whereby higher renal perfusion pressure leads to lower sodium reabsorption and higher sodium excretion, is largely dependent on renal ACE, since Ang II is produced locally [150].

#### 1.2.2.4 NITRIC OXIDE

Vascular endothelial cells secrete numerous chemicals including NO that affect the regulation of vascular homeostasis. The role of NO is pivotal in the regulation of vascular homeostasis [6], and is definable as the molecule's continuous basal low level release into the endothelium through relaxation of vascular smooth muscle cells mediated by cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP),

leading to vasorelaxation [151-154]. NO is, therefore, important as a BP and blood flow regulator [155].

NO, previously called endothelium-derived relaxing factor (EDRF) until its identity was unequivocally established in 1987 by Palmer [156, 157], is one such crucial chemical, and was initially described as a vasodilator derived from the endothelium [158]. This proposal was based on the observation that superoxide dismutase (SOD), which removes O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>, protected EDRF from rapid inactivation and that haemoglobin selectively inhibited EDRF [159], as well as on a study of the transient relaxations of endothelium-denuded rings of rabbit aorta to 'acidified' inorganic nitrite (NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>) solutions. Despite the technical difficulties related to the low solubility of NO in water, its reactivity with oxygen and its instability, it was observed that EDRF and NO resembled one another in several pharmacological tests, including their half-lives, stabilisation by SOD and inhibition by haemoglobin [157].

NO synthesis from the amino acid L-arginine is through the L-arginine endothelial nitric oxide synthase (NOS) pathway by endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) [152, 160-163]. NO can also be generated *in vivo* by the nitrate-nitrite-nitric oxide pathway [164-166]. NO reacts with the haem group on an enzyme called guanylyl cyclase. On activation, this enzyme catalyses the production of cGMP and finally cGMP activates protein kinase, an enzyme that phosphorylates other proteins to alter their activity, leading to relaxation [167-169]. High concentrations of NO also activate K-type Ca channels in the smooth muscle membrane, which cause hyperpolarisation and, therefore, vasodilation. An increase in cGMP in vascular smooth muscle cells derived from an influx of NO leads to dilation of the blood vessels [170]. NO is a free radical gas and its half-life *in vivo* is a few seconds [42].

Endothelial cells perform regulatory functions including regulation of vascular tone (Figure 1.4) and structure, and have anticoagulant, antiplatelet, and fibrinolytic properties [86]. NO, ROS and bradykinin, are vasodilatory molecules [171]. ROS prevent platelet aggregation, and together with bradykinin, promote the release of NO [171]. NO moderates many of the responses of the vasculature (Figure 1.5) and can overturn the effects of vasoconstrictors originating from the endothelium, as well as inhibiting oxidation of LDL leading to lowering of CVD [172]. Endothelial cells produce several vasoactive factors affected by NO, among them prostacyclin (PGI2) [70]. However, they also produce substances which act as vasoconstrictors, such as endothelin and Ang II (which acts as a pro-oxidant, stimulating the production of endothelin). Both chemicals encourage the proliferation of smooth muscle cells [173].



#### Figure 1.4 Vasodilation and its role in increasing blood flow and reducing blood pressure.

Blue and green dots represent carbon dioxide and oxygen concentrations, which act on arteriolar smooth muscle cells. Black and blue arrows show  $O_2$  and  $CO_2$  exchange. (After Stanfield *et al.*, 2011).



#### Figure 1.5 Nitric Oxide signaling in the vascular endothelium.

cGMP - cyclic guanosine monophosphate; eNOS - Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase; GTP - guanosine triphosphate; NO – Nitric Oxide; sGC - soluble guanylate cyclase. Reproduced from Evgenov *et al.*, 2006 [4].

The breakdown of optimal NO homeostasis, i.e. steady-state NO levels, is one of the most critical features underlying endothelium dysfunction [174] and may arise from dysfunction in eNOS leading to reduction in NO bioavailability, or in the availability of its substrate (i.e. L-arginine), its cofactors (i.e. tetrahydrobiopterin, flavin adenine dinucleotide, flavin mononucleotide and NADPH) or eNOS inhibitors (i.e. L-NAME) [70, 74, 75].

#### **1.2.2.5** NICOTINAMIDE ADENINE DINUCLEOTIDE PHOSPHATE OXIDASE

The membrane bound complex NADPH oxidase comprises a GTPase and different phox subunits. There are a number of ways NADPH oxidase can be expressed in the cardiovascular system and it is possible to activate subunits of the enzyme in CVD [175]. Moderate NADPH oxidase activity is an important part of angiogenesis and immunity, but an excess results in excess ROS causing endothelial dysfunction [176-178]. NADPH's primary function is superoxide and/or hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) generation. NADPH oxidase catalyses the reduction of O<sub>2</sub> to generate a superoxide anion (O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup>) regarded as a major source of ROS. The interaction of O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> with other molecules to produce secondary ROS may be direct or may be catalysed by an enzyme; in either case the consequence of the reduction of O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> is that H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> is formed and then converted to hydroxyl (HO). An alternative O<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> reaction is with NO, leading to the formation of peroxynitrite (ONOO<sup>-</sup>), and then to the uncoupling of eNOS followed by reduced NO production, superoxide generation and increased oxidative stress [179]. Figure 1.6 illustrates the role of NADPH oxidase activity and NO bioavailability in the rise in oxidative stress which is known to be a factor in CVD.



#### Figure 1.6 The role of NADPH oxidase activity and NO bioavailability in increasing oxidative stress.

NADPH oxidase, the main generator of superoxide  $(O_2^{-1})$ , and eNOS expression are major factors upregulated in the pathophysiology of vascular disease. Hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$  is produced with the dismutation of  $O_2^{-1}$ , mediated by superoxide dismutase (SOD) and can lead to increased eNOS expression.  $O_2^{-1}$  generated through NADPH oxidase activity and NO produced through increased eNOS activity react to form ONOO<sup>-1</sup>. ONOO<sup>-1</sup> oxidises tetrahydrobiopterin (BH4), an essential cofactor of eNOS, causing uncoupling of eNOS. As a result, functional NO-producing eNOS is converted to a dysfunctional  $O_2^{-1}$  generating enzyme which increases oxidative stress in the vascular system.

Adapted from Förstermann and Sessa, 2011 [6].

#### **1.3 POLYPHENOLS**

Polyphenols are secondary metabolites used by plants in defence against pathogens and ultraviolet radiation [57, 180]. There are over 8,000 structural variants of polyphenols, which are classified by biological function, origins, and chemical structure into four broad subgroups: flavonoids, lignins, phenolic acids and stilbenes, which are then, in some cases, further subdivided. Of plant polyphenols, flavonoids are the most abundant and widely distributed, with fruits such as apples, berries and grapes, and olives, dark chocolate, red wine and tea constituting the main human dietary sources [55, 181-183].

#### 1.3.1 STRUCTURE

Polyphenols, also referred to as polyhydroxyphenols, are a specific structural group of naturally occurring organic chemicals comprised of multiple phenol units. Polyphenols are mostly natural macromolecular compounds; however, semi- and synthetic-polyphenols are now common [184]. One important subgroup of polyphenols, phenolic acids, is further classified into hydroxybenzoic acids and hydroxycinnamic acids, which include gallic, p-coumaric, caffeic, ferulic and sinapinic acids [185]. Flavonoids, another important subgroup, include anthoxanthins (flavones and flavonols), flavanones, flavanonols, flavans, anthocyanidins and isoflavonoids (Figure 1.7) [2, 186, 187]. The resveratrol in the stilbenoid subgroup is under active scientific investigation for its anticarcinogenic properties [188].



#### Figure 1.7 Classification of Polyphenols

Showing the four main groups of polyphenols and their chemical structures, as well as the subgroups of phenolic acids and flavonoids. (Adapted from Spencer *et al.*, 2008) [2].

#### **1.3.2** DIETARY SOURCES

Polyphenols are abundantly available in normal, routine dietary sources including fruits and beverages such as coffee, tea and red wine [180, 183]. Some types of polyphenols, such as quercetin, are available in all plant sources, for example: fruits, vegetables (including legumes)

and cereals, as well as derived products such as tea. Other polyphenols, such as flavanones and isoflavones, are specific to certain citrus fruits, soya, and apples [189-192].

The consumption of polyphenols is dependent on diet and so varies between individuals and populations. An extensive European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study of dietary polyphenol intake in the European diet of more than 36,000 adults was carried out [193]. The mean total intake of polyphenols in a general population was highest in Aarhus (Denmark) at 1,786 mg/day in men and 1,626 mg/day in women and the lowest in Greece at 744 mg/day in men and 584 mg/day in women. The highest intake of total polyphenols overall was observed in the UK health-conscious group of subjects (1521 mg/day), followed by non-Mediterranean then Mediterranean countries. The biggest proportion of polyphenols consumed was phenolic acids (52.5 - 56.8%), except in men from Mediterranean countries and in the UK health-conscious group where they it was flavonoids (49 - 61.7 %). Coffee, tea, fruits and wine were the most important food sources of total polyphenols. A total of 437 different individual polyphenols were consumed, including consumed at a level of  $\geq$  1 mg/day. The most abundant ones were 5-caffeoylquinic acid, proanthocyanidin polymers, and 4-caffeoylquinic acid [193].

World-wide studies on dietary intake of polyphenols and total polyphenol content, and its variation between genders, have shown high levels of heterogeneity between countries; especially among flavonoids and phenolic acids [191]. Within Europe, apples, strawberries and potatoes are the main fruit and vegetable sources of polyphenols e.g. in the French diet [189, 193] while fruits, along with coffee, are the primary dietary source of polyphenols in the Spanish population, additional consumption in olives and olive oil differentiates this and other Mediterranean populations from others [194]. Of note, in this respect, the traditionally polyphenol-rich diet in Greece, resulting from vegetables (particularly wild plants), fruits, nuts, cereals, and moderate amounts of wine, also includes olives and olive oil [192]. In Portugal, the total polyphenol intake from fresh fruits has been estimated to be  $783.9 \pm 31.7$  mg/day of gallic acid equivalents (GAE), of which 14% are from berries, particularly strawberries [190]. Studies of northern European diets, such as the Finnish, have shown that berries, coffee and cereals are the leading polyphenol sources [195]. The average intake of polyphenols in Poland has been estimated as 1,756.5 ± 695.8 mg/day, with flavonoids (897 mg/day) and phenolic acids (800 mg/day) the major polyphenols consumed [196]. Flavanols and hydroxycinnamic acids are the primary dietary polyphenols in the United Kingdom [193, 197]. Outside of Europe, there is evidence from the United States, that the average dietary polyphenol intake is about 1,000 mg/day, and from Brazil, where it is 1,198.6 mg/day [198]. In Japan it is 1,492 ± 665 mg/day [199] and in Korea, 318.0 mg/day, mostly from flavonoids [200].

#### **1.3.3** Absorption, Distribution, Metabolism and Excretion (ADME)

It has been shown that dietary polyphenols beneficially affect a range of chronic diseases, including CVD, but these compounds' biological properties in vivo will depend on their degree of biotransformation and conjugation as they are absorbed from the gastrointestinal (GI) tract, then in the liver and finally in cells [201, 202]. Understanding polyphenols' bioavailability and bioaccessibility is a key prerequisite for determining which phenolic metabolites may mediate health benefits [203]. Natural polyphenols are extensively metabolised following oral ingestion. Dietary polyphenols in the upper GI tract act as substrates for several enzymes and are extensively metabolised by glucosidase enzymes, phase I enzymes (hydrolysing and oxidising), such as cytochrome P450, and phase II enzymes (conjugating and detoxifying) which are found in the small intestine and liver [44, 204]. Further transformation in the colon has been reported, with enzymes in the gut microflora breaking flavonoids down to simple phenolic acids [205, 206]. Colonic microbiota are responsible for bio-converting bioactive compounds into metabolites of lower molecular weight which, on absorption, are likely to be the cause of the health benefits resulting from food rich in polyphenols [207, 208]. Metabolites that have entered the circulation are available for transport throughout the body and can, therefore, act on a variety of tissues including the endothelium.

#### a) Upper GI tract

Polyphenol structure may be modified at a number of points in the GI tract as the following examples show. In the upper GI tract, saliva causes degalloylation of flavanol gallate esters including epigallocatechin gallate, but has little effect on the stability of green tea catechins [209, 210]. The quercetin rutinoside, rutin, is hydrolysed by cell-free extracts of human salivary cultures [211] and by streptococci isolated from the mouths of normal individuals, but quercetin-3rhamnoside (quercitrin) is not susceptible to hydrolysis and this suggests that only rutinglycosidase-elaborating organisms occur in saliva [212, 213]. An interaction has been shown between flavanols and procyanidins with salivary proteins and this indicates that the affinity of (+)-catechin for proline-rich proteins is higher than that of than (-)-epicatechin and that C(4)-C(8)linked procyanidin dimers bind more strongly than their C(4)-C(6) counterparts [214]. This polyphenol-protein binding with salivary proteins of high molecular weight, bacterial cells and mucous materials may explain the decrease in quercetin mutagenicity seen after incubation with saliva [215]. Many factors influence the extent and rate of the small intestine's absorption of ingested compounds [216] including physiochemical factors such as molecular size, lipophilicity, solubility, pKa, and biological factors such as gastric and intestinal transit time, lumen pH, membrane permeability and first pass metabolism [217]. For some polyphenols, significant nonenzymatic hydrolysis may occur at low gastric pH. Aglycone secoiridoids, for example, which occur in extra virgin olive oil, are subject to time-dependent hydrolysis in the acidic gastric environment which increases the longer they stay in the GI tract [218]. However, under normal pH conditions (pH 2.0) and normal physiological time frames (up to four hours) some remain intact and enter the small intestine without having been hydrolysed [218]. Procyanidin oligomers ranging from a dimer to decamer (isolated from Cocoa, *Theobroma cacao*), have shown instability under low pH similar to that present in the stomach's gastric juice [219]. Secoiridoid absorption from olive oil, as with flavanols and procyanidins after ingestion of chocolate or cocoa, are likely to be affected by earlier events in the gastric lumen within the residence time.

Glycosides which are polyphenol derivatives are relatively polar molecules and unlikely to diffuse passively across the membranes of the small intestinal brush border. It has, however, been suggested in a number of studies that  $\beta$ -glucosidases affect flavonoid glycosides before they are absorbed in the jejunum and ileum and removal of the glycosidic moiety is generally believed necessary before the flavonoid can be absorbed [220-226]. Most polyphenol glycosides, and sometimes aglycones, in foods derived from plants, are extensively conjugated and metabolised during absorption in the small intestine and then again in the liver. There is particularly strong evidence for extensive phase I de-glycosylation and phase II metabolism by UDPglucuronosyltransferases, sulphotransferases and catechol-O-methyltransferases to yield glucuronides, sulphates and O-methylated derivatives [44, 204]. Indeed, in the small intestine's jejunum and ileum there is efficient glucuronidation of nearly all polyphenols to a greater or lesser extent by UDP-glucuronosyltransferase enzymes. Olive oil simple phenolics hydroxytyrosol and tyrosol are also extensively conjugated to glucuronides in both the jejunum and ileum tracts of the small intestine [218]. Hydroxytyrosol, as a catechol, is also subject to extensive O-methylation by the action of catechol-O-methyltransferase. Unabsorbed polyphenols will reach the large intestine and be further metabolised to simple phenolic acids by enzymes of the gut microflora.

#### b) Lower GI tract

Studies have suggested relatively small amounts of absorption of dietary polyphenols in the small intestine, to the extent of just 10% to 20%, which implies that most ingested polyphenols, including those absorbed and conjugated in the enterocytes and/or the liver before they are returned directly or through the bile, progress as far as the large intestine and the colonic microflora [227-230]. With some 10<sup>12</sup> micro-organisms/cm<sup>3</sup>, the colon has huge catalytic and hydrolytic potential, and the enzymatic degradation of flavonoids leads to the creation of a huge

array of new metabolites. Bacterial enzymes, for example, can catalyse a number of reactions including hydrolysis, dehydroxylation, demethylation, ring cleavage and decarboxylation as well as rapid de-conjugation [231]. In the large intestine bacteria catalyse the breakdown of the flavonoid backbone itself to simpler molecules such as phenolic acids. Specific metabolites have been found in urine after a range of phenolics have been ingested. For example, hippuric acid, the glycine conjugate of benzoic acid, is mainly derived from plant phenolics and aromatic amino acids through intestinal bacteria action and hippuric acid levels would, therefore, be expected to rise in the urine of individuals consuming diets rich in flavanols or polyphenols. However, hippuric acid could also be derived from other sources such as quinic acid or the aromatic amino acids tryptophan, tyrosine and phenylalanine, or from the use of benzoic acid as a food preservative.

It is believed that the 5,7,3,3',4'-hydroxylation pattern of flavan-3-ols enhances ring opening after hydrolysis [232] and metabolism of flavanols by enzymes of the microflora of the large intestine result in many metabolites: 3,4-dihydrophenylacetic acid, 3-hydroxyphenylacetic acid, homovanillic acid and their conjugates derived from the B-ring and phenolic acids from the C-ring [231]. Flavanols, because of their structures, they lack a C-4 carbonyl group, can also degrade to the specific metabolites phenylvalerolactones. Phenylpropionic acids, which may undergo further metabolism to benzoic acids, may also, as shown by animal studies, be the products of flavanol metabolism, which demonstrates fission of the A-ring [231]. The metabolism of flavan-3-ol oligomers may also take place in the colon. A single ingestion of green tea has been enough to detect colonic-derived metabolites of flavanols in human plasma and urine, suggesting significant metabolism by gut microflora in the colon [233]. Such flavonols as quercetin-3-rhamnoglucoside and quercetin-3-rhamnoside may also undergo metabolism by the colonic flora with Bacteroides distasonis, B. uniformis and B. ovatus able to cleave the sugar using  $\alpha$ -rhamnosidase and  $\beta$ -glucosidase to liberate quercetin aglycone and other phenolic metabolites [234, 235]. Other bacteria, such as Enterococcus casseliflavus, have been found to degrade quercetin-3-glucoside [236], luteolin-7-glucoside, rutin, quercetin, kaempferol, luteolin, eriodictyol, naringenin, taxifolin, and phloretin [237] to phenolic acids and E. ramulus is capable of degrading the aromatic ring system of quercetin producing the transient intermediate, phloroglucinol [231]. Other flavonoid glycosides, hesperidin, naringin and poncirin are also metabolised to phenolic acids, via aglycones, human intestinal microflora that produce  $\alpha$ -rhamnosidase, exo- $\beta$ -glucosidase, by endo- $\beta$ -glucosidase and/or  $\beta$ -glucuronidase enzymes [238]. Studies have shown that 99.9% of anthocyanin glucosides in foods are unabsorbed in the upper GI tract and reach the colon, suggesting extensive bacterial biotransformation. Anthocyanin metabolism by colonic microflora and the formation of high amounts of small phenolic acids such as protocatechuic and syringic
acid as degradation products has been proved, suggesting that phenolic acids could be the more bioavailable form after intake of anthocyanins [239, 240].



#### Figure 1.8 The metabolic pathway of dietary polyphenol: flavonoid in human subjects.

In phase I/II metabolism most flavonoids are released from food gradually through the action of digestive juices and colonic microflora in the gastrointestinal tract. Phenolic compounds are delivered into the blood stream and eventually some enter particular tissues/cells in phase III metabolism Adapted from Rendeiro,2012 [5].

## 1.4 POLYPHENOLS AND CVD

## 1.4.1 IMPACT OF POLYPHENOL INTAKE ON CVD

Hypertension is a major cardiovascular disease risk factor and is associated with the development and progression of atherosclerosis. For the past two decades, polyphenolic compounds have been studied for their health benefits in preventing and treating a number of diseases, but particularly CVD [47, 50, 241, 242]. Clinical and nutritional epidemiological studies have shown that populations with diets rich in polyphenols are less susceptible to chronic CVDs, including to systemic hypertension, and have lower morbidity and mortality [181, 242-244]. Polyphenols such as resveratrol, epigallocatechin gallate (EGCG), and curcumin, have been shown to have beneficial effects on cardiovascular health [245, 246]. The therapeutic efficacy of polyphenols appears to be associated with average daily dietary consumption, polyphenol type, bioavailability in terms of mode of absorption, tissue penetration, plasma concentration and routes of elimination [247]. Potential health benefits may be partly attributed to the natural antioxidants present in polyphenol-rich foods, such as tocopherols, ascorbic acid and carotenoids, as well as their phenolic compounds (polyphenols) *per se* [248]. Previously, these benefits were thought to be attributable to the antioxidant capacity of polyphenol molecules afforded by multiple ring structures [58, 249-251]. However, recent evidence suggests that concentrations of polyphenols in the circulation are unlikely to elicit health benefits through antioxidant activity alone, because they are absorbed and metabolised rapidly and, therefore, lose their antioxidant properties. It is probable, therefore, that they have other effects on cells, independent of antioxidant mechanisms, which may be through actions on the RAAS and/or the NO systems [252-256].

Numerous randomised controlled trials (RCTs) have demonstrated the beneficial effects of polyphenols on cardiovascular health [42, 49, 257-260]. An inverse association has frequently been demonstrated between the consumption of foods high in polyphenols and the occurrence of hypertension [57, 261, 262]. This antihypertensive effect is thought to be due to the protection and enhancement of endothelial functions, and may be related to inhibition of RAAS enzymes, and increased NO bioavailability [29, 46, 162, 167, 174, 263-267]. The evidence for the role polyphenols might play in maintaining vascular health depends on appropriate markers of peripheral vascular function; assessment of endothelial function is often favoured, as it can identify endothelial damage and predict cardiovascular risk [268]. It should be possible to describe disease development and to obtain prognostic data in advanced phases of CVD from measurements of endothelial function [269].

Very few well-controlled clinical studies have been conducted to date into the impact of flavonoids on CVD mortality, many more human intervention studies, all carried out short-term and on small samples, have examined their effects on CVD risk factors, including vascular function and hypertension. Notwithstanding the noted limitations, when added together the sum of the trials gives credibility to the idea that endothelial function may be improved by flavonoids.

#### 1.4.1.1 EPIDEMIOLOGICAL EVIDENCE

There is evidence from epidemiological studies that flavonoids taken daily may protect humans from cardiovascular illness, but the difficulties surrounding measurement of intake of flavonoids in the human diet must be considered before reaching any conclusions. Three factors make such measurement difficult and the analysis of results from such studies problematic. The first is simply the absence of comprehensive and systematic information regarding the amount of flavonoids in commonly consumed foods. The USDA flavonoid database and Phenol Explorer, major resources in this field, are known to be flawed because of the variation in properties (for example variety and ripeness) and growing conditions of the plants from which foodstuffs were prepared for assessment [270]. The second is finding a method of analysis that can measure flavonoid intake biomarkers in human samples. Thirdly is the absence of information on what impact food processing has on food flavonoid content and it is likely that the flavonoid content of processed foods is often overstated.

Thirteen of fifteen studies in a review of flavonoid intake and its relationship with cardiovascular disease showed a positive correlation between intake of flavanols and flavanones and the risk of CVD, mortality was reduced by up to 65% [271]. Positive results were also forecast by the Iowa Women's Health Study of 34,489 postmenopausal women carried out over sixteen years, which found a correlation between anthocyanin and flavanone intake and reduced CVD-related mortality [52], foods highlighted in this study as most likely to significantly contribute to reduced risk of CHD and CVD risk were bran, apple, pear, chocolate, red wine and strawberries [259].

The Zupthen Elderly Study followed 806 elderly men for fifteen years and found an inverse correlation between flavonoid intake and risk of death due to ischaemic heart disease. Cocoa, which is rich in flavanols, when ingested was shown to be associated with reduced CVD, lower BP and total mortality [272-274]. Tea is another rich source of flavanols and meta-analysis has shown that three cups each day can reduce the risk of cardiovascular illness by about 11% [275]. Reduced risk of CVD has also been shown to result from red wine intake [276], and, in a systematic review, from ingested soy and cocoa flavonoids [277].

Many foods most strongly associated with reduced CVD risk contain flavanols. The Kuna Indians of the San Blas Islands (Panama) have a diet very high in flavanol-rich cocoa, and studies that have compared them with genetically similar communities in Panama City have shown much lower levels of hypertension and cardiovascular disease among the island people, which is likely to be at least partly due to their very high unprocessed, high flavanol cocoa intake [278]. All of this evidence supports the view that foods like cocoa which are rich in flavonoids may prevent hypertension related to age and therefore CVD.

For all these positive studies, a number of epidemiological studies have found no relationship between intake of flavonoids and risk of CVD [279-282]. This discrepancy may result from shortcomings in diet questionnaires and food composition tables which fail to give an accurate picture of human flavonoid intake; it may also be due to differences between the samples in the different studies, their degrees of nourishment, for example, or their flavonoid intake at the baseline [283]. To avoid these differences, observational studies should in future use reliable biomarkers from plasma, urine or stool samples to assess flavonoid intake.

#### 1.4.1.2 CLINICAL AND IN VITRO EVIDENCE

Markers of polyphenol health benefits include Blood Pressure and RAAS, flow-mediated dilatation (FMD), laser Doppler iontophoresis (LDI) and NO, there is evidence from both humans and animals from intervention trials and *in vitro* studies for the beneficial effects of increased polyphenol in- or uptake.

## a) Blood Pressure and RAAS

A number of clinical intervention studies have tested the effects of flavonoid-rich foods on BP. Data from randomised clinical trials is in broad agreement with the results of epidemiological studies [277, 284-292].

Chocolate or cocoa rich foods which are rich in flavanols are widely reported to reduce mild to severe hypertension in both healthy subjects and those at risk of CVD [277, 284, 286, 288, 289]. A meta-analysis of five studies showed dark chocolate consumption reduced systolic BP by 0.7 mm Hg and diastolic BP by 2.8 mm Hg [289]. Meta-analysis of 10 randomised controlled trials of 297 subjects who included healthy normotensive, pre-hypertensive and subjects with stage 1 hypertension found SBP and DBP were reduced by 4.5 mm Hg and 2.5 mm Hg respectively as a result of consuming chocolate or cocoa rich in flavanols for two to eighteen weeks [284]. N.B., however, seven of the studies used white chocolate as a control and the composition of white chocolate is so different from dark chocolate that volunteers could not be blinded. Flavanols in cocoa varying from 36 - 902 mg administered to 49 overweight individuals, reduced BP and improved endothelial function, and may, the authors concluded, therefore, be useful in reducing cardiometabolic risk factors in obese individuals [293].

Studies with polyphenols in green and black teas and coffee have similarly demonstrated a wide range of cardiovascular benefits. A -controlled trial in healthy volunteers found that a daily dietary dose of 400 mg of chlorogenic acid (equivalent to the caffeine content of 2 cups of coffee) resulted in significantly increased plasma concentrations of chlorogenic acid, and, despite the absence of significant changes in NO status and endothelial function markers, there was an observed reduction in post-treatment mean SBP and DBP [255].

Many other foodstuffs containing polyphenols have also been found to be efficacious at reducing BP including numerous berries, however, the evidence, is often from small or short trials and therefore not conclusive. A study that followed 156,957 subjects for fourteen years found that regular anthocyanin consumption, mostly from blueberries and strawberries, reduced hypertension by 8% [42]. Olive oil polyphenols at 30 mg/day in the diet of young women with

mild hypertension led to SBP 7.91 mm Hg and DBP 6.65 mm Hg lower, with a significant increase in plasma NOx (+4.7  $\pm$  6.6 µmol/L, P < 0.001) and improved endothelial function [294]. The impact of polyphenol-rich berry juice on BP in a 12-week trial of hypertensive subjects with controls and it was found that with an intake of 500 mL/day, SBP was significantly reduced [295]. Grape polyphenols have been shown to reduce BP and improve endothelial function in a 30-day trial of men at high risk of CVD [296]. Some effects on the RAAS have been demonstrated from polyphenol intake, however, the number and extent of human studies is relatively few: just four studies and all are similarly inconclusive. A supplementary black chokeberry preparation given to patients with metabolic syndrome for two months revealed it as a weak ACE inhibitor [297]. Pomegranate juice containing polyphenols, consumed at 50 ml  $\times$  1.5 mmol daily, by hypertensive patients, demonstrated a 36 % reduction in serum ACE activity [254]. The plant polyphenol quercetin was found to be associated with a reduction in BP, however, the reduction was noted independently of changes in ACE activity [298] and blueberry reportedly led to no significant changes in ACE activity, following a 3 week chronic trial [299]

Despite the plethora of studies, insufficient conclusive evidence exists that polyphenols lower BP, largely because there have been insufficient well-controlled, long-term intervention studies. Acute BP reductions after polyphenol intake are widely recognised, but clinical relevance makes it necessary also to observe sustained changes after chronic ingestion over months or years. However, despite the body of evidence, the case for polyphenolic health benefits is not proven, a meta-analysis by Hooper and colleagues showed that chronic intake of black tea, red wine and grapes had no significant effect on SBP or DBP [300-302].

#### b) Flow-Mediated Vasodilation (FMD)

FMD measures the extent to which arteries are able to vasodilate in response to endothelial NO release in reactive hyperaemia, after the brachial artery has been occluded for five minutes by means of a BP cuff [303, 304]. FMD was first tested *in vivo* by Celermajer *et al.* [305] who used ultrasound to measure brachial artery changes and has been used more recently as a primary outcome by a number of researchers studying the effects of dietary interventions [186, 277, 306, 307]. Most have investigated the acute (within 4 to 8 hours) effect on endothelial function of consuming flavonoid-rich food in healthy subjects or in patients at risk of cardiovascular disease. FMD was used, notably using controlled interventions, to demonstrate that consuming cocoa improved endothelium-dependent vasodilation by increasing the bioavailability of plasma NO in patients with hypertension, CAD, or diabetes; the intervention comprised a cocoa drink rich in flavanols or a control drink with exactly the same macro- and micro-nutrient content but, while

the control drink contained less than 10 mg flavanols the other contained 176 mg of flavanols (monomers and oligomers) [308]. Vascular improvement was correlated in time with changes in plasma flavanol metabolites, which suggested that the flavanol/vascular improvement relationship is one of cause and effect. It has also been shown that flavanol-rich cocoa reverses endothelial dysfunction in smokers, and this has been observed, too, in healthy volunteers after short-term consumption of chocolate rich in flavanols [285, 309]. Flavanols appear to be the directly mediating agent in these effects, as ingesting pure epicatechin or epigallocatechin gallate has produced similar vascular effects in healthy volunteers as well as in in patients with CAD [310, 311].

Increased FMD response in healthy volunteers and CVD patients has been reported after consuming other foods rich in flavonoids, including black tea, grape juice and red wine [312-318]. Consuming grape juice for fourteen days has produced a long-term vascular effect in CAD patients, while chronic intake of flavanol-rich cocoa increases FMD response and hyperaemic brachial artery blood flow in hypercholesterolemic postmenopausal women [319, 320]. Fourteen days consuming flavanol-rich chocolate by hypertensive subjects also increased FMD [286]. Finally, it has been shown that long-term tea consumption produces sustained increase in baseline FMD levels and an additional increase in FMD response [312]. This has also been noted in both healthy smokers and diabetics with high flavanol cocoa [321, 322].

The most convincing evidence so far amassed that endothelial function is improved by polyphenols derives from foods rich in flavanols, especially cocoa [44]. Meta-analysis of 42 human trials comprising a total of 1297 participants found that FMD improved after ingestion of chocolate/cocoa in both acute and/or short-term chronic formats, while another found that a 2.6% improvement in FMD is possible after moderate consumption (500 ml or 2 to 3 cups per day) of green or black tea [323, 324]. Improved FMD response has also been noted in relation to other foods rich in polyphenols. Meta-analysis of nine studies found that FMD improved significantly 30, 60 and 120 minutes after consuming grape polyphenols but did not report any effect after chronic interventions [241]. It was demonstrated that two weeks of consuming 472.8 mg of TPs (total polyphenols) from Concord grape juice improved healthy smokers' FMD, while another chronic study found that, for men with metabolic syndrome, consuming 267 mg of TPs of a grape preparation for thirty days significantly improved vascular endothelial function [296, 325].

The evidence of FMD improvement in the case of berry phenolics is not so persuasive. No cumulative effect was found from chronic cranberry juice consumption at the rate of 835 mg TPs and 94 mg anthocyanins, either on FMD or on vascular function in general; the sample comprised

stable CAD patients [326]. Notwithstanding that, the same authors carried out an open-label pilot study which found the effect on FMD to be acute and favourable, while a different study found that 766 mg of TPs, including 310–727 mg anthocyanins, in a blueberry drink consumed by healthy young men gave significantly and acutely improved FMD 1, 2 and 6 hours after consumption [327]. This acute effect was also visible when processed blueberry products were consumed by matched volunteers; this suggests that the form in which polyphenol-rich blueberry is consumed is not relevant to the benefits conferred [328]. In the case of overweight men, an acute study showed a correlation between improved FMD and consumption of 694 mg TPs, including 493 mg anthocyanins, in açaí [329].

The flavanone content of citrus fruits may also positively affect endothelial function. Vascular impairment in healthy middle-aged men, as measured by FMD, was reversed by acute flavanone intervention, whether as whole orange or as juice [330]. The dose was 128-452 mg TPs, including 107-352.80mg hesperidin, and the effect was observed notwithstanding the differing levels of flavanone metabolites measured in the subject's plasma. It has also been shown that a 2.5% FMD improvement is experienced by subjects with metabolic syndrome after three weeks of consuming 500 mg of hesperidin per day [331].

An evaluation of FMD of the brachial artery demonstrated that red grape polyphenol extract, which contains a wide variety of polyphenolic compounds, could trigger a surge in FMD, showing an acute improvement in endothelial function [332]. Clinical assessment of post-ischaemic endothelial function of the brachial artery, following black tea doses of 5 cups per day over a 4-week-period, demonstrated significant and consistent FMD [333]. In acute, uncontrolled pilot studies, it was demonstrated that mean brachial artery flow was enhanced 4 hours post consumption of a single 480 mL dose of cranberry juice [334]. Using double-strength cranberry juice (54% juice, containing 835 mg TPs, and 94 mg anthocyanins) per day over a 4-week period, the same authors also found, in patients with CAD, reduced mean carotid-femoral pulse wave velocity, a measure of central aortic stiffness. It has also been found that polyphenol consumption in both blueberries (at 1,791 mg) and cranberries (at 1,910 mg) led to significant increases in FMD at 1-2 and 6 hours post-intake [49, 335]. Onion peel extracts containing 162 mg quercetin consumed daily for a 12-week period, enhanced endothelial function, as defined by FMD and endothelial progenitor cell (EPC) circulation measured by flow cytometry, in healthy obese individuals [336].

#### c) Laser Doppler Iontophoresis

Another commonly used marker for reduced risk of CVD is LDI, which measures vasodilation of the forearm's peripheral microvasculature in response to 1 % acetylcholine (Ach) (endothelium-dependent vasodilation) and 1 % sodium nitroprusside (SNP) (endothelium-independent vasodilation) agents delivered by iontophoresis using an electrical field. A laser Doppler imager measures changes in blood flow and the area under the curve (AUC) and incremental area under the curve (iAUC) express microvascular responses for flux versus time, using arbitrary units of measure [337].

Studies using laser Doppler flowmetry (LDF) have shown that endothelial dysfunction in patients with preclinical and borderline hypertension can be improved by pycnogenol extract, which abounds in water-soluble polyphenols including procyanidins, bioflavonoids and organic acids [338]. In another trial, oral administration of pycnogenol, was also shown to enhance NO production leading to improved forearm blood flow by elevating levels of endothelium-dependent vasodilation in response to Ach [339].

In a randomised control trial, LDI was used to assess the effects of acute ingestion of a puréebased drink rich in flavonoids and demonstrated improved vascular reactivity and endotheliumdependent vasodilation [340]. It has also been found that acute consumption of a flavonoid-rich blackcurrant juice drink on improved vascular reactivity markers measured by LDI [341]. Another randomised control trial, in this case dose-dependent and concerned with men on a diet high in flavonoids, used LDI to show an improvement in endothelium-dependent microvascular reactivity together with reduced vascular cell adhesion molecules including E-selectin and lower levels of Creactive protein [342]. Polyphenols in champagne have also been shown to be beneficial with respect to CVD, inducing a significant, positive endothelium-dependent vascular affect within 4 hours [343], while acute consumption of blackcurrant juice, known to be polyphenol-rich, was demonstrated by LDF to produce a positive impact on vascular reactivity markers [341]. Earlier studies using LDF to examine acute effects of cocoa on microcirculation in the dermis also showed an increase in blood flow and oxygen saturation [344].

Animal studies using female, spontaneously hypertensive rats (SHR) have demonstrated a range of cardiovascular effects following consumption of red wine polyphenols. Doxorubicin was prevented from inducing blunted endothelium-dependent hyper-polarisation (EDH) type relaxations and vascular oxidative stress. Expression levels of target proteins were improved. ROS and endothelium-derived contracting factors in Ang II-induced endothelial dysfunction were

28

counteracted. COX-1 and COX-2 were upregulated. SBP was reduced and the endotheliumdependent relaxation response to Ach improved. [345, 346]

## d) Nitric Oxide (NO)

Studies in humans have shown correlations between vascular and BP improvements and increases in circulating NO with flavonoids and metabolites appearing in the plasma, and it is likely that flavonoids influence NO levels [176, 345]. RCTs examining the effects of polyphenols on FMD in humans, considered likely to rely on bioavailability of NO, indicate significant improvements in both acute and chronic cases [346].

A study of (-)-epicatechin's vasodilatory effects in a coca drink rich in flavonols using healthy adult males indicated acutely elevated levels of circulating NO [347]. Hydroxycinnamates and phenolic acids are flavonoids in champagne and have been shown in fifteen healthy adults to raise the bioavailability of NO and acutely improve vascular function [348]. Vanillic and homovanillic acids are among the small phenolic acid metabolites of blueberry flavonoids and are similar in structure to the pharmacologic NADPH oxidase inhibitor apocynin. The conclusion of an acute study of healthy men was that consuming them by way of 766, 1278, and 1791 mg doses of blueberry flavonoids was associated with a reduction in NADPH oxidase activity in neutrophils [349]. Evidence is increasing that polyphenols have a beneficial effect on the bioavailability of NO as well as identifying possible mechanisms, but an exact understanding would require cell and animal studies using physiologically relevant doses as well as well-designed chronic human intervention studies.

## **1.4.2** INVESTIGATIONS INTO THE UNDERLYING MECHANISMS OF POLYPHENOLS ON VASCULAR FUNCTION

#### a) RAAS

In *in vivo* studies of humans, food components like pomegranate juice, rooibos tea, green tea and polyphenols (especially flavonoids) have been shown to have inhibit ACE activity, preventing Ang I from being converted into Ang II. Induced reduction in Ang II leads vasodilation and blood volume is increased and BL is lowered [350, 351]. A decrease in the expression of endothelin-1 messenger RNA, increased by Ang II inhibition of endothelin secretion and regulation of the changes in intracellular calcium concentration and mitochondrial membrane potential, have all been demonstrated [352]

*In vivo* studies have demonstrated that polyphenols regulate the RAAS by reducing plasma Ang II and renin levels, thereby reducing hypertension. For example, an animal model of endothelial

function in aldosterone-salt-mediated hypertension demonstrated a link to an increase in circulating micro particles, the release of which were retarded by polyphenols [353]. Studies of the effects of polyphenols in red wine found that they prevented Ang II-induced VEGF expression and matrix metalloproteinase enzyme (MMP)-2 activity in the aortic wall, and Ang II-induced expression of eNOS, the formation of ROS, and the nitration of protein [354], resulting in reduced hypertension and improved endothelial function. It has been reported that they prevented Ang II-induced hypertension and endothelial dysfunction as shown by vascular relaxation, by normalising vascular superoxide anion production and NADPH oxidase subunit expression in *ex vivo* organs [355]. Another study of red wine polyphenols, on ischaemic rat hindlimbs, showed the angiogenic processes implicated in the development of atherosclerotic lesions, the formation of ROS and nitrated proteins, and the expression HIF-2alpha, eNOS, and VEGF induced by Ang II were prevented [356]. A 4-week study of the mechanisms underlying the amelioration of a range of endothelial dysfunctions in mesenteric artery rings of middle aged rats found the expression of eNOS, Argl, NADPH oxidase and angiotensin receptors were all normalised by red wine [357].

Recent studies have also shown improvements in the management of doxorubicin-induced vascular injury (damaged endothelial cells, increased vascular permeability) by improving the vascular RAAS. This was assessed by organ chamber vascular reactivity, dihydroethidine detection of vascular formation of ROS, levels of small and intermediate calcium-activated potassium channels involved in EDH-type relaxations and immunofluorescence detection of eNOS, Ang II, and AT1 receptors [358]. *In vitro* studies, with quercetin and wine polyphenols, have shown that flavonoids could regulate the NO-guanylyl cyclase pathway, EDH factor(s), endothelin-1 and protect endothelial cells from apoptosis. Similarly, and in the same review, *in vivo* studies with hypertensive animals have also demonstrated the prevention of endothelial dysfunction, reduction in BP, regulation of oxidative stress and protection against end-organ damage [359].

Studies with polyphenols from green and black teas have shown a decrease in the expression of endothelin-1 messenger RNA, increased by Ang II inhibition of endothelin secretion and regulation of the changes in intracellular calcium concentration and mitochondrial membrane potential [352], this corroborates earlier work, which showed decreased ROS through the regulation of the protein expression of NADH oxidase, p22phox and p67phox, and upregulated catalase expression in bovine carotid artery endothelial cells [360]. Superoxide anion levels and permeable fluorescence intensities were notably decreased in Ang II-stimulated bovine carotid artery endothelial cells, suggesting that tea polyphenols could assuage Ang II-induced hyperpermeability, primarily by the reduction of ROS and regulation of ROS-related protein expression [360]. Similar studies, involving caffeic acid along with its nineteen novel derivatives,

chlorogenic acid and quercetin on the inhibition of renin and ACE activities, demonstrated strong renin (IC<sub>50</sub> = 229  $\mu$ M) and ACE (IC<sub>50</sub> = 9.1  $\mu$ M) inhibition [361].

Studies on enzyme kinetics also suggest that tea polyphenols inhibit ACE activity. Substratedependence of the reaction kinetics for green and black tea polyphenolic size fractions have revealed enzyme velocity curves that matched allosteric and non-Michaelis-Menten relationships, with a mixed mode of *in vitro* inhibition of ACE, mostly of a kinetically uncompetitive type [362]. Combined blackberry (*Rubus fruticosus* agg.), raspberry (*R. idaeus*) and black raspberry (*R. occidentalis*) polyphenol extracts counteracted Ang II-induced senescence in vascular smooth muscle cells. An attempt to decipher the molecular mechanisms underlying the process found that 200 µg mL of the triple berry extract led to a decrease in cells positive for senescenceassociated  $\beta$ -galactosidase, and downregulated p21 and p53 expression associated with decreased levels of ROS and Ang II signalling [363]. This study also showed that blackberry polyphenol extract increased superoxide dismutase 1 expression, attenuated the upregulation of NADPH oxidase 1 (NOX1) expression and the Ang II-induced phosphorylation of Akt, p38 MAPK and extracellular-signal-regulated kinase 1/2, as well as reducing senescence in response to NOX1 overexpression.

Inflammatory angiogenesis is a pivotal pathogenic development in atherosclerosis, and is controlled by the proinflammatory enzyme cyclooxygenase (COX)-2 and degrading MMPs, a study on the effects of oleuropein, hydroxytyrosol, resveratrol and quercetin on endothelial cell angiogenic response *in vitro*, demonstrated these polyphenols could reduce inflammatory angiogenesis in cultured endothelial cells, through MMP-9 and COX-2 inhibition [364]. Another study to evaluate increases of Ang II type I receptor (AT1R), cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2), lectin-like oxidised LDL receptor-1 (LOX-1), prostacyclin/prostaglandin I 2 synthase (PGIS), and thromboxane A2 synthase (TXA2S) by tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF $\alpha$ ) in hyperglycaemic conditions (30 mM) of human endothelial cells over a short period, and to investigate the regulatory effects of dietary flavonoids on these increases, demonstrated that apigenin, kaempferol, chrysin, and flavone all significantly impeded TNF $\alpha$ -induced LOX-1 expression and that a flavone skeleton was needed to reduce LOX-1 expression by apigenin, the double bond found in its C-ring, and the absence of a third hydroxyl group from its B- and C-rings [365].

Recent animal studies have demonstrated that a flavonoid-rich red wine vinegar beverage could inhibit the RAAS and hence reduce hypertension. A baseline increase in mean BP induced by Ang I (1 microg/kg, i.v.) was attenuated an hour following administration of the beverage, when a significant reduction in serum ACE activity from 39.4+/-1.2 IU/I at baseline to 37.0+/-1.4 IU/I was

also observed [366]. Another animal study conducted to measure the effect of flavonoids from the seeds of *Astragalus complanatus* found a significant reduction (17%) in mean arterial pressure in the high dose group (200 mg/kg) for both renal and SHR. The antihypertensive regulation was attributed to a decrease in plasma concentration of Ang II caused by the flavonoids quantified by radioimmunoassay at 60 minutes post drug administration [367]. More recent animal studies to evaluate the antihypertensive effect of total flavone extracts from Pueraria Radix (the dried root of *Pueraria lobata) in vitro* have also shown that consumption for as short a period as 14 days notably reduced BP in SHR [368]. The flavone extract considerably inhibited ACE and plasma renin activities, depending on the dose thus substantiating other studies which have found flavone mediated regulation of the RAAS.

*In vitro*, cultured endothelial cells from human umbilical veins incubated with bilberry 25E extract, exhibited significant, dose-dependent inhibition of ACE activity after 10 minutes [369]. Phenolic extracts from the Garden egg fruit (*Solanum aethiopium = S. aethiopicum L.*) were investigated with enzymes  $\alpha$ -amylase,  $\alpha$ -glucosidase and ACE, and demonstrated strong inhibition of ACE activity in rat lung homogenates *in vitro* [370]. Studies with lentil polyphenols have demonstrated that extracts could ameliorate Ang II-induced hypertension and associated pathological changes including remodelling and perivascular fibrosis in small resistant arteries of the heart and kidneys by up to 30 %, and reduce ROS levels in the aorta by up to 48.9 % [371].

A study to investigate the *in vitro* modulation of the RAAS by polyphenolic extracts from two green leafy vegetables, *Vernonia amygdalina* and *Gongronema latifolium*, showed that they inhibited ACE and renin [253]. This study also demonstrated that the extraction method was significant, since ethanol column fractionations appeared to show higher ACE and renin inhibition than crude acetone extracts. Peach and plum juices containing polyphenols also reduce Ang II in plasma and its receptor Agtr1 in heart tissues and are, therefore, effective as protection against metabolic disorders that promote CVD [372].

Recent studies have shown that phlorotannins, the predominant polyphenols in brown algae, are ACE inhibitors, phenolic extracts of Spiral wrack (*Fucus spiralis*) showed remarkably high ACE inhibition (88.8  $\pm$  2.4%), with a total phenolic content of 156.6  $\pm$  1.4 mg PE/g of dry weight [373]. *In vitro* experimental evidence has previously confirmed that oat polyphenols have strong ACE inhibitory activity, in various hydrolysis conditions [374].

#### b) NO

Several mechanisms for the interference of polyphenols with NO have been suggested. There is limited evidence that the high antioxidant nature of phenolic groups and their reaction with ROS may be capable of reducing NO breakdown [375-377]. It is also possible that polyphenols or circulating phenolic metabolites including Ferulic Acid (FA) could prevent the breakdown of NO by inhibiting enzymes that generate ROS, including NADPH oxidase, xanthine oxidase and lipoxygenase [375, 378-380].

The ortho-methoxy-substituted catechol of FA is similar in structure to known NADPH oxidase inhibitors such as apocynin, which may explain why it is effective *in vivo* [381, 382] (Figure 1.9).



**Figure 1.9 Similarities between the ortho-methoxy-substituted catechol structures** Diagram shows (a) ferulic acid and (b) apocynin

eNOS is considered primarily responsible for NO generation in vascular epithelium tissue and a number of studies have considered how it is affected by polyphenols. *In vitro* tests with quercetin and its metabolites administered at 5 and 10  $\mu$ M, on human endothelial aortic cells [383] have evidenced phosphorylation of eNOS and increased NO production via Adenosine Monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) and similar outcomes have been found in E-knockout mice [384]. Isolated human arteries have also been investigated, they demonstrated that polyphenols increased endothelial NO formation, mediated by redox-sensitive activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt (PI3K–AKT) pathway, again resulting in increased eNOS, activity [385]. Polyphenols were also shown to activate eNOS by raising the concentration of intracellular free calcium, and by activating oestrogen receptors in endothelial cells. A study that examined the effects of (-)-epicatechin, at 0.3-10  $\mu$ M, on human umbilical vein endothelial cells

(HUVEC) reportedly increased NO, possibly connected with the compound's vasodilatory potential [386]. However, the observed effects of dietary polyphenols *in vitro* do not always translate to an *in vivo* setting. As such, many questions remain concerning their physiological mode of action including the effects of metabolites.

It also thought likely that flavonoids can influence NO levels by modulating endothelial intracellular signalling pathways such as the PI3-kinase/Akt pathway and intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  levels that lead first to eNOS phosphorylation and then to production of NO [46, 176, 308, 387-390]. A supplement of 625 mg/day of pomegranate extract was shown to reduce vascular inflammation and other vaso-beneficial effects by activation of the Akt/eNOS pathway and lower monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expression [391]. Another recent animal study [392] investigating the effects of chlorogenic acid, a polyphenol abundant in coffee, revealed that it could protect blood vessels against HOCI-induced endothelial dysfunction with a significant increase in NO production [392]. This study also demonstrated that eNOS dimerization was increased, as was the expression of heme oxygenase-1, an isoform of heme oxygenase usually produced during oxidative stress. Another study has demonstrated that polyphenols caused NO-mediated endothelium-dependent relaxations mediated by redox-sensitive activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt (PI3K-AKT) pathway, resulting in increased eNOS, increased concentrations of intracellular free calcium and activating oestrogen receptors in endothelial cells may also have been responsible for elevated ENOS levels [385]. Açaí stone extract extracts given to hypertensive rats at 200 mg/kg/day, were also responsible for antihypertensive effects, preventing endothelial dysfunction and vascular structural changes; the mechanisms likely to be associated with antioxidant effects, NOS activation, and inhibition of MMP-2 activation [393]. Studies on rat mesenteric arteries have implicated grape polyphenols in reversing age related endothelial dysfunction that affects both the NO- and EDH-mediated relaxations associated with vascular oxidative stress, as well as activation of the RAAS [394, 395]. Red wine polyphenols, in porcine arterial tissue, induced NO and EDH-mediated coronary vasodilatation, Aronia melanocarpa (black chokeberry), an abundant source of polyphenols showed substantial NO-mediated endothelium-dependent relaxations in the same tissue [396, 397].

There is evidence that flavonoids increase eNOS gene expression, inducing production of prostacyclin in endothelial cells and inhibiting endothelin-1 and endothelial NADPH oxidase [398-402]. Inhibition of the latter reduces production of superoxide and its possible scavenging of NO to give ONOO<sup>-</sup>.

Several other mechanisms of action on NO production have also been proposed following *in vitro* studies. These include endothelin-1 production [403], via both Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent BK Calcium channel-mediated hyperpolarisation, and Ca<sup>2+</sup>-independent PI3K/Akt pathways [404], redox-sensitive activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt (PI3K–AKT) pathway (also resulting in increased eNOS activity). In studies on rat mesenteric arteries, polyphenols in grapes have been implicated in reversing age related endothelial dysfunction that affects both the NO- and EDH-mediated relaxations associated with vascular oxidative stress, as well as activation of the RAAS [394, 395].

Studies *in vitro* have shown that avenanthramides (Avn) inhibited the development of vascular smooth cells, acting against the adverse effects of atherosclerosis [405, 406]. Avn in oats have also been shown to exhibit antioxidant activity in various cells [407]. Avn in enriched oat extract has been shown to significantly suppress IL-1  $\beta$ -stimulated secretion of proinflammatory cytokines, such as IL-6, IL-8, and MCP-1, by human aortic endothelial cells [408].

Avn-2c was demonstrated to inhibit serum-induced smooth muscle cell proliferation notably at a concentration of 120  $\mu$ M and to improve NO production, dependent on the dose, in both vascular smooth muscle cells and human, aortic endothelial cells. A three-fold increase in NO production in vascular smooth muscle cells and a nine-fold increase in NO production in human aortic endothelial cells has also been reported [406]. These increases were corroborated by a simultaneous increase in mRNA expression for eNOS, suggesting that Avn could prevent atherosclerosis through inhibition of vascular smooth muscle proliferation and increase NO production in both cell types.

FA increased levels of cAMP, cGMP and phosphorylated vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein, while at the same time decreasing phospho-mitogen-activated protein kinase and phosphodiesterase in washed rat platelets [409]. Earlier vasoreactivity studies on ferulic acid, assessed using aortic rings isolated from normotensive Wistar-Kyoto rats (WKR) and SHR, have demonstrated that ferulic acid restored endothelial function through enhanced bioavailability of basal and stimulated NO in the aortas [380]. A similar study to assess the vasoreactivity of ferulic acid in chronic two-kidney, one-clip, renal hypertensive rats, showed that ferulic acid restored endothelial function.

However, the observed effects of dietary polyphenols *in vitro* or in animals do not always translate to a human, *in vivo* setting. As such, many questions remain concerning their physiological mode of action including the effects of metabolites. It should be borne in mind, however, that rodents have a very different metabolism to humans.

## **1.5 POLYPHENOLS OF WHOLE GRAINS**

## 1.5.1 WHOLE GRAIN PHENOLICS

The structure of a representative whole grain is shown in Figure 1.10. The wide range of phytochemicals in whole grain include, *inter alia* folates, tocols, sterols and PAs [411]. The most significant are PAs which comprise derivatives of hydroxycinnamic or hydroxybenzoic acids (Figure 1.11). Most significant among the hydroxycinnamic acids in grain are ferulic, caffeic, *p*-coumaric and sinapic acids, while for hydroxybenzoic acids it is vanillic, syringic, gallic and protocatechuic acids. These PAs are sited primarily in the outer bran layers (Figure 1.10), most abundant are ferulic, *p*-coumaric, vanillic and syringic acids [412]. Small amounts of PAs are available in both free and soluble conjugated forms, but most are bound as complex insoluble esters to polysaccharides [413, 414] and serve as a cross linking mechanism in the plant cell wall. Between 70 % and 90 % of the phenolics found in wheat are ferulic acids (FA) in the grain's aleurone layer, a single layer of cells overlaying the endosperm and adhering strongly to the pericarp (Figure 1.10) [415, 416]. FA is a hydroxycinnamate synthesised from cinnamic and *p*-coumaric acid through the shikimic acid pathway by hydroxylation and methylation reactions [417].



## Figure 1.10 Break down (structure) of a typical whole grain.

Most of the micronutrients (including PAs and avenanthramides) are contained in the outer bran layers. In the production of white flour, only the starchy endosperm is used. After Krygier, 1982 [3].

Another constituent of whole grain is diferulic acids, or FA dehydrodimers, which are present in different forms; the main structures involve oxidative coupling at 8-5, 8-O-4, 8-8 and 5-5 in grass cell walls [7]. Monomer and dimer FA forms both bind covalently via ester linkage to the major structural polysaccharide arabinoxylans, as well as to mixed, linked  $\beta$ - glucan and other polysaccharides (Figure 1.11). This attachment is by way of the carboxylic acid group acylating the primary hydroxyl at the C5 position of the arabinosyl side-chains of arabinoxylans (AXs), with the commonest being 5-O-feruloyl-L-arabinofuranose and 5-O-feruloyl-AXe [418]. 95.8% of bran is conjugated form with only 4.2% present in a free form [419]; the antioxidant potential of bran has been shown to be determined by the amount of free FA released during metabolism in the digestive tract.



Figure 1.11 Ferulic Acid Esterified to Arabidoxylan

(A) Ferulic Acid linked to O-5 of arabinose chain. (B)  $\beta$ -1,4-linked xylan backbone. (C)  $\alpha$ -1,2-linked Larabinose [1]. The most common diferulic acid structures with oxidative coupling at 8,5, 8-O-4, 8-8 and 5-5. Ralph *et al* 1994 [7].

The oats (*Avena* spp., family Poaceae) are a genus of cereal grains which originated in the Mediterranean region and grow well in temperate regions where some species, particularly *Avena* sativa L., the subject of this study, are widely cultivated. Oat meal is a popular food produced from the seed of *Avena sativa* L. and is chiefly consumed in the form of porridge which comes in

several varieties, including steel cut oats, rolled (also known as old fashioned and whole) oats, and quick cook (also known as instant) oats. The varieties derive from increasing degrees of processing, which results in faster cooking times and substantially different nutrient compositions [420]. The widely established health benefits of oats have led to an increase in their consumption in recent years [421]. Oats are a rich source of soluble fibres,  $\beta$ -glucans, which contribute to the reduction of blood cholesterol [422], and also contain a unique group of low molecular weight soluble phenolic compounds, the avenanthramides which are not present in other cereals [406]. Avenanthramides have recently been shown to exhibit anti-inflammatory, anti- proliferative and anti-itching properties which may provide protection against CHD, colon cancer and skin irritation [407, 436].

Class of Nutrients	Nutrient Components (%)		Location in the oats	References
Starch	Amylose	60 %	Endosperm	[423-426]
Protein	Total	11 - 15 %	Germ and bran	[427, 428]
	Globulins (% of total)	80 %		
	Prolamins	15 %		
	Glutelin	5 - 66 %		
	Albumin	1 - 12 %		
Lipids	Total	5 - 7 %	Kernel and bran	[429, 430]
	(mono and polyunsaturated mainly oleic (18:1) and linoleic ( saturated fatty acids including and palmitic (16:0) acid)			
Trace Minerals	Calcium:	0.54 %	Bran	[431]
	Iron	0.04 - 7 %		
Vitamins	Niacin	0.032 %	Bran	[431]
	Thiamine	0.00 2 %		
	Riboflavin	0.001 %		
Fibre	Total: 10-12%		Bran	[432, 433]
	β-glucan	2.3 - 8.5 %		
Phytochemicals	Tocols		Bran and outer	[434, 435]
	α-Tocotrienols and		layers of Kernel	
	α-tocopherols (% of total)	86 - 91%		
	Phenolic Compounds (Ferulic Vanillic Syringic	5.7 %		
	Protocatechuic, <i>p</i> -Coumaric, Caffeic, Sinapic)			
	Flavanoids	trace %		
	Avenanthramides			
	AV-A	2.1 - 4.3 %		
	AV-B	2.8 - 6.2 %		
	AV-C	2.5 - 4.7 %		

Table 1.1.	Nutritiona	composition	and disposition	of Oats	(Sativa spp	).)
------------	------------	-------------	-----------------	---------	-------------	-----

Oats are also a rich dietary source of phytochemicals including vitamin E, phenolic acids and avenanthramides [437]. Phenolic acids contain one aromatic ring bearing acid group and one or more hydroxyl groups (Figure 1.12) [438], they are found in three different forms within the oat food matrix: as soluble free acids; as soluble conjugates esterified to low molecular weight components such as sugars; and as insoluble bound acids esterified to high molecular weight components including lignin, cell wall polysaccharides and storage proteins [439, 440]. Hydroxybenzoic acids and hydroxycinnamic acids are the two classes of phenolic acids found in oats. Hydroxybenzoic acid derivatives include, protocatechuic, syringic, vanillic, *p*-hydroxybenzoic and gallic acids, while hydroxycinnamic acid derivatives are ferulic, *p*-coumaric, *o*-coumaric, caffeic and sinapic acids (Figure 1.12) [441, 442]. Avenanthramides are a unique group of compounds in oats, consisting of an amide conjugate of anthranilic acid and hydroxycinnamic acids. The 3 major subgroups are avenanthramide-A (Avn-A), avenanthramide-B (Avn-B) and avenanthramide-C (Avn-C), they all occur in the bran or outer layers of the kernel (Figure 1.12).

The chemical structure of Avn and its subgroups is shown in Figure 1.12. Avn-C is one of the major avenanthramide polyphenols of oats, it inhibits the serum-induced proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells, a vital process in the onset of atherosclerosis. Flow cytometry analysis on this inhibition process has shown that Avn-C could block the cell cycle in G1 phase, as a rise in the number of G1 phase cells and a fall in the number of S phase cells was observed. Inhibition of the cell cycle along with decreased cyclin D1 expression and increased cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21cip1 expression, with no notable changes in p27kip1 expression, have also been linked with Avn-c mediated reduction in the phosphorylation of retinoblastoma protein, a key process in G1-S transition [405].



Figure 1.12 Chemical Structure of Cinnamic Acid derivatives, Benzoic Acid derivatives and Avenanthramides A-C in Oat.

## **1.5.2** BIOAVAILABILITY OF WHOLE GRAIN PHENOLICS

While studies involving animals indicate immediate and effective absorption of free FA in the stomach [419, 443, 444], the large and complex nature of esterified diferulates means that they cannot be absorbed through the mucosal barrier. Free FA absorption has been reported in the small intestine in direct proportion to the amount perfused [445-447], but molecules bigger than 30 kDa cannot diffuse through the small intestinal mucosa, which suggests that the potential for absorption of FA and diferulates in the small intestine depends on its initial release from the bound state [448]. While there have been reports of esterase activity in the small intestine's mucosa and to a low extent (0 - 5 %), in the lumen [445, 449], only about 2.6% of total feruloyl molecules are released during gastric and small intestine digestion [450]. This is supported for

both wheat and rye that, in both human and rat intestines, esterase(s) induces release of free diferulic acids and monoester products via hydrolysis of 5-5, 8-O-4 and 8-5-benzofuran diferulate ester bonds [445]. It is known that most FA-AX cleavage occurs in the colon during fermentation in which faecal bacterial esterase activity releases 20% of AX linked hydroxycinnamic acids from bran [449]. Esterase activity, i.e. hydrolysing diferuloyl ester bonds, is carried out more efficiently by human colonic microbiota than by those in the small intestine, due to the presence in large intestinal bacteria of other enzymes and in particular xylanases which can begin the breakdown of insoluble fibre improving the access of esterases to FA-AX complexes. Esterase on its own releases only 4% of alkali-extractable FA from wheat bran; when xylanase is also present the figure rises to 95% [451].

When insoluble AX reaches the colon, xylanases cleave the xylan  $\beta$ -1,4 backbone by to release small soluble oligosaccharides which make easily accessible good substrates for ferulic acid esterases [452]. These in turn release free FA, the amount of which is influenced by the xylanase's source. *Talaromycetes emersonii* xylanases release 1.35% of total FA while for *T. viride* xylanase the figure is 48 % [453]. This difference results from the rate of polysaccharide degradation and the xylanase's ability to produce feruloylated oligosaccharides with longer chain lengths of up to 3 or more units, the optimum size for esterase action [452, 454].

Few human studies have focused on FA absorption and metabolism after consumption of whole grain wheat. Maximum hydroxycinnamate absorption from high-bran cereal, a particularly rich source of FA and diferulates because they include the outer husk including the aleurone layer, occurs between one and three hours after ingestion [455]. It was not found necessarily to be the case, though, that the main cleavage and release of FA from AX happens in the small intestine, but more likely that FA observed in plasma derived from the 4 % of free FA that the grain also contains. It also found low hydroxycinnamic acid levels in plasma after 6 hours, which suggests not much absorption occurring in the large intestine. This may be the result of long, slow FA cleavage as food passes through the large intestine, with minimal amounts being observed in the circulation. No diferulic acids were detected in urine or plasma and were most likely still in bound form, which would suggest that very little of these compounds was absorbed all the way through the gastrointestinal tract. All of this suggests the need for further human studies to fully understand absorption and metabolism of whole grain phenolic acids.

While cleavage and release of ferulic and diferulic acids from wheat bran can take place in the human gastric tract, how far this can extend is unclear. The gut's acidic environment may have

the ability to cleave ester bonds, with the ester cleaved by acid hydrolysis to yield a carboxylic acid (R-COOH) and an alcohol (Figure 1.13) [456].



Figure 1.13 The ester to ferulic acid cleavage reaction

Gastric acid is thought to catalyse the ester bond along with H<sub>2</sub>O, resulting in free ferulic and carboxylic acids. After Hilal *et al.* 2006.

FA is recovered intact after being incubated in HCI-NaCL (9g/L) aqueous solution for one hour at 37°C [444], this suggests that the acid nature of the gut breaks it down or metabolises it very little. Alkaline, as opposed to acidic, hydrolysis causes release of PAs, including FA, in markedly greater amounts [457], hence it follows that using both esterases and xylanases in bread making may make these hydroxycinnamates more bioavailable, increasing potential health benefits.

## 1.6 WHOLE GRAIN AND VASCULAR FUNCTION

#### **1.6.1** EPIDEMIOLOGICAL STUDIES

A number of studies have shown an inverse relationship between CVD and whole grain intake as well as positive links between whole grain and whole grain product intake and higher insulin sensitivity, lower waist to hip ratio, lower cholesterol, lower LDL and total lipids, and lower fasting insulin concentrations [458-464]. The Nurse's Health Study followed 75,521 women between the ages of 38 and 63 for 10 years, looking for a relationship between heart disease and whole grain intake [465]. The sample excluded anyone previously diagnosed with cardiovascular disease such as stroke, angina or myocardial infarction and age and adjusted for smoking and dietary factors such as multivitamin supplements. The results showed a strong inverse relationship between CVD risk and whole grain intake, however, when dietary fibre, folate, vitamin B6 and vitamin E had been adjusted for, the remaining reduction in CVD risk, although slight, was considered likely attributable to other constituents of whole grain. Data from the Iowa Women's Health Study of 34,492 postmenopausal women followed up over eight years supported this conclusion, with a finding that a single serving of whole grain was responsible for a one-third reduction in risk of death from ischaemic heart disease [458]. Here again, adjusting for dietary fibre intake did not change the reduction in risk. Meta-analysis of studies in this area found consumption of 2.5,

compared to 0.2, servings of whole grain per day were associated with a 21 % decreased risk of CVD, as a result of which a number of guidelines were drawn up with the aim of increasing intake of whole grain [466]. The advice most commonly accepted recommends daily consumption of three servings of whole grain products (48g) [467]. While these data do show a positive link between protection against CVD and whole grain intake, they are subject to a number of flaws: food intake is self-reported by trial subjects; food is grouped into refined or whole grain products; and those with a high whole grain intake tend not smoke less, to exercise more and to be more likely to have a higher vitamin diet; whole grain-rich diets tend to be high in carbohydrates, folate and protein and low in fat, cholesterol and alcohol [459].

## 1.6.2 CLINICAL AND IN VITRO STUDIES

Physiological effects suggested to arise from whole grain intake include: lower risk of CHD [468], reduced LDL and cholesterol [469], increased insulin sensitivity [470, 471] and reduced BP [472]. The phytosterols, complex carbohydrates, fibre, minerals and vitamins (especially vitamin E) and polyphenols in whole grain are believed to be responsible for these beneficial effects. They are found for the most part in the bran layers on the surface of the grain (Figure 1.10), which is why refining the grain, leaving for consumption only the starchy endosperm, results in less potential for positive health effects [473-477]. Whole grain is a source of plant sterols and stanols capable of lowering cholesterol owing to their ability to inhibit cholesterol absorption from the small intestine. Studies have demonstrated that increasing dietary phytosterols can increase excretion and reduce cholesterol absorption, so that there is an inverse relationship between total plant sterol intake and total and LDL serum cholesterol [478]. Substituting or supplementing typical Western diets with high amounts of cereal grains and legumes reduces LDL cholesterol by 23% and 29% respectively [479]. Whole grains also provide the soluble fibre associated with lowered cholesterol levels and BP [469, 480, 481] and are significant sources of tocopherols, including vitamin E [482], which has been suggested as an inhibitor of LDL oxidation and oxidative cell damage [483].

Other protection mechanisms suggested by high intake of whole grains are reductions in insulin demand and a lower body-mass index (BMI). Consuming more than a single daily serving of whole grain increases insulin sensitivity and reduces BMI, while increasing whole grain intake can increase HDL and reduce DBP [484]. A randomised, controlled clinical trial showed that, in CAD patients, consuming whole grain and legume powder reduced insulin demand, lipid peroxidation and plasma homocysteine levels [484]. Whole grain products are generally digested and absorbed slowly, because of their high viscous fibre content and physical structure [485]. This

means that whole grain has a relatively low glycaemic index which is regarded as positively correlated with reduced CVD risk. It should be noted, though, that, while whole grain's health benefits have been linked to factors such as fibre, folate and vitamin content, adjusting the results of observational studies (see Epidemiological Studies, above) for these factors shows that they are not responsible for all of the protection. Researchers, therefore, believe that whole grain's beneficial CVD effects may be mediated at least in part by other whole grain components, including polyphenols.

Human intervention studies have shown improved vascular response and endothelial function associated with a daily consumption of whole grain oat cereal, or whole grain in general [486]. A study of the effects of acute and chronic consumption of oat and wheat cereal on vascular/endothelial function following a high-fat meal showed hyperaemic blood flow was significantly decreased by acute wheat cereal and increased by oat cereal or vitamin E (though to an insignificant degree) [487].

The designs of the other human studies focused on whole grain and endothelial function have limited their contributions to our understanding in this field. One study [487], for example, used wheat cereal as a control, as opposed to a non-contributory treatment and it is probable that wheat produces effects similar to those of oats. A placebo with no known benefits (perhaps a refined rice or wheat product) might have led to more informative results. The unsuitability of the control became apparent in the results showing every treatment appearing to give sustained beneficial effects on vascular response and no significant decline during the one month of the trial, irrespective of control or oat intervention. Supplementing a diet can be problematic, for example though volunteer inconsistency. Subjects who know their diet is being observed may eat more healthily during the study, with consequent increases in vascular responses. A partial solution is a diet diary, but studies do not always report whether one was kept, or whether it was used when analysing results. Another study by the same group found that oats favourably affected vascular response in overweight subjects with dyslipidaemia to a greater extent than antioxidant vitamins E and C, after a high-fat meal, the results were not, however, significant [487].

Ferulic acid which occurs in the grain aleurone of wheat (*Triticum* spp., *Poaceae*) and other plant sources, as well as oats, has been shown to exert significant beneficial health effects, including antioxidant properties, in plasma studies. Purple wheat varieties, compared to white and red, have the highest total phenolic content and antioxidant activity, with bound ferulic, vanillic and caffeic acid levels notably abundant [488].

There is little evidence from human trials for the effect of just PAs or PAs and Av-B-rich foods in whole grain on vascular function and related mechanisms of action. Whether polyphenols/PAs in whole grain wheat can beneficially affect endothelial function is therefore insufficiently researched.

# 1.6.3 INVESTIGATIONS INTO UNDERLYING MECHANISMS OF WHOLE GRAIN PHENOLICS ON VASCULAR FUNCTION

NO, animal and *ex vivo* studies of whole grain effects on vascular function include thoracic aortic ring experiments, which suggested that FA can produce endothelium-dependent vasodilation by way of increased NO bioavailability in SHR but not normotensive WKY [489]. Further, studies have also demonstrated that ferulic acid could attenuate adhesion molecule expression in gamma-radiated HUVEC cells, and also inhibit vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation induced by Ang II [490]. L-NAME inhibited the relaxation, which would suggest that vasodilation is mediated by NO, though exposure to FA did not increase levels of cGMP which would suggest that the NO level was not enough to stimulate soluble guanylate cyclase. These findings imply a direct effect for FA on smooth muscle walls and not endothelial cells, and this needs to be further investigated.

To date there is no substantial evidence for the effects of whole grain on the RAAS.

## 1.7 CONCLUSION, HYPOTHESIS AND STUDY OBJECTIVES

## 1.7.1 CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, both clinical and laboratory studies have provided wide-ranging evidence for the beneficial vascular system actions of polyphenols, including phenolic acids. While several studies have investigated potential nitric oxide-mediated mechanisms of action, few have considered the influence of phenolic acid interactions with the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system as a potential underlying mechanism. Indeed, most interventions with cereals, including oats to date have focussed either on their antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties, or has focussed on the action of fibre and cholesterol. As such, more trials aimed at understanding the impact of the phenolics in whole grain oats on the human vascular system are warranted, to understand better the contribution these bioactive components of oats play in defining the cardiovascular benefits of whole grain intake.

## **1.7.2** Hypothesis and Objectives

**Overall Hypothesis:** consumption of phenolic acid-rich oats will improve markers of human vascular system health (vascular blood flow and BP) through the influence of absorbed small phenolic acids on the RAAS system.

The hypothesis will be investigated using established, gold standard, clinical measures of vascular function in two randomised, controlled, human intervention trials. The oat interventions will be based on current dietary guidelines recommending that individuals consume at least one-half of all their grains as whole grains (i.e. 3 servings/day; 1 serving = 16 grams) and, therefore, represent both realistic and physiologically appropriate levels of consumption. In vitro experiments will be designed to show the mechanisms by which small phenolic acids from oats positively influence the RAAS, Renin expressions in juxtaglomerular kidney cells and ACE activity and levels in primary human endothelial cells (Objective 1). Their effects on the vascular system will be quantified using clinically relevant measures of vascular function, notably FMD and BP, along with a host of biochemical markers (including blood lipids, RAAS levels and activities). Urinary mineral excretions will also be assessed to shed light on the impact of oat consumption on these BP related markers (Objectives 2 and 3). Collectively, this multi-platform approach will enable the most comprehensive study to date regarding the beneficial vascular effects of oat phenolic acid consumption and will lead to a better understanding of the beneficial actions and effects and public health potential of this cheap and sustainable temperate region crop.

**Overview:** recent data has suggested that foods/beverages rich in phenolic acids may, as flavonoid-rich foods are known to do, positively influence human vascular function. Evidence that the favourable effects of some flavonoid-rich foods (e.g. oats) are mediated by small phenolic metabolites produced during absorption and metabolism increases the likelihood that phenolic acids have a role. At present, the best evidence for cardiovascular benefits from polyphenols comes from studies involving flavanol-rich foods, in particular cocoa and tea, however, many such studies intervene with above physiologically appropriate dosages. Flavanol studies do, however, suggest that both their acute and regular consumption result in positive cardiovascular outcomes, mainly through their effects on endothelial function, nitric oxide bioavailability and hence BP The RAAS plays a crucial role in BP homeostasis via the production of a regulation. vasoconstrictor, angiotensin II, which has a role in regulating blood volume and vasodilation independently of the NO system. The very scant body of evidence in this area points to the possibility of a role for plant polyphenols in reducing angiotensin II production, perhaps through interference with ACE and renin activities. The experimental trials in this study seek to extend this narrow background of reliable evidence, focusing on oats, which uniquely contain high levels of phenolic amides known as avenanthramides as well as small phenolic acids including ferulic acid consumed at physiologically realistic dosages. There is very limited evidence for their positive effects on the cardiovascular system, in particular BP and lipids, but we predict that due

to their structural similarity to flavanols they may be confirmed to demonstrate improvements in cardiovascular risk markers through effects on both the NO and RAAS.

The following Objectives are designed to test this hypothesis.

- **Objective 1:** to investigate the effects of a range of oat phenolic compounds and their metabolites at physiologically appropriate concentrations on key enzymatic and transcription factor components of the NO and RAAS systems.
- **Rationale:** polyphenols are widely reported to modulate physiological processes which leads to improved health outcomes, in particular cardiovascular health, but the mechanisms by which they exact their beneficial actions remain unclear. The two physiological processes likely involved in regulation of BP and vascular function are the modulation of NO bioavailability through interference with the eNOS pathway and interference with the RAAS, but our knowledge of both is inadequate. Phenolic compounds including some present in oats have been identified as ACE inhibitors *in vitro* in HUVEC cells, in part through interactions with amino acids at the enzyme's active site. Hence, to meet our objective, we used cultured cell lines in which these processes occur *in vitro* to: first, determine the strength of inhibition of key enzymes (renin and ACE) by a range of common polyphenols, particularly those found in oats; and second to consider in detail the impacts of the polyphenols on a range of key bioactive components of both processes. We measured renin expressions, both shed and membrane bound ACE levels and activity and compared the bioavailability of NO and NOx, in comparable trials.
- **Objective 2:** To investigate the impact of acute phenolic acid-rich oat intake on blood pressure and vascular blood flow in healthy men with pre- or stage 1 hypertension.
- **Rationale:** there is strong evidence for improvements in cardiovascular function including lowering of BP following acute consumption of polyphenols. Oats are a rich source of polyphenols, notably avenanthramides and phenolic acids including ferulic acid. We predict, based on whole grain and results from trials of other polyphenols, that consumption of oats will lead to improvements in vascular function through their effects on endothelial function, nitric oxide bioavailability and the inhibition of the RAAS enzymic pathways. To test this, we designed a randomised single-centre, two-arm, single-blinded, placebo-controlled crossover trial with stage 1 and pre-hypertensive volunteers, to assess the impact of a single moderate intake of oats. After consumption we measured and analysed the results of a range of previously well proven cardiovascular risk markers, notably: anthropometric, particularly BP;

microvascular blood flow, particularly FMD of the brachial artery and endothelial vasodilatory responses; blood biochemistry, particularly enzyme-linked immunoassay to investigate ACE and renin inhibition.

**Objective 3:** To investigate the impact of 4 weeks of phenolic acid/Avenanthramide rich oat intake on blood pressure, vascular blood flow and a range of vascular and lipid biomarkers of CVD risk in adults with pre- and stage 1 hypertension.

Rationale: while evidence has accumulated for the efficacy of plant polyphenols in acute reduction of BP, to be clinically relevant sustained improvements over months or years have to be demonstrated conclusively in chronic trials. The strongest evidence for long-term vascular improvements comes from studies of cocoa, however, cocoa and chocolate are relatively expensive-to-buy products and, therefore, not routine staples of daily diets. Likewise, many other frequently tested plant polyphenol sources. Furthermore, much of the seemingly efficacious evidence is from in vitro or very high dosages experiments. Our study of oats aims to determine if a relatively cheap, readily-available, sustainable foodstuff can be as effective at lowering BP at realistic dosages. We predict that sustained consumption of oats may lead to improved long-term vascular function, including nitric oxide bioavailability, inhibition of the RAAS enzymic pathways and reduced blood cholesterol. To test this, we used a trial design and subject selection similar to those of our acute trial, to assess the impact of moderate intake of oats over a 28 day period. We used two levels of Avenanthramide and phenolic acid interventions and an energy balanced but low polyphenol control. Fibre intake was standardised in all three interventions. We measured and analysed the same cardiovascular risk markers, as in our acute trial, with the addition of 24 h ambulatory BP and urinary mineral excretions.

## Chapter: 2 In vitro Examination of the Impact of Polyphenols and their Circulating Metabolites on the Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System (RAAS).

## 2.1 INTRODUCTION

Foods naturally high in phytochemicals, or which have been enhanced by their addition, have been shown to modulate physiological processes resulting in improved health outcomes, in particular cardiovascular health [43, 47, 48, 491-493]. It has been reported that around 80 g of specific fruits and vegetables, or beverage extracts derived from them, may contain up to 300 mg of polyphenols [57]. Polyphenols can also be found in cereals, legumes, and pulses, whose intake has long been associated with protection against cancers, diabetes and several disorders associated with poor lifestyle and aging, as well as cardiovascular diseases [53, 405, 406, 494, 495]. Notably, clinical trials have indicated that the intake of cocoa or berries leads to reductions in measurable levels of cardiovascular risk factors, such as blood pressure and enhancement of peripheral vascular function [49, 264, 309, 334, 496-498]. However, despite these promising physiological activities, the mechanisms by which they express their beneficial actions remain unclear.

Various suggestions have been made to account for this physiological activity, although the two most commonly supported by data are 1) the modulation of nitric oxide (NO) bioavailability through regulation of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) pathway, and 2) the regulation of the renin angiotensin aldosterone system (RAAS); the former has been more extensively investigated [46, 254, 297, 406, 499]. Evidence suggests that NO breakdown might be prevented by polyphenols or their circulating metabolites through the inhibition of enzymes that generate reactive oxygen species (ROS), including nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase, xanthine oxidase and lipoxygenase [375, 378]. NO production is also increased by quercetin and (-)-epicatechin in in vitro tests on human endothelial aortic cells and human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) which shows that (-)-epicatechin works as an  $O_2^$ scavenger. Quercetin was shown to cause phosphorylation of eNOS via the adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) pathway [383, 500]. There is also evidence that flavonoids increase eNOS gene expression, inducing production of prostacyclin in endothelial cells and inhibiting endothelin-1 and endothelial NADPH oxidase [398-402] In human trials, NO bioavailability has also been shown to be maintained for longer following intake of hydroxycinnamates and phenolic acids in champagne, as well as acutely improving vascular

function in fifteen healthy adults [348]. Similarly, vanillic and homovanillic acids, small phenolic acid metabolites of blueberry flavonoids, also led to a reduction in NADPH oxidase activity in neutrophils when consumed in an acute study of healthy men [349].

Many pharmacological treatments for hypertensive, cardiovascular and renal disorders have been targeted towards inhibition of the RAAS. RAAS is a multi-enzyme facilitated, hormonal system that regulates the concentration of plasma sodium, and powerfully affects arterial blood pressure [130, 131, 501, 502]. The RAAS process functions in a cascade, leading ultimately to the generation of Ang II, which is a potent vasoconstrictor, causing the narrowing of blood vessels and a rise in BP, as well as stimulating the secretion of aldosterone from the adrenal cortex [134, 136, 138, 139]. Ang II acts on various organs and tissues throughout the body, including the kidneys, where it decreases the glomerular filtration rate [131]. Ang II also increases cardiac output and stimulates the hypothalamus to release antidiuretic hormone (ADH) (arginine vasopressin), from the posterior pituitary gland which leads to greater reabsorption of water by the kidneys [140] which results in an increase in extracellular fluid volume within the body, and so increased BP [140, 142, 143]. Suppression of renin and angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE), two of the principle RAAS hormones, are two of the strategies used for reducing blood pressure, maintaining electrolyte homeostasis, and regulating haemodynamics and volume status [503-505], although adverse effects on the kidneys are frequently encountered with such pharmacological treatments. As such, there is an interest in finding novel RAAS inhibitors without such unwanted side effect and among those being investigated are polyphenols [253, 506].

Modulation of the RAAS may occur through inhibition of ACE, which would lead to increased NO production [507], as has been demonstrated by studies using pomegranate juice, rooibos tea, green tea and polyphenols (especially flavonoids), which found that ACE activity was inhibited and angiotensin II (Ang II) is not formed. Vasoconstriction does not, therefore, take place and consequentially blood flow is maintained or increased [350, 351]. For example, intake of pomegranate juice polyphenols by hypertensive patients led to a 36% reduction in serum ACE activity [254] and caffeic acid and its derivatives may be capable of modulation of the RAAS, acting by reducing renin, ACE and aldosterone production [361]. Garden egg fruit, with enzymes  $\alpha$ -amylase,  $\alpha$ -glucosidase, demonstrated strong inhibition of ACE activity in rat lung homogenates *in vitro* [370]. In *in vivo* studies of humans, food components like pomegranate juice, rooibos tea, green tea and polyphenols (especially flavonoids) have been shown to have inhibit ACE activity, hence Ang II is not formed and its vasoconstrictive function is lost and blood volume is increased [350, 351].

Another target for blood pressure reduction within RAAS in renin, which is primarily expressed in myoepithelioid granulated cells of the kidney, called juxtaglomerular cells, situated in the afferent arteriole. Within juxtaglomerular cells, cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) is thought to play a major controlling role in renin production and release, with the transcription factors cAMP-response element-binding protein-1 (CREB) and cyclic AMP-dependent transcription Factor (ATF-1), and subsequent activation of protein kinase A (PKA), also necessary to activate extracellular signal-related kinase (ERK) pathway [508-512], angiotensin induced activation of ERK1/2 is NADPH oxidase independent but is cAMP/PKA-dependent in mesangial cells. Following renin expression in the cell it cleaves the N-terminus of angiotensinogen to initiate an enzymatic cascade by producing angiotensin I (Ang I) which is released into circulation and further cleaved by ACE to produce Ang II, a vasoconstrictor [513, 514]. Inhibiting renin therefore blocks the RAAS pathway through prevention of Ang II production, Ang II production leads to vasoconstriction and an increase in blood pressure (BP). In As4.1 cell, CREB-1 and cyclic AMP-response element modulator (CREM) bind to the cAMP-responsive element (CRE) consensus binding site [515] and inhibit renin expression.

There are relatively few studies relating to the influence of polyphenols and their metabolites on enzymatic inhibition of the RAAS especially renin, hence their mechanisms of action on the RAAS are poorly understood [366, 516-518]. However, studies on the modulation of ACE activity have generally incorporated polyphenol interventions at high concentrations, so their physiological relevance is limited. To generate more informative results regarding renin inhibition and the physiological effects of its release from cells, interventions comprising physiologically realistic plasma concentration post intakes have been used in this study.

Since most of the evidence for the protective characteristics of polyphenols against stress relevant to chronic disease pathophysiology is derived from *in vitro* studies, juxtaglomerular cells have frequently been used as a model to study renin inhibition and the impact of polyphenols on renin [519-521]. Similarly, vascular endothelial cells from human umbilical veins (HUVEC) are a standard model used to study endothelial-derived vasoactivity, such as endothelial NO synthase and prostacyclin. Therefore, these cells provide a suitable model in which to study changes in endothelial NO, ACE levels and vascular function [522-525]. In this study we use an *in vitro* model to investigate the effects of several polyphenols found in oats with suitable comparator polyphenols found in many of the polyphenol-containing foods/beverages that have been shown to induce physiological improvements in vascular function. In particular we consider the effects of oat phenolic compounds and their metabolites on RAAS using juxtaglomerular and HUVEC cells. We specifically assess whether polyphenols and their circulating metabolites influence renin

expression and upstream kinases and transcription factors which control renin release in juxtaglomerular cells. Furthermore, we assess whether oat phenolics affect ACE activity and levels in HUVEC, to better understand the mechanisms of polyphenol actions. The results from these *in vitro* studies provide evidence that the RAAS is an important mechanism in the body by which polyphenols produce some of their cardiovascular benefits.

## 2.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **2.2.1** LIST OF POLYPHENOLS USED IN THE EXPERIMENTS.

(-) Epicatechin (EC), avenanthramide-B (Avn-B), avenanthramide-C (Avn-C), trans-ferulic acid (t-FA), 2, 4-dihydroxybenzoic acid (2,4-DHBA), vanillic acid (VA), 3-(4-hydroxyphenyl) propionic acid (3,4-OHPPr), 4-hydroxybenzoic acid (4HBA), caffeic acid (CA), sinapic acid (SA), ferulic acid-glucuronide (FAG) and isoferulic acid-sulphate (IFAS) were dissolved in methanol (34860) obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (Gillingham, UK).

## 2.2.2 OTHER MATERIALS

*In vitro* Toxicology Assay, Methylthiazolyldiphenyl-tetrazolium bromide (MTT) (M-5655), MTT Solubilisation solution (M-8910) (Sigma, UK), Genios Microplate Reader (Genios Microplate Reader, TECAN Group Ltd., Switzerland). Renin-expressing cell line (As4.1 cells) (CRL-2193), Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (30-2002), (LGC Standards, UK).

Penicillin-Streptomycin (15070-063), 7-TrypLE<sup>™</sup> Select Enzyme, NO phenol red (12563-011) (Life Technologies Ltd, USA). PBS (14190086) was purchased from (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Roskilde, Denmark). RNeasy Mini Kit (74104), RNase-Free DNase Set (79254), RT2 First Strand Kit, Polymerase Chain Reaction: (330401), QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR Kit (204141), RNase inhibitor(129916) mouse glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) primer (Mm\_Gapdh\_3\_SG, QT01658692) (Qiagen, Netherlands), 7300 Real-time PCR system (AB Applied Biosystems, California, Unite States), Primer Renin F Sequence TGA-AGA-AGG-CTG-TGC-GGT-AGT, Primer Renin R Sequence TCC-CAG-GTC-AAA-GGA-AAT-GTC, RNaseZap<sup>®</sup> RNase Decontamination Solution (Life Technologies Ltd, USA) and Tris-EDTA buffer solution (Sigma-Aldrich, UK). Pierce<sup>™</sup> BCA Protein Assay Kit (23227), RIPA Buffer (89900), Halt<sup>™</sup> Protease and Phosphatase Inhibitor Cocktail (78440), iBlot<sup>®</sup> Transfer Stacks, Nitrocellulose (IB23002), ECL prime western blotting det (10308449) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA), Precision Plus Protein<sup>™</sup> WesternC<sup>™</sup> Blotting Standards (1610385), 10 % Mini-PROTEAN<sup>®</sup> TGX<sup>™</sup> Precast Protein Gels, 50 µl well (IB23002) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA), 2x Laemmli Sample Buffer, 2-Mercaptoethanol (Bio-Rad, USA), Marvel Original Dried Skimmed Milk (Iceland), Sodium chloride (S7653), Trizma<sup>®</sup> hydrochloride (T3253), Bovine Serum Albumin (A7906), Trizma® base Primary Standard and Buffer (T1503), Glycine (G8898), Sodium dodecyl sulphate (L4509) TWEEN® 20 (P1379) from (Merck, Germany), Anti-rabbit IgG, HRP-linked Antibody, Phospho-p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2) (Thr202/Tyr204) (D13.14.4E) XP® Rabbit mAb (4370), p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2) (L34F12) Mouse mAb (4696), Phospho-CREB (Ser133) (1B6) Mouse mAb, CREB (86B10) Mouse mAb, Anti-mouse IgG, HRPlinked Antibody (Cell Signaling Technology, USA). Coupled antibody pair (Duo Set Kit, DY929 R&D, Wiesbaden, Germany), Colour Reagent A (H2O2) and Colour Reagent B, Tetramethylbenzidine, Capture Antibody, ACE (CD143) specific mouse monoclonal antibody, Angiotensin Converting Enzyme from rabbit lung (A6778), FAPGG (F7131), CHAPS 100 mM solution(19899), N-Hippuryl-His-Leu hydrate (H1635), Phthaldialdehyde (79760), 5-Hydrochloric acid, Glycerol, Captopril powder (Sigma-Aldrich, Germany), Human Umbilical Vein Endothelial Cells, Pooled (HUVEC) (C2519A), EGM-2 (CC-3162), Cryo amp EGM-2 Bullet Kit (CC-3156 & CC-4176) (LONZA,UK), Nitrate/Nitrite Colorimetric Assay Kit (CAY780001) (Cambridge Bioscience Ltd, UK), Human ACE Quantikine ELISA Kit (DACE00), Quantikine Immunoassay Control Set 839 for Human ACE/CD143 (QC32) (R&D Bio-Techne Ltd, UK), Angiotensin Converting Enzyme from rabbit lung(ACE) (A6778).

## 2.2.3 CELL CULTURE AND GROWTH

#### 2.2.3.1 As4.1 CELLS

As4.1 cells are a renin-expressing clonal cell line derived from the kidney neoplasm of a transgenic mouse [520]. Cell were cultured at 37 °C in a humidified atmosphere with 95 % oxygen and 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> in DMEM medium supplemented with 10 % FBS and 1 % Penicillin-streptomycin [526, 527]. The medium was changed every two days to increase growth rate. After conspicuous confluence, the cells were washed with a solution of PBS free from calcium and magnesium ions, followed by trypsinization, creating a single-cell suspension. The resultant cell suspension was centrifuged at 100 x g for 5 min at 20 °C (Centrifuge C 12, AWEL Industries, France). The supernatant was then removed by suction. Fresh culture medium was added to create a new single-cell suspension with the desired seeding cell number quantified per 1 mL volume. Seeding was done using a 75m<sup>2</sup> tissue culture flask. With a haemocytometer and trypan blue exclusion, cell counting was carried to determine cell number. Cell suspensions with the desired seeding number were distributed evenly onto several flasks.

#### **2.2.3.2** HUMAN UMBILICAL VEIN ENDOTHELIAL CELLS

Pooled human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs) (TCS CellWorks, Buckingham, UK) were used between passages 2 to 4 [263, 528, 529]. Cells were routinely cultured in Nunclon<sup>M</sup>  $\Delta$  75cm<sup>2</sup> flasks in endothelial cell growth medium (TCS CellWorks; proprietary basal medium formulation

supplemented with growth factor, antibiotics gentamicin & amphotericin B and 2 % v/v foetal bovine serum) at 37°C and 5 % CO<sub>2</sub>. HUVECs were sub-cultured using 0.025 % trypsin and 0.01 % EDTA (TCS CellWorks).

The cells were sub-cultured at 70-85 % confluence. For each 25 cm<sup>2</sup> of cells to be sub-cultured, 5 ml of the medium from one culture vessel was aspirated and the cells rinsed at room temperature. Subsequent to the aspiration from the flasks, the cells were ensconced with 2 mL of Trypsin/EDTA solution and the culture vessels placed into a 37°C humidified incubator for 3-5 minutes. Microscopic examination of the cell layer was done periodically to check for cell separation. The process of trypsinization was allowed to continue until approximately 90 % of the cells are rounded up. After cell release, the trypsin was neutralized in the flask with 5 mL of Trypsin Neutralizing Solution at room temperature and the detached or separated cells quickly transferred to a sterile 15 mL centrifuge tube. The flask was rinsed with a final 2 mL of HUVECs to collect residual cells, and the rinse added to the centrifuge tube. The thus harvested cells were then centrifuged at 200 x g for 5 min to collect pellet of the cultured cells after aspiration of most of the supernatant.

## 2.2.4 PREPARATION OF POLYPHENOLS

Epicatechin, avenanthramide-B, avenanthramide-C, trans-ferulic acid, 2,4-dihydroxybenzoic acid, vanillic acid, 3-(4-hydroxyphenyl) propionic acid, 4-hydroxybenzoic acid, caffeic acid, sinapic acid, ferulic acid-glucuronide and isoferulic acid-sulphate, were each dissolved in 70 % methanol as 3 mg/ml stock. The final concentration of solvent in experiments was  $\leq 0.5$  %. All stocks were kept at  $-80^{\circ}$ C.

#### 2.2.5 EVALUATION OF As4.1 CELLS VIABILITY

Cytotoxicity of selected polyphenols is determined by an Methylthiazolyldiphenyl-tetrazolium bromide (MTT) assay as described previously in [530, 531], which utilizes the outcome based on mitochondrial conversion of the tetrazolium salt (3- [4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2, 5 diphenyltertrazolium bromide). In this study, an MTT assay has been employed to assess the quantity of viable AS4.1 juxtaglomerular (JG) cells following a 24h polyphenol exposure in various physiological relevant concentrations (i.e.  $0.1 - 50 \mu$ M). Cells were plated in a 24-well culture plates (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Roskilde, Denmark) calibrated at 5×10<sup>4</sup> cells per well in 500  $\mu$ L of media followed by 24 h adherence at 37°C with 5 % CO<sub>2</sub>. On reaching the confluence, the medium was replenished with fresh medium containing various doses of polyphenols (100 nM, 500 nM, 1.0  $\mu$ M, 5  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M and 50  $\mu$ M) in triplicate and again incubated for 24 h at 37 °C. Each well in the 24-well plate was then administered 20  $\mu$ L of MTT solution (5 mg/ml in PBS, M-5655,

Sigma), followed by incubation at  $37^{\circ}$ C for 4 h. After incubation, the MTT solution in the medium was extracted by pipetting. In order to solubilise the formazan crystals formed, 100 µL of solubilisation solution (M-8910, Sigma) were added to each well, and the plates mildly shaken for 20 Seconds. For each sample, absorption of three replications were measured at 595 nm with a *Genios Microplate Reader (TECAN Group Ltd., Switzerland*) and their mean value was used for the final result. Absorbency values were plotted against counted cell numbers in order to establish a standard calibration curve. MTT absorbency was used to determine viable cell numbers on meshes or culture-well bottom from the standard curve; this procedure was replicated twice.

#### 2.2.6 RENIN INHIBITION ASSAY

The human recombinant renin inhibitor screening assay kit (CAY10006270-96 wells) (Cambridge Bioscience Ltd, UK) comprising human recombinant renin (1006270), Substrate (Arg- Glu(EDANS)-Ile-His-Pro-Phe-His-Leu-Val-Ile-His-Thr-Lys(Dabcyl)- Arg) and Tris-HCl buffer (50 mM, pH 8.0, containing 100 mM NaCl) (Cayman Chemical Co. Ann Arbor, MI, U.S.). The procedure was carried as per the manufacturer's instructions and described previously [532-535]. Prior to each assay, renin enzyme was freshly prepared by diluting it 1:20 in Assay buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, and 100 mM NaCl). A 95 μM solution of renin substrate (Arg-Glu(EDANS)-Ile-His-Pro-Phe-Leu-Val-Ile-His-Thr-Lys(Dabcyl)-Arg) in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was ready to use as supplied (10006872, Cayman Chemical Co). For each assay, background wells were used by adding 20 µL of substrate, 160  $\mu$ L of Assay buffer and 10  $\mu$ L of solvent (methanol). The activity wells (control) were prepared by adding 20 µL of substrate, 150 µL of Assay buffer and 10 µL of solvent, and the inhibitor wells were prepared in the same way but with 10  $\mu$ L of inhibitor (polyphenols) instead of solvent. All reactions were tested in triplicate. The reaction was initiated by the addition of 10  $\mu$ L of renin to activity and inhibitor wells. Plates were gently mixed for 10 seconds and left to incubate at 37 °C for 15 minutes. Plates were measured using a Genios microplate reader (TECAN Group Ltd., Mannedorf, Switzerland) using excitation wavelengths of 340 nm and emission wavelengths of 465 nm.

The renin inhibitory activity was calculated as percentage of inhibitory activity (Inhibition %) with the following equation.

% Inhibition = 
$$\left[\frac{AF(Control) - AF(Sample)}{AF(Control)}\right] \times 100$$

The analysis was performed based on the dose-dependent suppression of renin activity with three different concentrations of the inhibitors in triplicate, and then determined the average fluorescence. The IC<sub>50</sub> value, defined as the concentration of the inhibitor required to inhibit 50 % of the renin activity, was calculated using the linear function of percentage renin inhibition versus the logarithm of the inhibitor concentration in accordance to previous published paper [499].

## 2.2.7 RENIN GENE EXPRESSION BY RT-PCR

#### 2.2.7.1 STIMULATION OF CELLS WITH DIFFERENT CONCENTRATIONS OF POLYPHENOLS

The cultured As4.1 JG cells (described in Section 2.2.3.1) were seeded at a density of  $1 \times 10^6$  in a 25 cm<sup>2</sup> tissue culture dish. Upon reaching confluence (approximately  $7 \times 10^6$  cells), the individual polyphenols prepared as described in (Section 2.2.4) were added in carrier medium at different concentrations (100 nM, 500 nM and 1.0  $\mu$ M) in order to stimulate the cells. Cells were then incubated at 37 °C with 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> for 20 h.

#### 2.2.7.2 EXTRACTION OF RNA AND CDNA SYNTHESIS

After stimulation, the RNeasy Mini Kit was used according to manufacturer's instructions to extract the cellular RNA. RNA concentrations and quality were determined using NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technology, Delaware, US). After extraction, RNA samples were treated with the RNase-Free DNase Set to further minimise presence of DNA. The samples were then stored at -80° C until further use.

For synthesis of complementary DNA (cDNA), 1  $\mu$ g of RNA and the RT2 First Strand Kit were used adhering to manufacturer's instructions. Purified DNA was stored at -20° C until gene expression was measured.

#### 2.2.7.3 RENIN GENE EXPRESSION MEASUREMENT

Renin Gene Expression was measured as described previously [536].The mouse Mm\_Gapdh\_3\_SG primer was used as internal control gene (housekeeping gene), Renin R and Renin F primers were used (Table 2.1). Each primer was supplied dry and reconstituted in 1.1 ml TE buffer [1M Tris pH 8.0 and 0.05 M EDTA in RNase-free water] and then were stored at -20° C.
Primer I.D.	Sequence
Mouse Renin F	5' - TGA-AGA-AGG-CTG-TGC-GGT-AGT
Mouse Renin R	3' - TCC-CAG-GTC-AAA-GGA-AAT-GTC

### Table 2.1 Primer used for RT- PCR

For amplification, the QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR Kit was used and following reaction mix was prepared by mixing: 2.5  $\mu$ L of cDNA, 12.5  $\mu$ L of SYBR green master mix, 2.5  $\mu$ L of each primer and 7.5  $\mu$ L of RNA-free water. Subsequently, the 96-well plate was vortexed and spun to remove bubbles using Heraeus Multifuge 3SR Plus (Thermo Scientific, UK). Amplification was carried in a Thermal cycler (7300 Real-time PCR system, AB Applied Biosystems, California, United States) with the following settings; an initial denaturation for 15 min at 95°C, followed by 40 cycles of 15s at 94°C and 30s at 55°C. The final step comprised of 30s at 72°C. Following amplification, melting curve analysis was performed to verify the specificity of the reactions.

The relative levels of gene expression were determined from the real-time PCR efficiencies using the Delta Delta Ct method (the  $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$ ) [537]. Results are presented relative to the control cells grown without polyphenols (which is arbitrarily defined as 1). The expression of the target gene was normalised to GAPDH expression (housekeeping gene). Statistically significant differences were determined using a GLM then post hoc analysis (Tukey adjustment) in SPSS.

# 2.2.8 WESTERN IMMUNOBLOTTING

Western immunoblotting was undertaken to study the underlying mechanisms of gene expression in PCR outcomes with reference to proteins CREB, ATF-1 and ERK1 and 2. Western immunoblotting described in [538].

# 2.2.8.1 Lysate Preparation

Cells were grown as described in Section 2.2.3.1, in 25 cm<sup>2</sup> flask at a seeding concentration of 2×  $10^{6}$  cells, at 37 °C with 5 % CO<sub>2</sub> in DMEM medium. After conspicuous confluence, the cells were washed with a solution of PBS free from calcium and magnesium ions, followed by trypsinization, cells were exposed for 1 h to media containing different polyphenols, each at a concentration of 1  $\mu$ M. Media was then removed and cells washed with PBS followed by addition of 250  $\mu$ L of RIPA buffer, 2.5  $\mu$ L of Protease and Phosphatase Inhibitor. Lysates tubes were mixed and incubated on ice for 20 min, passed through needles 19G–25G, vortexed again and left on ice 5 min. Finally, the lysates were pelleted by centrifugation at 1400 ×g for 12 min at 4 °C. The cell pellets were stored at -20 °C until western blot analysis. Protein content was determined by the *BCA Protein Assay Kit (Pierce, USA)* and quantified with *a Genios Microplate Reader (TECAN Group Ltd., Mannedorf,* 

*Switzerland)* at a wavelength of 540 nm. The concentrations of the cell lysate were then calculated from the standard curve of the BCA samples of known concentration.

# 2.2.8.2 Western BLOT: PHASE I (PROTEIN SEPARATION)

Gradient 10 % pre-casted gel (stain-free) (Bio-Rad, Hertfordshire, UK) was used to separate the protein samples according to their molecular weight. Proteins mixed with equal volume of 2x Lamaelli buffer supplemented with 2-mercaptoethanol (50  $\mu$ l in 950  $\mu$ l) (Bio-Rad) then heated at 100 °C for 3 min in a water bath, heated to lyse cells and denature proteins. 5  $\mu$ l of Precision plus protein standard (ladder) in the range of 10-250 kDa (Bio-Rad) were loaded as a marker in each gel stain-free ladder. And 20  $\mu$ g of protein samples were loaded into the wells. The main gel tank was filled with 1x running buffer [25 mM Tris pH 8.3, 0.1 % (w/v) SDS, 192 mM glycine]. The gel was run at 200V for about 25 minutes, until the blue dye was at the bottom of the gel.

# 2.2.8.3 Western Blot: Phase II (Transfer)

To transfer the gel to the membrane, a nitrocellulose membrane (iBlot<sup>®</sup> 2 Transfer Stacks) with a pore size of 0.2 µm was used. The membrane was placed into the iBlot<sup>®</sup> 2 Gel Transfer system (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). After ensuring no bubbles were present, and the transfer was set up at 1.3 A constant current for 7 minutes. After which the membrane was washed with 25 ml Tris buffered saline (TBS) [0.1 % Tween-20, 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM KCl and 50 mM Tris pH 7.4]. Washing steps took 5 min each and were carried at room temperature with gentle rocking. Washing was followed by blocking for 1 h with 5 % (w/v) dried milk in TBS-T 25 mL of blocking buffer at room temperature with gentle rocking. The gels were then washed again 3 times with 15 mL TBS.

# 2.2.8.4 Phase III (PROTEIN DETECTION)

The membrane was incubated with appropriate primary antibody at the dilution shown in Table 2.2 diluted in 5 % w/v BSA (Sigma) in TBS-T 5 mL of primary antibody dilution buffer in a heat-sealable bag with gentle agitation for 1h and 30min at room temperature.

The membrane was then washed three times with of TBS-T for 5 min each and then incubated with appropriate HRP-linked secondary antibody and the marker conjugate (Precision Plus protein StrepTactin-HRP conjugate) at (1:5000) to detect biotinylated protein markers. Both diluted in TBS-T and 5 % w/v dried milk for 30 min with gentle agitation at room temperature. The membrane was washed thrice for 5 min on a rocking platform with TBS-T.

Antibody	Source	Dilution
Phospho-p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2) (Thr202/Tyr204) (D13.14.4E) (Primary Antibody).	Rabbit	1:2000
p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2) (L34F12) (Primary Antibody).	Mouse	1:2000
Phospho-CREB (Ser133) (1B6) (Primary Antibody).	Mouse	1:2000
CREB (86B10) mAb (Primary Antibody).	Mouse	1:2000
Anti-mouse IgG, HRP-linked Antibody (secondary antibody).	Mouse	1:5000
Anti-rabbit IgG, HRP-linked Antibody (secondary antibody).	Rabbit	1:5000
Precision Plus protein StrepTactin-HRP conjugate		1:5000

#### Table 2.2 List of antibodies used for immunoblotting

The results represented the average  $\pm$  SEM (n = 3) of biological replicates generated from 3 independent cell cultures and were analysed for statistical significance using GLM with post hoc analysis (Tukey adjustment).

Bands were detected using enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) (GE Healthcare) according to the manufacturer's instructions and quantitation was done digitally using a Luminescent Image Analyser (Image Quant LAS4000mini, GE Healthcare). The Image was analysed using ImageJ software, the intensity of each band was obtained in numerical form. Results were expressed as a ratio to the relevant loading control (total protein), band signals were normalised relative to digitally quantified total protein using the Bio-Rad Stain-Free System.

# 2.2.9 POLYPHENOLS AND ANGIOTENSIN CONVERTING ENZYME

Evaluation of the effects of polyphenols on ACE enzyme was carried out with HUVEC cells with four experimental sequels; first shed ACE (enzyme linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), second membrane-bound ACE ELISA measurement and third measurement of ACE activity.

# 2.2.9.1 SHED ACE ELISA

Shed ACE was measured in culture supernatant of HUVEC by Human ACE Quantikine ELISA Kit commercially available ELISA (Duo Set Kit, DACEOO R&D, Wiesbaden, Germany), methods described previously [539, 540]. HUVEC cells grown in 6-well plates were washed 3 times with PBS and incubated with different polyphenols ( $1.0 \mu$ M) diluted in 3 mL of culture medium in triplicate. After 24 hours, the supernatant of the aqueous medium was collected and centrifuged at 1,500 rpm for 10 min at 5°C. The monoclonal antibody specific ACE was supplied attached onto microplate by the company. The desired antigen (ACE) is then added and bound to the immobilized antibody on the microplate, hence an enzyme-linked monoclonal antibody (detection antibody) is added. Furthermore, a substrate solution is added to the wells, which produces a detectable signal due to a change in colour. The samples were prepared in a 10-fold dilution adding Calibrator Diluent RD6-45 (180  $\mu$ L) to tested polyphenols samples (20  $\mu$ L). Using a Human

ACE Standard stock (100 ng/mL) and Calibrator Diluent RD5P, a serial dilution was carried at the following concentrations: 50, 25, 12.5, 6.25, 3.13, 1.56, 0.781 and 0 ng/mL. High, Medium and Low controls were also used.

All reagents and samples were brought to room temperature before used and all samples, standards, and controls were assayed in duplicate. All reagents, standard dilutions, and samples were prepared as directed in the product insert. To each well 100 µL of assay diluent was added followed by 50  $\mu$ L of standards, controls and sample. The plate was covered with a plate sealer and incubated at room temperature for 2 h on a horizontal orbital microplate shaker (Stuart SSM5 Shaker, Microtitre, Mini, Cole-Parmer, Staffordshire, UK) at 500±50 rpm. The wells were aspirated and washed by wash buffer (20 mL to dH<sub>2</sub>O and filled up to 500 mL) 4 times in total using a multichannel pipet (Sartorius Stedim Plastics GmbH, Germany). After every washing step, the liquid was removed completely by blotting against clean paper towels. After the last aspiration step, 200 µL of human ACE conjugate was added to each well. A new plate sealer was used to cover the plates and the wells incubated at room temperature for 2 h on the shaker. After repeating the washing procedure 4 times, 200 µL of substrate solution was added to each well. The plates were then incubated for 30 min on the bench at room temperature and protected from light. Finally, 50 µL stop solution was added to each well and the plates were measured at 450 nm within 30 min using a microplate reader was determined in Spark ® multimode microplate reader (TECAN Trading AG, Switzerland) set to 450 nm. Since wavelength correction was available, the reader was set to 570 nm to avoid subtraction during calculation.

#### 2.2.9.2 MEMBRANE-BOUND ACE ELISA

Cell were grown and treated as described for shed ACE (2.2.9.1). For membrane-bound ACE the wells washed with 1 mL PBS followed by addition of 50  $\mu$ L of RIPA buffer with 0.5  $\mu$ L of Protease and Phosphatase Inhibitor in each well. Then scraped off the wells using a rubber scraper and the cells suspended in ice cold PBS, lysates tubes were mixed, then incubated on ice for 20 min, vortexed again, left on ice 5 min, and pelleted by centrifugation at 1400 ×g for 12 minutes at 4 °C. The cell pellets were stored at -20 °C until analysis. Assay procedure is as shed ACE and described previously [539, 540].

#### 2.2.9.3 Assay for ACE ACTIVITY

ACE activity was measured in HUVEC using ACE substrate (Hip-His-Leu) as described previously by [541]. Briefly, cells were treated with different polyphenols (1.0  $\mu$ M) in 6 well plates for 24 hours followed by washes with phosphate buffered saline. Cell lysis was performed with 100  $\mu$ L/well of 8 mM CHAPS in PBS for 15 min at room temperature. Then, scraped off the dish using a rubber

scraper from the wells and vortexed. To substantiate the ACE activity in the sample, the activity of membrane-bound ACE was measured in a homogenate of cultured HUVEC using ACE substrate (Hip-His-Leu). Followed by addition of 15  $\mu$ L of cell homogenate to 200  $\mu$ L of ACE substrate (1 mM Hip-His-Leu) and incubated for 60 min at 37 °C. The reaction was terminated with 25  $\mu$ L of 0.28 M NaOH and the His-Leu product was estimated by 10 min incubation with 10  $\mu$ L of O-phthaldialdehyde (20 mg/mL in methanol). After addition of 20  $\mu$ L 3M HCl, the fluorescence of samples was measured using 365 nm excitation/500 nm emission filters.

#### 2.2.10 NITRITE AND NITRATE ANALYSIS

Cells were grown and treated as described for shed ACE (2.2.9.1). After 24 h, the supernatant of the aqueous medium (1 mL) was collected and centrifuged for nitrite and nitrate analysis with methods described by [542-545]. The initial step is conversion of nitrate to nitrite, then addition of the Griess Reagents which convert nitrite into a purple azo compound. Photometric measurement of the absorbance accurately determines NO<sub>2</sub> concentration. Total nitrate and nitrite were measured by Nitrate/Nitrite Colorimetric Assay Kit (Cambridge Bioscience Ltd, UK), 200  $\mu$ L of assay buffer were added to the blank wells, 80  $\mu$ L of standards or samples added to the wells in duplicate. The standards were diluted with assay buffer as following: 35, 30, 25, 20, 15, 10, 5 and 0  $\mu$ M. The, 10  $\mu$ L of the enzyme Cofactor mixture was added to standard and sample wells, followed by 10  $\mu$ L of Reductase. The plate was then covered and incubated at room temperature for 2 hours. Incubation was followed by the addition of 50  $\mu$ L of reagent R1 and 50  $\mu$ L of reagent R2 in each well. The colour was allowed to develop for 10 minutes at room temperature. Total nitrite was measured at 540 nm absorbance using a TECAN micro plate reader.

For measurement of nitrite, 200  $\mu$ L of assay buffer was added to blank wells, and 100  $\mu$ L of standards and samples were added in duplicate to each well. This was followed by 50  $\mu$ L of reagent R1 and 50  $\mu$ L of reagent R2. The colour was allowed to develop for 10 minutes and then measured at 540 nm absorbance using a TECAN micro plate reader.

Total NO, nitrate and nitrate was calculated in  $(\mu M)$  with the following equations.

$$(Nitrate + Nitrite)(\mu M) = \left(\frac{A540 - y - intercept}{slope}\right) * ((200\mu L))/samplevolume\mu L))$$

*Nitrate* 
$$(\mu M) = \left(\frac{A540 - y - intercept}{slope}\right) * ((200\mu L)/samplevolume\mu L))$$

$$Nitrate(\mu M) = (Nitrate + Nitrite) - (Nitrite)$$

# 2.2.11 STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

At least 3 biological replicates were carried out for each assay. All statistical analyses were carried out using the statistical package for social science (SPSS, version 24; SPSS Inc., USA). The data are presented as means  $\pm$  SEM. A LM was used to show significant (P  $\leq$  0.05) effects of independent (predictor) variables on the response variable and covariables. A similar method was used for HUVEC cell experiments, to analyse the effects of polyphenols and time after treatment as independent variables on measurements of the assayed indicators as dependent variables. Tukey's comparison (P $\leq$  0.05) was used for *post hoc* analysis of significant results.

# 2.3 RESULTS

#### 2.3.1 CYTOTOXICITY OF POLYPHENOL COMPOUNDS ON AS 4.1 CELLS

Cytotoxicity of polyphenols was assessed in AS4.1 cells (as described in Section. 2.2.5). The dose response curves for cytotoxicity as assessed by MTT are presented in Figure 2.1. Cells were treated with different polyphenols at different concentrations (0.1  $\mu$ M, 0.5  $\mu$ M, 1.0  $\mu$ M, 5  $\mu$ M, 10  $\mu$ M and 50  $\mu$ M) in control media for 24 hours. The polyphenol concentrations ranging from 0.1 to 10  $\mu$ M did not affect cell viability as no appreciable cytotoxicity was observed. However, a significant, sharp decline in cell viability was observed at a concentration of 50  $\mu$ M, where throughout all treatments the cell viability was less than 30 % (p < 0.001). It was also observed that at a concentration of 10  $\mu$ M of trans ferulic acid (t-FA), cell viability was reduced to 65.33 %. The maximum plasma concentration of polyphenols rarely exceeded 1  $\mu$ M following interventions of 10 - 100 mg of a single phenolic compound [546]. Concentrations at 1.0  $\mu$ M were therefore considered to be most appropriate for further assays.





Graphs of viability of As4.1 cells incubated for 24h at different concentrations (0.1, 0.5, 1, 5, 10 and 50  $\mu$ M) of various polyphenols (see Section 2.2.1 for full names). Each letter corresponds to a specific compound A=EC, B=AV-B, C=AV-C, D=t-FA, E=2,4 DHBA, F=VA, G=3,4-OHPPr, H=4HBA, I=CA, J=SA, K=FAG and L=IFAS. Cell viability was measured with MTT assays. Each of the 6 concentrations was assessed in triplicate. Error bars depict the primary results based on standard error.

#### 2.3.2 RENIN INHIBITION ASSAY

To investigate how different polyphenols could inhibit renin enzyme activity, a renin inhibitory assay was performed (Figure 2.2, Table 2.3). Obtained data indicate that tested polyphenols exert renin inhibition in a concentration dependant manner, from  $0.1 - 1 \mu$ M. It was observed that t-FA possessed the strongest activity with inhibition ranging from only 6.43 at 0.1  $\mu$ M to 79.81 % at 1  $\mu$ M, with an IC<sub>50</sub> value of 0.51  $\mu$ M (Table 2.3). EC exhibited an inhibitory potency close to that of 2,4-DHBA with an IC<sub>50</sub> value of 0.52 and 0.54  $\mu$ M respectively and with a maximum inhibition of 86.41 and 90.48 % at 1  $\mu$ M concentration. AV-B and 3,4-OHPPr showed similar inhibition levels of renin activity with 90.78 and 85.42 % with an IC<sub>50</sub> of 0.57  $\mu$ M for both. VA exerted renin inhibition activity ranging from only 16.33 to 71.43 % with an IC<sub>50</sub> value of 0.60  $\mu$ M. In contrast, AV-C, 4HBA, SA and IFAS exhibited weak inhibition, with IC<sub>50</sub> values greater than 1  $\mu$ M. The renin inhibitory activities of the 12 compounds are presented in Figure 2.2 and Table 2.3.





Graph of inhibitory effects of selected polyphenols (see Section 2.2.1 for full names), at concentrations of 0.1,0 .5, and 1.0  $\mu$ M, on Renin. Results are expressed as percentage inhibition of renin activity (means ± SEM) in triplicate.

Polyphenol	IC <sub>50</sub>		
compound	(µM)		
EC	0.52		
AV-B	0.57		
AV-C	> 1		
t-FA	0.51		
2,4-DHBA	0.54		
VA	0.60		
3,4-OHPPr	0.57		
4HBA	> 1		
CA	0.82		
SA	> 1		
FAG	0.95		
IFAS	>1		

# Table 2.3 Approximation of IC<sub>50</sub> values of tested polyphenols against renin activity.

The oat and comparator polyphenols used in this study with the concentrations at which  $IC_{50}$  occurred.

# 2.3.3 Effect of Polyphenols on Renin mRNA Levels

The effects of polyphenols on renin mRNA expression were assessed in AS4.1 cells by RT-PCR and gene expression was quantified via real-time RT-PCR with specific primers and normalised to GAPDH expression (as described in section 2.2.7). For this study, polyphenols were used at 3 different concentrations (0.1, 0.5 and 1.0  $\mu$ M) and gene expression was measured after 24 hours of exposure. Overall, and when compared to controls, the tested compounds decreased renin



# Figure 2.3 Effects of 24 h exposure to selected polyphenols (on levels of renin mRNA expression in Juxtaglomerular cells (AS4.1 cells)

Graph of effects of 24 h exposure to selected polyphenols (see Section 2.2.1 for full names) at concentrations of 0.1, 0.5 and 1.0  $\mu$ M, on levels of renin mRNA expression in Juxtaglomerular cells, determined using real-time RT-PCR. Renin expression values were normalised to GAPDH values,

expressed as fold change from control cells grown without polyphenols by  $2^{-\Delta\Delta CT}$  method (relative value 1.0). Data presented as mean ± SEM of three independent experiments. \* - P ≤ 0.05: \*\* - P ≤ 0.01: \*\*\* - P ≤ 0.001. 6 mRNA expression in a concentration-dependent manner (Figure 2.3).

EC at 0.5 and 1  $\mu$ M concentrations significantly (P < 0.001) decreased renin mRNA expression by 41.7 and 62.7 % respectively. Further inhibitory activity was observed for AV-B at 1  $\mu$ M by 49 % (P < 0.001), while t-FA exerted a marked downregulation of renin mRNA expression by 53 % (p < 0.001) compared to the control value. In addition, there were significant effects on renin mRNA levels after exposure to 4HBA, CA and 3,4-OHPPr at 1.0  $\mu$ M concentration by 35, 34.4, and 36.7 %, respectively (p < 0.01). After treatment with VA at 1.0  $\mu$ M approximately 50-fold inhibition in renin mRNA expression compared to the control (P < 0.001), while, 2,4-DHBA, SA and AV-C at 1.0  $\mu$ M induced non-significant decreases in expression of renin mRNA of about 15 % (p = 0.527, p = 0.740 and p = 0.797 respectively). Among the polyphenol compounds used, inhibition of renin mRNA expression following FAG and IFAS were lower than the others, statistics showed no significant difference compared to the control. No significant difference in gene expressions of renin mRNA was observed when the smallest concentration (0.1  $\mu$ M) of any polyphenol was used.

# 2.3.4 EFFECTS OF POLYPHENOLS ON THE EXPRESSION OF CREB, ATF-1 AND ERK1/2 PROTEINS

Levels of CREB, ATF-1, ERK1/2 protein expression were measured using western immunoblotting (as described in Section 2.2.8). AS4.1 cells were treated with selected compounds at 1.0  $\mu$ m concentration for 1 hour. Calculated means of replicates normalised to total protein showed that relative levels of pCREB/total CREB protein were significantly reduced following all polyphenol treatments ( $P \le 0.001$ ) except 3,4-OHPPr (Figure 2.4). In addition, all polyphenol compounds tested induced a significant decrease in ATF-1 phosphorylation level when compared to total CREB (total CREB Mouse mAb also cross reacts with ATF-1) (P < 0.001) (Figure 2.5). With the exception of 2,4-DHBA, SA and AV-C, the polyphenols tested significantly (P ≤ 0.001) affected the levels of ERK1/2 (Figure 2.6), with SA very close to a significant level (P = 0.051).



#### Figure 2.4 Effects of selected polyphenols (1 $\mu$ M) on levels of CREB (Ser 133) in AS4.1

Cells were incubated with selected polyphenols (see Section 2.2.1 for full names) for an hour and determined by Western immunoblotting.

**A.** Phospho-CREB (ser133). **B.** Total CREB-1 protein. **C.** The bar diagram shows levels of Phospho-protein relative to total protein and expressed as a fold change from the control (relative value 1.0). Error bars are the SEM± of three independent experiments (n=3). \* p-value  $\leq 0.05$  and \*\* p-value  $\leq 0.01$  and \*\*\* p-value  $\leq 0.001$ .





Cells were incubated with selected polyphenols (see Section 2.2.1 for full names) for an hour and determined by Western immunoblotting.

**A.** Phospho-ATF-1(Ser63) protein. **B.** Total CREB-1 protein, used as control (total CREB Mouse mAb also cross reacts with ATF-1). **C.** The bar diagram shows levels of Phospho-protein relative to total protein and expressed as a fold change from the control (relative value 1.0). Error bars are the SEM± of



#### Figure 2.6 Effects of Selected Polyphenols (1 µM) on levels of ERK1/2 (Thr202/Tyr204) in AS4.1 Cells

Cells were incubated with selected polyphenols (see Section 2.2.1 for full names) for an hour and determined by Western immunoblotting.

**A.** Phospho-p44/42 MAPK ERK1/2 (Thr202/Tyr204). **B.** Total p44/42 MAP kinase (Erk1/Erk2). **C.** The bar diagram shows levels of Phospho-protein relative to total protein and expressed as a fold change from the control (relative value 1.0). Error bars are the SEM  $\pm$  of three independent experiments (n=3). \* - p  $\leq 0.05$ ; \*\* - p  $\leq 0.01$ ; \*\*\* - p  $\leq 0.001$ .

#### 2.3.5 SHED AND MEMBRANE-BOUND ACE

The measurements of shed ACE in HUVEC cells supernatant after 24 h exposure to different tested polyphenols at 1.0  $\mu$ M concentration was not significantly changed when compared with the controls (cells without polyphenol treatment). Shed ACE was slightly increased following exposure to t-FA, although not significantly, whereas there was a decreased level of shed ACE following incubation with all other tested polyphenols (Figure 2.7). In line with this, ACE expression levels on the surface of cultured cells (membrane-bound ACE) were not affected by polyphenols when cells were incubated with the various polyphenols at 1  $\mu$ M (Figure 2.8). Overall, tested polyphenols induced a weaker impact on ACE levels in membrane or in cytoplasm of endothelial cell in comparison to the control (calculated as percentage of non-treated control cells).



# Figure 2.7 Detection of shed ACE in supernatant of HUVEC cells 24 h after treatment with selected polyphenols at 1.0 $\mu M$

Graph shows selected polyphenol (see Section 2.2.1 for full names) at a concentration of 1.0  $\mu$ M in triplicate calculated as percentage difference from the non-treated control (100 %). Data presented as mean ± SEM.



Figure 2.8 Effect of selected polyphenols on membrane bound ACE expression on the surface of HUVEC cells at 1.0  $\mu$ M.

Graph shows surface labelling of ACE measured 24 h after treatment with selected polyphenols (see Section 2.2.1 for full names) at 1.0  $\mu$ M, in triplicate, calculated as percentage difference from the non-treated control (100 %). Data presented as mean ± SEM.

# 2.3.6 ACE ACTIVITY INHIBITION

The ability of selected polyphenol compounds to inhibit ACE activity was also assessed. ACE activity was measured fluorometrically with Hip-His-Leu as substrate in homogenates of HUVEC cells. All tested polyphenols at 1.0  $\mu$ M incubated for 24 h induced some inhibition of ACE activities ranging from 17.2 to 48.8 % compared to 100 % non-inhibited control. 2,4-DHBA, EC and SA inhibited ACE by 44.7 41.4 and 41.3 %, respectively. However, greatest inhibition was achieved by t-FA at 48.8 % (P = 0.067). ACE inhibition was not statistically significant for any of the tested polyphenols (Figure 2.9).



Figure 2.9 ACE activity in HUVEC cells 24 h after treatment with selected polyphenols at 1.0  $\mu$ M. Graph shows selected Polyphenols (see Section 2.2.1 for full names) applied at 1.0  $\mu$ M, in triplicate, and calculated as percentage difference from the non-treated control (100 %). Data presented as mean ±SEM.

# 2.3.7 NO, NITRITE AND NITRATE ANALYSIS

Total nitrate and nitrite concentrations were analysed with a commercially available nitrite/nitrate assay. Following cell exposure to different polyphenols for 24 h, results indicated that NO was not significantly increased. There was even a slight decrease in total NO production with AV-B (Figure 2.10 (A)). The same was observed for nitrate, with no increase in nitrate levels and with a slight decrease with AV-B (Figure 2.10 (B)). An increase in nitrite production was seen with most polyphenols, except 2,4-DHBA, VA and FA, where a reduction was observed (Figure 2.10 (C)). None of the measured effects of polyphenols significantly ( $P \le 0.05$ ) affected total NO, nitrite or nitrate (Figure 2.10 (A-C)).



(poly)phenols

# Figure 2.10 Total NO (A), nitrate (B) and nitrite (C) production in HUVEC cells after 24 h incubation with selected polyphenols at $1 \, \mu M$

Selected (see Section 2.2.1 for full names) polyphenols at a concentration of 1  $\mu$ M in triplicate, compared to control cells grown without polyphenols. Data presented as means ± SEM.

#### 2.4 DISCUSSION

Several studies have shown that polyphenols improve vascular function and have potential cardiovascular health benefits [48, 49, 547, 548]. Polyphenols have been reported as a promising substitute for oral drugs that exhibit antihypertensive action [252, 499, 506, 549-551]. Modulation of the RAAS, a critical regulator of BP and vascular function, is one of several proposed mechanisms for their action, which may be affected by either inhibited renin expression or ACE activity or both [254, 297, 358, 362, 366, 369]. The aim of this study was to better comprehend the mechanism of action through which polyphenols achieve such physiological improvements, by investigating if they are able to influence the RAAS. The RAAS plays a crucial role in controlling BP via production of a vasoconstrictor, Ang II, which has a role in regulating blood volume and vasodilation independently of NO [501, 502]. Renin is the rate limiting step in the RAAS, hence it is believed to be a good target for treatment of hypertension and cardiovascular disease [552]. Likewise, suppression of renin and ACE are two of the strategies used for lowering BP, maintaining electrolyte homeostasis, and for haemodynamics and blood volume status regulation [253, 504].

We examined the *in vitro* effects of a range of common phenolic compounds on the RAAS at concentrations of 0.1, 0.5 and 1.0 µM. Trans-ferulic acid (t-FA) possessed the strongest renin inhibitory activity, with a mean IC<sub>50</sub> of 0.51  $\mu$ M, the proportion of inhibition varied from 6.43 -79.81 %. Other polyphenols from different food sources have previously been shown to modulate the RAAS system, by inhibiting renin *in vitro*, including (-)-epicatechin gallate ( $IC_{50}$  = 619.4  $\mu$ M), (-)epigallocatechin gallate (IC<sub>50</sub> = 44.5  $\mu$ M) and (-)-epigallocatechin (IC<sub>50</sub> = 2175.3  $\mu$ M) [499]. Studies using tea polyphenols including theasinensin B (IC<sub>50</sub> = 19.33  $\mu$ M), theasinensin C (IC<sub>50</sub> = 40.21  $\mu$ M), strictinin (IC<sub>50</sub> = 311.09  $\mu$ M), and a hexose sulphate (IC<sub>50</sub>= 50.16  $\mu$ M) have also demonstrated the suppression of renin activity [553]. Renin suppression may have been due to the presence of polyphenol derived special functional structures such as analogues of galloyl moiety without a catechin skeleton and ortho-tri-hydroxy phenyl. Polyphenols may conform the renin active site, reducing its activity, by forming an enzyme-substrate-inhibitor complex. However, it is also possible that the complex biochemical transformations that the numerous polyphenols in plants, for example those in tea, undergo during the fermentation process which is typically part of its preparation for consumption, form a variety of bioactive substances, including inter alia theasinensin B, theasinensin C and a hexose conjugate. Previous studies have reported that polyphenols especially gallated flavonoids are able to inhibit renin activity. However, there is no evidence that any phenolics inhibit renin activity.

In order to better understand how polyphenols influence renin expression, we also explored their effects on renin gene expression in juxtaglomerular cells (AS4.1). Renin gene expression was significantly decreased following exposure to EC, AV-B, t-FA, 4HBA, CA, 3,4-OHPPr and VA at higher concentrations relative to the control (P < 0.01 to P < 0.001, in all cases). In mouse reninexpressing clonal cell line derived from the kidney cells (As4.1), which have many features characteristic of the human kidney renin-expressing juxtaglomerular cells, it has been shown that site D contains a CRE, which binds several transcription factors including cAMP-response elementbinding protein (CREB) and ATF1. A pathway has been identified which regulates the expression of the renin gene, mediated by both cAMP-responsive element binding protein-1 CREBdependent and CREB-independent mechanisms, in Calu-6 cells [509, 512]. Further, in renin expressing cells, the binding of five specific DNA-protein complexes, consisting of the ATF-1 and CREB-1 transcription factors, one of which was an ATF-1zCREB-1 heterodimer, suggests the potential for regulation of CREB-1 activity by ATF-1. Therefore the cAMP-PKA signalling pathway in renin expressing cells transcriptionally activates human renin promoter [512]. Therefore, our hypothesis was that polyphenols might be capable of modulating the synthesis of renin, by interacting with the activation of CREB-1 and ATF-1 proteins, and indeed ERK1/2, which are upstream activators of CREB and ATF-1. The phosphorylation and activation of all proteins were significantly reduced following polyphenol treatment ( $P \le 0.001$ , in all cases) in comparison to total protein in control cells. CREB/ATFs are known to mediate stimulatory effects on renin synthesis in juxtaglomerular cells [508, 510, 511]. Since CREB expression was observed to be inhibited by several polyphenols in oats, it is likely that this may be one mechanism by which renin synthesis is decreased post incubation with polyphenols. Previous data supports nutrient and non-nutrient inhibition of renin expression. One study showed that vitamin d3 (calcitrol) suppresses the transcription of the renin gene through blocking the formation of the CRE-CREB-CBP complex in the renin gene promoter [554]. In another study involving As4.1 cells, it was shown that IL-1β downregulates renin gene expression via a mechanism involving the Erk-STAT3 pathway. IL-1 $\beta$ -plays a role in phosphorylation of ERK1/2, which in turn suppresses renin by upregulation of STAT-3 [555]. Therefore, reduction in renin gene transcription in juxtaglomerular cells post incubation with some polyphenols might be a result of inhibitory interactions with CREB, ATF-1 and ERK 1, 2.

Several studies have shown that polyphenols influence ERK and Protein Kinase B (Akt) signalling pathways [556, 557]. For example, flavonols and anthocyanins in blueberry modulate the ERK-CREB-BDNF pathway in rodents [558]. In another study, quercetin and its O-methylated metabolites have been shown to induce neuronal death by inhibition of neuronal survival

signalling through inhibition of ERK instead of activating the c-Jun N-terminal kinase-mediated death pathway [556]. There is also substantial evidence that the phosphorylation of CREB, and its subsequent interference with the CRE, activates renin gene transcription in juxtaglomerular cells, include AS4.1 and Calu-6 cells [509, 512, 515, 559-561]. In conclusion, it is widely reported that polyphenols interact with the ERK-ATF-1 pathway and P38/ CREB, to reduce expression of the renin gene, and that this leads to improved cardiovascular health [558, 562, 563].

We also explored the effect of selected polyphenols on ACE and NO using HUVEC cells and found most inhibited ACE, but to different degrees and none was significant; t-FA showed the strongest inhibitory effect. ACE inhibition by polyphenols has been demonstrated in similar cell strains by tea polyphenols. ACE activity, and substrate-dependent reaction kinetics have revealed enzyme velocity curves that matched allosteric and non-Michaelis-Menten relationships, with a mixed mode of *in vitro* inhibition of ACE, mostly of a kinetically uncompetitive type [362], by green and black tea polyphenols. Further, studies on cultured endothelial cells from human umbilical veins incubated with a bilberry polyphenol extract exhibited significant, also inhibited ACE activity after 10 minutes, dose dependently [369]. These findings were not supported in a study on rats [564] which found that ferulic acid lowered ACE activity by the greatest amount (18%). The significance of this result may be due to the use of a higher dose, 9.5 mg/kg in vivo compared to our 1.0 µM in vitro, and to the use of an animal model which is more similar to human essential hypertension than our in vitro model [564]. Other phenolic compounds have been identified as ACE inhibitors in vitro including vanillic acid, ferulic acid, p-coumaric acid, caffeic acid, p-hydroxybenzoic acid and benzoic acid (IC<sub>50</sub> = 8, 4.40, 2.80, 2.10, 5.95 and 6.20 mM respectively), which are also present in oats [565]. The mechanism of ACE activity inhibition is at least in part through interactions with amino acids at the active site, which stabilise phenolic compound interactions with zinc ions [566]. Previously reported studies have revealed that caffeic acid at a dose of 10 to 1000  $\mu$ M helps in multi-target modulation of RAAS by inhibiting ACE activity (IC<sub>50</sub> = 430  $\mu$ M), caffeic acid also reduced aldosterone production [361, 566]. Six flavonoids, apigenin, luteolin, kaempferol-3-O- $\alpha$ arabinopyranoside, kaempferol-3-O- $\beta$ -galactopyranoside, quercetin-3-O- $\alpha$ -arabinopyranoside and luteolin-7-O- $\beta$ -glucopyranoside have also been shown to inhibit ACE, with kaempferol-3-O- $\beta$ galactopyranoside the most active (IC<sub>50</sub> = 260  $\mu$ M) [567]. A 3% blueberry diet for 2 weeks, given to stroke-prone spontaneously hypertensive rats, lowered ACE activity but had no effect on normotensive rats, suggesting that managing the early stages of hypertension with dietary flavonoid-rich blueberries may be effective, partially through, they state, soluble ACE activity inhibition [568]. In another study, examining the mechanisms of the inhibitory activities of flavonoids and metabolites in flavonoid-rich apple peel extract, it was found that inhibition was

due to the presence of hydroxyl groups and the B ring, as quercetin-3-O-glucoside has significant ACE inhibitory action compared to that of quercetin [569]. In conclusion, there is, therefore, substantial evidence to show that polyphenolic compounds inhibit ACE activity. In our results, however, we measured smaller effects than many previous studies, this may be due to the differences in doses and polyphenol types, structures or concentrations, the different experimental models used, For example some previous published significant result from animal studies due to the duration of the study chronic study than single oral administration. However, our in vitro experimental conditions include concentrations and application for 24 h may have been influential in the weakness of the ACE activity responses and changes to NO levels. It is also possible that pure phenolic compounds could not fit the active site of ACE, due to their too large polymer sizes. However, it should be noted that the unaltered polyphenols hexameric phenol and dieckol, have been shown to inhibit ACE by binding on the outside of the ACE molecule [570]. Furthermore, phenolic acids and flavonoids, such as quercetin, are reported to inhibit ACE activity via interaction with the zinc ion in the active site. Metalloenzymes, including zinc metallopeptidases, are known to be inhibited by suitably hydroxylated flavonoids and other polyphenols [571, 572]. It was also concluded that the inhibitory capabilities of phenolic compounds increased as their number of hydroxyl and acrylic acid groups increased, hence salidroside, with only one hydroxyl and no propenoic acid, compared to the ortho-dihydroxyl and propenoic acid properties of caffeic acid, showed much lower ACE inhibiting activity. Another substructure of phenolic acids that seems to influence ACE inhibitory activity, albeit negatively, is the methoxy functional group. This may be due to their steric hindrance to binding to the ACE active site [566]. It has become apparent that the presence of certain functional groups, such as hydroxyl, carboxyl, and acrylic acid, which can act as hydrogen bond acceptors or donors, seems to increase the potency of polyphenols to inhibit ACE, which suggests that it is not simply the presence or absence of such groups that influences the potential of phenolic acids to inhibit ACE activity. Studies have revealed, further to this general situation, that most phenolic acids form charge-charge interactions with the zinc ion at the active site of ACE, via the oxygen atom in the carboxylate moiety. The exact mechanism by which t-FA lowers ACE activity remains, however, unknown.

Cell exposure to 1  $\mu$ M of various polyphenols for 24 hours led to non-significantly increased total NO, nitrite and nitrate in every case, except a slight decrease in total NO production was seen for AV-B and a reduction in nitrite following 2,4-DHBA, VA and FAG exposure. These results were not fully reflected in a study which found that Avenanthramide-2c, a polyphenol, found exclusively in oats, when applied at a concentration of 120  $\mu$ M increased NO production three-fold in smooth

muscle cells and nine-fold in human aortic endothelial cells [406]. This may be due to the higher concentrations of Avenanthramide-2c used in comparison to ours. Other studies have revealed the highest release of NO, at  $\Delta$ [NO] > 8.5 nM, is induced by quercetin, myricetin, leucocianidol and oligomeric proanthocyanidins while moderate release,  $\Delta$ [NO] > 5 nM < 8.5 nM, was shown after caffeic acid, fisetin, hyperoside and isoquercitrin and only marginal release after other phenolic compounds,  $\Delta$ [NO] < 5 nM [573]. In this study a flavan moiety with free hydroxyl-residues at C<sub>3</sub>, C<sub>3</sub>', C<sub>4</sub>', C<sub>5</sub>, and C<sub>7</sub> and a hydroxyl-, oxo-, or phenolic substituent at C<sub>4</sub> was associated with high NO activity. The NO–stimulating and vaso-relaxing activities of the polyphenols were also positively correlated, hence the increase in NO due to polyphenols may promote cardiovascular health, but the concentration required for this effect is very high.

The reduced expression of ACE in pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells is caused by two processes: initial increased shed of ACE followed by a compensatory downregulation of ACE-mRNA and membrane-bound protein expression [574]. Hence, we performed similar trials with polyphenols, to determine if they also contribute to ACE expression inhibition by increasing either shed or membrane-bound ACE. The measured levels of shed ACE in supernatant from, nor membrane-bound on, HUVEC cells after 24-hour incubation with polyphenols (1.0  $\mu$ M), were not, however, significantly changed. Therefore, we conclude that no substantive effects of polyphenols on ACE activity, whether membrane-bound or shed, were detected by our experiments.

We did find, however, strong evidence from our experiments to conclude that polyphenols do modulate renin gene expression through their effects on the CREB, ERK and ATF transcription factors. However, unlike some published studies, we failed show that polyphenols inhibit ACE activity significantly via this mechanism. We also found no significant increase in total NO, nitrite and nitrate post incubation with polyphenols at 1 µM, however, we measured inhibitions smaller than those reported in many previous studies. We, therefore, conclude that polyphenols may reduce BP via the RAAS, but need higher doses for ACE enzyme inhibition. Polyphenols at physiological concentrations could decrease BP, although we cannot explain the exact mechanism(s) of lowered renin expression or ACE inhibition and as very few studies have been published in this area, this remains an important gap in our knowledge. Further studies are needed to increase our understanding of the biochemical complexities of the relationship between polyphenols and inhibition of RAAS and decrease of BP.

Since these results were promising by clearly demonstrating that small phenolic compounds in physiological concentrations might affect the RAAS albeit minimally, they may explain why people

who consume foods rich in such polyphenols might experience a reduction in BP. Therefore, the next two chapters will seek to expand on these findings and provide a better understanding of the physiological effects of specific polyphenols through both acute and chronic clinical trials.

# Chapter: 3 Investigation of the Vascular Effects of Acute Oat Intake on Males with Pre- and Stage 1 Hypertension

# 3.1 INTRODUCTION

The purpose of this investigation, of an acute oat intervention on the cardiovascular health of males with pre- and stage 1 hypertension, is to build on the large body of existing knowledge in this field, which has amassed from studies of polyphenols originating from other plant sources on individuals with the same or similar physiological conditions. This group of people is recognised to be particularly responsive to interventions which affect blood pressure (BP) and endothelial function. We anticipate that, as in comparable studies, physiological changes in men in this trail will occur following an acute polyphenol intervention, from oats in our case, with measurable effects on the RAAS, specifically in observable inhibition of ACE and renin. Our trials include several metrics commonly tested to represent improvements in BP and vascular function, notably Flow-Mediated Dilatation (FMD) and endothelium dependent and independent microvascular responses. ACE activity and ACE and renin concentrations were assayed using widely deployed Enzyme-Linked Immunoassays (ELISA). There are no comparable clinical trials which test the effects of oat specific polyphenols on BP and vascular function. The clinical vascular data which does exist applies instead either to wholegrain oats without, differentiating the impact of polyphenols from fibre, or else where polyphenols are specifically targeted, to a number of other phenolic-containing foods and beverages, some of which have been investigated repeatedly [335, 575-579].

Recent studies suggest that diets rich in polyphenols have a range of beneficial effects on cardiovascular health [47, 181, 241-244]. Polyphenol rich foods which have been studied include fresh fruits (particularly berries) [49, 335, 580], vegetables (red onions), whole grains (oat, wheat, rye), tea, coffee, cocoa [498, 581], nuts (chestnut, pecans, hazelnuts), red wine, seeds (flaxseed), olive and spices (cinnamon, cloves), all of which can be included with relative ease into daily diets [247, 498, 582-588]. The ability of polyphenol-enriched foods to attenuate the incidence of CVD, has been attributed to their anti-thrombotic, anti-atherogenic and anti-inflammatory properties, as well as their potential to induce vasodilatation and to reduce blood pressure in hypertensive individuals [296, 403, 589, 590]. With respect to the two latter outcomes, their potential to influence two key pathways of blood pressure (BP) homeostasis, endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) and/or the Renin-Angiotensin Aldosterone System (RAAS), are likely to underpin their

actions at the physiological level. Nitric oxide is the most potent vasodilator in the body and any defect in its synthesis or activity may lead to endothelial dysfunction, signalled by impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation. Impaired endothelium-dependent vasodilation is the common cause of vascular dysfunction, one of the most important, early markers of atherosclerosis [86]. The RAAS plays a crucial role in controlling blood pressure via production of a vasoconstrictor, angiotensin II, which has a role in regulating blood volume and vasodilation independently of nitric oxide (NO) [501, 502]. Studies have shown that acute consumption of flavanol-rich dark chocolate improved endothelium-dependent vasodilation, flow-mediated dilatation (FMD) and protected from vascular impairment induced by a glucose load [581, 591]. Similarly, acute interventions with cranberry polyphenol metabolites and flavonoid-rich acai meals are both associated with increased FMD and vascular function [335, 592]. Flavonol-rich grape juice containing cinnamic acid, decreases platelet aggregation, that cranberries rich in anthocyanin reduce BP and heart rate, and that pomegranate juice rich in tannins and anthocyanin induce vasodilation [186]. Small phenolic compounds such as hippuric, vanillic, ferulic and homovanillic acids have been recognised as structurally homologous to NAPDH oxidase inhibitors present in endothelial cells [593]. Likewise, betulinic acid reduces nitric oxide activity via upregulation of endothelial NO synthase (eNOS) and down-regulation of NADPH oxidase [594].

Whole grain cereals, while well known for being high in fibre, are also a rich source of other macro- and micro-nutrients and non-nutrients, including phenolic acids. Oat (*Avena sativa* L.) grains are rich in unsaturated fatty acids and soluble fibres ( $\beta$ -glucan), as well as phenolic acids such as ferulic acid and phenolic amides called avenanthramides [565, 595]. It has been postulated that these small phenolics may contribute to reductions in BP and blood cholesterol, and increases in nitric oxide thus contributing to a reduction in CVD risk [40, 406]. Avenanthramides, exclusively present in oats, have been reported to be bioavailable, and shown previously to inhibit the development of vascular smooth cells, in *in vitro* studies, and presented potential health benefits by acting against the adverse effects of atherosclerosis [405, 406, 596].

Studies have shown that oats could reduce systolic blood pressure (SBP), pulse pressure and improved vasodilation [53, 597]. The addition of whole oats to daily diets of hypertensive individuals led to reductions in total cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol by at least 10 % within 6 weeks and a reduction in systolic and diastolic BP [598]. It has been speculated that the inclusion of whole oats in the diets of middle-aged men and women may to lower BP and lipids and so contribute to reducing the risk of CVD by circa 30 % [599, 600]. The cardiovascular benefits of whole grain oats have been quite widely investigated and found to mediate vasodilation [487, 601]. Oat bread was shown to induce a significant increase in baseline brachial

artery diameters and post-ischemia diameters [602]. Oat consumption may attenuate declines in brachial artery flow responses induced by high fat intake [603]. Green oat extracts, derived from blending whole, young oat plants, were reported to improved vasodilator function of systemic and cerebral arteries [53]. The American Heart Association and other international health associations now recommended dietary fibres, and whole grain cereals such as oats, to help achieve overall goals of implementing a heart-healthy diet [604, 605]. Appropriate studies, therefore, to investigate and validate the association of whole grain oats and its constituents with cardiovascular benefits may further help to present oats as a valuable and sustainable dietary option, especially for adults in prehypertension.

This study tests the hypothesis that a single intake of oats per day can result in positive CVD benefits for healthy men with prehypertension or stage 1 hypertension, as demonstrated by improvements in CVD markers, including vascular functions, BP and RAAS enzymes inhibition, and that such changes may be, in part, regulated by concentration of avenanthramide and phenolic acids.

# **3.2** MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **3.2.1** SELECTION OF SUBJECTS

Potential volunteers were recruited using the Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition database and local advertisements. Interested volunteers were given a participant information sheet (Appendix 1) detailing the background of the study and what was expected of them. Volunteers still interested in participation were asked to fill in a health and lifestyle questionnaire (Appendix 2) to verify that they met the broad inclusion/exclusion criteria, for example age, dietary allergies and medication intake, as outlined below.

Volunteers eligible for inclusion, measured as described below, comprised: males, 25-65 years old, pre- or stage 1 hypertension SBP 120-159 mmHg and DBP 75-99 mm Hg), non-smoking, not taking any long-term medication on the exclusion list below, free of disease and not undertaking vigorous exercise daily. The exclusion criteria included: individuals who were hypertensive (SBP/DBP/≥ 160/100 mm Hg), BMI > 35, current smoker or ex-smoker, allergic to whole grains and taking any BP, anti-inflammatory, antidepressant, antibiotic or blood fat medication.

Volunteers meeting the broad criteria attended a short screening visit, after having fasted overnight (i.e. no intake of food or drink for 10 h before the visit, except water), where the study was explained in detail and they were encouraged to ask any remaining questions. Anthropometric measures, blood pressure measurements and 20 ml of blood were collected.

Blood samples were analysed for biochemical and haematological markers partly on site at the University of Reading and partly by the pathology department of the Royal Berkshire Hospital (Reading, UK). Based on screening results, as detailed below, 16 suitable individuals were invited to participate in the study. All volunteers provided written, informed consent before commencing the study (Appendix 3).

#### 3.2.2 STUDY DESIGN

The study was approved by the University of Reading Research Ethics Committee and registered at www.clinicaltrials.gov as NCT02731755.

The proposed study was a single-centre, two-arm, single-blinded, placebo-controlled randomised crossover trial. Volunteers were required to attend the Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition on two occasions during which they either consumed one portion of avenanthramide and phenolic acids-rich oats or an energy matched control intervention, in random order. The primary expected outcome was flow-mediated dilatation of the brachial artery (FMD). Secondary outcome measures were microvascular endothelial function (measured by Laser Doppler lontophoresis), BP changes, level and activity of the renin angiotensin system.

# 3.2.3 STUDY INTERVENTION MATERIALS

The study intervention materials comprised porridge containing 90.2 g oats (67.7 g CDC dancer : oat flakes and 22.5 g oat bran concentrate) (Pepsico, Barrington, USA) and 420 ml water. This provided 45.0 mg of phenolic acids and 5.0 mg avenanthramides (total 50.0 mg). The control intervention consisted of cream of rice (B&G Foods, Inc.), dry skimmed milk, sunflower oil, cellulose powder and pectin powder containing 4.2 mg phenolic acids and was closely matched to the porridge for macro- and micro-nutrient content (Table 3.1).  $\beta$ - glucan, betaine, choline and trigonelline were present at levels too low to induce any observable vascular effects [602, 606].

Oat interventions were measured by HPLC for phenolic acid content and analysed for macro and micronutrients by Campden BRI (Gloucestershire, UK). All dry materials were frozen until needed to prevent degradation and prepared as detailed in Appendix 4. Both foods were well tolerated by all subjects, and no adverse events were reported.

	Oat intervention <sup>1</sup>	Control intervention <sup>2</sup>
Phenolic acids (mg)	45.0	4.2
Avenanthramides (mg)	5.0	0.0
Energy (kcal)	322	322
Fat (g)	6.3	6.3
Saturated fatty acids	1.2	0.9
Monounsaturated fatty acids	2.2	1.3
Polyunsaturated fatty acids	2.6	3.9
Carbohydrate (g)	47.1	47.1
Fibre (g)	12.1	12.1
Beta-glucan	5.6	0
Pectin	0	5.6
Protein (g)	13.3	13.3
Betaine (mg)	25.2	1.5
Choline (mg)	12.0	2.6
Trigonelline (mg)	34.0	2.0

#### Table 3.1 Study intervention materials

Polyphenols are highlighted in blue.

<sup>1</sup> 67.7g CDC dancer oat flakes, 22.5g oat bran concentrate and 420ml water.

<sup>2</sup> 39.4g cream of rice, 6.1g sunflower oil, 29.5g skimmed milk, 5.6g pectin powder, 6.5g cellulose and 420ml water.

#### 3.2.4 RANDOMISATION AND MASKING

To minimise bias researchers was 'blinded' to the food (intervention) product. Scientists not involved in the study generated random number sequences, and managed volunteer allocation and intervention meal administration. Volunteers were randomly allocated to the intervention sequence (i.e. experimental intervention followed by control intervention or vice versa).

# 3.2.5 STUDY VISITS

Each eligible volunteer was asked to attend 2 identical assessment visits, separated by at least 1 week, at the Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition. At each visit, the acute effects of a single intake of phenolic-rich oat porridge or control intervention was assessed. Volunteers were asked, in preparation for the visit, to fast overnight (i.e. no intake of food or drink for 10 h before the visit, except water), maintain complete dietary record sheets and to restrict their diet as detailed in Appendix 5, which included refraining from consuming (poly) phenol-rich foods, moderating consumption to  $\leq$  21 units of alcohol/week and to refrain in exercise 48 h prior to the study visits.

On arrival for a study visit, volunteers completed a researcher-administered questionnaire to monitor any potential adverse events and changes in medication, and to collect a full dietary record from dietary record sheets and to verify adherence to the lifestyle restrictions. Volunteers were then rested for 15min in a supine position in a temperature-controlled ( $22 \pm 1$  °C), dimmed room, after which a series of non-invasive clinical measurements were taken, and blood and urine samples collected and immediately processed, following standardised procedures.

After completion of baseline measurements, a researcher not directly involved in the study provided the intervention products, which the volunteers were asked to consume completely over a 15min period. Up to 24 h post-intervention, non-invasive clinical measurements and blood and urine sample collections, as detailed below, were continued at set times (i.e. baseline, 1, 2, 4, 6 and 24 h; Figure 3.1). Between the 6 h and 24 h assessments, volunteers were allowed to leave the facility. To ensure the volunteers' well-being, they were encouraged to keep well-hydrated during the study by drinking enough water, while otherwise consuming just the phenolic-free meals as provided. Phenolic-free meals comprised a cheese sandwich consumed 5 h after the study intervention, and a main meal of pasta bake and crème brûlée which volunteers took home and consumed 8 h after the study intervention. Water intake throughout the day was recorded. A further light meal was also provided at the end of the assessment visit.

# 3.2.6 BLOOD COLLECTION

Blood samples were collected into vacutainers containing lithium heparin serum isolation's anticoagulants, EDTA and no serum isolation anticoagulants (Greiner Bio-one, USA), using standard venepuncture procedures. Thereafter, the vacutainers were kept in ice for lithium heparin and EDTA or stored at room temperature for serum separator vacutainers and allowed to coagulate for 30-60 minutes before centrifugation for 15 min at 3000 g at 4 °C, in order to separate the plasma or serum. The serum and plasma were isolated and stored in screw cap microtubes at -80 °C.



# Figure 3.1 Outline study design

24 hour intervention periods and assessments at the Nutrition Unit. Interventions and assessment times are shown. BL – Baseline.

### **3.2.7** OUTCOME ASSESSMENTS

#### 3.2.7.1 FLOW-MEDIATED DILATATION

Endothelial-dependent vasodilation was measured by using an ATL Ultrasound HDI-15000 system (ATL Ultrasound) following standard guidelines [607]. Briefly, by using an electrocardiogram gated images (ECG-gated trigger) and image-grabbing software (Medical Imaging Applications-IIc) to collect images. After a supine rest lasting 15 minutes in a quiet, temperature-controlled room, the brachial artery 2-5 cm above the antecubital fossa was imaged collected at 0.25 frames/s. Doppler-derived velocity of arterial blood flow was measured for 1 min prior to commencing each FMD measurement. Baseline images were taken for 1 min, after which the BP cuff inflates to 220 mm Hg to occlude blood flow. A sphygmomanometric cuff is placed just under the elbow of the non-cannulated arm and inflated using a pressure of 220 mm Hg for 5 minutes to induce a restriction of blood flow in the brachial artery. The pressure cuff is then released to induce reactive hyperaemia and hence vasodilatation of the brachial artery. After 5 min of occlusion, the pressure is rapidly released, allowing reactive hyperaemia to occur; measurement collection continued for 5 min post release. Analysis of the images were performed using wall-tracking software (MIA-IIc). Image files were analysed by a single researcher who was blinded to the measurement details, and peak diameter will be defined as the largest diameter obtained after the occlusion is released. FMD response calculated using change from baseline to peak diameter divided by baseline and reported as a percentage value (% FMD). Velocity analysis performed over a minimum of 5 cardiac cycles and averaged, then converted to flow by multiplying by the cross-sectional area of the artery. Vascular measurements were then taken at baseline, 1, 2, 4, 6 and 24 hours post-intervention.

#### **3.2.7.2** LASER DOPPLER IONTOPHORESIS (LDI)

LDI is the gold-standard measurement used as a surrogate marker of microvascular function [337, 608]. It is non-invasive and assesses microvascular response in the forearm after stimulation with a vasodilatory agent [603]. Acetylcholine (Ach) and Sodium nitroprusside (SNP) were used as vasodilators. Acetylcholine is critical in activating endothelium-dependent vasodilation. It binds to the M2 muscarinic receptors of the endothelium surface, leading to the production of nitric oxide (NO) which is responsible for vasodilation as well as vascular smooth muscle relaxation. Sodium nitroprusside is a nitric oxide donor and reacts with sulfhydryl groups *in vivo* to produce NO directly, thus stimulating vasodilation and exerting endothelium-independent control [609]. Measurements were carried out in a temperature-controlled room ( $22 \pm 1$  °C) with acclimatised volunteers in a supine position, after calibration of the machine. Two chambers were set 1 cm apart on the alcohol cleansed volar face of the subject's forearm, using double-sided adhesive rings. Chambers were filled with 2.5 ml of 1 % Ach and SNP, respectively, prepared with 0.5 % sodium chloride (Sigma Chemical

Co.). The Ach and SNP were transferred trans-dermally via the anodal and cathodal chambers, iontophoresis was achieved using an electrical current which incremental increase from 0 to 20  $\mu$ A. Microvascular function was measured by LDI2-IR Laser Doppler imager (Moor Instruments Ltd). The Laser Doppler signal is proportional to the number and velocity of moving blood cells in illuminated, superficial, skin microvessels [610]. The laser beam penetrates the skin and is partially backscattered by moving blood cells, causing, according to the Doppler principle, a frequency shift and generating a signal that is linearly related to red blood cell flow (skin erythrocyte flux), as predicted by theoretical and experimental models [611]. Scans with 5  $\mu$ A incremental increases in current from 0-20  $\mu$ A were recorded to measure the elasticity of the small peripheral blood vessels at the lower arm [337]. A median flux against time graph was plotted and the area under the curve calculated to analyse the recorded scans by moorLDI V5.3 Software [612].

### 3.2.7.3 BLOOD PRESSURE

Systolic and diastolic BP and heart rate were measured in the subject's non-dominant arm, while sitting, with an automatic, digital, blood pressure monitor (Omron M6 Intelli-Sense Comfort; model HEM-72211-E8, Omron Healthcare Co.). Before Measurement volunteers were rested for 30 minutes and the average of triplicate measurements separated by at least 1 min was recorded [613].

#### **3.2.7.4** ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASUREMENT

Before vascular assessments, body composition and weight were measured, using a Body Composition Analyser (Tanita BC-418MA, TANITA, UK Ltd.) by same trained researcher, according to the manufacturer's protocols. Standing height was measured with a stadiometer (Medical scales and measuring system, Seca Lt., UK). Body Mass Index was calculated as weight/height<sup>2</sup> (kg/m<sup>2</sup>).

#### **3.2.7.5** Enzyme-Linked Immunoassays (ELISA)

#### a) ACE activity

Serum angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) activity was measured by a spectrophotometric method using an ACE Kinetic test kit (Bühlmann Laboratories AG, Schonembuch, Switzerland). Briefly ACE mediates the hydrolysation of the synthetic substrate N-[3-(2-furyl)acryloyl]-L-phenylalanyl-glycyl-glycine (FAPGG) to an amino acid derivate (furanacryloyl-L-phenylalanine, FAP) and a dipeptide (glycylglycine, GG), the decrease in absorbance during the cleavage reaction is measured [614].

ACE activity was measured using enzymatic assay (ACE Kinetic test kit, Bühlmann Laboratories AG, Switzerland). The substrates, calibrator, controls and the serum specimen were allowed to reach room temperature, high and low controls were prepared by adding 2 ml of deionized  $H_2O_1$  A plate was prepared with 250 µl substrate and 25 µl calibrator serum sample, then incubated in a Spark<sup>®</sup>

multimode microplate reader (Tecan Trading AG, Switzerland) for 21 min at 37 °C, after first shaking for 2 min. The kinetic reaction was measured at 3 min intervals from 6 min onwards. The cleavage reaction's kinetic energy was measured as a decrease in the absorbance at 340nm, calculated as follows.

$$ACE Activity = \frac{\text{calibrator value } * \text{slope(sample)}}{\text{slope(calibrator)}}$$

#### b) ACE Concentration

ACE concentration was determined using the method described in Section 2.2.9 for shed ACE, with the following differences. Blood serum replaced HUVEC cells as the tested medium. Serum samples were prepared in a 10-fold dilution by adding Calibrator Diluent RD6-45 (180  $\mu$ L) to 20  $\mu$ L of serum.

#### c) Renin Concentration

The renin concentration in plasma was measured using a quantitative sandwich enzyme immunoassay (Quantikine® ELISA Human Renin Immunoassay, R&D Systems Europe, Ltd., UK) which requires a human renin specific monoclonal antibody pre-coated microplate. Standards and samples were pipetted into wells in the plate; the immobilized antibody binds available renin to form an enzyme-linked monoclonal antibody. A substrate solution, which produces a detectable signal owing to a colour change, was then added. A wash buffer was prepared by mixing a manufacturer supplied concentrate (20 ml) with deionized H<sub>2</sub>O up to 500ml. Calibrator diluent RD5P was then diluted at a ratio of 1:5, comprising 10ml calibrator diluent and 40 ml dH<sub>2</sub>O. Diluted Calibrator Diluent RD5P (75 µL) was mixed with an equal amount of plasma sample with EDTA anticoagulant. The serial dilution with the human renin standard was also prepared. For reconstitution, 1 ml of  $dH_2O$  was mixed with the human renin standard (20,000 pg/ml) and was left to rest for 15min prior to use. Again, using a ratio of 1:5, the standard was mixed with calibrator diluent RD5P in 2000, 1000, 500, 250, 125, 62.5, 31.3 and 0 pg/ml, to prepare the serial dilution. High Control, Medium Control and Low Control vials were filled with  $H_2O$  (2 ml) and mixed throughout. To each well, 100  $\mu$ L of assay diluent RD1S was added with a multichannel pipet, prior to adding 50 µL of the prepared standards, control or samples respectively. The plate was then sealed with adhesive strip and incubated for 2 h at room temperature on the orbital microplate shaker (Stuart SSM5 Shaker, Microtitre, Mini, Cole-Parmer, UK) at 500 rpm. After 4 washes with wash buffer (300  $\mu$ L) and removal of all the liquid, a human renin conjugate (200 µL) was added to each well, wells were again sealed and incubated for a further 2 h at room temperature as previously. After repeating the washing procedure 4 times, 200  $\mu$ L of substrate solution was added to each well. The plates were re-incubated for 30 minutes at room temperature while protected from light. Thereafter, a (50 μL) stop solution was added and optical density determined using a Spark <sup>®</sup> multimode microplate reader (Tecan Trading AG, Switzerland) at 450nm.

# 3.2.8 SAMPLE SIZE AND STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The power calculation was made for the primary clinical outcome measure (FMD of the brachial artery) to determine the minimum number of participants required for the study. The sample size was calculated using the variance of repeated measurements in the control group and on the control data; standard deviation within the participants was 0.35 % (based on previous studies performed in our group). A sample size of 13 subjects yielded 80 % power at  $P \le 0.05$  significance level to determine a significant within-subject difference between treatments of at least 0.3 % of FMD. However, in order to provide power to use the secondary measures and achieve significant within-subject differences, we aimed for 15 participants.

To identify differences in the study outcomes (i.e. markers of CVD risk including LDI and BP) between assessment time points and interventions, a mixed model was used to analyse the effect of covariance response variables based on log likelihood, while a pairwise comparison tool used to analyse the significant differences between variables which are time, intervention and interaction between time and intervention. RAAS enzymes levels and activities in biological samples were analysed by GLM to show a significant effect of covariance variable on the response variables. Then, for comparison we used *post hoc* analysis (Tukey comparison) (P = 0.05). All statistical analyses were carried out using the statistical package for social science (SPSS) version 24.

# 3.3 RESULTS

The sequence of screening, assessment and study visits followed by each participant is presented in Figure 3.2 and the study population's baseline physical characteristics at screening are shown in Table 3.2. All participants were male, healthy and diagnosed with pre- or stage 1 hypertension. The results of statistical analyses of the intervention and control groups over the measurement period shown in Figure 3.1 are shown in Table 3.3. Results are presented for each of the primary and secondary study objectives.



# Figure 3.2 Flow chart of study participation

18 participants enrolled, and 16 completed both assessment visits. Reasons for exclusion / failure to complete are shown to the right.

Characteristic	Mean ± SEM	Range
Age (y)	47.3 ± 3.3	22.0 - 68.0
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	26.4 ± 0.9	18.9 - 33.5
Body Fat (%)	23.2 ± 1.8	8.0 - 34.7
Systolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	132.1 ± 1.7	117.7 - 147.3
Diastolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	80.5 ± 0.9	74.0 - 86.3
Heart rate (bpm)	71.2 ± 2.4	55.3 - 95.3
Plasma glucose (mmol/L)	5.4 ± 0.1	4.5 - 6.5
Plasma total cholesterol (mmol/L)	5.2 ± 0.3	3.0 - 7.0
Plasma triglycerides (mmol/L)	1.6 ± 0.2	0.6 - 4.8

# Table 3.2 Baseline characteristics at screening

Characteristics of overnight fasted study participants at screening; (n = 16).

		Intervention		Time after intervention (Hours)						Probabilities (P)		
Measure	Figure	A - oats B – control	Baseline	1	2	4	6	24	Treat- ment	Time	Treat- ment × Time	
FMD	3.3	A	4.16 ± 0.57	4.37 ± 0.7	4.01 ± 0.67	5.03 ± 0.84	3.42 ± 0.59	4.44 ± 0.38	0.5615	0.1829	0.482	
		В	4.67 ± 0.54	3.9 ± 0.86	3.41 ± 0.45	5.48 ± 0.8	4.42 ± 0.8	3.55 ± 0.65				
Ach-iAUC	3.4 (A)	A	538.16 ± 90.36		681.81 ± 182.02	633.43 ± 82.01	564.87 ± 66.25	381.31 ± 61.41	0 80/8	<.0001	0.0679	
		В	465.03 ± 70.64		463.69 ± 55.36	702.63 ± 30.43	649.67 ± 51.47	314.97 ± 45.54	0.8948			
	3.4 (B)	A	661.12 ± 52.37		709.43 ± 68.43	555.22 ± 85.84	552.12 ± 60.19	622.38 ± 50.57	0 1572	0.7274	0.0074	
SNF-IAUC		В	757.06 ± 43.24		502.88 ± 25.58	623.28 ± 56.97	681.13 ± 63.73	513.72 ± 35.77	0.1372			
Ach-AUC	3.5 (A)	A	1593.9 ± 198.85		1678.3 ± 140.6	1676.44 ± 233.96	1627.05 ± 182.27	1560.91 ± 161.29	0.9769	0.2647	0.0777	
		В	1534.1 ± 144.24		1358.26 ± 116.9	1621.82 ± 167.51	1757.69 ± 140.77	1701.63 ± 190.89				
	3.5 (B)	А	1897.85 ± 159.41		1693.55 ± 131.09	1406.17 ± 146.66	1795.97 ± 184.83	1889.87 ± 221.77	0.9831	0.133	0.249	
SNP-AUC		В	2163.44 ± 209.1		1694.75 ± 144.7	1723.88 ± 140.09	1760.05 ± 220.52	1903.8 ± 158.3				
CDD	3.6 (A)	A	125.38 ± 2.27	125.8 ± 2.24	125.72 ± 2.08	124.44 ± 2.28	126.37 ± 1.57	122.37 ± 1.54	0.988	0.0064	0.5801	
JDP		В	124.42 ± 2.3	124.93 ± 1.75	123.94 ± 1.83	122.28 ± 1.34	127.07 ± 1.93	123.77 ± 1.84				
חחח	3.6 (B)	A	73.88 ± 1.51	72.75 ± 1.53	73.32 ± 1.45	74 ± 1.65	71.38 ± 1.49	72.47 ± 1.71	0.6927	0.0207 0	0.0561	
DBP		В	74.15 ± 1.33	72.56 ± 1.27	73.45 ± 1.4	74.64 ± 1.55	72.78 ± 1.44	73.57 ± 1.87			0.9501	
Цр	3.6 (D)	А	64.66 ± 2.84	63.94 ± 2.49	62.1 ± 2.39	61.25 ± 2.08	62.69 ± 1.71	64.15 ± 2.61	0.9757	<.0001 0.	0.0120	
пк		В	64.94 ± 3.18	63.69 ± 2.73	61.84 ± 2.19	61.12 ± 2.13	65.42 ± 2.27	64.87 ± 2.64			0.9128	
Popin loval	3.7 (A)	А	763.79 ± 61.94		753.12 ± 55.24		805.19 ± 77.1	805.99 ± 62.54	0.736	0.0107 0.4	0 6002	
Kenin level		В	788.38 ± 45.22		733.05 ± 45.62		776.07 ± 52.69	845.44 ± 64.59		0.0107	0.0905	
ACE level	3.7 (B)	А	136.41 ± 8.6		136.38 ± 8.55		134.07 ± 4.85	146.5 ± 6.18	0.0711	0.0711 0.1393 0	0.652	
		В	150.18 ± 5.42		135.37 ± 8.46		131.07 ± 9.32	136.68 ± 7.37			0.052	
ACE activity	3.7 (C)	А	31.76 ± 5.08		28.49 ± 4.06		28.32 ± 6.18	29.03 ± 3.15	0 6796	0.0049	0 7247	
		В	30.8 ± 3.38		26.93 ± 2.98		23.62 ± 2.78	30.38 ± 3.96	0.0786	0.0048	0.7347	

#### Table 3.3 Results of Measurements of Cardiovascular Risk Biomarkers

Values are presented as mean measurement  $\pm$  SEM, for units see the text. Primary outcomes: flow-mediated dilatation (FMD). Secondary outcomes: endothelial-dependent vasodilation induced by SNP, both measured by LDI and expressed as both area under curve (AUC) and incremental area under curve (iAUC); systolic blood pressure (SBP); diastolic blood pressure (DBP); heart rate (HR); angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) and renin. Results from ANOVA of treatment, time, and time × treatment interaction, significant probabilities are highlighted (P < 0.05 – light pink, P < 0.01 – dark pink). *Post hoc* analyses used Tukey's comparison test. For all measures, n = 16.
#### 3.3.1 FLOW-MEDIATED DILATATION

None of the measured changes in % FMD was significant (CI = 95 %) (Table 3.3 above), baseline % FMD measurements were 4.16 with the oat and phenolic acid intervention, compared to 4.67 % in the control. Following the control intervention, mean FMD was observed to fall up to the 2 h measurement, reaching a low point of 3.41 %, before increasing to a peak at the 4 h measurements and then falling back to 3.55 %, below the baseline, after 24 h. The profile (Figure 3.3) was similar following the oat and phenolic acid intervention, although the reduction over the first 2 h, to 4.37 %, was less than the control (0.1 compared to 1.56 %); measurement at 24 h was the peak, also at 4 h was 5.03 %, however the lowest FMD was measured after 6 h at 3.42 %, and the final FMD rose again at 24 h to 4.44 %. FMD comparisons at 1 and 2 h were improved by 0.21 % and dropped by 0.15 % respectively, compared to the baseline level, in the oat group, however, dropped by 0.77 % and 1.26 % compared to the baseline level, in the control group. At 4 h for both groups, FMD was 0.87 % above the baseline for the oat compared to only 0.81 % in the control group.

Differences between the means of the oat and control treatments, the treatments over time and the interaction between them were not significant (Figure 3.3); treatment (P = 0.5615), time (P = 0.1829) or the time × treatment interaction (P = 0.482).





Oat Group consumed phenol-rich, wholegrain oats containing 45.0 mg of phenolic acids and 5.0 mg avenanthramides, compared to the Control Group. Values are means  $\pm$  SEMs from Table 3.3 FMD: flow-mediated dilatation. GLM analysis, n=16, followed by Tukey *post hoc* test (P > 0.05).

#### **3.3.2 LASER DOPPLER IONTOPHORESIS**

Figures 4 and 5 present the results from Table 3, showing LDI vasodilation measurements over time expressed as area under curve (AUC) and incremental area under curve (iAUC), using Ach and SNP as vasodilators. Differences in vasodilatory responses due to altered NO production, endothelial-dependent or -independent, can be distinguished by LDI following doses of Ach and SNP, respectively, and provide evidence of the receptor sites on which oat polyphenols act.

Results for LDI cannot be considered conclusive, since this is a secondary outcome of the study and the results for FMD, the primary outcome, were not significant; the study design only ensured sufficient power to reliably analyse the primary outcome. iAUC of endothelium-independent vasodilation, facilitated by SNP, when analysed in a linear mixed model, with *post hoc* Tukey's comparison (Table 3.3) showed a putatively highly significant (P = 0.0074) interaction between treatment × time, with a peak in vasodilation at 2 h in the oat intervention group (709.43 compared to 502.88 PU/h<sup>-1</sup> in the control) (Figure 3.4(B)) but was not significant for AUC. In contrast, analysis of endothelium-dependent vasodilation, with Ach as the vasodilator, was non-significant for the same interaction using both AUC and iAUC (P = 0.0777 and P = 0.0679 respectively) (Table 3.3, Figures 3.4 (A) and 3.5 (A)). There is also an indication from iAUC that acute consumption of avenanthramide and phenolic oats may lead to an improvement in endothelium-dependent vasodilation over time (P < 0.0001), but no other endothelial dependent vasodilation results reflected this finding nor were any significant for phenolic oat interventions only.

Graphic results, Figures 3.4 and 3.5, showed that for the control group the profiles are similar for endothelium-dependent and -independent vasodilatory changes using both iAUC, and AUC. The pattern is, however variable in the oat intervention group, which shows comparable profiles, a rise and then gradual decline in vasodilation, for endothelium-dependent vasodilation using AUC and iAUC. A different profile emerged in endothelium-independent vasodilation, when the initial rise followed by decline in vasodilation was followed by a final recovery towards the baseline levels in both cases, suggesting that the effects of polyphenol treatment on endothelium-independent vasodilation may have a short duration.

Our results indicate, therefore, that maintaining local levels of NO as a mechanism by which phenolicrich foods may reduce the risk of endothelial dysfunction and hence, atherosclerosis, merits further investigation.



Figure 3.4 Effects of oat treatments on: (A) endothelium-dependent vasodilation (Ach) and (B) endothelium-independent vasodilation (SNP), expressed as iAUC.

Effects of phenolic-rich, wholegrain oat consumption, compared to a control over 24 h in pre- or stage 1 hypertensive men, represented by incremental area under the curve (iAUC) (perfusion units per hour, PU/h-1), on: (A) endothelium-dependent vasodilation (Ach) and (B) endothelium-independent vasodilation (SNP). Mean measurements are shown from Table 3.3 at baseline (B) and 2, 4, 6 and 24 h post intake are shown; vertical bars – standard error. Significant differences are highlighted - \*\*. A mixed model analysis, n = 16, followed by Tukey post hoc test (P > 0.05).





Effects of phenolic-rich, wholegrain oat consumption, compared to a control over 24 h in pre- or stage 1 hypertensive men, expressed as area under the curve (AUC) (perfusion units per hour,  $PU/h^{-1}$ ), on: (A) endothelium-dependent vasodilation (Ach) and (B) endothelium-independent vasodilation (SNP). Mean measurements are shown from Table 3.3 at baseline (B) and 2, 4, 6 and 24 h post intake are shown; vertical bars – standard error. A mixed model analysis, n = 16 followed by *Tukey post hoc* test (P > 0.05).

#### **3.3.3** BLOOD PRESSURE, PULSE PRESSURE AND HEART RATE

Peripheral SBP, DBP, pulse pressure (PP) and heart rate (HR), all failed to show any significant differences between acute consumption of avenanthramide and phenolic acids-rich oats and the energy matched control treatments at any measured time-point (1, 2, 4, 6 and 24 h) (Figure 3.6), when analysed with post hoc Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Although SBP and HR showed highly significant differences (P = 0.0064 and P < 0.001 respectively) in mean measurements over the measurement period (Time, Table 3.3) compared to the baseline measurements and DBP also showed significant differences (P = 0.0207), these are secondary outcomes and therefore indicative rather than conclusive results. Of these secondary objectives, only pulse rate did not change significantly over time. Unlike the vasodilation results, these indicators did not show any significant differences in the interaction between treatment and time, further evidence of a low level of influence from the intervention.

Despite the lack of significance, the results do show similar change-profiles for SBP, DBP and HR (Figure 3.6), with all three indicators showing lower baseline measurements in the oat treatment group, followed by sharp increases 1 h into the measurement period, at which point they all slightly exceeded the control group (SBP 125.8 mm Hg compared to 124.93, DBP 72.75 mm Hg compared to 72.56 and HR 63.94 beats/min<sup>-1</sup> compared to 63.69), followed by a relatively steep drop, to below the control group levels by 2 h. From 4 – 24 h changes in both treatment and control are equivalent, with the oat treatment showing measured consistently lower than the control, graph profiles, however, differ slightly between the three indicators. The profile of changes in pulse pressure (Figure 3.6 (C)) is similar, differing in, however, the absence of the same sharp, control-exceeding peak at 2 h in the oat treatment group.



Figure 3.6 Effects of consuming phenolic-rich, wholegrain oats, on: (A) systolic blood pressure (SBP), (B) diastolic blood pressure (DBP), (C) Pulse pressure and (D) Heart rates

Effects of phenolic-rich, wholegrain oat consumption, compared to a control over 24 h in pre- or stage 1 hypertensive men, on:

(A) - systolic blood pressure (SBP); (B) - diastolic blood pressure (DBP); (C) - pulse pressure (PP) and (D) heart rate.

Mean measurements are shown from Table 3.3 at baseline (B) and 1, 2, 4, 6 and 24 h post intake; vertical bars – standard error. A mixed model analysis, n = 16, followed by Tukey *post hoc* test (P > 0.05)

# 3.3.4 ANGIOTENSIN CONVERTING ENZYME AND RENIN ENZYME INHIBITION

In a GLM then *post hoc* analysis (Tukey comparison) (Table 3.3), no significant differences were observed in ACE activity in blood serum, or renin levels in blood plasma, between the intervention groups measured, at any measured time-point compared with the baseline measurements, or in the interaction between them. The oat treatment and control groups did, however, show close to significant levels (P = 0.0711) in ACE levels, with greater inhibition following oat consumption possibly suggesting a beneficial effect from treatment according to this secondary measure.

In the oat treatment group, inhibition of renin level and ACE activity were highest after 2 h (Figure 3.7 (A) and (C)), whereas ACE levels were lowest after 6 h (Figure 3.7 (B)). Levels were 805.19 pg/ mL<sup>-1</sup>, 28.32 U and 134.07 ng/mL<sup>-1</sup> respectively. In all cases there was a later recovery in enzyme levels, suggesting the effects of the treatments were wearing off, which for renin and ACE levels, eventually (by 24 h) exceeded the baseline measurements. The control groups also showed similar initial enzyme inhibition followed by recovery, with greatest inhibition at 2 h for renin, compared to 6 h for ACE in both the levels and activity measurements. Although no results were statistically significant, there are indications from our results that the consumption of the treatment, irrespective of the nutritional differences between the oats and the control, within the constraints of this study, may lead to an initial, RAAS enzyme inhibition, followed by recovery to, or in excess of, the baseline measurements.



# Figure 3.7 Effects of consuming phenolic-rich, wholegrain oats on: (A) Renin concentration; (B) ACE levels and (C) ACE activity

Effects of phenolic-rich, wholegrain oat consumption, compared to a control over 24 h in pre- or stage 1 hypertensive men, on: (A) Renin levels ( $pg/ml^{-1}$ ) in plasma; (B) ACE level ( $ng/ml^{-1}$ ) and (C) ACE activity (U) in serum. Mean measurements are shown from Table 3.3 at baseline (B) and 2, 6 and 24 h post intake - solid bars; thin bars - standard error. GLM, n=16, followed by Tukey *post hoc* test (P > 0.05).

### 3.4 DISCUSSION

This study aimed to test the hypothesis that a single acute intake of oats would reduce BP and improve endothelial function, in men with pre- or stage 1 hypertension, and that these physiological changes would be measurable in effects on the RAAS, specifically ACE and renin inhibition. Our data indicate that at the intake amount used there was no significant change in mean % FMD or BP following oat consumption, relative to a control, but an increase in endothelium-independent vasodilation at early time points, as assessed by LDI with iontophoresis, was induced. Although there are no similar clinical trials with oats to directly compare with our data, i.e. ones that isolate the impact of the phenolic acids from other potential bioactives in oats, clinical vascular data exist for the impact of other phenoliccontaining foods and beverages [335, 575-579]. For example, 400 mg pure chlorogenic acid intake has been shown to decrease systolic and DBP, although did not influence nitric oxide status or endothelial function acutely [255]. Our vasodilation results, while not showing significant responses to the intervention, agree broadly with a randomised, placebo-controlled trial indicating that the moderate intake of champagne acutely improves endothelium-independent vasodilation at 4 and 8 h post consumption [343], particularly with respect to endothelium-independent blood flow 2 h following intake. Coffee intake has also been shown to improve endothelium-dependent brachial artery (FMD) at 1 and 5 h following intake in acute trials, which was paralleled by the appearance of hydroxycinnamate such as chlorogenic acid metabolites in plasma [577]. The impact of oat polyphenol intake on the vascular system, however, appears to be more subtle that observed for the coffee study, which administered higher doses of phenolic acids compared to our oat intervention (310 mg compared to 50 mg for oat). This may be why our results failed to induce significant responses. Similarly, the relatively low oat intake in our study failed to induce the magnitude or statistical reliability of FMD increase and BP reductions observed for flavonoid-containing interventions such as cocoa [498, 581], berry [49, 335, 580] and green or black tea [351, 584].

Our study is broadly in agreement with other clinical trials which suggest the consumption of avenanthramide-rich oats may mediate vasodilation [487, 601], although our data show weaker associations with vascular outcomes and were not reliably statistically significant. This is likely due to differences in study design, particularly that of the intake dose used in the various trials and the small sample size. For example, oat bread intake has been shown to not affect FMD over a 4 week period, although it did induce a significant increase in baseline brachial artery diameters and post-ischemia diameters [602], changes that were only observable as trends in our results. Notably, this study used an intake of 30 g  $\beta$ -glucan per day, compared to our 5.6 mg, further evidence that our interventions were not sufficient to elicit significant results. Other studies have also, however, failed to demonstrate chronic increases in FMD, with whole grain oat or wheat cereals having no effect on brachial artery vasodilatation when consumed with a high fat diet. Oat, attenuated reduction of augmentation index

(AIx), one form of pulse wave analysis (PWA) following the high fat meal [487, 615], although similarly to n-3 PUFAs, oat consumption may attenuate declines in brachial artery flow response induced by a high fat intake [603]. In addition, consumption of green oat extracts at 1500 mg, is reported to improved vasodilator function of systemic and cerebral arteries [53]. Our results are also similar to a study of blueberry ingestion which, although dosing with 300 mg, an intake much higher than ours, nevertheless concluded no significant differences took place in peripheral arterial function [616].

Our observations regarding a lack of influence of oat phenolic intake on BP were reflected in a lack of influence on the RAAS, however, our results were non-significant and, therefore, only indicative. RAAS inhibition is thought to be a physiological target for the prevention of high BP and thus CVD [552, 617], for example, in silico hydrolysates of oats and their in vitro bioassay showed that oat protein isolates did aid in renin and ACE inhibition [374, 618]. However, these studies used whole grain oats and do not directly compare the effects associated with avenanthramide and phenolic acid metabolites; the in vitro responses to oat protein and inhibition of ACE enzymes, renin, and dipeptidyl peptidase-IV they found were, however, significant. It is easier to measure enzyme inhibition in vitro rather than in vivo, as many different variables, factors and environmental conditions can be controlled in vitro. Such variables include bioactive peptide degradation by gastrointestinal digestion, the maintenance of bioavailability for exerting a favourable physiological effect, predicted solubility, toxicity and allergenicity. Furthermore, only blood enzyme activity can be measured in vivo and not cellular enzyme activity, which limits our ability, currently, to detect potential cellular level benefits of avenanthramides. Another study of flavonoids, notably in tea, found significant inhibition of ACE activity which led to improvements in vascular health [351]. In addition, the plant polyphenol quercetin was found to be associated with a reduction in BP, however, the reduction was noted independently of changes in ACE activity [298]. Our study also found no significant change in ACE activity, however, our results differ from these findings with quercetin, in that our results appeared, within their limitations, to show no BP reduction. While several studies have indicated an inverse relationship between dietary fibre/whole grain content and hypertension, these trials utilised high dietary intake of fibre. However, the reported antihypertensive effects from whole oats or  $\beta$ -glucan ingested in high concentrations or volumes are not consistent, since in another study they were found to have conspicuously antihypertensive effects in individuals with two risk factors obesity and hypertension [619].

Acute BP reductions after polyphenol intake are widely recognised, however, some acute trials have reported no significant effects of their intake on BP. Our data ostensibly agree with studies of flavonoid-rich acai and cranberry, which both also failed to measure significant effects on blood pressure [335, 592]. A systematic review of the effects of oat consumption on BP, found significant reductions were only identified in 4 of the 20 studies considered [40]. Other studies have indicated potential decreases

in cardiovascular risk to individuals consuming whole grain oats through reduced LDL cholesterol while also still failing to detect significant reductions in blood pressure [620-622]. In a randomised, controlled trial involving 16 participants in the age group 51–69 y who were given orange juice, it was found that in spite of high serum levels of plasma flavanones and phenolics (15.20  $\pm$  2.15 µmol/L<sup>-1</sup>) no changes in cardiac risk biomarkers including BP could be detected [623].

Therefore, using a robust design, our study revealed that a single moderate intake of avenanthramide and phenolic acid enriched oats may influence mean % FMD beneficially, because there was a medically relevant magnitude of effect relative to the control, although these changes failed to achieve statistical significance. There was no significant change in mean BP following the oat intervention, relative to the control, but an increase in endothelium-independent vasodilation, again not detected as significant in the models we used, was induced at early time points.

The use of an all-male sample reduces the likelihood of confounding factors between volunteers in this acute trial and also makes the results more comparable to other studies. However, the short-term intervention and the lack of investigation of differences in rates of metabolism and variations in responses to measurements and sample collections between volunteers contributed to the limitations of the trial outcomes. Furthermore, the trial was uninformative with respect to the long-term effects that oats consumption might have on CVD biomarkers, and our knowledge, considering also the limited availability of published studies, remains, therefore, incomplete. A further study was, therefore, planned and conducted with a chronic design and a larger sample size, to analyse the long-term effect of oats consumption in a similar at-risk group for cardiovascular disease, which is described in Chapter 4.

# Chapter: 4 Investigation of the Vascular Effects of Chronic Oat Intake on Adults with Pre- and Stage 1 Hypertension

## 4.1 INTRODUCTION

This chapter considers the vasoactive potential of a chronic intake of medium and high dosage avenanthramide and phenolic acid containing oats on pre- and stage 1 hypertensive adults. Of the numerous published epidemiological and human intervention studies concerning the cardiovascular effects of oats, the overwhelming focus to date has been on the potential benefits of increased whole grain or whole grain fibre consumption and on diets or interventions incorporating  $\beta$ -glucan. This approach has frequently failed to account for the roles and contributions of the various oat constituents known to be bioactive, which include, vitamins and minerals, polyphenols in general and specifically small phenolic compounds. Since chronic intervention studies have usually patently failed to differentiate the specific effects of the polyphenolic content from other bioactive constituents, despite the amassed body of evidence from such studies, our understanding of both the most efficacious dietary ingredients and by implication the pathways of their action, is far from complete. Most studies investigate chronic interventions, emphasizing a dietary rather than medicinal view of the potential benefits of polyphenols, and we describe some characteristic and pertinent chronic intervention studies below. We also describe the scope of phenolic compounds which are contained in oats. There is some limited in vitro confirmation that avenanthramides [436] and phenolic acids (PA) [593] may be capable of influencing CVD and related risk factors and by investigating these, the most prominent phenolic components of oats, at different but dietary realistic intervention levels, in a chronic intervention on subjects with physiological characteristics that are recognised to be likely to be susceptible to such intervention, i.e. pre-hypertensive adults, this set of assays will make a substantial and novel contribution to filling some important gaps in our understanding

Diet is known to be capable of influencing an individual's blood pressure and represents one of the most important modifiable risk factors. For example, epidemiological studies have shown that CVD risk is elevated by the intake of high levels of fat, particularly trans and saturated fat [39, 624-626], and high levels of dietary sodium intake [627-629]. Conversely, CVD risk factors such as hypertension have been shown to be ameliorated by high dietary intake of vegetables, fruits and dietary fibres [13, 36, 630, 631]. Whilst various macro- and micro-nutrient constituents of these foods may impact on CVD development and related risk factors, such as blood pressure [632], recently plant polyphenols including flavonoids, and phenolic acid, present at high concentrations in fruits, vegetables and whole grains have been shown to impact beneficially on blood pressure and endothelial function [342, 633, 634].

flavonoids have been shown to improve vascular function [73, 325, 635, 636] and successfully lower BP in mildly hypertensive or normal BP subjects [73, 637, 638]. Specifically, flavanol intake is well reported to decrease blood pressure in patients with hypertension [286], whereas the intake of the flavanone hesperidin decreases DBP in healthy overweight men [639]. Furthermore, polyphenol intake has also been observed to reduce low density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol levels, another well-established marker of CVD risk [640] and an improvement in the blood lipid profile in patients with hyperlipidaemia [641]. Coffee intake, which has similar small phenolics to those found in whole grain oats, has been shown to improve vascular function in healthy men [577, 586].

Whole grain oats are a rich source of phenolic acids, in particular ferulic acid p-coumaric acid, 4hydroxybenzoic acid, syringic acid and sinapic acid [595, 642], in addition to vitamins, minerals, phytosterols, unsaturated fatty acids and lignans [565, 643, 644]. A number of constituents have been suggested to contribute to the cardiovascular health benefits of oat intake, although the majority have been attributed to their fibre content [645-647]. Such a conclusion is reasonable in light of data indicating that intake of soluble fibre ( $\beta$ -glucan) from oats or oatmeal significantly decreases blood cholesterol levels and blood glucose levels [647-651].  $\beta$ -glucan is the major constituent of the dietary fibre (DF) fraction of oats, with lower amounts of arabinoxylan (AX) and only traces of other cell wall polysaccharides, such as cellulose and glucomannan [652]. Although β-glucan is the dominant DF component in whole grain, AX is of interest as it binds over half of the phenolic acids found in the grain [595]. The remainder are present (in soluble form) either as free acids or conjugates (such as stery) ferulates), along with other potential bioactive components such as avenanthramides (Ncinnamoylanthranilate alkaloids), alkylresorcinols (phenolic lipids), sterols, tocopherols and tocotrienols tocols [595]. As in all cereals, these components are concentrated in the outer layers of the grain (aleurone, pericarp and testa, Figure 1.10) and hence are recovered in the "bran" fraction on milling. Thus the impact of whole grain intake on human cardiovascular health is highly likely to be made up of the combined effects of both fibre and phenolic acids found within the whole grain [645].

Several epidemiological studies have suggested that an increased intake of whole grain products is associated with a reduction in hypertension, type 2 diabetes, and chronic heart disease (CHD) [40, 653-655]. Oats in particular have been shown to have a positive impact on CVD health status, reducing low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, SBP and DBP and improving vasodilation and blood flow [53, 547]. It has also been speculated that their intake may reduce the necessity for anti-hypertensive drugs [650]. Whole grain wheat and oat intervention for 12 weeks significantly reduced SBP and pulse pressure (6 and 3 mm Hg respectively), when compared with refined cereal intake [597]. The intake of oats has been inversely associated with coronary heart disease, CVD and stroke by 21, 16 and 11 %, respectively [654, 656]. Increases in % FMD by 1.80 ± 0.50% have been reported in a trial using wild green oat

extract, which contains high levels of phenolic acids and other potential bioactive substances such as saponins, vitexins and isovitexin [53]. Whole grain has been shown to induce significant reductions in both SBP and DBP, in slightly hypercholesterolemic volunteers [657] and hypercholesterolemic men [658], using intervention levels and chronic trial periods similar to those used in this trial. Whole grain oats, in studies of mildly hypertensive subjects found a significant 6 mm Hg reduction in SBP after a 6-week intervention [601] and of 7.5 mm Hg SBP and 5.5 DBP [598, 659].

The RAAS is an important system controlling BP homeostasis, and cardiovascular and renal function in humans and its critical role in probably all amelioration of CVD has been increasingly recognised in recent years [660]. While clinical trials using oats show mixed results with respect to RAAS effects, many *in vitro* studies show strong inhibitory effects of oat polyphenols on RAAS, particularly ACE inhibition and/or renin expression [374, 661]. Wheat inhibited ACE activity *in vitro* [662] and has been shown to strongly inhibit ACE levels in blood plasma [663]. Largescale studies have shown that increased urinary sodium and potassium excretion, as proxies for dietary intake, are associated with CVD and other health risks [664, 665], a 12 week study of the effects of an oat diet on 24h BP in hypertensive men found that excretions remained unchanged following intervention [666]. However, a 5 week whole-grain diet study which reduced SBP and DBP reported no effects on in urinary excretions of minerals related to BP [657]. A study using barley, showed higher decreases in urinary salt excretions compared to different whole grains in hyperlipidaemic subjects [658].

However, studies have not consistently found improvements in cardiovascular health indicators. A meta-review of oat-based chronic studies indicated that no significant changes in a range of CVD risk markers [40] was a common finding. In a study of oat and wheat based whole grain interventions no changes in FMD were found in hypercholesterolemic patients [667]. A larger study of 315 overweight individuals given whole grain oats for four months at different dosages did report small improvements in endothelial function but did not find any significant differences between interventions [668]. A whole grain intervention study found differences in both dependent and independent vasodilation, but none that was significant [669]. It has also been found that ambulatory 24-h BP following oat intake for 12 weeks was not significantly changed in a study of hypertensive men [666]. Other studies which have concluded that whole grain diet led to no significant difference in plasma lipid profiles [668, 670] and in a review of 21 randomised controlled trials where the impacts of oat intake were being studied, only 13 studies showed significant reduction in total cholesterol (TC) and only 14 significant reductions in LDL [656].

This study aims to assess the chronic effects (i.e. after 4 weeks) of consuming whole grain oats, with particular consideration for the levels of polyphenols (avenanthramide and phenolic acids) they contain, on microvascular function and 24 h blood pressure. It also examines a potential mechanism for

observed physiological changes by measuring the level and activity of angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) and renin.

## 4.2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### 4.2.1 SELECTION OF SUBJECTS

Potential volunteers were recruited using the Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition database and local advertisements, local media, social media websites, through poster/leaflet advertisements in local Hospitals and through mail out via local GP practices for the latter two recruitment strategies, NHS ethical approval was done. Interested volunteers were given a participant information sheet (Appendix 6) detailing the background of the study and what was expected of them. Volunteers still interested in participation were asked to fill in a health and lifestyle questionnaire (Appendix 7) to verify that they met the broad inclusion/exclusion criteria, for example age, dietary allergies and medication intake, as outlined below.

Volunteers eligible for inclusion, measured as described below, comprised: males, females taking the contraceptive pill or on hormone replacement therapy (HRT), 25 to 75 years old, above average blood pressure (i.e. systolic 120-159 mmHg and diastolic 75-99 mmHg). Exclusion Criteria were: abnormal biochemical/haematological results assessed at the health screening, hypertension (i.e. SBP/DBP  $\geq$  160/100 mm Hg), BMI >35, current smoker or ex-smoker ceasing <3 months ago, past or existing medical history of vascular disease, diabetes, hepatic, renal, haematological, neurological, thyroidal disease or cancer, prescribed or taking lipid lowering, anti-hypertensive, vasoactive (e.g. Viagra), anti-inflammatory, antibiotic or antidepressant medication, allergies to whole grains, dairy and lactose intolerance, parallel participation in another research project, having the flu vaccination or antibiotics within 3 months of trial start, chronic constipation, diarrhoea or other chronic gastrointestinal complaint (e.g. irritable bowel syndrome), on a weight reduction regime or taking food, probiotic or prebiotic supplements or laxatives within 3 months of the trial start, performing high levels of physical activity (i.e.  $\geq$  150min aerobic exercise/week), consumption of alcohol  $\geq$  21 units/week for men and  $\geq$  15 units/week for women, females who were breast-feeding, or who may be pregnant, lactating or, if of reproductive age, are not using a reliable form of contraception (including abstinence).

Volunteers meeting the broad criteria attended a short screening visit, after having fasted overnight (i.e. no intake of food or drink for 10h before the visit, except water), where the study was explained in detail, including gastrointestinal questionnaires, 3-day food diaries, the intake of the study intervention materials, the collection of urine sample and dietary & exercise restrictions. A demonstration of the vascular measurements was given. Volunteers were encouraged to ask any remaining questions. Anthropometric measures, blood pressure measurements and 10 ml of blood were collected. Blood

samples were analysed for biochemical and haematological markers partly on site at the University of Reading and partly by the pathology department of the Royal Berkshire Hospital (Reading, UK). Based on screening results, as detailed below, 28 healthy volunteers were invited to participate in the study. All volunteers provided written, informed consent before commencing the study (Appendix 8), while all further aspects of the study were discussed in detail.

# 4.2.2 STUDY DESIGN

The study was approved by the University of Reading Research Ethics Committee as NCT02847312 and registered at www.clinicaltrials.gov ID 211656 and REC reference 16/LO/1542. The proposed study was a single-centre, three-arm, double-blinded, placebo-controlled randomised crossover intervention. Volunteers were required to attend the Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition on six occasions (Figure 4.1) during which they either consumed different doses of the intervention foods, or an energy matched control intervention, selected in random order.

The purpose of the trial was to test the chronic effects (i.e. after 4 weeks) on cardiovascular risk markers and gut health of consuming a daily  $\beta$ -glucan matched breakfast, and afternoon snack that were moderate or high in oat avenanthramide and phenolic acids (hereafter "phenolic oats"). The study intervention materials and quantities used were as detailed in Table 4.1, which includes their nutritional content. Each intervention period was separated by a washout of 4 weeks.

The primary expected outcome was flow-mediated dilatation of the brachial artery (FMD). Secondary outcome measures were microvascular endothelial function (measured by Laser Doppler Iontophoresis), activity and level of the renin angiotensin system, 3-day food diaries and 24 h minerals excretions, which all markers associated with CVD risk.



<sup>\*</sup> Daily intake of high or moderate dose of avenanthramides and phenolic acids from oats or control (given in random order during the 3 separate intervention periods)

# Figure 4.1 Study design

4-week intervention periods and attended 6 study visits at the Nutrition Unit (visits 1, 3, 5 on the first day of each period; visits 2, 4, 6 on the last day of each period).

Food and Content	Control			Moderate Phen	olic Oats Interver	ntion	High Phenolic Oats Intervention		
(g)	Breakfast	Afternoon Snack	Daily Total	Breakfast	Afternoon Snack	Daily Total	Breakfast	Afternoon Snack	Daily Total
Food									
Oatmeal	-	-	-	-	-	-	66.8	-	66.8
Oatwell	-	-	-	17.0	-	17.0	-	-	-
Oat Cake	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	60.0	60.0
Cream of Rice	68.8	-	68.8	63.3	-	63.3	-	-	-
Cream Cracker	-	60.0	60.0	-	60.0	60.0	-	-	-
	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Nutritional Content									
Energy (kcal)	274.0	226.2	500.2	274.0	226.2	500.2	239.1	261.0	500.1
Cellulose	8.1	0	8.1	0	0	0	0	0	0
Pectin	4.8	0	4.8	0	0	0	0	0	0
Total polyphenols	7.4	6.4	13.8	32.0	6.4	38.9	-	-	68.1
Phenolic acid (mg)	7.4	6.4	13.8	32.0	6.4	38.4	25.5	23.3	48.8
Avenanthramide (mg)	0	0	0	0.5	0	0.5	13.6	5.7	19.3
β-glucan	0	0	0	4.8	0	4.8	2.7	2.2	4.9
Carbohydrate	55.04	45.2	101	52.7	45.2	97.9	37.8	30.8	68.7
Total Fibre	12.9	2.6	15.5	8.8	2.6	11.4	6.8	8.7	15.5
Soluble fibre	4.8	0	4.8	4.8	0	4.8	4.8	0	4.8
Insoluble fibre	8.1	2.6	10.7	4.0	2.6	6.6	10.7	0	10.7
Protein	4.7	6.5	11.2	8.2	6.5	14.7	9.5	7.3	16.9
Total Fat	-	1.6	1.6	0.7	1.6	2.3	4.0	10.1	14.1
Saturated Fat	0	1	1.0	0.1	1	1.1	0.6	1.14	1.8
MUFA	0	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.6	1.4	6.6	8.0
PUFA	0	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.6	1.8	1.8	3.6
Sodium	0	1.0	1.0	0	1	1.0	0	0.4	0.4

#### Table 4.1 Nutritional content and quantities of Intervention Food Materials

Quantities of food stuffs including the intervention materials, phenolic acid\*, avenanthramide\* and β-glucan, and their nutritional content are shown in grams (g) unless specified as mg or kcal; for the control, moderate and high phenolic oats interventions.

Macronutrients, total fibre and sodium contents quantified by Campden BRI group, UK. Phenolic acid, avenanthramide, β-glucan and energy contents of the food materials are estimates from the literature and food labels. Figures are rounded to one decimal place.

MUFA - monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA - polyunsaturated fatty acids.

\* Highlighted blue.

#### 4.2.3 STUDY VISITS

For each study visit volunteers were requested to arrive at the Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition in the morning. Volunteers were asked, in preparation for the visit, to fast overnight (i.e. no intake of food or drink for 10h before the visit, except water), maintain complete dietary record sheets and to restrict their diet as detailed in Appendix 9, which included refraining from consuming (poly) phenol-rich foods, moderating consumption to  $\leq$  21 units of alcohol/week and to refrain in exercise 48h prior to the study visits. On arrival volunteers completed a researcher-administered questionnaire to monitor any potential adverse events and changes in medication, and to collect a full dietary record from dietary record sheets and to verify adherence to the lifestyle restrictions.

Anthropometrical measures were performed (height, weight and % body fat composition (TANITA, UK, Ltd.)), following which the volunteers rested for 20 minutes in a supine position in a temperature-controlled (22 ± 1 C), light-dimmed room and oscillometric blood pressure, FMD, vascular reactivity (LDI) and pulse wave analysis measurements was performed, following standard procedures. Blood was collected and immediately processed, also following standardised procedures. At the end of the visit, volunteers were asked to wear an ambulatory blood pressure monitor for 24h, to collect their urine for 24h and to avoid intake of (poly) phenols, caffeine, alcohol and nitrite/nitrate (Figure 4.2).

On visits 1, 3 and 5, the intervention products for the 4-week intervention period, together with the intake instructions, were provided. A polyphenol-low breakfast (white bread toast, butter, cheese, and water) was provided while the volunteers were in the Hugh Sinclair Unit. During a 2 week run-in period and for the duration of the study, volunteers were asked to completely refrain from eating oats (apart from the study interventions), taking dietary, probiotic or prebiotic supplements, to drink no more than 400 ml/d of tea or polyphenol-low coffee (i.e. a highly roasted polyphenol-degraded commercial instant coffee provided by the researchers) but otherwise to maintain their habitual dietary and activity patterns, and to keep their body weight within 1 kg of their starting weight.

Compliant intake of the intervention materials was monitored using volunteer-maintained intake logs and returned, empty material sachets. Furthermore, urinary avenanthramide excretion was measured as a marker of oat intake.



\*\* Restrictions include: no strenuous exercise and no intake of a range of foods (see list on last page). On the evening before the visit, we will ask you to consume a provided dinner and then fast  $\geq$ 12h.

### Figure 4.2 Volunteer's schedule for each visit

# 4.2.4 RANDOMISATION AND MASKING

To minimise bias both researchers and subjects were 'blinded' to the food (intervention) product. Scientists not involved in the study generated random number sequences, and managed volunteer allocation and intervention meal administration. Volunteers were randomly allocated to the intervention sequence (i.e. experimental intervention followed by control intervention or vice versa).

The breakfast products were packaged and labelled by the company in individually weighed sachets that displayed the product ID, ingredient statement, PEP protocol number, repacked date, expiration date, researcher name, telephone number and investigational use statement. Study Product Intake Logs were completed upon the dispensation of the study product to each subject.

# 4.2.5 ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES

#### a) Anthropometric measurement

Measurements were taken as described in Chapter 3, Section 3.2.7.

# b) 24 h Blood Pressure Measurement

Ambulatory Blood Pressure monitoring (ABPM) was undertaken using a non-invasive ABP monitor (TM-2430, Scan Med, A&D Medical, UK) linked to a computer, and configured using

Doctor Pro TM-2430-13 (version 2.40, A&D Company limited, Japan) software. Blood pressure examinations were undertaken at the same time following vascular measurements and breakfast using ABPM, over a 24 h period following visits to the clinic unit [671]. The monitor was operated according to the guidelines of the British Hypertension Society, to record BP and heart rate at 30 minutes intervals from 07:00 h to 21:59 h and at 60 minute intervals from 22:00 h to 6:59 h, the two initial measurements were discarded [672]. Participants noted activities and sleep hours throughout the recording period in a diary provided for the purpose (Appendix 10).

ABPM is an important technique to measure blood pressure levels over a period of time, which is used to avoid white coat responses in some individuals and to accurately diagnose hypertension [673] and is considered a suitable method of measurement and more accurate than measures used for diagnostic classification [112]. This system's accuracy has been confirmed across the entire range of blood pressure levels and ages, and its efficiency does not fluctuate with gender [674]. ABPM is a non-invasive measurement achieved through an oscillometric process in which external cuff pressure is increased to the point of occluding the brachial artery in the arm. Once the pressure in the cuff is higher than the blood pressure inside the artery, the artery collapses and as the cuff pressure is decreased to below SBP, blood starts to fluctuate through the arterial wall which expands with every pulse. Pressure measured in the cuff at the time the blood first passes through the occluded artery is an estimate of systolic pressure, whereas the pressure when blood first starts to flow continuously is an estimate of diastolic pressure [112]

- c) Flow-mediated dilatation (FMD)
- d) Laser Doppler Iontophoresis (LDI)

Measurements were undertaken as described in Chapter 3, Section 3.2.7 for FMD and LDI.

#### 4.2.6 DIET DIARY ANALYSIS

A diet diary is a tool to identify foods, quantify the portion size and determine the frequency of consumption in volunteers' daily eating patterns over a given period. In the three days before each pre-intervention visit (1, 3 and 5), volunteers recorded all the food and drinks they consumed for four consecutive days, one during the weekend and the other three during the week. Records were made on the same days of the week for each diet diary. Data for each diary was analysed using the Dietplan (Version 7) software package, using the McCance, Widdowson and ID2 databases, which contain an extensive list of nutritional information for a

variety of foods available in the UK. The nutrients compared were: saturated; Polyunsaturated and monounsaturated fat; carbohydrate include fibre; protein and sodium intake.

# 4.2.6.1 BLOOD COLLECTION

Venous blood was collected at every assessment visit by an experienced, qualified researcher, 48 ml was taken per visit. Blood was kept in vacutainers with or without anticoagulants (sodium citrate, lithium heparin, EDTA), as suitable for subsequent analyses. No anticoagulants were used for serum isolation. Plasma EDTA (Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid) (Geriner BioOne Ltd) was kept in ice and then centrifuged at 4 °C and 2000 RCF for 10 minutes and within 60 minutes of blood collection. Serum vacutainers (rapid serum separator tubes) were kept at room temperature (RT) for 30 to 60 minutes to enable the blood to clot and then centrifuged at 4 °C and 2000 RCF for 10 minutes into pre-labelled microtubes and immediately stored at 80 °C until further analysis.

# 4.2.6.2 BIOCHEMICAL MEASURES

# a) Blood Lipids

Total cholesterol (TC), Triglycerides (TAG) and HDL cholesterol (HDL-C) were assessed at every visit. Quantification was undertaken with an automatic clinical chemistry analyser (ILAB 600, Instrumentation Laboratory, Warrington, UK), with the help of enzyme-based colorimetric specific kits and serum controls provided by Werfen Limited, UK. Each run included control samples, which contained high and low concentrations of each biochemical parameter, using serum 1 and serum 2 controls. LDL-C (Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol) was determined by means of the Friedewald formula, i.e. ((LDL-C = (TC –HDL-C) – (TAG)/2.2)). Quality control was assured by comparison with samples supplied for this purpose by manufacturer.

- b) ACE Activity
- c) ACE Concentration
- d) Renin Concentration

Measurements for B, C and D were undertaken as described in Chapter 3, Section 3.2.7.

# 4.2.6.3 URINARY MINERAL EXCRETION

After every visit, volunteers were requested to collect urine for 24 h. Urine volumes were recorded and 4 aliquots kept at -80 °C after centrifugation at 1700 g (3000 rpm) for 15 minutes at 4 °C. Mineral excretions were quantified using flame atomic absorption spectrometry as described below. The metal ions being investigated were measured by comparing their atomic spectroscopic signal with that of a measured solution of the same ion. Mineral element

excretions, including Na and K, were measured similarly. Standard flame atomic absorption spectrophotometry stock solutions of the diverse metal ions, at a concentration of 1000 mg/l (1000ppm), were obtained from (Cole-Parmer Staffordshire, UK) and used to prepare effective solutions by suitable dilutions: 1,.8,.6,.4,.2 and 0 ppm. Glassware was cleansed with Ultrapure de-ionized Milli-Q water prior to use, in order to avoid potential contamination. Measurements were conducted using an atomic absorption spectrometer (NovAA<sup>\*</sup> 350, Analytik Jena AG, Germany), with single and double beam optics and a fully automated 8-lamp turret, for high sample throughput, and equipped with an air-acetylene flame burner.

#### 4.2.6.4 SAMPLE SIZE AND STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The power calculation was made for the primary clinical outcome measure (FMD of the brachial artery) to determine the minimum number of participants required for the study. The minimal measurable, statistically significant improvement on FMD is an absolute change of between 1.5 to 2 %, considering a baseline vasodilatation of 6-7 % in healthy males. This has taken into account the statistical limitations related to our primary measure of vascular function. The sample size was calculated based on the variance of repeated measurement in the control group and on control data. Consequently, with a standard deviation within participants of 2.4 % (based on previous studies performed in our group), a significance level of  $P \le 0.05$  and a power of 80 %, 27 subjects were needed to determine a significant within-subject difference between interventions of at least 1.3 % of FMD. However, to provide power to use the secondary measures and achieve significant within-subject differences, we aimed for 30 participants to complete the trial. A total of 33 volunteers were, therefore, recruited to allow for a drop-out rate up to 10 %.

To identify differences in the study endpoints (i.e. markers of CVD risk, RAAS enzyme levels and activities and minerals excretions in biological samples) between the assessment time points and interventions, a repeated measures model was used with baseline values as a covariate while the variables of time, intervention and interaction between time and intervention used as the fixed effects. Where the repeated measures model showed significant differences, pairwise comparisons between the interventions and time points were performed using *post hoc* analysis (Tukey adjustment). Only effect was considered when significant level was at a probability of P value  $\leq$  0.05. All statistical analyses were carried out using the statistical package for social science (SPSS) version 24.

# 4.3 RESULTS

# 4.3.1 SUBJECT COHORT AND SELECTION

The procedures for selection and assessment of subjects who were both eligible and suitable to undertake the study, as described in Section 4.2.1, resulted in 87 volunteers of whom 28 completed the entire study. The process which led to this result, and the elimination of 59 suitable subjects following the initial assessment and recruitment procedure, is shown in Figure 4.3.



Figure 4.3 Flow diagram for the recruitments and retention of study volunteers

# 4.3.2 SUBJECT CHARACTERISTICS

Baseline physical characteristics and cardiovascular indicator measurements of the 28 prehypertensive or stage 1 hypertensive, mixed gender individuals who completed the study are shown in Table 4.2. Characteristics were measured following overnight fasting. The intervention and control food stuffs were well tolerated by all the volunteers and without any observed side effects.

Characteristic	Mean ± SEM	Range
Age (y)	49.6 ± 2.3	26 - 68
BMI (kg/m²)	26.7 ± 0.7	20.9 - 39.8
Systolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	129.7 ± 1.9	112-153
Diastolic blood pressure (mm Hg)	80.1 ± 1.2	65 - 96
Heart rate (bpm)	71.1 ± 2.3	55.0 - 107
Plasma glucose (mmol/L)	5.6 ± 0.1	3.9 - 7.7
Plasma total cholesterol (mmol/L)	5.3 ± 0.1	3.4 – 7.1
Haemoglobin (g/L)	145.5±2.1	126-177

Table 4.2 Measured and physical characteristics of overnight fasted studyparticipants at screening.BMI – Body Mass Index; n = 28

# 4.3.3 FLOW-MEDIATED DILATATION (FMD)

Effects on FMD due to the phenolic oats interventions is a primary expected outcome of this study. In the control, moderate- and high phenolic oats interventions, % FMD responses were improved from baseline measurements by increases of 0.43, 0.50 and 1.09 % respectively (Figure 4.4, calculated from Table 4.3) after 28-days of consumption; however, there was no significant difference between the three groups (P = 0.520). There was, however, a highly significant difference (P = 0.007) in % FMD, in all intervention groups combined, between the baseline and post-intervention times. The interaction between intervention × time was not significant (P = 0.812). Hence, it appears that any intervention, including the control which included low phenolic oats, but was energy and fibre balanced, leads to an improvement in vascular reactivity measured by % FMD over time, but that the level of the phenolic oat intervention, in these trial conditions, was not significant.





#### Figure 4.4 Changes from baseline in FMD at the end of the 4-week intervention period

High, Moderate and Control (low avenanthramide and phenolic acid) intervention groups. Thick bars – means; thin bars – SEMs; (n = 28).

Vascular	Control		Moderate Phenolic Oats Intervention		High Phenolic Oats Intervention		Probabilities (P)		
Reactivity	Baseline	Post	Baseline	Post	Baseline	Post	Interven-	Time	I × T
Measure (pu/h <sup>-1</sup> )							tion		
FMD (%)	5.698 ± 0.418	6.125 ± 0.482	5.647 ± 0.416	6.148 ± 0.412	5.763 ± 0.383	6.851 ± 0.471	0.520	0.007	0.812
LDI-Ach AUC	1188.65 ± 233.23	1156.49 ± 233.4	1312.84 ± 171.5	1290.9 ± 236	1569.64 ± 227.13	1716.3 ± 292.9	0.552	0.337	0.868
LDI-SNP AUC	1171.8 ± 200.77	1233.3 ± 150.7	1127.8 ± 127.3	1412.8 ± 256.8	1459.4 ± 241.6	2011.5 ± 386	0.221	0.037	0.363
LDI-Ach iAUC	320.7 ± 163.4	298.22 ± 137.6	378.12 ± 135.6	344.5 ± 207.2	611.3 ± 220.4	655.0 ± 207.7	0.467	0.249	0.798
LDI-SNP iAUC	407.22 ± 172.39	353.1 ± 114.4	255.6 ± 65.11	406.15 ± 161.2	492.0 ± 206.3	872.1 ± 286.6	0.271	0.038	0.682

#### Table 4.3 Vascular measurements pre- and post-intervention for Phenolic Oats interventions.

Vascular reactivity measured pre-intervention (Baseline) and week 4 post-intervention (Post), for the control, moderate and high phenolic oats interventions. Phenolic oats comprise avenanthramide and phenolic acid. A repeated measures model used for dose and time dependent differences between baseline and post-intervention measurements, for each intervention group. Significant results (P < 0.05) are highlighted pink. Pairwise comparisons between interventions and time points were performed using *post hoc* analysis (Tukey). All values are means ± SEMs, n = 28. pu/h<sup>-1</sup> – perfusion units per hour.

FMD – Flow-Mediated Dilation; LDI - Laser Doppler Iontophoresis; Ach – Acetylcholine; SNP - Sodium Nitroprusside.

#### 4.3.4 LASER DOPPLER IONTOPHORESIS (LDI)

Microvascular reactivity measured using Laser Doppler Iontophoresis (LDI) is a secondary expected outcome of this study, measured by looking at changes in endothelium-dependent (using acetylcholine (LDI-Ach)) and endothelium-independent (using Sodium Nitroprusside (LDI-SNP)) microvascular blood flow, in volunteers fasted overnight. However, regular intake of phenolic oats for a 28-day period led to no significant differences in any mean LDI measurements (Table 4.3 above), in comparison to the control group intake, nor was there any significant differences when intervention was combined with time from baseline to post-intervention (I × T, Table 4.3).

Considering changes between the baseline and post-intervention results for the three interventions combined (shown as Time in Table 4.3), no significant changes were detected by LDI in skin blood flow in response to endothelium-dependent microvascular reactivity using LDI-Ach, expressed as either area under curve (AUC) or incremental area under curve (iAUC) measures (P = 0.552 and P = 0.467 respectively) (Figure 4.5, Table 4.3). However, there were, small but measurable increases in both measures, for the high-dose intervention of 146.66 and 43.7, (all ±SEM, pu/h<sup>-1</sup>, calculated from Table 4.3); this result is indicative of a trend only, given the lack of significance. Similar analysis for endothelium-independent microvascular reactivity using LDI-SNP, showed a significant improvement over time, expressed as both AUC and iAUC (P = 0.037 and P = 0.038, respectively), between the baseline and post-intervention results, for all three interventions combined (Figure 4.6, Table 4.3), this result reflects the significant change in the primary outcome, % FMD, over time and therefore is likely to represent a medically relevant finding. Increases were found, albeit clearly non-significant and, therefore, also cautionary, in both measures (P = 0.221 and P = 0.271 respectively), for both the moderate- and high-dose interventions: moderate AUC/iAUC 285.0 and 552.1; high AUC/iAUC 150.55 and 380.1 pu/h<sup>-1</sup> (all ±SEM, calculated from Table 4.3).



# Figure 4.5 Changes from baseline in LDI-Ach AUC and iAUC at the end of the 4-week intervention period

Intervention groups: control (blue), moderate phenolic oats (pink) and high phenolic oats (green) interventions. Thick bars – means; thin bars – SEMs; (n = 28). Results were not significant (CI = 95%)



# Figure 4.6 Changes from baseline in LDI-SNP AUC and iAUC at the end of the 4-week intervention period

Intervention groups: control (blue), moderate phenolic oats (pink) and high phenolic oats (green) interventions. Thick bars – means; thin bars – SEMs; (n = 28). Results were not significant (CI = 95%)

#### 4.3.5 TWENTY-FOUR HOUR AMBULATORY BLOOD PRESSURE (ABPM)

The evaluation of 24 hour ABPM, full 24 hour SBP and full 24 hour DBP, analysed by a repeated measures model, showed no significant differences between the control, moderate and high phenolic oat interventions. Differences in the time between baseline and post-intervention measures and the interaction between intervention × time (Table 4.4, Figure 4.7) also showed no significant differences. However, analysis of just daytime measurements of both SBP and DBP showed a similar, significant reduction occurred between baseline and post-intervention measurements (P = 0.047 and P = 0.048 respectively), which is indicative only as this is a secondary outcome of the trial. There was no difference arising from the intervention dosage.

Consumption of high doses of avenanthramide and phenolic acid oats led to a possible fall in full 24hour SBP, by 1.16 mm Hg on average, whereas a moderate dose intervention and the control failed to lower SBP, all results were not significant so must be treated with caution. Night-time SBP reduced by 5.1 mm Hg from 115.68 mm Hg at baseline to 110.58 mm Hg after high phenolic oat intervention, compared to a reduction of only 0.52 mm Hg in the moderate intervention and no reduction in the control group. However, night-time SBP changes were also not statistically significant between interventions, time (baseline to post-intervention) or the interaction between them (P = 0.832, P = 0.250 and P = 0.488 respectively). A non-significant and, therefore, only suggested reduction by 2.26 mm Hg was also found in night-time DBP for the high avenanthramide and phenolic acid intervention group, between the baseline and post-intervention measurements, whereas the moderate and control groups showed smaller reductions, by only 1.06 and 0.98 mm Hg respectively (Table 4.4, Figure 4.7).

Blood Pressure	Control		Moderate Phenolic Oats Intervention		High Phenolic Oats Intervention		Probabilities (P)		
Measure	Baseline	Post	Baseline	Post	Baseline	Post	Intervent	Time	I × T
(mm Hg)							ion		
24 h SBP	125.77 ± 1.75	129.27 ± 2.36	126.19 ± 2.27	128.77 ± 2.75	127.39 ± 1.67	126.23 ± 1.53	0.848	0.228	0.116
Day SBP	129.68 ± 1.89	134.85 ± 2.37	129.54 ± 2.23	134.00 ± 3.04	131.73 ± 1.82	131.58 ± 1.95	0.807	0.047	0.234
Night SBP	113.20 ± 2.21	114.48 ± 2.34	114.17 ± 2.66	113.65 ± 2.41	115.68 ± 1.68	110.58 ± 2.05	0.832	0.250	0.488
24 h DBP	76.77 ± 1.24	77.88 ± 1.32	77.50 ± 1.29	79.12 ± 1.47	77.65 ± 0.94	78.38 ± 0.98	1.000	0.151	0.816
Day DBP	79.96 ± 1.10	81.46 ± 1.30	80.42 ± 1.38	83.19 ± 1.59	80.95 ± 0.95	81.92 ± 1.19	0.993	0.048	0.676
Night DBP	68.44 ± 1.65	67.46 ± 1.25	68.83 ± 1.59	67.77 ± 1.51	68.68 ± 1.12	66.42 ± 1.51	0.939	0.306	0.977

#### Table 4.4 Ambulatory Blood Pressure Measurements pre- and post-intervention for Phenolic Oats interventions.

Twenty-four-hour ambulatory blood pressure measured pre-intervention (Baseline) and week 4 post-intervention (Post), for the control, moderate and high phenolic oats interventions. Phenolic oats comprise avenanthramide and phenolic acid. A repeated measures model used for dose and time dependent differences between baseline and post-intervention measurements, for each intervention group. Significant results (P < 0.05) are highlighted pink. Pairwise comparisons between interventions and time points were performed using *post hoc* analysis (Tukey). All values are means ± SEMs, n = 28.

SBP – Systolic Blood Pressure; DBP – Diastolic Blood Pressure.

.



Figure 4.7. Changes in 24 hour, day-time and night-time systolic (A) and diastolic (B) ambulatory blood pressure (BP)

Measurements taken at the beginning and end of the 4-week intervention period for the control, moderate phenolic oats and high phenolic oats intervention groups. Phenolic oats comprise avenanthramide and phenolic acid. Thick bars – means; thin bars – SEMs; (n = 28).

#### 4.3.6 RAAS ENZYME LEVELS AND ACTIVITY

In a repeated measures GLM, no significant differences in ACE levels, ACE activity or plasma renin levels were observed between the control, moderate or high phenolic oats interventions. Differences between baseline and post 4-week intervention, and for the interaction between intervention × time were also non-significant (Table 4.5). Results suggest, albeit with weak statistical support, that renin and ACE levels dropped in the control, between baseline and post-intervention measurements, however, ACE activity rose slightly. The reverse occurred in the moderate intervention group, with only ACE activity dropping, by 0.19 ng/mL). The high phenolic oat intervention group followed the pattern of the control, with ACE levels and renin levels reduced by 0.37 and 28.03 ng/mL respectively, ACE activity also dropped in high phenolic oats by 2.4 U.

#### 4.3.7 LIPID PROFILE MEASURES

A repeated measures GLM showed no significant differences in any of the measured lipid indicators between the control, moderate or high phenolic oats interventions (Table 4.5). However, significant differences in the baseline and post-intervention (time) measurements were found in total (P = 0.033) and HDL (P = 0.01) cholesterol. Small, non-significant and therefore only indicative reductions were observed in lipid profiles. TC fell by 0.2 and 0.16 mmol/L in the moderate and high phenolic oat interventions between the baseline and post-intervention measurements, compared to a slight increase in the control group. LDL decreased by 0.07 and 0.26 mmol/L respectively, compared to 0.05 in the control. HDL also decreased by 0.14 and 0.04 mmol/L respectively, compared to 0.02 in the control. Triglycerides increased slightly, by 0.17 and 0.05 mmol/L respectively, compared to 0.06 in the control All figures calculated from Table 4.5. However, lipid measures are a secondary outcome and the trial was not tested for power beyond the primary outcome.

#### 4.3.8 MINERAL - SODIUM (NA) AND POTASSIUM (K) EXCRETION

The interaction (intervention × time, Table 4.5) between phenolic oat intervention and time between baseline and post-intervention measurements, was found to be significant (P = 0.04) in the measurement of Na (urinary salt, NaCl) excretion, but not K, but since this is a secondary trial outcome and intervention was non-significant for % FMD, therefore, as this is a possibly under-powered trial, the results may not be reliable. There were no observed significant differences between the control and the moderate or high phenolic oats groups. Nor were there significant differences between the baseline and post-intervention (time) measurements for these minerals. While the levels of Na and K excretion putatively fell in the high phenolic oats treatment group, the fall was smaller than the control group for Na (8.51 compared to 8.62 mmol/L), but larger in K (15.95 compared to 2.48 mmol/L). Both Na and K excretions also rose, putatively in the moderate phenolic oats intervention

group, 13.29 and 4.32 mmol/L respectively, however, the caveats with respect to reliance on secondary outcomes pertain.

Lipids, Minerals and RAAS Control		<b>Moderate Phenolic Oats Intervention</b>		<b>High Phenolic Oats Intervention</b>		Probabilities (P)			
Enzymes	Baseline	Post	Baseline	Post	Baseline	Post	Interven tion	Time	Ι×Τ
Total cholesterol (mmol/L)	5.20 ± 0.18	5.28 ± 0.17	5.37 ± 0.17	5.17 ± 0.19	5.24 ± 0.15	5.08 ± 0.17	0.887	0.033	0.442
LDL cholesterol (mmol/L)	3.15 ± 0.15	3.10 ± 0.19	2.97 ± 0.26	2.90 ± 0.22	3.18 ± 0.12	2.92 ± 0.18	0.681	0.319	0.789
HDL cholesterol (mmol/L)	1.51 ± 0.07	1.49 ± 0.07	1.63 ± 0.08	1.49 ± 0.07	1.54 ± 0.07	1.50 ± 0.07	0.786	0.010	0.650
Triglycerides (mmol/L)	1.19 ± 0.08	1.25 ± 0.12	1.03 ± 0.07	1.20 ± 0.10	1.16 ± 0.09	1.21 ± 0.10	0.773	0.129	0.817
Na excretions (mmol/L)	97.60 ± 9.36	88.98 ± 7.43	93.66 ± 6.90	106.95 ± 7.54	97.97 ± 6.53	89.46 ± 5.97	0.723	0.746	0.040
K excretions (mmol/L)	41.26 ± 5.61	38.78 ± 3.24	40.83 ± 3.45	45.15 ± 4.11	51.16 ± 14.47	35.21 ± 2.23	0.906	0.425	0.353
Renin level (ng/mL)	752.64 ± 81.40	710.27 ± 80.16	910.89 ± 140.29	917.96 ± 136.04	818.46 ± 132.88	790.43 ± 112.23	0.548	0.381	0.694
ACE level (ng/mL)	157.05 ± 8.98	152.20 ± 8.23	148.89 ± 8.23	151.23 ± 9.58	149.65 ± 9.14	149.28 ± 9.51	0.912	0.657	0.621
ACE activity (U)	37.01 ± 3.38	38.86 ± 3.60	38.64 ± 3.42	38.45 ± 2.95	39.31 ± 2.86	36.91 ± 3.26	0.990	0.871	0.514

#### Table 4.5 Fasting lipid profile, mineral excretions and RAAS enzymes Measurements pre- and post-intervention for Phenolic Oats interventions.

Fasting lipid profile, mineral excretion and RAAS enzymes measured pre-intervention (Baseline) and week 4 post-intervention (Post), for the control, moderate and high phenolic oats interventions. Phenolic oats comprise avenanthramide and phenolic acid. A repeated measures model used for dose and time dependent differences between baseline and post-intervention measurements, for each intervention group. Significant results (P < 0.05) are highlighted pink. Pairwise comparisons between interventions and time points were performed using *post hoc* analysis (Tukey). All values are means ± SEMs, n = 28.

LDL – low-density lipoprotein; HDL - high density lipoprotein; Na – Sodium; K – Potassium; ACE – Angiotensin Converting Enzyme.

# 4.3.9 NUTRIENT INTAKE SUMMARY

Although there were differences in the dietary intake of carbohydrate, fat and MUFA, there were no statistically significant differences observed between the groups for these nutrients (P > 0.05) (Table 4.6).

Nutrient (g)	Control Intervention	Moderate Phenolic Oats Intervention	High Phenolic Oats Intervention	Range	
Energy (kcal)	2338 ± 120	2328 ± 133	2456 ± 165	2195 - 2621	
Carbohydrate	311 ± 18	305 ± 19	287 ±16	271 - 329	
Fibre	33 ± 2	29 ± 2	33 ± 2	27 - 35	
Protein	95 ± 5	99 ± 6	107 ± 7	90 - 114	
Total Fat	75 ± 4	76 ± 6	92 ± 9	71 - 101	
Saturated Fat	28 ± 2	28 ± 3	31 ± 3	25 - 34	
MUFA	24 ± 2	24 ± 2	31 ± 3	22 - 33	
PUFA	10 ± 1	11 ± 1	14 ± 1	9 - 15	
Sodium	3.1 ±0.2	2.9 ± 0.3	3.4 ± 0.3	2.6 - 3.7	

#### Table 4.6 Daily intake - dietary comparison between intervention groups

Daily consumption of the principal dietary nutrients is shown for the control, moderate and high phenolic oats interventions. Phenolic oats comprise avenanthramide and phenolic acid. MUFA - monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA - polyunsaturated fatty acids. All values are means ± SEMs, n =

MUFA - monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA - polyunsaturated fatty acids. All values are means ± SEMs, n = 28.

# 4.4 DISCUSSION

Of the numerous published epidemiological and human intervention studies concerning the cardiovascular effects of oats, the overwhelming focus has been on the potential benefits of increased whole grain or whole grain fibre consumption, in particular  $\beta$ -glucan. In this study we have highlighted the vasoactive potential of the intake of medium and high phenolic acid containing oats in adults, over a chronic, 4-week intake period, relative to an iso-caloric control. Our results indicate that the consumption of oats at our highest dosage of phenolic acids (66.8 g of oatmeal and 60 g of oat cake; 48.8 mg phenolic acid and 19.3 mg avenanthramides) tended to improve 24 h systolic BP, day and night time BP and endothelial microvascular blood flow, relative to the control, although these effects did not achieve statistical significance and are of limited reliability as secondary outcomes, given the power calculation for this trial. Despite the lack of statistical significance, the magnitude of the mean reduction in BP is tentatively proposed as medically relevant (24-hour SBP reduced by 1.16 mm Hg on average, night-time SBP reduced by 5.1 mm Hg). In addition, the, also non-significant, enhancement in microvascular blood flow observed following the intake of the high phenolic oat intervention might manifest as maintenance of daytime BP, relative to the control and the lower phenolic oat intake groups, since daytime BP was observed to increase in these groups. FMD of the brachial artery and microvascular reactivity were not consistently improved by whole grain oat intake, which is consistent with a review study which reported that, of 25 whole grain oats studies, only three measured significant reductions in blood pressure [40]. Also, notably, a dose-dependent study in people with slightly elevated blood pressure, suggested that the intake of high flavonoid containing fruit and vegetables did not significantly influence endothelium-dependent or - independent blood flow [342]. Our data indicate, in general, that although there may be a tendency of high phenolic containing oat intake to improve a range of vascular markers, our population size is too small and our dosage may also have been too low to achieve statistical significance.

The relatively recent meta-review of oat-based chronic studies introduced above reported no significant changes in a wide range of CVD risk markers [40], in a large majority of the studies reviewed. We observed that % FMD, our primary outcome, increased significantly over the trial period, but while there were no significant differences between the intervention groups, baseline % FMD increased by 0.43, 0.50 and 1.09 % in response to control, moderate and high phenolic oats interventions, respectively. Oat and wheat based whole grain studies that have found similar lowlevel responses in FMD include at least one which also specifically targeted hypercholesterolemic patients [667]. Another, larger study of 315 overweight individuals given whole grain oats for four months at two dosages, also found, comparably to our results, just small improvements in endothelial function, between the start and end of the study and no significant differences between interventions [668]. However, significant increases in % FMD by 1.80 ± 0.50% have been reported following the consumption of a wild green oat extract (1500 mg/day), a grain derived extract containing much higher levels of phenolic acids and other potential bioactive substances such as saponins, vitexins and isovitexin [53]. FMD has also been measured in other studies of high-phenolic foods, for example a study using orange juice extract at 200 mg /day, one using both monomeric and oligomeric flavanols from grape seeds and one examining the effect of 100 mg /day of pure epicatechin and 160 mg /dayquercetin-3-glucoside [633, 675, 676]. These three studies all found small but non-significant improvements.

We measured higher endothelium-dependent reactivity following intake of the high and medium phenolic acid oats relative to the control intake, although these changes were secondary outcomes and not significant and, therefore, of indicative only. A whole grain intervention study found similar responses, with differences between dependent and independent vasodilation, not significant [669]. It is tentatively suggested that, despite individual measures of vascular markers being relatively variable in our trial population making statistical significance hard to achieve, the intake of oats with highest phenolic acid content tends to increase endothelium-independent microvascular blood flow and lower blood pressure most.

Our results showed a putative reduction in night-time SBP in the high phenolic oats intervention group of around 5 mm Hg, a decrease regarded as possibly medically relevant from a chronic intervention trial design, however by both the lack of statistical significance and the limitations of a secondary outcome in a trial design that may be under-powered. Notably, the high phenolic acid oats also attenuated a daytime increase in blood pressure observed in both the control and mediumphenolic acid groups. A maintenance of daily daytime blood pressure may signify lower vascular stress, in addition to the potential benefits of a reduction in night time BP [677-679]. Despite these potentially beneficial effects, we further emphasize that in the large part these data failed to achieve statistical significance and as such we are cautious with our conclusions relating to the vascular benefits of this dietary level of oat intake. Whole grain has been shown to induce significant reductions in both SBP and DBP, in slightly hypercholesterolemic volunteers [657] and hypercholesterolemic men [658], during intervention levels and periods similar to our trial. Whole grain oats, in a similar mildly hypertensive study groups to ours [601] found a significant 6 mm Hg reduction in SBP after a 6-week intervention, but, notably, the error in these results was ± 7 mm Hg. Significant reductions, after whole grain oat interventions, of 7.5 mm Hg SBP and 5.5 DBP have also been found [598, 659]. We note that previous clinical trials that have reported statistically significant benefits in vascular health markers, including BP, have predominantly used interventions containing much higher levels of phenolics than our 126.8 g whole grain oats, which contained only 68.1 mg combined phenolic acids and avenanthramides and was designed to represent a realistic dietary intake, achievable with commercially obtainable oats.

One study which presented results comparable to ours also found that ambulatory 24-h BP following oat intake, despite having a longer chronic intervention of 12 weeks, was not significantly changed; this study also pertained to hypertensive men [666]. However, most BP studies investigating whole grain can be regarded as being prone to inaccurate BP reporting, particularly where reliance has been on point-in-time measurements which may miss diurnal changes, and which are prone to "white coat" effect [40]. Several studies have instead, like ours, relied on ABPM, the now more generally accepted approach to measuring BP [40, 671, 680] as it avoids white coat hypertension and incorporates natural diurnal variation.

Another reason for the lack of significance in our results, and smaller effects compared to other studies, might be that phenolic acids, such as ferulic acid and its metabolites, may not be as biologically active as other polyphenols, such as flavonoids. The most convincing evidence so far for improvements in endothelial function from polyphenol consumption has been amassed from studies of foods rich in flavanols, for example cocoa [44] and tea [681-683]. A meta-analysis of 133 chronic cocoa/chocolate trials, reported improvements in FMD by 1.45 %, on average, at flavanol intake
levels of 100-200 mg/day [48]. Also, trials using chronic cocoa (containing epicatechin and catechin levels of 88 mg flavanols) interventions have reported significant improvements in % FMD responses, reductions in 24 h daytime and night-time blood pressure in hypertensive subjects [286]. Phenolic-rich olive oil intake improved endothelial function measured after four months [684]. Endothelium-dependent microvascular relaxation was also shown after 12 weeks in men who received high doses of flavonoids (15 mg/100g) [342]. Consumption of (97.8 mg phenolics) of hibiscus tea for 6 weeks lowered SBP and left DBP unaffected [685], the likely bioactives were gallic acid, delphinidin-3-sambubioside and cyanidin-3-sambubioside, again this was a much higher dose and slightly longer study than ours.

However, evidence of improved vascular function from phenolics in berries such as cranberry and blueberry is also both ambiguous and reliant on abnormally high phenolic dosages. No cumulative effect was found by [334] after chronic cranberry juice consumption by stable coronary artery disease (CAD) subjects at 835 mg/d total polyphenols (TPs) and 94 mg/d anthocyanins, either on FMD or on vascular function in general; while the same authors carried out an open-label pilot study which reported the opposite, with effects on FMD both substantive and favourable. Polyphenol-rich chokeberry juice consumed for a month was also shown to significantly reduce mean 24 h, day systolic and diastolic BP [686] while an acute study of overweight men showed a correlation between improved FMD and consumption of 694 mg/d TPs, including 493 mg anthocyanins from açaí berries [329]. Two blueberry drink studies [49], one investigating time-related effects varied the TP dosage 766 – 1791 mg and the other dose-dependent effects, TP dosage 319 - 1791 mg, found several CVD markers were unchanged with either time or dosage. However, they also showed that while FMD rose significantly at two time points after consumption, 1-2 and 6 h, in the intervention group given 766 mg TC, it was not significantly different in the higher 1278 and 1791 mg groups. In the dosage dependent study, FMD increased linearly up to the 766 mg intake, after which it plateaued and started to decrease slightly at higher doses. This seems to illustrate two points, firstly that while very high dosages may be needed to elicit significant effects on vascular function, there may be an upper threshold above which benefits cease to accrue, and the other that findings in this field are not consistent and, therefore, there are many outstanding questions to be resolved and our nonsignificant and low-effect results are not unexpected..

The RAAS is an important system controlling BP homeostasis, and cardiovascular and renal function humans and its critical role in probably all CVD has been increasingly recognised in recent years [660]. We found slight, non-significant, reductions of renin and ACE levels of 28.03 and 0.37 ng/mL respectively following high phenolic oat intake which should be treated with caution given the limitations of our trial detailed above. Our data are in putative agreement with previous trials with

blueberry which reported no significant changes in ACE activities over a 3 week period [299], and a trial with grape seed extract for two months which found no significant decreases in plasma renin activity [687]. Significant effects on the mean arterial pressure, SBP and DBP, have also been shown in response to pomegranate intake over a four week period, but serum ACE levels showed no correlation to BP reduction [688, 689]. Similarly, phenolic-rich olive oil has been shown to improve BP, in women, via a mechanism involving RAAS. The mechanism of action may have been through a decrease in serum Ox-LDL and plasma CRP which was measured in subjects after the intervention and hence suppression of the RAAS was likely, with hydroxytyrosol and its derivatives the most likely protagonists [294]. While clinical trials show mixed results with respect to RAAS effects, many in vitro studies show strong inhibitory effects of Oat polyphenols on RAAS, particularly ACE inhibition and/or renin expression [374, 661]. Wheat also inhibits ACE activity in vitro [662], and has been shown to strongly inhibit ACE levels in blood plasma [663]. Largescale studies have shown that increased urinary sodium and potassium excretion, as proxies for dietary intake, is associated with CVD and other health risks [664, 665]. However, we did not find any significant changes in sodium or potassium excretions between interventions. A 12 week study of the effects of an oat diet on 24h BP in hypertensive men found that 24 hour excretions remained unchanged after intervention [666] and a 5 week whole-grain diet study reduced SBP and DBP but found no differences in urinary excretions of minerals related to BP [657]. However, study of urinary salt excretions, has shown positive effects from a barley diet compared to different whole grain intake in hyperlipidaemic subjects [658].

We found no significant changes in blood lipid profile in any of the measures we used. Our results are consistent with some other studies which have concluded that whole grain diet led to no significant difference in plasma lipid profiles [668, 670], however, our power calculations were calculated based on FMD, the primary study outcome, rather than lipid markers and so our results may be due to lack of statistical power.

In conclusion, we highlight the vasoactive potential of moderate and high phenolic acid and avenanthramide-rich oat consumption in adults over after a 4-week intake period, relative to that of an iso-caloric control low in fibre and phenolics. Our data suggest that at normal dietary intake levels, oats may have a subtle, beneficial influence on the human vascular system, as we find some small improvements in CVD risk markers which were dependent on dosage of phenolic oats, Our observations regarding the small but discernible influence of phenolic oats intake on BP and on the RAAS are to an extent supported by findings reported in the literature, both in scale and in the markers effected. Our results are, however, subject to several caveats. The relatively short duration of the trial, along with the sample size, which was too small to have sufficient power to draw conclusions a cross all the markers tested, are likely the principal limitations. Thies *et al.* (2014),

considered the issue of power in statistical studies, of the 25 relevant studies reviewed, they report none had sufficient power "to rigorously evaluate the effect of oats or oat bran on this outcome" [40] and only five had samples of sufficient size (> 60 per group, assuming 10-20 % baseline variation in subjects, to give 90% experimental power to measure effects of 5-7 %). However, the inconclusiveness of our results is not uncommon amongst comparable studies. Another systematic review, of 21 randomised controlled trials, where the impacts of oat intake were being studied, found only 13 showed significant reduction in TC and only 14 significant reductions in LDL [656]. Lack of compliance with the intervention diet cannot be discounted as another potential factor influencing our lack of statistically relevant findings. We enforced strict controls over dietary intake of Oat but, as with the majority of dietary trials, relied on self-reporting of diet by individuals. Our dietary analysis of the study population indicated no significant differences in the dietary intake of carbohydrate and fat [690], fibre [691] and MUFA [31, 692], dietary components that could influence specific outcomes such as cholesterol and lipid profiles. We may require further study with considerably more participants, and for a longer intervention period, for the effects to become better resolved and statistically significant.

## Chapter: 5 General Discussion & Future Perspectives

## 5.1 STUDY OUTLINE

While there is a substantial body of evidence regarding the health benefits of dietary whole grains and of plant polyphenols, it is nevertheless both incomplete, and contradictory. Oats in particular, while frequently studied in a whole grain dietary context, have rarely been considered for the purveyors of a unique combination of polyphenols which in fact they are. Avenanthramides and phenolic acid, are the principal oat polyphenols, but there is very little published data specific to their efficacy. In the body of published data on polyphenol bioactivity across a range of common foodstuffs, the conclusions regarding the size and nature of their impacts on a wide range of cardiovascular risk markers are widely inconsistent, which may derive from methodological or biomedical causes, but whatever the cause, the picture remains very unclear. BP and a range of endothelial responses have been frequently assayed and are useful markers because they are both an easy demonstration of cardiovascular health and allow cross-study comparisons, since they are generally applicable and easy to measure. However, the impacts of polyphenols and in particular oat polyphenols on the RAAS, despite its well known prominence in proper cardiovascular function, are very much more poorly understood. We clearly do not know how effective oat polyphenols are at preventing CVD, at what dosages they may be effective and what their modes of operation are. This study executed a series of related in vitro and human intervention trials designed to provide new evidence to provide more certainty in relation to all of these gaps in our scientific knowledge.

## 5.2 IN VITRO ASSAYS – THE ROLE OF THE RAAS

Modulation of the RAAS, a critical regulator of BP and vascular function, is one of several proposed mechanisms for polyphenolic action, which may be affected by either inhibited renin expression or ACE activity or both [254, 297, 358, 362, 366, 369]. The RAAS plays a crucial role in controlling BP via production of a vasoconstrictor, Ang II, which has a role in regulating blood volume and vasodilation independently of NO [501, 502]. Renin is the rate limiting step in the RAAS, hence it is believed to be a good target for treatment of hypertension and cardiovascular disease [552]. Likewise, suppression of renin and ACE are two of the strategies used for lowering BP, maintaining electrolyte homeostasis, and for haemodynamics and blood volume status regulation [253, 504]. The aim of this study was to better comprehend the mechanism of action through which polyphenols achieve physiological improvements, by investigating if they influence the RAAS.

There are few published studies explaining the influence of polyphenols and their metabolites on enzymatic inhibition of the RAAS, especially ACE and renin. Consequently we do not fully understand the mechanisms of polyphenolic action on the RAAS [366, 516-518]. Furthermore, those studies which have been undertaken on the modulation of ACE activity have generally incorporated polyphenol interventions at high concentrations, considerably above any typical or even moderately enhanced dietary intake, so their physiological relevance is limited. To generate more informative results regarding ACE and renin inhibition and the physiological effects of their modulation in cells, we used interventions comprising physiologically realistic plasma concentration post intakes in our *in vitro* experiments.

We began with trials of the *in vitro* effects of a range of common phenolic compounds on the RAAS at increasing concentrations. We explored their effects on renin gene expression in juxtaglomerular Renin gene expression was significantly decreased following exposure to the oat cells (AS4.1). polyphenols AV-B and t-FA, as well as several others present in plant products. t-FA possessed the strongest renin inhibitory activity, with a mean  $IC_{50}$  of 0.51  $\mu$ M, the proportion of inhibition varied from 6.43 - 79.81 %. Other polyphenols from different food sources have previously been shown to modulate the RAAS system, by inhibiting renin *in vitro*. Renin suppression may have been due to the presence of polyphenol derived special functional structures such as analogues of galloyl moiety without a catechin skeleton and ortho-tri-hydroxy phenyl. Polyphenols may conform the renin active site, reducing its activity, by forming an enzyme-substrate-inhibitor complex. However, it is also possible that the complex biochemical transformations that the numerous polyphenols in plants, for example those in tea, undergo during the fermentation process which is typically part of its preparation for consumption, form a variety of bioactive substances, including inter alia theasinensin B, theasinensin C and a hexose conjugate. Previous studies have reported that polyphenols, especially gallated flavonoids, are able to inhibit renin activity, however, there is no strong evidence in the literature that any phenolics inhibit renin activity.

We went on to show that renin gene expression was significantly decreased following exposure to plant polyphenols via a mechanism that involved inhibition of the phosphorylation/activation of ERK1/2 and linked transcription factors CREB-1 and ATF-1. Several studies have shown that polyphenols influence ERK and Protein Kinase B (Akt) signalling pathways [556, 557]. For example, flavonols and anthocyanins in blueberry modulate the ERK-CREB-BDNF pathway in rodents [558]. In another study, quercetin and its O-methylated metabolites have been shown to induce neuronal death by inhibition of neuronal survival signalling through inhibition of ERK instead of activating the c-Jun N-terminal kinase-mediated death pathway [556]. There is also substantial evidence that the phosphorylation of CREB and its subsequent interference with the CRE, activates renin gene

transcription in juxtaglomerular cells, include AS4.1 and Calu-6 cells [509, 512, 515, 559-561]. In conclusion, it is widely reported that polyphenols interact with the ERK-ATF-1 pathway and P38/ CREB, to reduce expression of the renin gene, and that this leads to improved cardiovascular health [558, 562, 563].

We then explored the effects of selected polyphenols on ACE and NO using HUVEC cells in vitro and found most inhibited ACE, but to different degrees and none was significant; t-FA again showed the strongest inhibitory effect. ACE inhibition by tea polyphenols has been demonstrated in similar cell strains. ACE activity, and substrate-dependent reaction kinetics have revealed enzyme velocity curves that matched allosteric and non-Michaelis-Menten relationships, with a mixed mode of in vitro inhibition of ACE, mostly of a kinetically uncompetitive type [362], by green and black tea polyphenols. Further, studies on cultured endothelial cells from human umbilical veins incubated with a bilberry polyphenol extract exhibited significant, also inhibited ACE activity after 10 minutes, dose dependently [369]. However, unlike the studies in the literature; we failed to show experimentally that phenolic compounds significantly inhibit ACE protein levels and activity, and an increased production of nitric oxide. By suppression of renin and ACE, it was speculated that oat phenolics may be effective at reducing BP and thus CVD risk. There have been many previous studies that have reported the ACE inhibitory activity of a range of polyphenols [361, 362, 369], however, many of these have used polyphenols at concentrations much higher than that known to be present in the circulation following intake. Thus, these in vitro findings are not necessarily translatable to clinical or public health.

Our in-vitro findings suggest that these compounds possibly mediate changes in blood pressure through the RAAS system. However, bioavailability differs greatly from one polyphenol to another, so that the most abundant polyphenols in our diet may not necessarily be leading to the highest concentrations of active metabolites in target tissues. The metabolites present in blood, resulting from digestive and hepatic activity, usually differ from native compounds [693].

Since these results were promising, by clearly demonstrating that small phenolic compounds in physiological concentrations might affect the RAAS, albeit minimally, they may explain why people who consume foods rich in such polyphenols can experience a reduction in BP. Therefore, we conducted two human intervention trials using oat polyphenols at realistic dietary dosages, to expand on these findings and provide a better understanding of the physiological effects of specific polyphenols through both acute and chronic clinical responses.

#### 5.3 HUMAN INTERVENTION TRIALS WITH OAT POLYPHENOLS

Epidemiological studies have suggested that high dietary intake of fruits and vegetables, as well as whole grains, is strongly associated with a reduced risk of developing chronic diseases such as cancer and cardiovascular disease [582, 587, 694]. Human intervention studies, to date have predominantly investigated the intake of whole grain oats, rather than the intake of individual oat bioactives, such as vitamins and minerals and/or phenolic components. Furthermore, many believe it is the fibre and phytochemical components of cereal grains that are the major contributing factors to their health benefits [40, 406, 588]. With respect to phytochemicals, phenolic acids such as hydroxycinnamic acid derivatives, including ferulic acid, p-coumaric acid and caffeic acid, as well as benzoic acid derivatives such as protocatechuic, vanillic, and syringic acids, are the predominant compounds. A meta-analysis of seven large cohort studies has found consumption of 2.5 compared to 0.2 servings of whole grain per day is associated with a 21 % decreased risk of CVD. As a result, a number of guidelines were drawn up with the aim of increasing intake of whole grain [695]. Consumption of 3 portions of whole-grain foods can significantly reduce cardiovascular disease risk in middle-aged people, mainly through blood pressure-lowering mechanisms. Decreases in systolic blood pressure are considered to reduce the incidence of coronary artery disease and stroke by  $\geq$  15 % and 25 %, respectively [597], whilst improved vascular responses and endothelial function has been associated with a daily consumption of wholegrain oat cereal [486].

A few human studies have focused on absorption and metabolism after consumption of whole grain wheat. Maximum hydroxycinnamate absorption from high-bran cereal, a particularly rich source of FA and diferulates because they include the outer husk including the aleurone layer, occurs between one and three hours after ingestion [455]. It was not found necessarily to be the case, though, that the main cleavage and release of FA from AX happens in the small intestine, but more likely that FA observed in plasma derived from the 4 % of free FA that the grain also contains. It also found low hydroxycinnamic acid levels in plasma after 6 hours, which suggests not much absorption occurring in the large intestine. This may be the result of long, slow FA cleavage as food passes through the large intestine, with minimal amounts being observed in the circulation. No diferulic acids were detected in urine or plasma and were most likely still in bound form, which would suggest that very little of these compounds was absorbed all the way through the gastrointestinal tract. All of this suggests the need for further human studies to fully understand absorption and metabolism of whole grain phenolic acids.

To date, however, there have been relatively few human trials conducted to assess the beneficial effects of oat polyphenols on the cardiovascular system and the potential mechanism of action. The

objective of our human intervention trials was, therefore, to assess the impact of consuming whole grain oats on cardiovascular health markers and in particular to discern the degree to which avenanthramides and phenolic acids may contribute to any physiological effects observed on human vascular function in healthy pre-or stage1 hypertensive individuals.

Our *in vitro* findings were not borne out in our acute clinical trial, which showed no statistically significant change in % FMD or BP following a single intake of oats, although we tentatively, given the limitations of the trial discussed above, propose that an increase endothelium-independent vasodilation occurred at early time points. The non-significant FMD and BP results compared to previous significant results of cocoa, berry and coffee could be due to: 1) the lower levels of phenolic intake delivered by the oats in our trial compared to those with, for example, coffee (310 mg compared to 50 mg for oat) [577]; 2) the small population size of our trial and consequent lack of statistical power, an issue discussed at length by Thies *et al.* (2014), although it was not significantly smaller than that used in some cocoa and blueberry clinical trials; or 3) the likelihood that other polyphenol interventions deliver more biologically active components, such as flavonoids, as has been widely reported [186, 255, 335, 581, 591].

In comparison to the acute trial, our chronic trial showed more positive evidence that the intake of phenolic acid rich oats may induce vascular improvements that are in terms of magnitude, possibly medically relevant. However, they generally failed to achieve statistical significance and the trial may have been undertaken with insufficient statistical power to draw more than indicative conclusions from secondary outcomes. Improvements were putatively noted for day- and night-time SBP and in vascular reactivity measured by FMD and LDI, following the intake of the highest phenolic acid containing oats for four weeks relative to the control intake. The failure to achieve statistically significant results in vascular function could be due to the small population size and the natural high variations in volunteer vascular measurements, such as BP and FMD which is indicated by large SEM in several results. Alternatively, as with the acute intervention, the nature and quantity of oat polyphenols delivered in our interventions may not be as biologically active as those used in published clinical trials, for example, flavanols in cocoa [44] and tea [681-683], with an intake of 100-200 mg/day having been shown to improve FMD and reduce 24 blood pressure [48, 286]. In addition, TC, HDL and LDL levels were not significantly lowered in our volunteers after four weeks, whereas 12 weeks consumption of cocoa powder (total flavanol 172 mg/day) has been shown to increase HDL cholesterol [640]. Also, oat intake has been found to significantly reduce TC in patient with hypercholesterolemia, whereas our population had only slightly elevated cholesterol levels [667]. Similarly, the intake of 40 g oats per day for 90 days was sufficient to significantly lower LDL cholesterol in obese subjects [696, 697]. These differences in outcomes may also be due to the length of the trial, subject selection, and population size.

## 5.4 CONCLUSIONS

In our clinical trials we did not observe the same level of inhibition on renin or ACE as seen in our *in vitro* experiments. One potential reason for this was that the absorption of the oat phenolic acids and their metabolites is likely lower than that used in cell studies, i.e. below 1  $\mu$ M. It is of limited value to predict the *in vivo* efficiency polyphenols based on cell trials, since numerous factors may affect *in vivo bioactivity*, including bioavailability, metabolism and tissue distribution. However, our *in vitro* observations make a positive contribution to establishing the role of oats phenolics as potential modulators of RAAS if sufficient concentrations are achieved in tissues (blood, endothelial and kidney). Both acute and chronic findings, need confirmation and clarification through further, expanded trials and it is likely, both from our own results and the literature, that the size of our trial and associated limitations, including the inherent variation in BP measures and other markers, the length of trial and the amount of the intervention, may all have contributed to the inconclusive outcomes.

The results of our work contribute to and extend existing knowledge of the effects of oat polyphenols on cardiovascular health. Our study is one of the first to address the possible relationships between oat polyphenols and the RAAS pathway and in so doing contributes important information in an area where knowledge is incomplete. Our results show evidence that the RAAS pathway is affected by phenolic oats and this may be an important physiological impact to add to others which are already more widely associated with cardiovascular health.

## 5.5 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Our findings clearly evidence the need for future studies to establish in detail the molecular mechanisms and to better quantify the clinical benefits of oat avenanthramides and phenolic acid. There is limited conclusive clinical data on the benefits of oat polyphenols and this study, while contributing and highlighting the potential for benefits, was also inconclusive. Hence further trials are needed to clarify effective dosage regimens to obtain optimal results. More extensive trials are also needed to understand optimal combinations of polyphenols, individual studies of fibre foods which contain polyphenols or high dose purified active polyphenol compounds from oats rather than the whole grain products that have been widely promoted and studied [40, 641]. Dosages, and the influences of mid- and long-term consumption on people with a range of cardiovascular markers, volunteer's diet history, all of which we shed light on but inconclusively, also require trials of

sufficient breadth and extent to be fully informative. Future trials should also be statistically powered to adequately interpret all the outcomes under consideration, this may mean very large trials, over 60 subjects, measuring a range of risk markers, or several smaller trials, with over 30 subjects in the intervention groups [40], considering just one or a small number of markers. The length of the trial is also critical, to adequately consider changes in RAAS enzyme levels and renin gene expression and to fully assess changes in BP related cardiovascular risk markers following polyphenol interventions. Previously published trials generally range from three to eight weeks, and several achieved statistically significant results only after eight weeks of trials [294, 299, 687, 688]. There is a lack of published information on how widely and evenly polyphenols are distributed in the body's tissues, their affinity for particular tissues and whether or not they are antagonised by reactions with other foodstuffs or cellular products which may alter their function, all of which should be the subjects of further study, since our 4 weeks chronic results showed only non-significant vascular improvements and blood pressure reduction. There are also the influences of genetic influence and variations to be considered. It is clear that the biochemical structure of the polyphenol affects its bioactivity and further research is needed to understand, not only which metabolites are most active in vascular function improvement but also which are most efficacious at realistic dietary intake levels.

# References

- 1. de O. Buanafina, M.M., *Feruloylation in Grasses: Current and Future Perspectives*. Molecular Plant, 2009. **2**(5): p. 861-872.
- 2. Spencer, J.P., M.M.A. El Mohsen, A.-M. Minihane, and J.C. Mathers, *Biomarkers of the intake of dietary polyphenols: strengths, limitations and application in nutrition research.* British Journal of Nutrition, 2008. **99**(1): p. 12-22.
- Krygier, K., F. Sosulski, and L. Hogge, *Free, esterified, and insoluble-bound phenolic acids. 1. Extraction and purification procedure.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 1982.
   30(2): p. 330-334.
- 4. Evgenov, O.V., P. Pacher, P.M. Schmidt, G. Haskó, H.H. Schmidt, and J.-P. Stasch, *NO-independent stimulators and activators of soluble guanylate cyclase: discovery and therapeutic potential.* Nature reviews Drug discovery, 2006. **5**(9): p. 755.
- 5. Rendeiro, C., J.D. Guerreiro, C.M. Williams, and J.P. Spencer, *Flavonoids as modulators of memory and learning: molecular interactions resulting in behavioural effects.* Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 2012. **71**(2): p. 246-262.
- 6. Förstermann, U. and W.C. Sessa, *Nitric oxide synthases: regulation and function.* European heart journal, 2011. **33**(7): p. 829-837.
- 7. Ralph, J., S. Quideau, J.H. Grabber, and R.D. Hatfield, *Identification and synthesis of new ferulic acid dehydrodimers present in grass cell walls.* Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 1, 1994(23): p. 3485-3498.
- 8. Roth, G.A., C. Johnson, A. Abajobir, F. Abd-Allah, S.F. Abera, G. Abyu, M. Ahmed, B. Aksut, T. Alam, and K. Alam, *Global, regional, and national burden of cardiovascular diseases for 10 causes, 1990 to 2015.* Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 2017. **70**(1): p. 1-25.
- Smith, S.C., A. Collins, R. Ferrari, D.R. Holmes, S. Logstrup, D.V. McGhie, J. Ralston, R.L. Sacco, H. Stam, and K. Taubert, *Our time: a call to save preventable death from cardiovascular disease (heart disease and stroke).* Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 2012. 60(22): p. 2343-2348.
- 10. WHO, W.H.D. <u>http://www.who.int/cardiovascular\_diseases/world-heart-day-2017/en/</u>. 2018 [cited 2018 1/07/2018].
- 11. Covas, M.-I., K. Nyyssönen, H.E. Poulsen, J. Kaikkonen, H.-J.F. Zunft, H. Kiesewetter, A. Gaddi, R. de la Torre, J. Mursu, and H. Bäumler, *The effect of polyphenols in olive oil on heart disease risk factors: a randomized trial.* Annals of internal medicine, 2006. **145**(5): p. 333-341.
- 12. Nichols, M., N. Townsend, P. Scarborough, and M. Rayner, *Cardiovascular disease in Europe: epidemiological update*. European heart journal, 2013. **34**(39): p. 3028-3034.
- 13. Goda, A., A.F. Demiraj, F. Weidinger, B. Metzler, F. Ibrahimov, A.A. Pasquet, M. Claeys, Y. Thorton, Z. Kusljugic, and E. Smajic, *European Society of Cardiology: cardiovascular disease statistics 2017.* European heart journal, 2017.
- 14. Benjamin, E.J., M.J. Blaha, S.E. Chiuve, M. Cushman, S.R. Das, R. Deo, J. Floyd, M. Fornage, C. Gillespie, and C. Isasi, *Heart disease and stroke statistics-2017 update: a report from the American Heart Association*. Circulation, 2017. **135**(10): p. e146-e603.
- 15. McGill, H.C., C.A. McMahan, and S.S. Gidding, *Preventing heart disease in the 21st century: implications of the Pathobiological Determinants of Atherosclerosis in Youth (PDAY) study.* Circulation, 2008. **117**(9): p. 1216-1227.
- 16. Yusuf, S., S. Reddy, S. Ôunpuu, and S. Anand, *Global burden of cardiovascular diseases: part I: general considerations, the epidemiologic transition, risk factors, and impact of urbanization.* Circulation, 2001. **104**(22): p. 2746-2753.
- 17. Dahlöf, B., P.S. Sever, N.R. Poulter, H. Wedel, D.G. Beevers, M. Caulfield, R. Collins, S.E. Kjeldsen, A. Kristinsson, and G.T. McInnes, *Prevention of cardiovascular events with an antihypertensive regimen of amlodipine adding perindopril as required versus atenolol adding bendroflumethiazide as required, in the Anglo-Scandinavian Cardiac Outcomes Trial-Blood*

*Pressure Lowering Arm (ASCOT-BPLA): a multicentre randomised controlled trial.* The Lancet, 2005. **366**(9489): p. 895-906.

- 18. Ettehad, D., C.A. Emdin, A. Kiran, S.G. Anderson, T. Callender, J. Emberson, J. Chalmers, A. Rodgers, and K. Rahimi, *Blood pressure lowering for prevention of cardiovascular disease and death: a systematic review and meta-analysis.* The Lancet, 2016. **387**(10022): p. 957-967.
- 19. Kotseva, K., D. Wood, D. De Bacquer, G. De Backer, L. Rydén, C. Jennings, V. Gyberg, P. Amouyel, J. Bruthans, and A. Castro Conde, *EUROASPIRE IV: A European Society of Cardiology survey on the lifestyle, risk factor and therapeutic management of coronary patients from 24 European countries.* European journal of preventive cardiology, 2016. **23**(6): p. 636-648.
- 20. Rapsomaniki, E., A. Timmis, J. George, M. Pujades-Rodriguez, A.D. Shah, S. Denaxas, I.R. White, M.J. Caulfield, J.E. Deanfield, and L. Smeeth, *Blood pressure and incidence of twelve cardiovascular diseases: lifetime risks, healthy life-years lost, and age-specific associations in* 1.25 million people. The Lancet, 2014. **383**(9932): p. 1899-1911.
- 21. Law, M., J. Morris, and N. Wald, Use of blood pressure lowering drugs in the prevention of cardiovascular disease: meta-analysis of 147 randomised trials in the context of expectations from prospective epidemiological studies. BMJ, 2009. **338**: p. b1665.
- 22. Whelton, P.K., R.M. Carey, W.S. Aronow, D.E. Casey, K.J. Collins, C.D. Himmelfarb, S.M. DePalma, S. Gidding, K.A. Jamerson, and D.W. Jones, 2017 ACC/AHA/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/AGS/APhA/ASH/ASPC/NMA/PCNA guideline for the prevention, detection, evaluation, and management of high blood pressure in adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 2018. **71**(19): p. e127-e248.
- Bai, G., J. Zhang, C. Zhao, Y. Wang, Y. Qi, and B. Zhang, Adherence to a healthy lifestyle and a DASH-style diet and risk of hypertension in Chinese individuals. Hypertension Research, 2017.
  40(2): p. 196.
- 24. Collaboration, B.P.L.T.T., *Effects of different blood-pressure-lowering regimens on major cardiovascular events: results of prospectively-designed overviews of randomised trials.* The Lancet, 2003. **362**(9395): p. 1527-1535.
- 25. Collaboration, B.P.L.T.T., *Blood pressure-lowering treatment based on cardiovascular risk: a meta-analysis of individual patient data*. The Lancet, 2014. **384**(9943): p. 591-598.
- 26. Sesso, H.D., M.J. Stampfer, B. Rosner, C.H. Hennekens, J.M. Gaziano, J.E. Manson, and R.J. Glynn, *Systolic and diastolic blood pressure, pulse pressure, and mean arterial pressure as predictors of cardiovascular disease risk in men.* Hypertension, 2000. **36**(5): p. 801-807.
- 27. Trialists'Collaboration, B.P.L.T., *Effects of different blood pressure-lowering regimens on major cardiovascular events in individuals with and without diabetes mellitus: results of prospectively designed overviews of randomized trials.* Arch Intern Med, 2005. **165**(12): p. 1410-1419.
- 28. Collaboration, P.S., *Age-specific relevance of usual blood pressure to vascular mortality: a meta-analysis of individual data for one million adults in 61 prospective studies.* The Lancet, 2002. **360**(9349): p. 1903-1913.
- 29. Cheng, J.-C., F. Dai, B. Zhou, L. Yang, and Z.-L. Liu, *Antioxidant activity of hydroxycinnamic acid derivatives in human low density lipoprotein: mechanism and structure–activity relationship.* Food Chemistry, 2007. **104**(1): p. 132-139.
- 30. D'Agostino Sr, R.B., M.J. Pencina, J.M. Massaro, and S. Coady, *Cardiovascular disease risk assessment: insights from Framingham.* Global heart, 2013. **8**(1): p. 11-23.
- 31. Appel, L.J., F.M. Sacks, V.J. Carey, E. Obarzanek, J.F. Swain, E.R. Miller, P.R. Conlin, T.P. Erlinger, B.A. Rosner, and N.M. Laranjo, *Effects of protein, monounsaturated fat, and carbohydrate intake on blood pressure and serum lipids: results of the OmniHeart randomized trial.* Jama, 2005. **294**(19): p. 2455-2464.
- 32. Mathew, A.S., G.M. Capel-Williams, S.E. Berry, and W.L. Hall, *Acute effects of pomegranate extract on postprandial lipaemia, vascular function and blood pressure.* Plant foods for human nutrition, 2012. **67**(4): p. 351-357.

- 33. Psaltopoulou, T., A. Naska, P. Orfanos, D. Trichopoulos, T. Mountokalakis, and A. Trichopoulou, *Olive oil, the Mediterranean diet, and arterial blood pressure: the Greek European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study.* The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2004. **80**(4): p. 1012-1018.
- 34. Steffen, L.M., C.H. Kroenke, X. Yu, M.A. Pereira, M.L. Slattery, L. Van Horn, M.D. Gross, and D.R. Jacobs Jr, Associations of plant food, dairy product, and meat intakes with 15-y incidence of elevated blood pressure in young black and white adults: the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) Study–. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2005. **82**(6): p. 1169-1177.
- 35. Dauchet, L., S. Czernichow, S. Bertrais, J. Blacher, P. Galan, and S. Hercberg, *Fruits and vegetables intake in the SU. VI. MAX study and systolic blood pressure change.* Archives des maladies du coeur et des vaisseaux, 2006. **99**(7-8): p. 669-673.
- 36. He, F., C. Nowson, M. Lucas, and G. MacGregor, *Increased consumption of fruit and vegetables is related to a reduced risk of coronary heart disease: meta-analysis of cohort studies.* Journal of human hypertension, 2007. **21**(9): p. 717.
- 37. Joshipura, K.J., F.B. Hu, J.E. Manson, M.J. Stampfer, E.B. Rimm, F.E. Speizer, G. Colditz, A. Ascherio, B. Rosner, and D. Spiegelman, *The effect of fruit and vegetable intake on risk for coronary heart disease*. Annals of internal medicine, 2001. **134**(12): p. 1106-1114.
- 38. Heitzer, T., T. Schlinzig, K. Krohn, T. Meinertz, and T. Münzel, *Endothelial dysfunction, oxidative stress, and risk of cardiovascular events in patients with coronary artery disease.* Circulation, 2001. **104**(22): p. 2673-2678.
- 39. Oh, K., F.B. Hu, J.E. Manson, M.J. Stampfer, and W.C. Willett, *Dietary fat intake and risk of coronary heart disease in women: 20 years of follow-up of the nurses' health study.* American journal of epidemiology, 2005. **161**(7): p. 672-679.
- 40. Thies, F., L.F. Masson, P. Boffetta, and P. Kris-Etherton, *Oats and CVD risk markers: a systematic literature review.* British Journal of Nutrition, 2014. **112**(S2): p. S19-S30.
- 41. Hall, W.L., *Dietary saturated and unsaturated fats as determinants of blood pressure and vascular function*. Nutrition research reviews, 2009. **22**(1): p. 18-38.
- 42. Cassidy, A., É.J. O'Reilly, C. Kay, L. Sampson, M. Franz, J. Forman, G. Curhan, and E.B. Rimm, *Habitual intake of flavonoid subclasses and incident hypertension in adults*–. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2010. **93**(2): p. 338-347.
- 43. Cassidy, A., E.B. Rimm, É.J. O'Reilly, G. Logroscino, C. Kay, S.E. Chiuve, and K.M. Rexrode, *Dietary flavonoids and risk of stroke in women.* Stroke; a Journal of Cerebral Circulation, 2012. **43**(4): p. 946.
- 44. Del Rio, D., A. Rodriguez-Mateos, J.P. Spencer, M. Tognolini, G. Borges, and A. Crozier, *Dietary (poly) phenolics in human health: structures, bioavailability, and evidence of protective effects against chronic diseases.* Antioxidants & redox signaling, 2013. **18**(14): p. 1818-1892.
- 45. McCullough, M.L., J.J. Peterson, R. Patel, P.F. Jacques, R. Shah, and J.T. Dwyer, *Flavonoid intake and cardiovascular disease mortality in a prospective cohort of US adults–.* The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2012. **95**(2): p. 454-464.
- 46. Stoclet, J.-C., T. Chataigneau, M. Ndiaye, M.-H. Oak, J. El Bedoui, M. Chataigneau, and V.B. Schini-Kerth, *Vascular protection by dietary polyphenols*. European journal of pharmacology, 2004. **500**(1-3): p. 299-313.
- 47. Tresserra-Rimbau, A., E.B. Rimm, A. Medina-Remón, M. Martínez-González, R. De la Torre, D. Corella, J. Salas-Salvadó, E. Gómez-Gracia, J. Lapetra, and F. Arós, *Inverse association between habitual polyphenol intake and incidence of cardiovascular events in the PREDIMED study*. Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 2014. **24**(6): p. 639-647.
- 48. Hooper, L., P.A. Kroon, E.B. Rimm, J.S. Cohn, I. Harvey, K.A. Le Cornu, J.J. Ryder, W.L. Hall, and A. Cassidy, *Flavonoids, flavonoid-rich foods, and cardiovascular risk: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials.* The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2008. **88**(1): p. 38-50.

- Rodriguez-Mateos, A., C. Rendeiro, T. Bergillos-Meca, S. Tabatabaee, T.W. George, C. Heiss, and J.P. Spencer, *Intake and time dependence of blueberry flavonoid-induced improvements in vascular function: a randomized, controlled, double-blind, crossover intervention study with mechanistic insights into biological activity*-. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2013. **98**(5): p. 1179-1191.
- 50. Arts, I.C. and P.C. Hollman, *Polyphenols and disease risk in epidemiologic studies–*. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2005. **81**(1): p. 317S-325S.
- 51. Buijsse, B., E.J. Feskens, F.J. Kok, and D. Kromhout, *Cocoa intake, blood pressure, and cardiovascular mortality: the Zutphen Elderly Study.* Archives of internal medicine, 2006. **166**(4): p. 411-417.
- 52. Mink, P.J., C.G. Scrafford, L.M. Barraj, L. Harnack, C.-P. Hong, J.A. Nettleton, and D.R. Jacobs Jr, *Flavonoid intake and cardiovascular disease mortality: a prospective study in postmenopausal women*—. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2007. **85**(3): p. 895-909.
- 53. Wong, R.H., P.R. Howe, A.M. Coates, J.D. Buckley, and N.M. Berry, *Chronic consumption of a wild green oat extract (Neuravena) improves brachial flow-mediated dilatation and cerebrovascular responsiveness in older adults.* Journal of hypertension, 2013. **31**(1): p. 192-200.
- 54. Wu, G., S.K. Johnson, J.F. Bornman, S.J. Bennett, and Z. Fang, *Changes in whole grain polyphenols and antioxidant activity of six sorghum genotypes under different irrigation treatments.* Food chemistry, 2017. **214**: p. 199-207.
- 55. Ignat, I., I. Volf, and V.I. Popa, *A critical review of methods for characterisation of polyphenolic compounds in fruits and vegetables.* Food chemistry, 2011. **126**(4): p. 1821-1835.
- 56. Manach, C., A. Mazur, and A. Scalbert, *Polyphenols and prevention of cardiovascular diseases*. Current opinion in lipidology, 2005. **16**(1): p. 77-84.
- 57. Pandey, K.B. and S.I. Rizvi, *Plant polyphenols as dietary antioxidants in human health and disease.* Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity, 2009. **2**(5): p. 270-278.
- 58. Pulido, R., L. Bravo, and F. Saura-Calixto, *Antioxidant activity of dietary polyphenols as determined by a modified ferric reducing/antioxidant power assay.* Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 2000. **48**(8): p. 3396-3402.
- 59. Visioli, F., C.A.D.L. Lastra, C. Andres-Lacueva, M. Aviram, C. Calhau, A. Cassano, M. D'Archivio, A. Faria, G. Favé, and V. Fogliano, *Polyphenols and human health: a prospectus.* Critical reviews in food science and nutrition, 2011. **51**(6): p. 524-546.
- 60. Wald, N.J. and M.R. Law, *A strategy to reduce cardiovascular disease by more than 80%.* Bmj, 2003. **326**(7404): p. 1419.
- 61. Yusuf, S., P. Sleight, J.f. Pogue, J. Bosch, R. Davies, and G. Dagenais, *Effects of an angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitor, ramipril, on cardiovascular events in high-risk patients.* The New England journal of medicine, 2000. **342**(3): p. 145-153.
- 62. Lonn, E., J. Bosch, K.K. Teo, P. Pais, D. Xavier, and S. Yusuf, *The polypill in the prevention of cardiovascular diseases: key concepts, current status, challenges, and future directions.* Circulation, 2010. **122**(20): p. 2078-2088.
- 63. Abubakar, I., T. Tillmann, and A. Banerjee, *Global, regional, and national age-sex specific allcause and cause-specific mortality for 240 causes of death, 1990-2013: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2013.* Lancet, 2015. **385**(9963): p. 117-171.
- 64. De Backer, G., E. Ambrosioni, K. Borch-Johnsen, C. Brotons, R. Cifkova, J. Dallongeville, S. Ebrahim, O. Faergeman, I. Graham, and G. Mancia, *European guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice: third joint task force of European and other societies on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice (constituted by representatives of eight societies and by invited experts).* European heart journal, 2003. **24**(17): p. 1601-1610.
- 65. Townsend, N., L. Wilson, P. Bhatnagar, K. Wickramasinghe, M. Rayner, and M. Nichols, *Cardiovascular disease in Europe: epidemiological update 2016.* European heart journal, 2016. **37**(42): p. 3232-3245.

- 66. WHO, D.a.s. <u>http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/noncommunicable-</u> <u>diseases/cardiovascular-diseases/data-and-statistics</u>. 2018 1/07/2018].
- 67. Mozaffarian, D., *Dietary and policy priorities for cardiovascular disease, diabetes, and obesity: a comprehensive review.* Circulation, 2016. **133**(2): p. 187-225.
- 68. Aaronson, P.I., J.P. Ward, and M.J. Connolly, *The cardiovascular system at a glance*. 2012: John Wiley & Sons.
- 69. Boulpaep, E.L., *Organization of the cardiovascular system*. Medical Physiology, 2012: p. 429-447.
- 70. Furchgott, R.F. and J.V. Zawadzki, *The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine.* nature, 1980. **288**(5789): p. 373.
- 71. Khazaei, M., F. Moien-Afshari, and I. Laher, *Vascular endothelial function in health and diseases.* Pathophysiology, 2008. **15**(1): p. 49-67.
- 72. Lüscher, T.F. and G. Noll, *The pathogenesis of cardiovascular disease: role of the endothelium as a target and mediator.* Atherosclerosis, 1995. **118**: p. S81-S90.
- 73. Vita, J.A., *Polyphenols and cardiovascular disease: effects on endothelial and platelet function*–. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2005. **81**(1): p. 292S-297S.
- 74. Scott-Burden, T. and P.M. Vanhoutte, *Regulation of smooth muscle cell growth by endothelium-derived factors.* Texas Heart Institute Journal, 1994. **21**(1): p. 91.
- 75. Stankevičius, E., E. Kevelaitis, E. Vainorius, and U. Simonsen, *Role of nitric oxide and other endothelium-derived factors.* Medicina (Kaunas), 2003. **39**(4): p. 333-41.
- 76. McGorisk, G.M. and C.B. Treasure, *Endothelial dysfunction in coronary heart disease*. Curr Opin Cardiol, 1996. **11**(4): p. 341-50.
- 77. Ross, R., *Atherosclerosis—an inflammatory disease*. New England journal of medicine, 1999. **340**(2): p. 115-126.
- Schächinger, V., M.B. Britten, and A.M. Zeiher, Prognostic impact of coronary vasodilator dysfunction on adverse long-term outcome of coronary heart disease. Circulation, 2000. 101(16): p. 1899-1906.
- 79. Vita, J.A. and J.F. Keaney, *Endothelial function: a barometer for cardiovascular risk?* 2002, Am Heart Assoc.
- 80. Zeiher, A.M., H. Drexler, H. Wollschläger, and H. Just, *Modulation of coronary vasomotor tone in humans. Progressive endothelial dysfunction with different early stages of coronary atherosclerosis.* Circulation, 1991. **83**(2): p. 391-401.
- 81. Lüscher, T.F. and M. Barton, *Biology of the endothelium*. Clinical cardiology, 1997. **20**(11 Suppl 2): p. II-3-10.
- 82. Libby, P., What have we learned about the biology of atherosclerosis? The role of *inflammation*. American Journal of Cardiology, 2001. **88**(7): p. 3-6.
- 83. Selzman, C., WHAT IS ATHEROSCLEROSIS? Abernathy's Surgical Secrets E-Book, 2017: p. 335.
- Ribeiro, F., A.J. Alves, M. Teixeira, V. Ribeiro, J.A. Duarte, and J. Oliveira, *Endothelial function and atherosclerosis: circulatory markers with clinical usefulness*. Rev Port Cardiol, 2009. 28(10): p. 1121-51.
- 85. Fuster, V., L. Badimon, J.J. Badimon, and J.H. Chesebro, *The pathogenesis of coronary artery disease and the acute coronary syndromes.* New England journal of medicine, 1992. **326**(4): p. 242-250.
- 86. Davignon, J. and P. Ganz, *Role of endothelial dysfunction in atherosclerosis*. Circulation, 2004. **109**(23 suppl 1): p. III-27-III-32.
- 87. Toth, P., *Subclinical atherosclerosis: what it is, what it means and what we can do about it.* International journal of clinical practice, 2008. **62**(8): p. 1246-1254.
- 88. Lüscher, T., M. Tschudi, R. Wenzel, and G. Noll, *Endotheliale Dysfunktion und Stickstoffmonoxid (NO; Nitric Oxide)*. Der Internist, 1997. **38**(5): p. 411-419.
- 89. Libby, P., P.M. Ridker, and A. Maseri, *Inflammation and atherosclerosis*. Circulation, 2002. **105**(9): p. 1135-1143.

- 90. Widmer, R.J., L.O. Lerman, and A. Lerman, *MicroRNAs: small molecule, big potential for coronary artery disease*. 2016, Oxford University Press.
- 91. Gaziano, T.A., A. Bitton, S. Anand, S. Abrahams-Gessel, and A. Murphy, *Growing epidemic of coronary heart disease in low-and middle-income countries.* Current problems in cardiology, 2010. **35**(2): p. 72-115.
- 92. Roger, V.L., A.S. Go, D.M. Lloyd-Jones, E.J. Benjamin, J.D. Berry, W.B. Borden, D.M. Bravata, S. Dai, E.S. Ford, and C.S. Fox, *Heart disease and stroke statistics*—2012 update: a report from the American Heart Association. Circulation, 2012. **125**(1): p. e2-e220.
- 93. Burdge, G.C. and P.C. Calder, *Plasma cytokine response during the postprandial period: a potential causal process in vascular disease?* British journal of nutrition, 2005. **93**(1): p. 3-9.
- 94. Mehra, V.C., V.S. Ramgolam, and J.R. Bender, *Cytokines and cardiovascular disease*. Journal of leukocyte biology, 2005. **78**(4): p. 805-818.
- 95. Committee:, W., S.C. Smith Jr, A. Collins, R. Ferrari, D.R. Holmes Jr, S. Logstrup, D.V. McGhie, J. Ralston, R.L. Sacco, and H. Stam, *Our time: a call to save preventable death from cardiovascular disease (heart disease and stroke)*. European heart journal, 2012. **33**(23): p. 2910-2916.
- 96. Grundy, S., D. Becker, L.T. Clark, R.S. Cooper, M.A. Denke, J. Howard, D.B. Hunninghake, D.R. Illingworth, R.V. Luepker, P. McBride, and J.M. McKenney, *Detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (Adult Treatment Panel III).* Circulation, 2002. **106**(25): p. 3143.
- 97. Lewington, S., G. Whitlock, R. Clarke, P. Sherliker, J. Emberson, J. Halsey, N. Qizilbash, R. Peto, and R. Collins, *Blood cholesterol and vascular mortality by age, sex, and blood pressure: a meta-analysis of individual data from 61 prospective studies with 55000 vascular deaths (vol 370, pg 1829, 2007)*. Lancet, 2008. **372**(9635): p. 292-292.
- 98. Jesch, E.D. and T.P. Carr, *Food Ingredients That Inhibit Cholesterol Absorption*. Preventive nutrition and food science, 2017. **22**(2): p. 67.
- 99. Cohn, J.S., A. Kamili, E. Wat, R.W. Chung, and S. Tandy, *Dietary phospholipids and intestinal cholesterol absorption*. Nutrients, 2010. **2**(2): p. 116-127.
- 100. Sakurai, M., J. Stamler, K. Miura, I.J. Brown, H. Nakagawa, P. Elliott, H. Ueshima, Q. Chan, I. Tzoulaki, and A.R. Dyer, *Relationship of dietary cholesterol to blood pressure: the INTERMAP study.* Journal of hypertension, 2011. **29**(2): p. 222.
- 101. Valenza, M., V. Leoni, A. Tarditi, C. Mariotti, I. Björkhem, S. Di Donato, and E. Cattaneo, Progressive dysfunction of the cholesterol biosynthesis pathway in the R6/2 mouse model of Huntington's disease. Neurobiology of disease, 2007. **28**(1): p. 133-142.
- 102. Ordovas, J.M. and V. Mooser, *The APOE locus and the pharmacogenetics of lipid response*. Current opinion in lipidology, 2002. **13**(2): p. 113-117.
- 103. Havel, R.J., *Lipoproteins and lipid transport*, in *Lipids, Lipoproteins, and Drugs*. 1975, Springer. p. 37-59.
- 104. Lund-Katz, S. and M.C. Phillips, *High density lipoprotein structure–function and role in reverse cholesterol transport*, in *Cholesterol Binding and Cholesterol Transport Proteins:*. 2010, Springer. p. 183-227.
- 105. Russell, D.W., *Cholesterol biosynthesis and metabolism*. Cardiovascular drugs and therapy, 1992. **6**(2): p. 103-110.
- 106. Zilversmit, D.B., *Atherogenic nature of triglycerides, postprandial lipidemia, and triglyceriderich remnant lipoproteins.* Clinical chemistry, 1995. **41**(1): p. 153-158.
- 107. Stamler, J., M.L. Daviglus, D.B. Garside, A.R. Dyer, P. Greenland, and J.D. Neaton, *Relationship* of baseline serum cholesterol levels in 3 large cohorts of younger men to long-term coronary, cardiovascular, and all-cause mortality and to longevity. Jama, 2000. **284**(3): p. 311-318.
- 108. Wilson, P.W., R.D. Abbott, and W.P. Castelli, *High density lipoprotein cholesterol and mortality. The Framingham Heart Study.* Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 1988. **8**(6): p. 737-741.

- 109. Pedersen, T.R., A.G. Olsson, O. Færgeman, J. Kjekshus, H. Wedel, K. Berg, L. Wilhelmsen, T. Haghfelt, G. Thorgeirsson, and K. Pyörälä, *Lipoprotein changes and reduction in the incidence of major coronary heart disease events in the Scandinavian Simvastatin Survival Study (4S).* Circulation, 1998. **97**(15): p. 1453-1460.
- 110. Zern, T.L., R.J. Wood, C. Greene, K.L. West, Y. Liu, D. Aggarwal, N.S. Shachter, and M.L. Fernandez, *Grape polyphenols exert a cardioprotective effect in pre-and postmenopausal women by lowering plasma lipids and reducing oxidative stress.* The Journal of nutrition, 2005. **135**(8): p. 1911-1917.
- 111. Arai, Y., S. Watanabe, M. Kimira, K. Shimoi, R. Mochizuki, and N. Kinae, *Dietary intakes of flavonols, flavones and isoflavones by Japanese women and the inverse correlation between quercetin intake and plasma LDL cholesterol concentration.* The Journal of nutrition, 2000. **130**(9): p. 2243-2250.
- 112. Babbs, C.F., *Oscillometric measurement of systolic and diastolic blood pressures validated in a physiologic mathematical model.* Biomedical engineering online, 2012. **11**(1): p. 56.
- 113. Kannel, W.B., *Blood pressure as a cardiovascular risk factor: prevention and treatment.* Jama, 1996. **275**(20): p. 1571-1576.
- 114. Wilson, P.W., R.B. D'Agostino, D. Levy, A.M. Belanger, H. Silbershatz, and W.B. Kannel, *Prediction of coronary heart disease using risk factor categories.* Circulation, 1998. **97**(18): p. 1837-1847.
- 115. Mendis, S., P. Puska, B. Norrving, and W.H. Organization, *Global atlas on cardiovascular disease prevention and control*. 2011: Geneva: World Health Organization.
- 116. Patil, D.T., N. Palshikar, S. Patil, S. Chavan, P. Patil, and S. Bhamburdekar, *World Journal of Pharmaceutical ReseaRch.* 2015.
- 117. Chobanian, A.V., G.L. Bakris, H.R. Black, W.C. Cushman, and et al., *The seventh report of the joint national committee on prevention, detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood pressure: The jnc 7 report.* JAMA, 2003. **289**(19): p. 2560-2571.
- 118. Vasan, R.S., A. Beiser, S. Seshadri, M.G. Larson, W.B. Kannel, R.B. D'agostino, and D. Levy, *Residual lifetime risk for developing hypertension in middle-aged women and men: The Framingham Heart Study.* Jama, 2002. **287**(8): p. 1003-1010.
- 119. Franklin, B., K. Bonzheim, J. Warren, S. Haapaniemi, N. Byl, and N. Gordon, *Effects of a contemporary, exercise-based rehabilitation and cardiovascular risk-reduction program on coronary patients with abnormal baseline risk factors*. Chest, 2002. **122**(1): p. 338-343.
- 120. Sacks, F.M., L.P. Svetkey, W.M. Vollmer, L.J. Appel, G.A. Bray, D. Harsha, E. Obarzanek, P.R. Conlin, E.R. Miller, and D.G. Simons-Morton, *Effects on blood pressure of reduced dietary sodium and the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet.* New England journal of medicine, 2001. **344**(1): p. 3-10.
- 121. Delgado-Lista, J., A.I. Perez-Caballero, P. Perez-Martinez, A. Garcia-Rios, J. Lopez-Miranda, and F. Perez-Jimenez, *Mediterranean Diet and Cardiovascular Risk*, in *Cardiovascular Risk Factors*. 2012, InTech.
- 122. Stamler, J., K. Liu, K.J. Ruth, J. Pryer, and P. Greenland, *Eight-year blood pressure change in middle-aged men: relationship to multiple nutrients.* Hypertension, 2002. **39**(5): p. 1000-1006.
- 123. Ralston, R., J. Lee, H. Truby, C. Palermo, and K. Walker, *A systematic review and metaanalysis of elevated blood pressure and consumption of dairy foods.* Journal of human hypertension, 2012. **26**(1): p. 3.
- 124. Mori, T.A., *Dietary n-3 PUFA and CVD: a review of the evidence*. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 2014. **73**(1): p. 57-64.
- 125. Ferrara, L.A., A.S. Raimondi, L. d'Episcopo, L. Guida, A.D. Russo, and T. Marotta, *Olive oil and reduced need for antihypertensive medications.* Archives of Internal Medicine, 2000. **160**(6): p. 837-842.
- 126. Masala, G., B. Bendinelli, D. Versari, C. Saieva, M. Ceroti, F. Santagiuliana, S. Caini, S. Salvini, F. Sera, and S. Taddei, *Anthropometric and dietary determinants of blood pressure in over*

7000 Mediterranean women: the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition-Florence cohort. Journal of hypertension, 2008. **26**(11): p. 2112-2120.

- 127. Medina-Remón, A., R. Zamora-Ros, M. Rotchés-Ribalta, C. Andres-Lacueva, M. Martinez-Gonzalez, M. Covas, D. Corella, J. Salas-Salvadó, E. Gómez-Gracia, and V. Ruiz-Gutiérrez, *Total polyphenol excretion and blood pressure in subjects at high cardiovascular risk.* Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 2011. **21**(5): p. 323-331.
- 128. de Cavanagh, E.M., B. Piotrkowski, and C.G. Fraga, *Concerted action of the renin–angiotensin system, mitochondria, and antioxidant defenses in aging.* Molecular aspects of medicine, 2004. **25**(1-2): p. 27-36.
- 129. Ma, T.K., K.K. Kam, B.P. Yan, and Y.Y. Lam, *Renin–angiotensin–aldosterone system blockade for cardiovascular diseases: current status.* British journal of pharmacology, 2010. **160**(6): p. 1273-1292.
- 130. MacGregor, G., N. Markandu, J. Roulston, J. Jones, and J. Morton, *Maintenance of blood* pressure by the renin–angiotensin system in normal man. Nature, 1981. **291**(5813): p. 329.
- 131. Weir, M.R. and V.J. Dzau, *The renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system: a specific target for hypertension management.* American journal of hypertension, 1999. **12**(S9): p. 205S-213S.
- 132. Cushman, D.W. and M.A. Ondetti, *Design of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors*. Nature medicine, 1999. **5**(10): p. 1110.
- 133. Sparks, M.A., S.D. Crowley, S.B. Gurley, M. Mirotsou, and T.M. Coffman, *Classical Renin-Angiotensin System in Kidney Physiology.* Comprehensive Physiology, 2014.
- 134. Holappa, M., H. Vapaatalo, and A. Vaajanen, *Many Faces of Renin-angiotensin System-Focus on Eye.* The open ophthalmology journal, 2017. **11**: p. 122.
- 135. Yee, A.H., J.D. Burns, and E.F. Wijdicks, *Cerebral salt wasting: pathophysiology, diagnosis, and treatment*. Neurosurgery Clinics, 2010. **21**(2): p. 339-352.
- 136. Peti-Peterdi, J. and R.C. Harris, *Macula densa sensing and signaling mechanisms of renin release.* Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 2010. **21**(7): p. 1093-1096.
- 137. Smith, R.E. and M. Ashiya, *Antihypertensive therapies*. 2007, Nature Publishing Group.
- 138. Peach, M.J., *Renin-angiotensin system: biochemistry and mechanisms of action.* Physiological reviews, 1977. **57**(2): p. 313-370.
- 139. Ito, A., K. Egashira, T. Narishige, K. Muramatsu, and A. Takeshita, *Angiotensin-converting enzyme activity is involved in the mechanism of increased endogenous nitric oxide synthase inhibitor in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus.* Circulation journal, 2002. **66**(9): p. 811-815.
- 140. Bader, M. and D. Ganten, *Update on tissue renin–angiotensin systems*. Journal of Molecular Medicine, 2008. **86**(6): p. 615.
- 141. Briet, M. and E.L. Schiffrin, *Aldosterone: effects on the kidney and cardiovascular system.* Nature Reviews Nephrology, 2010. **6**(5): p. 261.
- 142. MacGregor, G., *The importance of the response of the renin-angiotensin system in determining blood pressure changes with sodium restriction.* British journal of clinical pharmacology, 1987. **23**(S1).
- 143. Solomon, S.D. and N. Anavekar, *A brief overview of inhibition of the Renin-Angiotensin system: Emphasis on blockade of the Angiotensin II Type-1 Receptor.* Medscape Cardiology, 2005. **9**(2): p. 1-6.
- 144. Alderman, M.H., H.W. Cohen, J.E. Sealey, and J.H. Laragh, *Plasma renin activity levels in hypertensive persons: their wide range and lack of suppression in diabetic and in most elderly patients.* American journal of hypertension, 2004. **17**(1): p. 1-7.
- 145. Atlas, S.A., *The renin-angiotensin aldosterone system: pathophysiological role and pharmacologic inhibition.* Journal of managed care pharmacy, 2007. **13**(8 Supp B): p. 9-20.
- 146. Worthley, M.I., R. Corti, and S.G. Worthley, *Vasopeptidase inhibitors: will they have a role in clinical practice?* British journal of clinical pharmacology, 2004. **57**(1): p. 27-36.
- 147. Navar, L.G., H. Kobori, M.C. Prieto, and R.A. Gonzalez-Villalobos, *Intratubular reninangiotensin system in hypertension*. Hypertension, 2011. **57**(3): p. 355-362.

- 148. Crowley, S.D., S.B. Gurley, M.I. Oliverio, A.K. Pazmino, R. Griffiths, P.J. Flannery, R.F. Spurney, H.-S. Kim, O. Smithies, and T.H. Le, *Distinct roles for the kidney and systemic tissues in blood pressure regulation by the renin-angiotensin system*. The Journal of clinical investigation, 2005. **115**(4): p. 1092-1099.
- 149. Crowley, S.D., S.B. Gurley, M.J. Herrera, P. Ruiz, R. Griffiths, A.P. Kumar, H.-S. Kim, O. Smithies, T.H. Le, and T.M. Coffman, *Angiotensin II causes hypertension and cardiac hypertrophy through its receptors in the kidney.* Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 2006. **103**(47): p. 17985-17990.
- 150. Gonzalez-Villalobos, R.A., T. Janjoulia, N.K. Fletcher, J.F. Giani, M.T. Nguyen, A.D. Riquier-Brison, D.M. Seth, S. Fuchs, D. Eladari, and N. Picard, *The absence of intrarenal ACE protects against hypertension*. The Journal of clinical investigation, 2013. **123**(5): p. 2011-2023.
- 151. Vallance, P., J. Collier, and S. Moncada, *Effects of endothelium-derived nitric oxide on peripheral arteriolar tone in man.* Lancet, 1989. **2**(8670): p. 997-1000.
- 152. Jin, R.C. and J. Loscalzo, *Vascular Nitric Oxide: Formation and Function*. J Blood Med, 2010. **2010**(1): p. 147-162.
- 153. Joannides, R., W.E. Haefeli, L. Linder, V. Richard, E.H. Bakkali, C. Thuillez, and T.F. Lüscher, *Nitric oxide is responsible for flow-dependent dilatation of human peripheral conduit arteries in vivo*. Circulation, 1995. **91**(5): p. 1314-1319.
- 154. Sena, C.M., A.M. Pereira, and R. Seiça, *Endothelial dysfunction—a major mediator of diabetic vascular disease*. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Basis of Disease, 2013.
  1832(12): p. 2216-2231.
- 155. Rees, D.D., R.M. Palmer, and S. Moncada, *Role of endothelium-derived nitric oxide in the regulation of blood pressure*. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 1989. **86**(9): p. 3375-8.
- 156. Moncada, S. and E. Higgs, *The discovery of nitric oxide and its role in vascular biology*. British journal of pharmacology, 2006. **147**(S1).
- 157. Palmer, R.M., A. Ferrige, and S. Moncada, *Nitric oxide release accounts for the biological activity of endothelium-derived relaxing factor.* Nature, 1987. **327**(6122): p. 524.
- 158. Furchgott, R.F., *The requirement for endothelial cells in the relaxation of arteries by acetylcholine and some other vasodilators.* Trends in Pharmacological Sciences, 1981. **2**: p. 173-176.
- 159. Moncada, S., R. Palmer, and E.A. Higgs, *Nitric oxide: physiology, pathophysiology, and pharmacology.* Pharmacological reviews, 1991. **43**(2): p. 109-142.
- 160. Palmer, R.M., D.S. Ashton, and S. Moncada, *Vascular endothelial cells synthesize nitric oxide from L-arginine*. Nature, 1988. **333**(6174): p. 664-6.
- 161. Kelm, M., *The L-arginine-nitric oxide pathway in hypertension*. Curr Hypertens Rep, 2003. **5**(1): p. 80-6.
- 162. Cannon, R.O., *Role of nitric oxide in cardiovascular disease: focus on the endothelium*. Clinical chemistry, 1998. **44**(8): p. 1809-1819.
- 163. Feron, O., L. Belhassen, L. Kobzik, T.W. Smith, R.A. Kelly, and T. Michel, *Endothelial nitric* oxide synthase targeting to caveolae specific interactions with caveolin isoforms in cardiac myocytes and endothelial cells. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1996. **271**(37): p. 22810-22814.
- 164. Lundberg, J.O., E. Weitzberg, and M.T. Gladwin, *The nitrate-nitrite-nitric oxide pathway in physiology and therapeutics.* Nature Reviews. Drug Discovery, 2008. **7**(2): p. 156-67.
- 165. Govoni, M., E.A. Jansson, E. Weitzberg, and J.O. Lundberg, *The increase in plasma nitrite after a dietary nitrate load is markedly attenuated by an antibacterial mouthwash.* Nitric Oxide, 2008. **19**(4): p. 333-7.
- 166. Webb, A.J., N. Patel, S. Loukogeorgakis, M. Okorie, Z. Aboud, S. Misra, R. Rashid, P. Miall, J. Deanfield, N. Benjamin, R. MacAllister, A.J. Hobbs, and A. Ahluwalia, *Acute blood pressure lowering, vasoprotective, and antiplatelet properties of dietary nitrate via bioconversion to nitrite.* Hypertension, 2008. **51**(3): p. 784-90.

- 167. Fitzpatrick, D.F., S.L. Hirschfield, T. Ricci, P. Jantzen, and R.G. Coffey, *Endothelium-dependent* vasorelaxation caused by various plant extracts. Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology, 1995. **26**(1): p. 90-95.
- 168. Bruckdorfer, R., *The basics about nitric oxide*. Molecular aspects of medicine, 2005. **26**(1-2): p. 3-31.
- 169. Denninger, J.W. and M.A. Marletta, *Guanylate cyclase and the NO/cGMP signaling pathway*. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Bioenergetics, 1999. **1411**(2-3): p. 334-350.
- 170. Ross, R., *Cell biology of atherosclerosis*. Annual review of physiology, 1995. **57**(1): p. 791-804.
- 171. Umbrello, M., A. Dyson, M. Feelisch, and M. Singer, *The key role of nitric oxide in hypoxia: hypoxic vasodilation and energy supply–demand matching*. Antioxidants & redox signaling, 2013. **19**(14): p. 1690-1710.
- 172. Shiva, S., X. Wang, L.A. Ringwood, X. Xu, S. Yuditskaya, V. Annavajjhala, H. Miyajima, N. Hogg, Z.L. Harris, and M.T. Gladwin, *Ceruloplasmin is a NO oxidase and nitrite synthase that determines endocrine NO homeostasis.* Nature chemical biology, 2006. **2**(9): p. 486.
- 173. Abid, M.R., K.C. Spokes, S.-C. Shih, and W.C. Aird, *NADPH oxidase activity selectively modulates vascular endothelial growth factor signaling pathways.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2007. **282**(48): p. 35373-35385.
- 174. Cai, H. and D.G. Harrison, *Endothelial dysfunction in cardiovascular diseases: the role of oxidant stress.* Circulation research, 2000. **87**(10): p. 840-844.
- 175. Paravicini, T.M. and R.M. Touyz, *NADPH oxidases, reactive oxygen species, and hypertension: clinical implications and therapeutic possibilities.* Diabetes Care, 2008. **31 Suppl 2**: p. S170-80.
- 176. Stoclet, J.C., T. Chataigneau, M. Ndiaye, M.H. Oak, J. El Bedoui, M. Chataigneau, and V.B. Schini-Kerth, *Vascular protection by dietary polyphenols*. Eur J Pharmacol, 2004. **500**(1-3): p. 299-313.
- 177. Ray, R. and A.M. Shah, *NADPH oxidase and endothelial cell function*. Clin Sci (Lond), 2005. **109**(3): p. 217-26.
- 178. Li, J.-M. and A.M. Shah, *Endothelial cell superoxide generation: regulation and relevance for cardiovascular pathophysiology*. American Journal of Physiology Regulatory, Integrative and Comparative Physiology, 2004. **287**(5): p. R1014-R1030.
- 179. Rodiño-Janeiro, B.K., B. Paradela-Dobarro, M.I. Castiñeiras-Landeira, S. Raposeiras-Roubín, J.R. González-Juanatey, and E. Álvarez, *Current status of NADPH oxidase research in cardiovascular pharmacology.* Vascular Health and Risk Management, 2013. **9**: p. 401-428.
- 180. Wang, Y., J. Liu, F. Chen, and G. Zhao, *Effects of molecular structure of polyphenols on their noncovalent interactions with oat β-glucan*. Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 2013.
  61(19): p. 4533-4538.
- 181. Kris-Etherton, P.M., K.D. Hecker, A. Bonanome, S.M. Coval, A.E. Binkoski, K.F. Hilpert, A.E. Griel, and T.D. Etherton, *Bioactive compounds in foods: their role in the prevention of cardiovascular disease and cancer.* The American journal of medicine, 2002. **113**(9): p. 71-88.
- 182. Tsao, R., *Chemistry and biochemistry of dietary polyphenols.* Nutrients, 2010. **2**(12): p. 1231-1246.
- 183. Tangney, C.C. and H.E. Rasmussen, *Polyphenols, inflammation, and cardiovascular disease.* Current atherosclerosis reports, 2013. **15**(5): p. 324.
- 184. Quideau, S., D. Deffieux, C. Douat-Casassus, and L. Pouysegu, *Plant polyphenols: chemical properties, biological activities, and synthesis.* Angewandte Chemie International Edition, 2011. **50**(3): p. 586-621.
- 185. Del Rio, D., L. Costa, M. Lean, and A. Crozier, *Polyphenols and health: what compounds are involved?* Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 2010. **20**(1): p. 1-6.
- 186. Chong, M.F.-F., R. Macdonald, and J.A. Lovegrove, *Fruit polyphenols and CVD risk: a review of human intervention studies*. British Journal of Nutrition, 2010. **104**(S3): p. S28-S39.
- 187. de Pascual-Teresa, S., D.A. Moreno, and C. García-Viguera, *Flavanols and anthocyanins in cardiovascular health: a review of current evidence.* International journal of molecular sciences, 2010. **11**(4): p. 1679-1703.

- 188. Izquierdo-Torres, E., G. Rodríguez, I. Meneses-Morales, and A. Zarain-Herzberg, *Atp2a3 gene* as an important player for resveratrol anticancer activity in breast cancer cells. Molecular carcinogenesis, 2017. **56**(7): p. 1703-1711.
- 189. Brat, P., S. Georgé, A. Bellamy, L. Du Chaffaut, A. Scalbert, L. Mennen, N. Arnault, and M.J. Amiot, *Daily polyphenol intake in France from fruit and vegetables.* The Journal of nutrition, 2006. **136**(9): p. 2368-2373.
- 190. Pinto, P., S. Cardoso, R.C. Pimpao, L. Tavares, R.B. Ferreira, and C.N. Santos, *Daily polyphenol intake from fresh fruits in Portugal: contribution from berry fruits.* International journal of food sciences and nutrition, 2013. **64**(8): p. 1022-1029.
- 191. Pinto, P. and C.N. Santos, *Worldwide (poly) phenol intake: assessment methods and identified gaps.* European journal of nutrition, 2017. **56**(4): p. 1393-1408.
- 192. Simopoulos, A.P., *The Mediterranean diets: what is so special about the diet of Greece? The scientific evidence.* The Journal of nutrition, 2001. **131**(11): p. 3065S-3073S.
- 193. Zamora-Ros, R., V. Knaze, J.A. Rothwell, B. Hémon, A. Moskal, K. Overvad, A. Tjønneland, C. Kyrø, G. Fagherazzi, and M.-C. Boutron-Ruault, *Dietary polyphenol intake in Europe: the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC) study.* European journal of nutrition, 2016. **55**(4): p. 1359-1375.
- 194. Tresserra-Rimbau, A., A. Medina-Remon, J. Perez-Jimenez, M.A. Martinez-Gonzalez, M.I. Covas, D. Corella, J. Salas-Salvado, E. Gomez-Gracia, J. Lapetra, F. Aros, M. Fiol, E. Ros, L. Serra-Majem, X. Pinto, M.A. Munoz, G.T. Saez, V. Ruiz-Gutierrez, J. Warnberg, R. Estruch, and R.M. Lamuela-Raventos, *Dietary intake and major food sources of polyphenols in a Spanish population at high cardiovascular risk: the PREDIMED study*. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis, 2013. **23**(10): p. 953-9.
- 195. Ovaskainen, M.-L., R. Törrönen, J.M. Koponen, H. Sinkko, J. Hellström, H. Reinivuo, and P. Mattila, *Dietary intake and major food sources of polyphenols in Finnish adults.* The Journal of Nutrition, 2008. **138**(3): p. 562-566.
- 196. Grosso, G., U. Stepaniak, R. Topor-Mądry, K. Szafraniec, and A. Pająk, *Estimated dietary intake and major food sources of polyphenols in the Polish arm of the HAPIEE study*. Nutrition, 2014. **30**(11): p. 1398-1403.
- 197. Yahya, H.M., A. Day, C. Lawton, K. Myrissa, F. Croden, L. Dye, and G. Williamson, *Dietary intake of 20 polyphenol subclasses in a cohort of UK women.* European journal of nutrition, 2016. **55**(5): p. 1839-1847.
- 198. Nascimento-Souza, M.A., P.G. de Paiva, J. Perez-Jimenez, S. do Carmo Castro Franceschini, and A.Q. Ribeiro, *Estimated dietary intake and major food sources of polyphenols in elderly of Vicosa, Brazil: a population-based study.* Eur J Nutr, 2018. **57**(2): p. 617-627.
- 199. Taguchi, C., Y. Fukushima, Y. Kishimoto, N. Suzuki-Sugihara, E. Saita, Y. Takahashi, and K. Kondo, *Estimated dietary polyphenol intake and major food and beverage sources among elderly Japanese*. Nutrients, 2015. **7**(12): p. 10269-10281.
- 200. Jun, S., S. Shin, and H. Joung, *Estimation of dietary flavonoid intake and major food sources of Korean adults.* British Journal of Nutrition, 2016. **115**(3): p. 480-489.
- 201. Marin, L., E.M. Miguelez, C.J. Villar, and F. Lombo, *Bioavailability of dietary polyphenols and gut microbiota metabolism: antimicrobial properties.* Biomed Res Int, 2015. **2015**: p. 905215.
- 202. Kozlowska, A. and D. Szostak-Wegierek, *Flavonoids-food sources and health benefits*. Roczniki Państwowego Zakładu Higieny, 2014. **65**(2).
- 203. Manach, C., A. Scalbert, C. Morand, C. Remesy, and L. Jimenez, *Polyphenols: food sources and bioavailability.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2004. **79**(5): p. 727-47.
- 204. Day, A.J., F.J. Cañada, J.C. Díaz, P.A. Kroon, R. McLauchlan, C.B. Faulds, G.W. Plumb, M.R.A. Morgan, and G. Williamson, *Dietary flavonoid and isoflavone glycosides are hydrolysed by the lactase site of lactase phlorizin hydrolase*. FEBS Letters, 2000. **468**(2–3): p. 166-170.
- 205. Rowland, I., G. Gibson, A. Heinken, K. Scott, J. Swann, I. Thiele, and K. Tuohy, *Gut microbiota functions: metabolism of nutrients and other food components.* European Journal of Nutrition, 2017.

- 206. Braune, A. and M. Blaut, *Bacterial species involved in the conversion of dietary flavonoids in the human gut.* Gut Microbes, 2016. **7**(3): p. 216-34.
- 207. Moco, S., F.P. Martin, and S. Rezzi, *Metabolomics view on gut microbiome modulation by polyphenol-rich foods.* J Proteome Res, 2012. **11**(10): p. 4781-90.
- 208. Williamson, G. and M.N. Clifford, *Role of the small intestine, colon and microbiota in determining the metabolic fate of polyphenols.* Biochemical Pharmacology, 2017. **139**(Supplement C): p. 24-39.
- 209. Tsuchiya, H., M. Sato, H. Kato, T. Okubo, L.R. Juneja, and M. Kim, *Simultaneous determination of catechins in human saliva by high-performance liquid chromatography.* J Chromatogr B Biomed Sci Appl, 1997. **703**(1-2): p. 253-8.
- 210. Yang, C.S., M.-J. Lee, and L. Chen, *Human salivary tea catechin levels and catechin esterase activities: implication in human cancer prevention studies.* Cancer Epidemiology and Prevention Biomarkers, 1999. **8**(1): p. 83-89.
- 211. Laires, A., P. Pacheco, and J. Rueff, *Mutagenicity of rutin and the glycosidic activity of cultured cell-free microbial preparations of human faeces and saliva.* Food Chem Toxicol, 1989. **27**(7): p. 437-43.
- 212. Parisis, D.M. and E.T. Pritchard, *Activation of rutin by human oral bacterial isolates to the carcinogen-mutagen quercetin.* Arch Oral Biol, 1983. **28**(7): p. 583-90.
- 213. Macdonald, I.A., J.A. Mader, and R.G. Bussard, *The role of rutin and quercitrin in stimulating flavonol glycosidase activity by cultured cell-free microbial preparations of human feces and saliva*. Mutation Research Letters, 1983. **122**(2): p. 95-102.
- 214. de Freitas, V. and N. Mateus, *Structural features of procyanidin interactions with salivary proteins.* J Agric Food Chem, 2001. **49**(2): p. 940-5.
- 215. Nishioka, H., K. Nishi, and K. Kyokane, *Human saliva inactivates mutagenicity of carcinogens.* Mutat Res, 1981. **85**(5): p. 323-33.
- 216. Lin, J.H., M. Chiba, and T.A. Baillie, *Is the role of the small intestine in first-pass metabolism overemphasized?* Pharmacol Rev, 1999. **51**(2): p. 135-58.
- 217. Higuchi, W.I., N.F. Ho, J.Y. Park, and I. Komiya, *Rate-limiting steps and factors in drug absorption.*, in *Drug Absorption*, L.F.P.W.S. Nimno, Editor. 1981, ADIS Press: New York. p. 35-60.
- 218. Corona, G., X. Tzounis, M. Assunta Dessi, M. Deiana, E.S. Debnam, F. Visioli, and J.P. Spencer, *The fate of olive oil polyphenols in the gastrointestinal tract: implications of gastric and colonic microflora-dependent biotransformation.* Free Radic Res, 2006. **40**(6): p. 647-58.
- 219. Spencer, J.P., H. Schroeter, A.R. Rechner, and C. Rice-Evans, *Bioavailability of flavan-3-ols and procyanidins: gastrointestinal tract influences and their relevance to bioactive forms in vivo.* Antioxid Redox Signal, 2001. **3**(6): p. 1023-39.
- 220. Day, A.J. and G. Williamson, *Biomarkers for exposure to dietary flavonoids: a review of the current evidence for identification of quercetin glycosides in plasma*. Br J Nutr, 2001. **86 Suppl 1**: p. S105-10.
- 221. Gee, J.M., M.S. DuPont, A.J. Day, G.W. Plumb, G. Williamson, and I.T. Johnson, *Intestinal transport of quercetin glycosides in rats involves both deglycosylation and interaction with the hexose transport pathway.* J Nutr, 2000. **130**(11): p. 2765-71.
- 222. Hollman, P.C., M.N. Bijsman, Y. van Gameren, E.P. Cnossen, J.H. de Vries, and M.B. Katan, *The sugar moiety is a major determinant of the absorption of dietary flavonoid glycosides in man.* Free Radic Res, 1999. **31**(6): p. 569-73.
- 223. loku, K., Y. Pongpiriyadacha, Y. Konishi, Y. Takei, N. Nakatani, and J. Terao, *beta-Glucosidase activity in the rat small intestine toward quercetin monoglucosides*. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem, 1998. **62**(7): p. 1428-31.
- 224. Morand, C., C. Manach, V. Crespy, and C. Remesy, *Respective bioavailability of quercetin aglycone and its glycosides in a rat model*. Biofactors, 2000. **12**(1-4): p. 169-74.

- 225. Spencer, J.P., G. Chowrimootoo, R. Choudhury, E.S. Debnam, S.K. Srai, and C. Rice-Evans, *The small intestine can both absorb and glucuronidate luminal flavonoids.* FEBS Lett, 1999. **458**(2): p. 224-30.
- 226. Walle, T., Y. Otake, U.K. Walle, and F.A. Wilson, *Quercetin glucosides are completely hydrolyzed in ileostomy patients before absorption.* J Nutr, 2000. **130**(11): p. 2658-61.
- 227. Kuhnle, G., J.P. Spencer, G. Chowrimootoo, H. Schroeter, E.S. Debnam, S.K. Srai, C. Rice-Evans, and U. Hahn, *Resveratrol is absorbed in the small intestine as resveratrol glucuronide*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2000. **272**(1): p. 212-7.
- 228. Kuhnle, G., J.P. Spencer, H. Schroeter, B. Shenoy, E.S. Debnam, S.K. Srai, C. Rice-Evans, and U. Hahn, *Epicatechin and catechin are O-methylated and glucuronidated in the small intestine*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2000. **277**(2): p. 507-12.
- 229. Cardona, F., C. Andrés-Lacueva, S. Tulipani, F.J. Tinahones, and M.I. Queipo-Ortuño, *Benefits of polyphenols on gut microbiota and implications in human health*. The Journal of nutritional biochemistry, 2013. **24**(8): p. 1415-1422.
- 230. Crespy, V., C. Morand, C. Manach, C. Besson, C. Demigne, and C. Remesy, *Part of quercetin absorbed in the small intestine is conjugated and further secreted in the intestinal lumen.* American Journal of Physiology-Gastrointestinal and Liver Physiology, 1999. **277**(1): p. G120-G126.
- 231. Scheline, R.R., *Metabolism of Oxygen Heterocyclic Compounds*, in *CRC Handbook of mammalian metabolism of plant compounds*, C. Press, Editor. 1999, Boca Ranton. p. 243-295.
- 232. Spencer, J.P., H. Schroeter, B. Shenoy, S.K. Srai, E.S. Debnam, and C. Rice-Evans, *Epicatechin is the primary bioavailable form of the procyanidin dimers B2 and B5 after transfer across the small intestine.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2001. **285**(3): p. 588-93.
- 233. Li, C., M.J. Lee, S. Sheng, X. Meng, S. Prabhu, B. Winnik, B. Huang, J.Y. Chung, S. Yan, C.T. Ho, and C.S. Yang, *Structural identification of two metabolites of catechins and their kinetics in human urine and blood after tea ingestion.* Chem Res Toxicol, 2000. **13**(3): p. 177-84.
- 234. Baba, S., T. Furuta, M. Fujioka, and T. Goromaru, *Studies on drug metabolism by use of isotopes XXVII: urinary metabolites of rutin in rats and the role of intestinal microflora in the metabolism of rutin.* Journal of pharmaceutical sciences, 1983. **72**(10): p. 1155-1158.
- 235. Bokkenheuser, V.D., C. Shackleton, and J. Winter, *Hydrolysis of dietary flavonoid glycosides by strains of intestinal Bacteroides from humans*. Biochemical Journal, 1987. **248**(3): p. 953-956.
- 236. Schneider, H., A. Schwiertz, M.D. Collins, and M. Blaut, *Anaerobic transformation of quercetin-3-glucoside by bacteria from the human intestinal tract.* Arch Microbiol, 1999. **171**(2): p. 81-91.
- 237. Schneider, H. and M. Blaut, *Anaerobic degradation of flavonoids by Eubacterium ramulus*. Arch Microbiol, 2000. **173**(1): p. 71-5.
- 238. Kim, D.H., E.A. Jung, I.S. Sohng, J.A. Han, T.H. Kim, and M.J. Han, *Intestinal bacterial metabolism of flavonoids and its relation to some biological activities*. Arch Pharm Res, 1998. **21**(1): p. 17-23.
- 239. Aura, A.M., P. Martin-Lopez, K.A. O'Leary, G. Williamson, K.M. Oksman-Caldentey, K. Poutanen, and C. Santos-Buelga, *In vitro metabolism of anthocyanins by human gut microflora*. Eur J Nutr, 2005. **44**(3): p. 133-42.
- 240. McGhie, T.K. and M.C. Walton, *The bioavailability and absorption of anthocyanins: towards a better understanding.* Mol Nutr Food Res, 2007. **51**(6): p. 702-13.
- 241. Annuzzi, G., L. Bozzetto, G. Costabile, R. Giacco, A. Mangione, G. Anniballi, M. Vitale, C. Vetrani, P. Cipriano, and G.D. Corte, *Diets naturally rich in polyphenols improve fasting and postprandial dyslipidemia and reduce oxidative stress: a randomized controlled trial*–. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2013. **99**(3): p. 463-471.
- 242. Ginter, E. and V. Simko, *Plant polyphenols in prevention of heart disease*. Bratislavske lekarske listy, 2012. **113**(8): p. 476.

- 243. Michalska, M., A. Gluba, D.P. Mikhailidis, P. Nowak, A. Bielecka-Dabrowa, J. Rysz, and M. Banach, *The role of polyphenols in cardiovascular disease*. Medical Science Monitor, 2010. **16**(5).
- 244. Mursu, J., S. Voutilainen, T. Nurmi, T.-P. Tuomainen, S. Kurl, and J.T. Salonen, *Flavonoid intake and the risk of ischaemic stroke and CVD mortality in middle-aged Finnish men: the Kuopio Ischaemic Heart Disease Risk Factor Study.* British journal of nutrition, 2008. **100**(4): p. 890-895.
- 245. Habauzit, V. and C. Morand, *Evidence for a protective effect of polyphenols-containing foods on cardiovascular health: an update for clinicians.* Therapeutic advances in chronic disease, 2012. **3**(2): p. 87-106.
- 246. Opie, L.H. and S. Lecour, *The red wine hypothesis: from concepts to protective signalling molecules.* European heart journal, 2007. **28**(14): p. 1683-1693.
- 247. Manach, C., A. Scalbert, C. Morand, C. Rémésy, and L. Jiménez, *Polyphenols: food sources and bioavailability*. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2004. **79**(5): p. 727-747.
- 248. Liu, R.H., *Dietary bioactive compounds and their health implications*. Journal of food science, 2013. **78**(s1).
- 249. Rein, D., S. Lotito, R.R. Holt, C.L. Keen, H.H. Schmitz, and C.G. Fraga, *Epicatechin in human plasma: in vivo determination and effect of chocolate consumption on plasma oxidation status*. The Journal of nutrition, 2000. **130**(8): p. 2109S-2114S.
- 250. Rice-Evans, C.A., N.J. Miller, and G. Paganga, *Structure-antioxidant activity relationships of flavonoids and phenolic acids.* Free radical biology and medicine, 1996. **20**(7): p. 933-956.
- 251. Joseph, S.V., I. Edirisinghe, and B.M. Burton-Freeman, *Fruit polyphenols: A review of antiinflammatory effects in humans.* Critical reviews in food science and nutrition, 2016. **56**(3): p. 419-444.
- 252. Actis-Goretta, L., J.I. Ottaviani, and C.G. Fraga, *Inhibition of angiotensin converting enzyme activity by flavanol-rich foods.* Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 2006. **54**(1): p. 229-234.
- 253. Ajibola, C.F., A.F. Eleyinmi, and R.E. Aluko, *Kinetics of the inhibition of renin and angiotensin I converting enzyme by polar and non-polar polyphenolic extracts of Vernonia amygdalina and Gongronema latifolium leaves.* Plant foods for human nutrition, 2011. **66**(4): p. 320-327.
- 254. Aviram, M. and L. Dornfeld, *Pomegranate juice consumption inhibits serum angiotensin converting enzyme activity and reduces systolic blood pressure.* Atherosclerosis, 2001. **158**(1): p. 195-198.
- 255. Mubarak, A., C.P. Bondonno, A.H. Liu, M.J. Considine, L. Rich, E. Mas, K.D. Croft, and J.M. Hodgson, *Acute effects of chlorogenic acid on nitric oxide status, endothelial function, and blood pressure in healthy volunteers: a randomized trial.* Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 2012. **60**(36): p. 9130-9136.
- 256. Williams, R.J., J.P. Spencer, and C. Rice-Evans, *Flavonoids: antioxidants or signalling molecules*? Free radical biology and medicine, 2004. **36**(7): p. 838-849.
- 257. Fisher, N.D., M. Hughes, M. Gerhard-Herman, and N.K. Hollenberg, *Flavanol-rich cocoa induces nitric-oxide-dependent vasodilation in healthy humans*. Journal of hypertension, 2003. **21**(12): p. 2281-2286.
- 258. Milbury, P.E., J.A. Vita, K.A. Finnerty, M. Holbrook, J. Palmisano, N.M. Hamburg, and J.B. Blumberg, *Anthocyanin bioavailability from acute cranberry juice consumption and evidence of effects on endothelial function in patients with coronary artery disease*. The FASEB Journal, 2008. **22**(1 Supplement): p. 460.5-460.5.
- 259. Revuelta-Iniesta, R. and E.A. Al-Dujaili, *Consumption of green coffee reduces blood pressure and body composition by influencing 118-HSD1 enzyme activity in healthy individuals: a pilot crossover study using green and black coffee.* BioMed research international, 2014. **2014**.
- 260. Widlansky, M.E., N.M. Hamburg, E. Anter, M. Holbrook, D.F. Kahn, J.G. Elliott, J.F. Keaney Jr, and J.A. Vita, *Acute EGCG supplementation reverses endothelial dysfunction in patients with coronary artery disease.* Journal of the American College of Nutrition, 2007. **26**(2): p. 95-102.

- 261. Amiot, M., C. Riva, and A. Vinet, *Effects of dietary polyphenols on metabolic syndrome features in humans: a systematic review.* Obesity Reviews, 2016. **17**(7): p. 573-586.
- 262. Hodgson, J.M. and K.D. Croft, *Dietary flavonoids: effects on endothelial function and blood pressure.* Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 2006. **86**(15): p. 2492-2498.
- 263. Appeldoorn, M.M., D.P. Venema, T.H. Peters, M.E. Koenen, I.C. Arts, J.-P. Vincken, H. Gruppen, J. Keijer, and P.C. Hollman, *Some phenolic compounds increase the nitric oxide level in endothelial cells in vitro*. Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 2009. **57**(17): p. 7693-7699.
- 264. Heiss, C., A. Dejam, P. Kleinbongard, T. Schewe, H. Sies, and M. Kelm, *Vascular effects of cocoa rich in flavan-3-ols.* Jama, 2003. **290**(8): p. 1030-1031.
- 265. Hügel, H.M., N. Jackson, B. May, A.L. Zhang, and C.C. Xue, *Polyphenol protection and treatment of hypertension*. Phytomedicine, 2016. **23**(2): p. 220-231.
- 266. Karim, M., K. McCormick, and C.T. Kappagoda, *Effects of cocoa extracts on endotheliumdependent relaxation.* The Journal of nutrition, 2000. **130**(8): p. 2105S-2108S.
- 267. Leikert, J.F., T.R. Räthel, P. Wohlfart, V. Cheynier, A.M. Vollmar, and V.M. Dirsch, *Red wine* polyphenols enhance endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression and subsequent nitric oxide release from endothelial cells. Circulation, 2002. **106**(13): p. 1614-1617.
- 268. Motion, I.C.F.U., *Contemporary Reviews in Cardiovascular Medicine*. Circulation, 2007. **116**: p. 2453-2464.
- 269. Deanfield, J.E., J.P. Halcox, and T.J. Rabelink, *Endothelial function and dysfunction: testing and clinical relevance.* Circulation, 2007. **115**(10): p. 1285-1295.
- 270. Neveu, V., J. Perez-Jimenez, F. Vos, V. Crespy, L. du Chaffaut, L. Mennen, C. Knox, R. Eisner, J. Cruz, D. Wishart, and A. Scalbert, *Phenol-Explorer: an online comprehensive database on polyphenol contents in foods*. Database (Oxford), 2010. **2010**: p. bap024.
- 271. Arts, I.C. and P.C. Hollman, *Polyphenols and disease risk in epidemiologic studies.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2005. **81**(1 Suppl): p. 317S-325S.
- 272. Arts, I.C., D.R. Jacobs, Jr., L.J. Harnack, M. Gross, and A.R. Folsom, *Dietary catechins in relation to coronary heart disease death among postmenopausal women*. Epidemiology, 2001. **12**(6): p. 668-75.
- 273. Buijsse, B., E.J. Feskens, F.J. Kok, and D. Kromhout, *Cocoa intake, blood pressure, and cardiovascular mortality: the Zutphen Elderly Study.* Arch Intern Med, 2006. **166**(4): p. 411-7.
- Hertog, M.G., E.J. Feskens, P.C. Hollman, M.B. Katan, and D. Kromhout, *Dietary antioxidant flavonoids and risk of coronary heart disease: the Zutphen Elderly Study.* Lancet, 1993.
  342(8878): p. 1007-11.
- 275. Peters, U., C. Poole, and L. Arab, *Does tea affect cardiovascular disease? A meta-analysis.* Am J Epidemiol, 2001. **154**(6): p. 495-503.
- 276. Di Castelnuovo, A., S. Rotondo, L. Iacoviello, M.B. Donati, and G. De Gaetano, *Meta-analysis* of wine and beer consumption in relation to vascular risk. Circulation, 2002. **105**(24): p. 2836-44.
- 277. Hooper, L., P.A. Kroon, E.B. Rimm, J.S. Cohn, I. Harvey, K.A. Le Cornu, J.J. Ryder, W.L. Hall, and A. Cassidy, *Flavonoids, flavonoid-rich foods, and cardiovascular risk: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2008. **88**(1): p. 38-50.
- 278. Hollenberg, N.K., G. Martinez, M. McCullough, T. Meinking, D. Passan, M. Preston, A. Rivera, D. Taplin, and M. Vicaria-Clement, *Aging, acculturation, salt intake, and hypertension in the Kuna of Panama*. Hypertension, 1997. **29**(1 Pt 2): p. 171-6.
- 279. Hertog, M.G., E.J. Feskens, and D. Kromhout, *Antioxidant flavonols and coronary heart disease risk.* Lancet, 1997. **349**(9053): p. 699.
- 280. Lin, J., K.M. Rexrode, F. Hu, C.M. Albert, C.U. Chae, E.B. Rimm, M.J. Stampfer, and J.E. Manson, *Dietary intakes of flavonols and flavones and coronary heart disease in US women.* Am J Epidemiol, 2007. **165**(11): p. 1305-13.

- 281. Rimm, E.B., M.B. Katan, A. Ascherio, M.J. Stampfer, and W.C. Willett, *Relation between intake of flavonoids and risk for coronary heart disease in male health professionals.* Ann Intern Med, 1996. **125**(5): p. 384-9.
- 282. Sesso, H.D., J.M. Gaziano, S. Liu, and J.E. Buring, *Flavonoid intake and the risk of cardiovascular disease in women.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2003. **77**(6): p. 1400-8.
- 283. Vita, J.A., *Polyphenols and cardiovascular disease: effects on endothelial and platelet function.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2005. **81**(1 Suppl): p. 292S-297S.
- 284. Desch, S., J. Schmidt, D. Kobler, M. Sonnabend, I. Eitel, M. Sareban, K. Rahimi, G. Schuler, and H. Thiele, *Effect of cocoa products on blood pressure: systematic review and meta-analysis.* Am J Hypertens, 2010. **23**(1): p. 97-103.
- 285. Engler, M.B., M.M. Engler, C.Y. Chen, M.J. Malloy, A. Browne, E.Y. Chiu, H.K. Kwak, P. Milbury, S.M. Paul, J. Blumberg, and M.L. Mietus-Snyder, *Flavonoid-rich dark chocolate improves endothelial function and increases plasma epicatechin concentrations in healthy adults.* J Am Coll Nutr, 2004. **23**(3): p. 197-204.
- 286. Grassi, D., S. Necozione, C. Lippi, G. Croce, L. Valeri, P. Pasqualetti, G. Desideri, J.B. Blumberg, and C. Ferri, *Cocoa reduces blood pressure and insulin resistance and improves endotheliumdependent vasodilation in hypertensives.* Hypertension, 2005. **46**(2): p. 398-405.
- 287. Murphy, K.J., A.K. Chronopoulos, I. Singh, M.A. Francis, H. Moriarty, M.J. Pike, A.H. Turner, N.J. Mann, and A.J. Sinclair, *Dietary flavanols and procyanidin oligomers from cocoa (Theobroma cacao) inhibit platelet function.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2003. **77**(6): p. 1466-73.
- 288. Taubert, D., R. Roesen, C. Lehmann, N. Jung, and E. Schomig, *Effects of low habitual cocoa intake on blood pressure and bioactive nitric oxide: a randomized controlled trial.* JAMA, 2007a. **298**(1): p. 49-60.
- 289. Taubert, D., R. Roesen, and E. Schomig, *Effect of cocoa and tea intake on blood pressure: a meta-analysis.* Arch Intern Med, 2007b. **167**(7): p. 626-34.
- 290. Crews, W.D., Jr., D.W. Harrison, and J.W. Wright, A double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized trial of the effects of dark chocolate and cocoa on variables associated with neuropsychological functioning and cardiovascular health: clinical findings from a sample of healthy, cognitively intact older adults. Am J Clin Nutr, 2008. **87**(4): p. 872-80.
- 291. Fraga, C.G., L. Actis-Goretta, J.I. Ottaviani, F. Carrasquedo, S.B. Lotito, S. Lazarus, H.H. Schmitz, and C.L. Keen, *Regular consumption of a flavanol-rich chocolate can improve oxidant stress in young soccer players.* Clin Dev Immunol, 2005. **12**(1): p. 11-7.
- 292. Muniyappa, R., G. Hall, T.L. Kolodziej, R.J. Karne, S.K. Crandon, and M.J. Quon, *Cocoa* consumption for 2 wk enhances insulin-mediated vasodilatation without improving blood pressure or insulin resistance in essential hypertension. Am J Clin Nutr, 2008. **88**(6): p. 1685-96.
- 293. Davison, K., A.M. Coates, J.D. Buckley, and P. Howe, *Effect of cocoa flavanols and exercise on cardiometabolic risk factors in overweight and obese subjects.* International journal of obesity, 2008. **32**(8): p. 1289.
- 294. Moreno-Luna, R., R. Muñoz-Hernandez, M.L. Miranda, A.F. Costa, L. Jimenez-Jimenez, A.J. Vallejo-Vaz, F.J. Muriana, J. Villar, and P. Stiefel, *Olive oil polyphenols decrease blood pressure and improve endothelial function in young women with mild hypertension*. American journal of hypertension, 2012. **25**(12): p. 1299-1304.
- 295. Tjelle, T.E., L. Holtung, S.K. Bøhn, K. Aaby, M. Thoresen, S.Å. Wiik, I. Paur, A.S. Karlsen, K. Retterstøl, and P.O. Iversen, *Polyphenol-rich juices reduce blood pressure measures in a randomised controlled trial in high normal and hypertensive volunteers*. British Journal of Nutrition, 2015. **114**(7): p. 1054-1063.
- 296. Barona, J., J.C. Aristizabal, C.N. Blesso, J.S. Volek, and M.L. Fernandez, *Grape Polyphenols Reduce Blood Pressure and Increase Flow-Mediated Vasodilation in Men with Metabolic Syndrome1.* The Journal of nutrition, 2012. **142**(9): p. 1626-1632.

- 297. Sikora, J., M. Broncel, and E. Mikiciuk-Olasik, *Aronia melanocarpa Elliot reduces the activity of angiotensin I-converting enzyme—in vitro and ex vivo studies.* Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity, 2014.
- 298. Larson, A., M.A. Witman, Y. Guo, S. Ives, R.S. Richardson, R.S. Bruno, T. Jalili, and J.D. Symons, *Acute, quercetin-induced reductions in blood pressure in hypertensive individuals are not secondary to lower plasma angiotensin-converting enzyme activity or endothelin-1: nitric oxide.* Nutrition research, 2012. **32**(8): p. 557-564.
- 299. McAnulty, S.R., L.S. McAnulty, J.D. Morrow, D. Khardouni, L. Shooter, J. Monk, S. Gross, and V. Brown, *Effect of daily fruit ingestion on angiotensin converting enzyme activity, blood pressure, and oxidative stress in chronic smokers.* Free radical research, 2005. **39**(11): p. 1241-1248.
- Hertog, M.G., D. Kromhout, C. Aravanis, H. Blackburn, R. Buzina, F. Fidanza, S. Giampaoli, A. Jansen, A. Menotti, S. Nedeljkovic, and et al., *Flavonoid intake and long-term risk of coronary heart disease and cancer in the seven countries study*. Arch Intern Med, 1995. 155(4): p. 381-6.
- 301. Knekt, P., S. Isotupa, H. Rissanen, M. Heliovaara, R. Jarvinen, S. Hakkinen, A. Aromaa, and A. Reunanen, *Quercetin intake and the incidence of cerebrovascular disease.* Eur J Clin Nutr, 2000. **54**(5): p. 415-7.
- 302. Knekt, P., R. Jarvinen, A. Reunanen, and J. Maatela, *Flavonoid intake and coronary mortality in Finland: a cohort study.* BMJ, 1996. **312**(7029): p. 478-81.
- 303. Flammer, A.J., T. Anderson, D.S. Celermajer, M.A. Creager, J. Deanfield, P. Ganz, N.M. Hamburg, T.F. Lüscher, M. Shechter, and S. Taddei, *The assessment of endothelial function*. Circulation, 2012. **126**(6): p. 753-767.
- 304. McCall, D.O., M.C. McKinley, R. Noad, P.P. McKeown, D.R. McCance, I.S. Young, and J.V. Woodside, *The assessment of vascular function during dietary intervention trials in human subjects.* The British journal of nutrition, 2011. **106**(7): p. 981.
- 305. Celermajer, D.S., K.E. Sorensen, C. Bull, J. Robinson, and J.E. Deanfield, *Endotheliumdependent dilation in the systemic arteries of asymptomatic subjects relates to coronary risk factors and their interaction.* Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 1994. **24**(6): p. 1468-1474.
- 306. Moore, R.J., K.G. Jackson, and A.M. Minihane, *Green tea (Camellia sinensis) catechins and vascular function*. British journal of nutrition, 2009. **102**(12): p. 1790-1802.
- 307. Heiss, C., D. Finis, P. Kleinbongard, A. Hoffmann, T. Rassaf, M. Kelm, and H. Sies, *Sustained increase in flow-mediated dilation after daily intake of high-flavanol cocoa drink over 1 week.* Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology, 2007. **49**(2): p. 74-80.
- 308. Heiss, C., A. Dejam, P. Kleinbongard, T. Schewe, H. Sies, and M. Kelm, *Vascular effects of cocoa rich in flavan-3-ols.* JAMA, 2003. **290**(8): p. 1030-1.
- 309. Heiss, C., P. Kleinbongard, A. Dejam, S. Perré, H. Schroeter, H. Sies, and M. Kelm, *Acute consumption of flavanol-rich cocoa and the reversal of endothelial dysfunction in smokers.* Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 2005. **46**(7): p. 1276-1283.
- 310. Schroeter, H., C. Heiss, J. Balzer, P. Kleinbongard, C.L. Keen, N.K. Hollenberg, H. Sies, C. Kwik-Uribe, H.H. Schmitz, and M. Kelm, (-)-*Epicatechin mediates beneficial effects of flavanol-rich cocoa on vascular function in humans.* Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 2006. **103**(4): p. 1024-9.
- 311. Widlansky, M.E., N.M. Hamburg, E. Anter, M. Holbrook, D.F. Kahn, J.G. Elliott, J.F. Keaney, Jr., and J.A. Vita, *Acute EGCG supplementation reverses endothelial dysfunction in patients with coronary artery disease.* J Am Coll Nutr, 2007. **26**(2): p. 95-102.
- 312. Duffy, S.J., J.F. Keaney, Jr., M. Holbrook, N. Gokce, P.L. Swerdloff, B. Frei, and J.A. Vita, *Short*and long-term black tea consumption reverses endothelial dysfunction in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation, 2001. **104**(2): p. 151-6.
- 313. Stein, J.H., J.G. Keevil, D.A. Wiebe, S. Aeschlimann, and J.D. Folts, *Purple grape juice improves* endothelial function and reduces the susceptibility of LDL cholesterol to oxidation in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation, 1999. **100**(10): p. 1050-5.

- 314. Hashimoto, M., S. Kim, M. Eto, K. Iijima, J. Ako, M. Yoshizumi, M. Akishita, K. Kondo, H. Itakura, K. Hosoda, K. Toba, and Y. Ouchi, *Effect of acute intake of red wine on flow-mediated vasodilatation of the brachial artery.* Am J Cardiol, 2001. **88**(12): p. 1457-60, A9.
- 315. Papamichael, C., E. Karatzis, K. Karatzi, K. Aznaouridis, T. Papaioannou, A. Protogerou, K. Stamatelopoulos, A. Zampelas, J. Lekakis, and M. Mavrikakis, *Red wine's antioxidants counteract acute endothelial dysfunction caused by cigarette smoking in healthy nonsmokers.* Am Heart J, 2004. **147**(2): p. E5.
- 316. Whelan, A.P., W.H. Sutherland, M.P. McCormick, D.J. Yeoman, S.A. de Jong, and M.J. Williams, *Effects of white and red wine on endothelial function in subjects with coronary artery disease.* Intern Med J, 2004. **34**(5): p. 224-8.
- 317. Chou, E.J., J.G. Keevil, S. Aeschlimann, D.A. Wiebe, J.D. Folts, and J.H. Stein, *Effect of ingestion of purple grape juice on endothelial function in patients with coronary heart disease.* Am J Cardiol, 2001. **88**(5): p. 553-5.
- 318. Vita, J.A., *Tea consumption and cardiovascular disease: effects on endothelial function.* J Nutr, 2003. **133**(10): p. 3293S-3297S.
- 319. Stein, J.H., J.G. Keevil, D.A. Wiebe, S. Aeschlimann, and J.D. Folts, *Purple grape juice improves* endothelial function and reduces the susceptibility of LDL cholesterol to oxidation in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation, 1999. **100**(10): p. 1050-1055.
- 320. Wang-Polagruto, J.F., A.C. Villablanca, J.A. Polagruto, L. Lee, R.R. Holt, H.R. Schrader, J.L. Ensunsa, F.M. Steinberg, H.H. Schmitz, and C.L. Keen, *Chronic consumption of flavanol-rich cocoa improves endothelial function and decreases vascular cell adhesion molecule in hypercholesterolemic postmenopausal women.* Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology, 2006. **47**: p. S177-S186.
- 321. Heiss, C., D. Finis, P. Kleinbongard, A. Hoffmann, T. Rassaf, M. Kelm, and H. Sies, *Sustained increase in flow-mediated dilation after daily intake of high-flavanol cocoa drink over 1 week*. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol, 2007. **49**(2): p. 74-80.
- 322. Balzer, J., T. Rassaf, C. Heiss, P. Kleinbongard, T. Lauer, M. Merx, N. Heussen, H.B. Gross, C.L. Keen, H. Schroeter, and M. Kelm, *Sustained benefits in vascular function through flavanol-containing cocoa in medicated diabetic patients a double-masked, randomized, controlled trial.* J Am Coll Cardiol, 2008. **51**(22): p. 2141-9.
- 323. Ras, R.T., P.L. Zock, and R. Draijer, *Tea consumption enhances endothelial-dependent vasodilation; a meta-analysis.* PLoS One, 2011. **6**(3): p. e16974.
- 324. Hooper, L., C. Kay, A. Abdelhamid, P.A. Kroon, J.S. Cohn, E.B. Rimm, and A. Cassidy, *Effects of chocolate, cocoa, and flavan-3-ols on cardiovascular health: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized trials*—. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2012. **95**(3): p. 740-751.
- 325. Siasos, G., D. Tousoulis, E. Kokkou, E. Oikonomou, M.-E. Kollia, A. Verveniotis, N. Gouliopoulos, K. Zisimos, A. Plastiras, and K. Maniatis, *Favorable effects of concord grape juice on endothelial function and arterial stiffness in healthy smokers.* American journal of hypertension, 2013. **27**(1): p. 38-45.
- 326. Dohadwala, M.M., M. Holbrook, N.M. Hamburg, S.M. Shenouda, W.B. Chung, M. Titas, M.A. Kluge, N. Wang, J. Palmisano, and P.E. Milbury, *Effects of cranberry juice consumption on vascular function in patients with coronary artery disease.* The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2011. **93**(5): p. 934-940.
- 327. Rodriguez-Mateos, A., C. Rendeiro, T. Bergillos-Meca, S. Tabatabaee, T.W. George, C. Heiss, and J.P. Spencer, *Intake and time dependence of blueberry flavonoid—induced improvements in vascular function: a randomized, controlled, double-blind, crossover intervention study with mechanistic insights into biological activity.* The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 2013. **98**(5): p. 1179-1191.
- 328. Rodriguez-Mateos, A., D. Vauzour, C.G. Krueger, D. Shanmuganayagam, J. Reed, L. Calani, P. Mena, D. Del Rio, and A. Crozier, *Bioavailability, bioactivity and impact on health of dietary*

*flavonoids and related compounds: an update.* Archives of toxicology, 2014. **88**(10): p. 1803-1853.

- 329. Alqurashi, R.M., L.A. Galante, I.R. Rowland, J.P. Spencer, and D.M. Commane, *Consumption of a flavonoid-rich açai meal is associated with acute improvements in vascular function and a reduction in total oxidative status in healthy overweight men.* The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2016. **104**(5): p. 1227-1235.
- 330. Rendeiro, C., H. Dong, C. Saunders, L. Harkness, M. Blaze, Y. Hou, R.L. Belanger, G. Corona, J.A. Lovegrove, and J.P. Spencer, *Flavanone-rich citrus beverages counteract the transient decline in postprandial endothelial function in humans: a randomised, controlled, double-masked, cross-over intervention study.* British Journal of Nutrition, 2017: p. 1-12.
- Rizza, S., R. Muniyappa, M. Iantorno, J.-a. Kim, H. Chen, P. Pullikotil, N. Senese, M. Tesauro, D. Lauro, and C. Cardillo, *Citrus polyphenol hesperidin stimulates production of nitric oxide in endothelial cells while improving endothelial function and reducing inflammatory markers in patients with metabolic syndrome.* The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism, 2011.
  96(5): p. E782-E792.
- 332. Lekakis, J., L.S. Rallidis, I. Andreadou, G. Vamvakou, G. Kazantzoglou, P. Magiatis, A.-L. Skaltsounis, and D.T. Kremastinos, *Polyphenols compounds from red grapes acutely improve endothelial function in patients with coronary heart disease.* European Journal of Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation, 2005. **12**(6): p. 596-600.
- 333. Hodgson, J.M., I.B. Puddey, V. Burke, G.F. Watts, and L.J. Beilin, *Regular ingestion of black tea improves brachial artery vasodilator function.* Clin Sci (Lond), 2002. **102**(2): p. 195-201.
- 334. Dohadwala, M.M., M. Holbrook, N.M. Hamburg, S.M. Shenouda, W.B. Chung, M. Titas, M.A. Kluge, N. Wang, J. Palmisano, and P.E. Milbury, *Effects of cranberry juice consumption on vascular function in patients with coronary artery disease–.* The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2011. **93**(5): p. 934-940.
- 335. Rodriguez-Mateos, A., R.P. Feliciano, A. Boeres, T. Weber, C.N. dos Santos, M.R. Ventura, and C. Heiss, *Cranberry (poly) phenol metabolites correlate with improvements in vascular function: A double-blind, randomized, controlled, dose-response, crossover study.* Molecular nutrition & food research, 2016. **60**(10): p. 2130-2140.
- 336. Choi, E.-Y., H. Lee, J.S. Woo, H.H. Jang, S.J. Hwang, H.S. Kim, W.-S. Kim, Y.-S. Kim, R. Choue, and Y.-J. Cha, *Effect of onion peel extract on endothelial function and endothelial progenitor cells in overweight and obese individuals*. Nutrition, 2015. **31**(9): p. 1131-1135.
- Ferrell, W.R., J.E. Ramsay, N. Brooks, J.C. Lockhart, S. Dickson, G.M. McNeece, I.A. Greer, and N. Sattar, *Elimination of electrically induced iontophoretic artefacts: implications for noninvasive assessment of peripheral microvascular function.* Journal of vascular research, 2002.
   39(5): p. 447-455.
- 338. Hu, S., G. Belcaro, U. Cornelli, R. Luzzi, M. Cesarone, M. Dugall, B. Feragalli, B. Errichi, E. Ippolito, and M. Grossi, *Effects of Pycnogenol® on endothelial dysfunction in borderline hypertensive, hyperlipidemic, and hyperglycemic individuals: the borderline study.* International angiology: a journal of the International Union of Angiology, 2015. **34**(1): p. 43-52.
- 339. Nishioka, K., T. Hidaka, S. Nakamura, T. Umemura, D. Jitsuiki, J. Soga, C. Goto, K. Chayama, M. Yoshizumi, and Y. Higashi, *Pycnogenol®*, *French maritime pine bark extract, augments endothelium-dependent vasodilation in humans.* Hypertension Research, 2007. **30**(9): p. 775.
- 340. George, T.W., S. Waroonphan, C. Niwat, M.H. Gordon, and J.A. Lovegrove, *Effects of acute consumption of a fruit and vegetable purée-based drink on vasodilation and oxidative status.* British Journal of Nutrition, 2013. **109**(08): p. 1442-1452.
- 341. Jin, Y., D. Alimbetov, T. George, M. Gordon, and J.A. Lovegrove, A randomised trial to investigate the effects of acute consumption of a blackcurrant juice drink on markers of vascular reactivity and bioavailability of anthocyanins in human subjects. European journal of clinical nutrition, 2011. **65**(7): p. 849.

- 342. Macready, A.L., T.W. George, M.F. Chong, D.S. Alimbetov, Y. Jin, A. Vidal, J.P. Spencer, O.B. Kennedy, K.M. Tuohy, and A.-M. Minihane, *Flavonoid-rich fruit and vegetables improve microvascular reactivity and inflammatory status in men at risk of cardiovascular disease— FLAVURS: a randomized controlled trial—*. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2014. **99**(3): p. 479-489.
- 343. Vauzour, D., E.J. Houseman, T.W. George, G. Corona, R. Garnotel, K.G. Jackson, C. Sellier, P. Gillery, O.B. Kennedy, and J.A. Lovegrove, *Moderate Champagne consumption promotes an acute improvement in acute endothelial-independent vascular function in healthy human volunteers*. British journal of nutrition, 2010. **103**(8): p. 1168-1178.
- Neukam, K., W. Stahl, H. Tronnier, H. Sies, and U. Heinrich, *Consumption of flavanol-rich cocoa acutely increases microcirculation in human skin.* European journal of nutrition, 2007.
  46(1): p. 53-56.
- 345. Lorenz, M., S. Wessler, E. Follmann, W. Michaelis, T. Dusterhoft, G. Baumann, K. Stangl, and V. Stangl, *A constituent of green tea, epigallocatechin-3-gallate, activates endothelial nitric oxide synthase by a phosphatidylinositol-3-OH-kinase-, cAMP-dependent protein kinase-, and Akt-dependent pathway and leads to endothelial-dependent vasorelaxation.* J Biol Chem, 2004. **279**(7): p. 6190-5.
- 346. Bondonno, C.P., K.D. Croft, N. Ward, M.J. Considine, and J.M. Hodgson, *Dietary flavonoids and nitrate: effects on nitric oxide and vascular function*. Nutrition Reviews, 2015. **73**(4): p. 216-235.
- 347. Schroeter, H., C. Heiss, J. Balzer, P. Kleinbongard, C.L. Keen, N.K. Hollenberg, H. Sies, C. Kwik-Uribe, H.H. Schmitz, and M. Kelm, *(–)-Epicatechin mediates beneficial effects of flavanol-rich cocoa on vascular function in humans*. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America, 2006. **103**(4): p. 1024-1029.
- 348. Vauzour, D., E.J. Houseman, T.W. George, G. Corona, R. Garnotel, K.G. Jackson, C. Sellier, P. Gillery, O.B. Kennedy, J.A. Lovegrove, and J.P. Spencer, *Moderate Champagne consumption* promotes an acute improvement in acute endothelial-independent vascular function in healthy human volunteers. Br J Nutr, 2010. **103**(8): p. 1168-78.
- 349. Rodriguez-Mateos, A., C. Rendeiro, T. Bergillos-Meca, S. Tabatabaee, T.W. George, C. Heiss, and J.P. Spencer, *Intake and time dependence of blueberry flavonoid-induced improvements in vascular function: a randomized, controlled, double-blind, crossover intervention study with mechanistic insights into biological activity.* Am J Clin Nutr, 2013. **98**(5): p. 1179-91.
- 350. Guerrero, L., J. Castillo, M. Quiñones, S. Garcia-Vallvé, L. Arola, G. Pujadas, and B. Muguerza, *Inhibition of angiotensin-converting enzyme activity by flavonoids: structure-activity relationship studies.* PLOS one, 2012. **7**(11): p. e49493.
- 351. Persson, I.A., K. Persson, S. Hägg, and R.G. Andersson, *Effects of green tea, black tea and Rooibos tea on angiotensin-converting enzyme and nitric oxide in healthy volunteers*. Public health nutrition, 2010. **13**(5): p. 730-737.
- 352. Li, M., G. Ma, L. Han, and J. Li, *Regulating Effect of Tea Polyphenols on Endothelin, Intracellular Calcium Concentration, and Mitochondrial Membrane Potential in Vascular Endothelial Cells Injured by Angiotensin II.* Annals of vascular surgery, 2014. **28**(4): p. 1016-1022.
- 353. Andrés, N.L., A. Tesse, V. Regnault, H. Louis, V. Cattan, S.N. Thornton, C. Labat, A. Kakou, S. Tual-Chalot, and S. Faure, *Increased microparticle production and impaired microvascular endothelial function in aldosterone-salt-treated rats: protective effects of polyphenols.* PloS one, 2012. **7**(7): p. e39235.
- 354. Walter, A., N. Etienne-Selloum, M. Sarr, M.O. Kane, A. Beretz, and V.B. Schini-Kerth, *Angiotensin II induces the vascular expression of VEGF and MMP-2 in vivo: preventive effect of red wine polyphenols.* Journal of vascular research, 2008. **45**(5): p. 386-394.
- 355. Sarr, M., M. Chataigneau, S. Martins, C. Schott, J. El Bedoui, M.-H. Oak, B. Muller, T. Chataigneau, and V.B. Schini-Kerth, *Red wine polyphenols prevent angiotensin II-induced*

hypertension and endothelial dysfunction in rats: role of NADPH oxidase. Cardiovascular research, 2006. **71**(4): p. 794-802.

- 356. Walter, A., N. Etienne-Selloum, D. Brasse, R. Schleiffer, V. Bekaert, P.M. Vanhoutte, A. Beretz, and V.B. Schini-Kerth, *Red wine polyphenols prevent acceleration of neovascularization by angiotensin II in the ischemic rat hindlimb.* Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, 2009. **329**(2): p. 699-707.
- 357. Dal-Ros, S., C. Bronner, C. Auger, and V.B. Schini-Kerth, *Red wine polyphenols improve an established aging-related endothelial dysfunction in the mesenteric artery of middle-aged rats: role of oxidative stress.* Biochemical and biophysical research communications, 2012. 419(2): p. 381-387.
- 358. Khodja, N.I., T. Chataigneau, C. Auger, and V.B. Schini-Kerth, *Grape-derived polyphenols improve aging-related endothelial dysfunction in rat mesenteric artery: role of oxidative stress and the angiotensin system.* PloS one, 2012. **7**(2): p. e32039.
- 359. Perez-Vizcaino, F., J. Duarte, and R. Andriantsitohaina, *Endothelial function and cardiovascular disease: effects of quercetin and wine polyphenols.* Free radical research, 2006. **40**(10): p. 1054-1065.
- 360. Ying, C.-J., J.-W. Xu, K. Ikeda, K. Takahashi, Y. Nara, and Y. Yamori, *Tea polyphenols regulate* nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate oxidase subunit expression and ameliorate angiotensin II-induced hyperpermeability in endothelial cells. Hypertension Research, 2003. **26**(10): p. 823-828.
- 361. Bhullar, K.S., G. Lassalle-Claux, M. Touaibia, and H.V. Rupasinghe, *Antihypertensive effect of caffeic acid and its analogs through dual renin–angiotensin–aldosterone system inhibition*. European journal of pharmacology, 2014. **730**: p. 125-132.
- 362. Dong, J., X. Xu, Y. Liang, R. Head, and L. Bennett, *Inhibition of angiotensin converting enzyme* (ACE) activity by polyphenols from tea (Camellia sinensis) and links to processing method. Food & function, 2011. **2**(6): p. 310-319.
- 363. Feresin, R.G., J. Huang, D.S. Klarich, Y. Zhao, S. Pourafshar, B.H. Arjmandi, and G. Salazar, Blackberry, raspberry and black raspberry polyphenol extracts attenuate angiotensin Ilinduced senescence in vascular smooth muscle cells. Food & function, 2016. **7**(10): p. 4175-4187.
- 364. Scoditti, E., N. Calabriso, M. Massaro, M. Pellegrino, C. Storelli, G. Martines, R. De Caterina, and M.A. Carluccio, *Mediterranean diet polyphenols reduce inflammatory angiogenesis through MMP-9 and COX-2 inhibition in human vascular endothelial cells: a potentially protective mechanism in atherosclerotic vascular disease and cancer.* Archives of biochemistry and biophysics, 2012. **527**(2): p. 81-89.
- 365. Yamagata, K., A. Miyashita, M. Chino, and H. Matsufuji, *Apigenin inhibits tumor necrosis factor alpha plus high glucose-induced LOX-1 expression in human endothelial cells.* Microvascular research, 2011. **81**(1): p. 60-67.
- 366. Honsho, S., A. Sugiyama, A. Takahara, Y. Satoh, Y. Nakamura, and K. Hashimoto, *A red wine vinegar beverage can inhibit the renin-angiotensin system: experimental evidence in vivo.* Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin, 2005. **28**(7): p. 1208-1210.
- Li, J., B. Xue, Q. Chai, Z. Liu, A. Zhao, and L. Chen, *Antihypertensive effect of total flavonoid fraction of Astragalus complanatus in hypertensive rats.* Chinese journal of physiology, 2005.
  48(2): p. 101.
- 368. Cai, R.-L., M. Li, S.-H. Xie, Y. Song, Z.-M. Zou, C.-Y. Zhu, and Y. Qi, *Antihypertensive effect of total flavone extracts from Puerariae Radix*. Journal of ethnopharmacology, 2011. **133**(1): p. 177-183.
- 369. Persson, I.A.-L., K. Persson, and R.G. Andersson, *Effect of Vaccinium myrtillus and its polyphenols on angiotensin-converting enzyme activity in human endothelial cells.* Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 2009. **57**(11): p. 4626-4629.
- 370. Nwanna, E., E. Ibukun, G. Oboh, A. Ademosun, A. Boligon, and M. Athayde, *HPLC-DAD* Analysis and In-Vitro Property of Polyphenols Extracts from (Solanum Aethiopium) Fruits on

 $\alpha$ -Amylase,  $\alpha$ -Glucosidase and Angiotensin-1-Converting Enzyme Activities. International journal of biomedical science: IJBS, 2014. **10**(4): p. 272.

- 371. Yao, F., C. Sun, and S.K. Chang, *Lentil polyphenol extract prevents angiotensin II-induced hypertension, vascular remodelling and perivascular fibrosis.* Food & function, 2012. **3**(2): p. 127-133.
- 372. Noratto, G., H.S. Martino, S. Simbo, D. Byrne, and S.U. Mertens-Talcott, *Consumption of polyphenol-rich peach and plum juice prevents risk factors for obesity-related metabolic disorders and cardiovascular disease in Zucker rats.* The Journal of nutritional biochemistry, 2015. **26**(6): p. 633-641.
- 373. Paiva, L., E. Lima, A.I. Neto, and J. Baptista, *Angiotensin I-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitory activity of Fucus spiralis macroalgae and influence of the extracts storage temperature—A short report.* Journal of pharmaceutical and biomedical analysis, 2016. **131**: p. 503-507.
- 374. Cheung, I.W., S. Nakayama, M.N. Hsu, A.G. Samaranayaka, and E.C. Li-Chan, *Angiotensin-I* converting enzyme inhibitory activity of hydrolysates from oat (Avena sativa) proteins by in silico and in vitro analyses. Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 2009. **57**(19): p. 9234-9242.
- 375. Mladenka, P., L. Zatloukalova, T. Filipsky, and R. Hrdina, *Cardiovascular effects of flavonoids are not caused only by direct antioxidant activity*. Free Radic Biol Med, 2010. **49**(6): p. 963-75.
- 376. Fraga, C.G., M. Galleano, S.V. Verstraeten, and P.I. Oteiza, *Basic biochemical mechanisms behind the health benefits of polyphenols.* Mol Aspects Med, 2010. **31**(6): p. 435-45.
- 377. Gryglewski, R.J., R. Korbut, J. Robak, and J. Swies, *On the mechanism of antithrombotic action of flavonoids*. Biochem Pharmacol, 1987. **36**(3): p. 317-22.
- 378. Nijveldt, R.J., E. van Nood, D.E. van Hoorn, P.G. Boelens, K. van Norren, and P.A. van Leeuwen, *Flavonoids: a review of probable mechanisms of action and potential applications*. Am J Clin Nutr, 2001. **74**(4): p. 418-25.
- 379. Maurya, D.K. and T.P.A. Devasagayam, *Antioxidant and prooxidant nature of hydroxycinnamic acid derivatives ferulic and caffeic acids*. Food and Chemical Toxicology, 2010. **48**(12): p. 3369-3373.
- 380. Suzuki, A., M. Yamamoto, H. Jokura, A. Fujii, I. Tokimitsu, T. Hase, and I. Saito, *Ferulic acid restores endothelium-dependent vasodilation in aortas of spontaneously hypertensive rats.* American journal of hypertension, 2007. **20**(5): p. 508-513.
- 381. Kanegae, M.P.P., L.M. da Fonseca, I.L. Brunetti, S. de Oliveira Silva, and V.F. Ximenes, *The reactivity of ortho-methoxy-substituted catechol radicals with sulfhydryl groups: Contribution for the comprehension of the mechanism of inhibition of NADPH oxidase by apocynin.* Biochemical Pharmacology, 2007. **74**(3): p. 457-464.
- 382. Johnson, D.K., K.J. Schillinger, D.M. Kwait, C.V. Hughes, E.J. McNamara, F. Ishmael, R.W. Donnell, M.M. Chang, M.G. Hogg, J.S. Dordick, L. Santhanam, L.M. Ziegler, and J.A. Holland, *Inhibition of NADPH Oxidase Activation in Endothelial Cells by ortho-Methoxy-Substituted Catechols.* Endothelium, 2002. **9**(3): p. 191-203.
- 383. Shen, Y., K.D. Croft, J.M. Hodgson, R. Kyle, I.L. Lee, Y. Wang, R. Stocker, and N.C. Ward, *Quercetin and its metabolites improve vessel function by inducing eNOS activity via phosphorylation of AMPK.* Biochem Pharmacol, 2012. **84**(8): p. 1036-44.
- 384. Shen, Y., N.C. Ward, J.M. Hodgson, I.B. Puddey, Y. Wang, D. Zhang, G.J. Maghzal, R. Stocker, and K.D. Croft, *Dietary quercetin attenuates oxidant-induced endothelial dysfunction and atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein E knockout mice fed a high-fat diet: a critical role for heme oxygenase-1.* Free Radic Biol Med, 2013. **65**: p. 908-15.
- 385. Schini-Kerth, V.B., C. Auger, J.-H. Kim, N. Étienne-Selloum, and T. Chataigneau, Nutritional improvement of the endothelial control of vascular tone by polyphenols: role of NO and EDHF. Pflügers Archiv-European Journal of Physiology, 2010. 459(6): p. 853-862.
- 386. Brossette, T., C. Hundsdorfer, K.D. Kroncke, H. Sies, and W. Stahl, *Direct evidence that (-)-epicatechin increases nitric oxide levels in human endothelial cells.* Eur J Nutr, 2011. **50**(7): p. 595-9.

- 387. Appeldoorn, M.M., D.P. Venema, T.H. Peters, M.E. Koenen, I.C. Arts, J.P. Vincken, H. Gruppen, J. Keijer, and P.C. Hollman, *Some phenolic compounds increase the nitric oxide level in endothelial cells in vitro.* J Agric Food Chem, 2009. **57**(17): p. 7693-9.
- 388. Schmitt, C.A. and V.M. Dirsch, *Modulation of endothelial nitric oxide by plant-derived products*. Nitric Oxide, 2009. **21**(2): p. 77-91.
- 389. Fitzpatrick, D.F., S.L. Hirschfield, T. Ricci, P. Jantzen, and R.G. Coffey, *Endothelium-dependent* vasorelaxation caused by various plant extracts. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol, 1995. **26**(1): p. 90-5.
- 390. Lorenz, M., S. Wessler, E. Follmann, W. Michaelis, T. Düsterhöft, G. Baumann, K. Stangl, and V. Stangl, *A constituent of green tea, epigallocatechin-3-gallate, activates endothelial nitric oxide synthase by a phosphatidylinositol-3-OH-kinase-, cAMP-dependent protein kinase-, and Akt-dependent pathway and leads to endothelial-dependent vasorelaxation.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2004. **279**(7): p. 6190-6195.
- 391. Vilahur, G., T. Padró, L. Casaní, G. Mendieta, J.A. López, S. Streitenberger, and L. Badimon, Polyphenol-enriched diet prevents coronary endothelial dysfunction by activating the Akt/eNOS pathway. Revista Española de Cardiología (English Edition), 2015. **68**(3): p. 216-225.
- 392. Jiang, R., J.M. Hodgson, E. Mas, K.D. Croft, and N.C. Ward, *Chlorogenic acid improves ex vivo* vessel function and protects endothelial cells against HOCl-induced oxidative damage, via increased production of nitric oxide and induction of Hmox-1. The Journal of nutritional biochemistry, 2016. **27**: p. 53-60.
- 393. da Costa, C.A., P.R.B. de Oliveira, G.F. de Bem, L.C.R.M. de Cavalho, D.T. Ognibene, A.F.E. da Silva, S. dos Santos Valença, K.M.P. Pires, P.J. da Cunha Sousa, and R.S. de Moura, *Euterpe oleracea Mart.-derived polyphenols prevent endothelial dysfunction and vascular structural changes in renovascular hypertensive rats: role of oxidative stress.* Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's archives of pharmacology, 2012. **385**(12): p. 1199-1209.
- 394. Borges, G., J.J. van der Hooft, and A. Crozier, *A comprehensive evaluation of the [2-14C](–)epicatechin metabolome in rats.* Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 2016. **99**: p. 128-138.
- 395. Idris-Khodja, N., P. Di Marco, M. Farhat, B. Geny, and V.B. Schini-Kerth, *Grape-derived Polyphenols prevent doxorubicin-induced blunted EDH-mediated relaxations in the rat mesenteric artery: role of ROS and Angiotensin II.* Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 2013. **2013**.
- 396. Kim, J.H., C. Auger, I. Kurita, E. Anselm, L.O. Rivoarilala, H.J. Lee, K.W. Lee, and V.B. Schini-Kerth, Aronia melanocarpa juice, a rich source of polyphenols, induces endotheliumdependent relaxations in porcine coronary arteries via the redox-sensitive activation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase. Nitric Oxide, 2013. **35**: p. 54-64.
- 397. Ziberna, L., J.-H. Kim, C. Auger, S. Passamonti, and V. Schini-Kerth, *Role of endothelial cell membrane transport in red wine polyphenols-induced coronary vasorelaxation: involvement of bilitranslocase.* Food & function, 2013. **4**(10): p. 1452-1456.
- 398. Corder, R., J.A. Douthwaite, D.M. Lees, N.Q. Khan, A.C. Viseu Dos Santos, E.G. Wood, and M.J. Carrier, *Endothelin-1 synthesis reduced by red wine*. Nature, 2001. **414**(6866): p. 863-4.
- 399. Khan, N.Q., D.M. Lees, J.A. Douthwaite, M.J. Carrier, and R. Corder, *Comparison of red wine extract and polyphenol constituents on endothelin-1 synthesis by cultured endothelial cells.* Clin Sci (Lond), 2002. **103 Suppl 48**: p. 72S-75S.
- 400. Steffen, Y., C. Gruber, T. Schewe, and H. Sies, *Mono-O-methylated flavanols and other flavonoids as inhibitors of endothelial NADPH oxidase.* Arch Biochem Biophys, 2008. **469**(2): p. 209-19.
- 401. Steffen, Y., T. Schewe, and H. Sies, (-)-*Epicatechin elevates nitric oxide in endothelial cells via inhibition of NADPH oxidase.* Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 2007. **359**(3): p. 828-33.
- 402. Wallerath, T., G. Deckert, T. Ternes, H. Anderson, H. Li, K. Witte, and U. Forstermann, *Resveratrol, a polyphenolic phytoalexin present in red wine, enhances expression and activity of endothelial nitric oxide synthase.* Circulation, 2002. **106**(13): p. 1652-8.

- 403. Yamagata, K., M. Tagami, and Y. Yamori, *Dietary polyphenols regulate endothelial function and prevent cardiovascular disease*. Nutrition, 2015. **31**(1): p. 28-37.
- 404. Byun, E.-B., T. Ishikawa, A. Suyama, M. Kono, S. Nakashima, T. Kanda, T. Miyamoto, and T. Matsui, A procyanidin trimer, C1, promotes NO production in rat aortic endothelial cells via both hyperpolarization and PI3K/Akt pathways. European journal of pharmacology, 2012. 692(1-3): p. 52-60.
- 405. Nie, L., M. Wise, D. Peterson, and M. Meydani, *Mechanism by which avenanthramide-c, a polyphenol of oats, blocks cell cycle progression in vascular smooth muscle cells.* Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 2006. **41**(5): p. 702-708.
- 406. Nie, L., M.L. Wise, D.M. Peterson, and M. Meydani, *Avenanthramide, a polyphenol from oats, inhibits vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation and enhances nitric oxide production.* Atherosclerosis, 2006. **186**(2): p. 260-266.
- 407. Sur, R., A. Nigam, D. Grote, F. Liebel, and M.D. Southall, *Avenanthramides, polyphenols from oats, exhibit anti-inflammatory and anti-itch activity.* Archives of dermatological research, 2008. **300**(10): p. 569.
- 408. Guo, W., M.L. Wise, F.W. Collins, and M. Meydani, *Avenanthramides, polyphenols from oats, inhibit IL-18-induced NF-κB activation in endothelial cells.* Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 2008. **44**(3): p. 415-429.
- 409. Hong, Q., Z.-C. Ma, H. Huang, Y.-G. Wang, H.-L. Tan, C.-R. Xiao, Q.-D. Liang, H.-T. Zhang, and Y. Gao, *Antithrombotic activities of ferulic acid via intracellular cyclic nucleotide signaling*. European journal of pharmacology, 2016. **777**: p. 1-8.
- 410. Choi, S., H.I. Kim, S.H. Park, M.J. Lee, J.Y. Jun, H.L. Kim, J.H. Chung, and C.H. Yeum, *Endothelium-dependent vasodilation by ferulic acid in aorta from chronic renal hypertensive rats.* Kidney research and clinical practice, 2012. **31**(4): p. 227-233.
- 411. Shewry, P.R., V. Piironen, A.-M. Lampi, M. Edelmann, S. Kariluoto, T. Nurmi, R. Fernandez-Orozco, C. Ravel, G. Charmet, A.A.M. Andersson, P. Åman, D. Boros, K. Gebruers, E. Dornez, C.M. Courtin, J.A. Delcour, M. Rakszegi, Z. Bedo, and J.L. Ward, *The HEALTHGRAIN Wheat Diversity Screen: Effects of Genotype and Environment on Phytochemicals and Dietary Fiber Components*<sup>+</sup>. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2010. **58**(17): p. 9291-9298.
- 412. Sosulski, F., K. Krygier, and L. Hogge, *Free, esterified, and insoluble-bound phenolic acids. 3. Composition of phenolic acids in cereal and potato flours.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 1982. **30**(2): p. 337-340.
- 413. Khan, K.S.P., Wheat Chemistry and Technology. 4 ed. 2009, Minnesota: AACC International.
- 414. Vitaglione, P., A. Napolitano, and V. Fogliano, *Cereal dietary fibre: a natural functional ingredient to deliver phenolic compounds into the gut.* Trends in Food Science & amp; Technology, 2008. **19**(9): p. 451-463.
- 415. Mateo Anson, N., R. van den Berg, R. Havenaar, A. Bast, and G. R. M. M. Haenen, *Ferulic Acid from Aleurone Determines the Antioxidant Potency of Wheat Grain (Triticum aestivum L.).* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2008. **56**(14): p. 5589-5594.
- 416. Hamill, L.L., E.M. Keaveney, R.K. Price, J.M.W. Wallace, J.J. Strain, and R.W. Welch, *Absorption of ferulic acid in human subjects after consumption of wheat-bran and wheat-aleurone fractions.* Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 2008. **67**(OCE7): p. null-null.
- 417. Crozier A, C.M., Ashihara H., *Plant Secondary Metabolites Occurance, Structure and Role in the Human Diet*. Vol. 1. 2007, Oxford: Blackwell
- 418. Hatfield RD, R.J.a.G.J., *Cell wall cross-linking by ferulates and diferulates in grasses.* Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 1999. **79**: p. 403-407.
- 419. Rondini, L., M.-N. Peyrat-Maillard, A. Marsset-Baglieri, G. Fromentin, P. Durand, D. Tomé, M. Prost, and C. Berset, *Bound Ferulic Acid from Bran Is More Bioavailable than the Free Compound in Rat.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2004. **52**(13): p. 4338-4343.
- 420. O'Neil, C.E., T.A. Nicklas, V.L. Fulgoni III, and M.A. DiRienzo, *Cooked oatmeal consumption is* associated with better diet quality, better nutrient intakes, and reduced risk for central

adiposity and obesity in children 2–18 years: NHANES 2001–2010. Food & nutrition research, 2015. **59**(1): p. 26673.

- 421. Ryan, L., P. Thondre, and C. Henry, *Oat-based breakfast cereals are a rich source of polyphenols and high in antioxidant potential.* Journal of food composition and analysis, 2011. **24**(7): p. 929-934.
- 422. Thongoun, P., P. Pavadhgul, A. Bumrungpert, P. Satitvipawee, Y. Harjani, and A. Kurilich, *Effect of oat consumption on lipid profiles in hypercholesterolemic adults.* Journal of the Medical Association of Thailand= Chotmaihet thangphaet, 2013. **96**: p. S25-32.
- 423. Banks, W. and C. Greenwood, *The Fractionation of Labortory-Isolated Cereal Gereal Starches using Dimethyl Sulphoxide.* Starch-Stärke, 1967. **19**(12): p. 394-398.
- 424. Zhou, M., K. Robards, M. Glennie-Holmes, and S. Helliwell, *Structure and pasting properties of oat starch.* Cereal Chemistry, 1998. **75**(3): p. 273-281.
- 425. Berski, W., A. Ptaszek, P. Ptaszek, R. Ziobro, G. Kowalski, M. Grzesik, and B. Achremowicz, *Pasting and rheological properties of oat starch and its derivatives.* Carbohydrate Polymers, 2011. **83**(2): p. 665-671.
- 426. MacArthur, L. and B. D'Appolonia, *Comparison of oat and wheat carbohydrates. I. Sugars.* Cereal Chem, 1979. **56**(5): p. 455-457.
- 427. Ma, C.Y., & Harwalkar, V. R., *Chemical characterization and functionality assessment of oat protein fractions.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 1984. **32**(1): p. 144-149.
- 428. Lasztity, R., *Oat grain- A wonderful reservoir of natural nutrients and biologically active substances.* Food Reviews International, 1998. **14**(1): p. 99-119.
- 429. Menon, R., T. Gonzalez, M. Ferruzzi, E. Jackson, D. Winderl, and J. Watson, *Oats-From Farm to Fork*. Adv Food Nutr Res, 2016. **77**: p. 1-55.
- 430. Zhou, M., K. Robards, M. Glennie-Holmes, and S. Helliwell, *Oat lipids*. Journal of the American Oil Chemists' Society, 1999. **76**(2): p. 159-169.
- 431. Chavan, J.K. and S.S. Kadam, *Nutritional improvement of cereals by fermentation*. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr, 1989. **28**(5): p. 349-400.
- 432. Manthey, F.A., G.A. Hareland, and D.J. Huseby, *Soluble and Insoluble Dietary Fiber Content and Composition in Oat.* Cereal Chemistry Journal, 1999. **76**(3): p. 417-420.
- 433. Flander, L., M. Salmenkallio-Marttila, T. Suortti, and K. Autio, *Optimization of ingredients and baking process for improved wholemeal oat bread quality.* LWT Food Science and Technology, 2007. **40**(5): p. 860-870.
- 434. Peterson, D.M., *Oat Antioxidants.* J Cereal Sci, 2001. 33.
- 435. Mattila, P., J.M. Pihlava, and J. Hellstrom, *Contents of phenolic acids, alkyl- and alkenylresorcinols, and avenanthramides in commercial grain products.* J Agric Food Chem, 2005. **53**.
- 436. Meydani, M., *Potential health benefits of avenanthramides of oats.* Nutrition Reviews, 2009. **67**(12): p. 731-735.
- 437. Rasane, P., A. Jha, L. Sabikhi, A. Kumar, and V.S. Unnikrishnan, *Nutritional advantages of oats and opportunities for its processing as value added foods a review.* Journal of Food Science and Technology, 2015. **52**(2): p. 662-675.
- 438. Li, L., P.R. Shewry, and J.L. Ward, *Phenolic Acids in Wheat Varieties in the HEALTHGRAIN Diversity Screen.* J Agric Food Chem, 2008. **56**.
- 439. Liu, L., L. Zubik, F.W. Collins, M. Marko, and M. Meydani, *The antiatherogenic potential of oat phenolic compounds*. Atherosclerosis, 2004. **175**(1): p. 39-49.
- 440. Othman, R.A., M.H. Moghadasian, and P.J. Jones, *Cholesterol-lowering effects of oat betaglucan*. Nutr Rev, 2011. **69**(6): p. 299-309.
- 441. Chen, C.Y., P.E. Milbury, H.K. Kwak, F.W. Collins, P. Samuel, and J.B. Blumberg, *Avenanthramides and phenolic acids from oats are bioavailable and act synergistically with vitamin C to enhance hamster and human LDL resistance to oxidation.* J Nutr, 2004. **134**(6): p. 1459-66.

- 442. Van Hung, P., *Phenolic Compounds of Cereals and Their Antioxidant Capacity.* Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr, 2016. **56**(1): p. 25-35.
- 443. Zhao, Z., Y. Egashira, and H. Sanada, *Digestion and Absorption of Ferulic Acid Sugar Esters in Rat Gastrointestinal Tract.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2003. **51**(18): p. 5534-5539.
- 444. Zhao, Z., Y. Egashira, and H. Sanada, *Ferulic Acid Is Quickly Absorbed from Rat Stomach as the Free Form and Then Conjugated Mainly in Liver.* The Journal of Nutrition, 2004. **134**(11): p. 3083-3088.
- 445. Andreasen, M.F., P.A. Kroon, G. Williamson, and M.-T. Garcia-Conesa, *Intestinal release and uptake of phenolic antioxidant diferulic acids.* Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 2001. **31**(3): p. 304-314.
- 446. Adam, A., V. Crespy, M.-A. Levrat-Verny, F. Leenhardt, M. Leuillet, C. Demigné, and C. Rémésy, *The Bioavailability of Ferulic Acid Is Governed Primarily by the Food Matrix Rather than Its Metabolism in Intestine and Liver in Rats.* The Journal of Nutrition, 2002. **132**(7): p. 1962-1968.
- Kern, S.M., R.N. Bennett, P.W. Needs, F.A. Mellon, P.A. Kroon, and M.-T. Garcia-Conesa, Characterization of Metabolites of Hydroxycinnamates in the in Vitro Model of Human Small Intestinal Epithelium Caco-2 Cells. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2003. 51(27): p. 7884-7891.
- 448. Desai, M.A., M. Mutlu, and P. Vadgama, *A study of macromolecular diffusion through native porcine mucus.* Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 1992. **48**(1): p. 22-26.
- 449. Andreasen, M.F., P.A. Kroon, G. Williamson, and M.-T. Garcia-Conesa, *Esterase Activity Able To Hydrolyze Dietary Antioxidant Hydroxycinnamates Is Distributed along the Intestine of Mammals*. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2001. **49**(11): p. 5679-5684.
- 450. Kroon, P.A., C.B. Faulds, P. Ryden, J.A. Robertson, and G. Williamson, *Release of Covalently Bound Ferulic Acid from Fiber in the Human Colon.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 1997. **45**(3): p. 661-667.
- 451. Faulds, C.B. and G. Williamson, *Release of ferulic acid from wheat bran by a ferulic acid esterase (FAE-III) from <i&gt;Aspergillus niger&lt;/i&gt.* Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology, 1995. **43**(6): p. 1082-1087.
- 452. Collins, T., C. Gerday, and G. Feller, *Xylanases, xylanase families and extremophilic xylanases.* FEMS Microbiology Reviews, 2005. **29**(1): p. 3-23.
- 453. Bartolome B, F.C., Tuohy M, Hazlewood GP, Gilbert HJ, Williamson G *Influence of different xylanases on the activity of ferulic acid esterase on wheat bran.* Biotechnology and applied biochemistry, 1995. **22**: p. 65-73.
- 454. Faulds, C.B., D. Zanichelli, V.F. Crepin, I.F. Connerton, N. Juge, M.K. Bhat, and K.W. Waldron, Specificity of feruloyl esterases for water-extractable and water-unextractable feruloylated polysaccharides: influence of xylanase. Journal of Cereal Science, 2003. **38**(3): p. 281-288.
- 455. Kern, S.M., R.N. Bennett, F.A. Mellon, P.A. Kroon, and M.-T. Garcia-Conesa, *Absorption of Hydroxycinnamates in Humans after High-Bran Cereal Consumption*. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2003. **51**(20): p. 6050-6055.
- 456. Hilal, S.H., *Estimation of Hydrolysis Rate Constants of Carboxylic Acid Ester and Phosphate Ester Compounds in Aqueous Systems from Molecular Structure by SPARC*. 2006, Washington: United States Environmental Protection Agency.
- 457. Kim, K.-H., R. Tsao, R. Yang, and S.W. Cui, *Phenolic acid profiles and antioxidant activities of wheat bran extracts and the effect of hydrolysis conditions*. Food Chemistry, 2006. **95**(3): p. 466-473.
- 458. Jacobs, D.R., K.A. Meyer, L.H. Kushi, and A.R. Folsom, *Whole-grain intake may reduce the risk* of ischemic heart disease death in postmenopausal women: the Iowa women's health study. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1998. **68**(2): p. 248-257.
- 459. Liu, S.M., M.J. Stampfer, F.B. Hu, E. Giovannucci, E. Rimm, J.E. Manson, C.H. Hennekens, and W.C. Willett, *Whole-grain consumption and risk of coronary heart disease: results from the Nurses' Health Study.* American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1999. **70**(3): p. 412-419.
- 460. Anderson, J.W., *Whole grains protect against atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease.* Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 2003. **62**(1): p. 135-142.
- 461. Jensen, M.K., P. Koh-Banerjee, F.B. Hu, M. Franz, L. Sampson, M. Gronbaek, and E.B. Rimm, *Intakes of whole grains, bran, and germ and the risk of coronary heart disease in men.* American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 2004. **80**(6): p. 1492-1499.
- 462. McKeown, N.M., J.B. Meigs, S. Liu, P.W. Wilson, and P.F. Jacques, *Whole-grain intake is favorably associated with metabolic risk factors for type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease in the Framingham Offspring Study.* The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 2002. **76**(2): p. 390-398.
- 463. Liu, S.M., H.D. Sesso, J.E. Manson, W.C. Willett, and J.E. Buring, *Is intake of breakfast cereals related to total and cause-specific mortality in men?* American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 2003. **77**(3): p. 594-599.
- 464. Steffen, L.M., D.R. Jacobs, J. Stevens, E. Shahar, T. Carithers, and A.R. Folsom, *Associations of whole-grain, refined-grain, and fruit and vegetable consumption with risks of all-cause mortality and incident coronary artery disease and ischemic stroke: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study.* The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 2003. **78**(3): p. 383-390.
- 465. Liu, S., M.J. Stampfer, F.B. Hu, E. Giovannucci, E. Rimm, J.E. Manson, C.H. Hennekens, and W.C. Willett, *Whole-grain consumption and risk of coronary heart disease: results from the Nurses' Health Study*–. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 1999. **70**(3): p. 412-419.
- 466. Mellen, P.B., T.F. Walsh, and D.M. Herrington, *Whole grain intake and cardiovascular disease: A meta-analysis.* Nutrition Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 2008. **18**(4): p. 283-290.
- 467. Agriculture, U.S.D.o.H.a.H.S.a.U.S.D.o. *Dietary Guidelines for Americans 2005*. 2005 [cited 2012 14/05]; 6:[Available from: <u>www.mypyramid.gov</u>.
- 468. Truswell, A.S., *Cereal grains and coronary heart disease*. European journal of clinical nutrition, 2002. **56**(1): p. 1-14.
- 469. Brown, L., B. Rosner, W.W. Willett, and F.M. Sacks, *Cholesterol-lowering effects of dietary fiber: a meta-analysis.* The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 1999. **69**(1): p. 30-42.
- 470. Liese, A.D., A.K. Roach, K.C. Sparks, L. Marquart, R.B. D'Agostino Jr, and E.J. Mayer-Davis, *Whole-grain intake and insulin sensitivity: the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study.* The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 2003. **78**(5): p. 965-971.
- 471. Steffen, L.M., D.R. Jacobs, M.A. Murtaugh, A. Moran, J. Steinberger, C.-P. Hong, and A.R. Sinaiko, *Whole Grain Intake Is Associated with Lower Body Mass and Greater Insulin Sensitivity among Adolescents*. American Journal of Epidemiology, 2003. **158**(3): p. 243-250.
- 472. PINS JJ, G.D., KEENAN JM, FRAZEL C, O'CONNOR PJ, CHERNEY LM, Do Whole-Grain Oat Cereals Reduce the Need for Antihypertensive Medications and Improve Blood Pressure Control? The Journal of Family Practice, 2002. **52**(4): p. 353 359.
- Ward, J.L., K. Poutanen, K. Gebruers, V. Piironen, A.-M. Lampi, L. Nyström, A.A.M. Andersson, P. Åman, D. Boros, M. Rakszegi, Z. Bedő, and P.R. Shewry, *The HEALTHGRAIN Cereal Diversity Screen: Concept, Results, and Prospects.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2008.
  56(21): p. 9699-9709.
- 474. Lampi, A.-M., T. Nurmi, V. Ollilainen, and V. Piironen, *Tocopherols and Tocotrienols in Wheat Genotypes in the HEALTHGRAIN Diversity Screen.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2008. **56**(21): p. 9716-9721.
- 475. Shewry, P.R., V. Piironen, A.-M. Lampi, L. Nyström, L. Li, M. Rakszegi, A. Fraś, D. Boros, K. Gebruers, C.M. Courtin, J.A. Delcour, A.A.M. Andersson, L. Dimberg, Z. Bedő, and J.L. Ward, *Phytochemical and Fiber Components in Oat Varieties in the HEALTHGRAIN Diversity Screen.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2008. **56**(21): p. 9777-9784.

- 476. Zhao, F.J., Y.H. Su, S.J. Dunham, M. Rakszegi, Z. Bedo, S.P. McGrath, and P.R. Shewry, *Variation in mineral micronutrient concentrations in grain of wheat lines of diverse origin.* Journal of Cereal Science, 2009. **49**(2): p. 290-295.
- 477. Nurmi, T., L. Nyström, M. Edelmann, A.-M. Lampi, and V. Piironen, *Phytosterols in Wheat Genotypes in the HEALTHGRAIN Diversity Screen.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2008. **56**(21): p. 9710-9715.
- 478. Andersson, S.W., J. Skinner, L. Ellegard, A.A. Welch, S. Bingham, A. Mulligan, H. Andersson, and K.T. Shaw, *Intake of dietary plant sterols is inversely related to serum cholesterol concentration in men and women in the EPIC Norfolk population: a cross-sectional study.* Eur J Clin Nutr, 2004. **58**(10): p. 1378-1385.
- 479. Jenkins, D.J.A., C.W.C. Kendall, A. Marchie, A.L. Jenkins, P.W. Connelly, P.J.H. Jones, and V. Vuksan, *The Garden of Eden—plant based diets, the genetic drive to conserve cholesterol and its implications for heart disease in the 21st century*. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part A: Molecular & amp; Integrative Physiology, 2003. **136**(1): p. 141-151.
- 480. Jenkins, D.J., C.W. Kendall, V. Vuksan, E. Vidgen, T. Parker, D. Faulkner, C.C. Mehling, M. Garsetti, G. Testolin, S.C. Cunnane, M.A. Ryan, and P.N. Corey, *Soluble fiber intake at a dose approved by the US Food and Drug Administration for a claim of health benefits: serum lipid risk factors for cardiovascular disease assessed in a randomized controlled crossover trial.* The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 2002. **75**(5): p. 834-839.
- 481. Wood, P.J., *Cereal β-Glucans: Structure, Properties and Health Claims*, in *Advanced Dietary Fibre Technology*. 2008, Blackwell Science Ltd. p. 315-327.
- 482. Nyström, L., A.-M. Lampi, A.A.M. Andersson, A. Kamal-Eldin, K. Gebruers, C.M. Courtin, J.A. Delcour, L. Li, J.L. Ward, A. Fraś, D. Boros, M. Rakszegi, Z. Bedő, P.R. Shewry, and V. Piironen, *Phytochemicals and Dietary Fiber Components in Rye Varieties in the HEALTHGRAIN Diversity Screen.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2008. **56**(21): p. 9758-9766.
- 483. Sen, C.K., S. Khanna, and S. Roy, *Tocotrienols: Vitamin E beyond tocopherols*. Life Sciences, 2006. **78**(18): p. 2088-2098.
- 484. Jang, Y., J.H. Lee, O.Y. Kim, H.Y. Park, and S.Y. Lee, *Consumption of Whole Grain and Legume Powder Reduces Insulin Demand, Lipid Peroxidation, and Plasma Homocysteine Concentrations in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease.* Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 2001. **21**(12): p. 2065-2071.
- 485. Liu, S., W.C. Willett, M.J. Stampfer, F.B. Hu, M. Franz, L. Sampson, C.H. Hennekens, and J.E. Manson, *A prospective study of dietary glycemic load, carbohydrate intake, and risk of coronary heart disease in US women*. The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 2000. **71**(6): p. 1455-1461.
- Katz, D.L., H. Nawaz, J. Boukhalil, W. Chan, R. Ahmadi, V. Giannamore, and P.M. Sarrell, *Effects of Oats and Wheat Cereals on Endothelial Responses.* Preventive Medicine, 2001. 33(5): p. 476-484.
- Katz, D.L., H. Nawaz, J. Boukhalil, W. Chan, R. Ahmadi, V. Giannamore, and P.M. Sarrel, *Effects of Oat and Wheat Cereals on Endothelial Responses*. Preventive Medicine, 2001.
   33(5): p. 476-484.
- 488. Adom, K.K., M.E. Sorrells, and R.H. Liu, *Avenanthramide, a polyphenol from oats, inhibits vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation and enhances nitric oxide production*

Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 2003. 51(26): p. 7825-7834.

- 489. Suzuki, A., M. Yamamoto, H. Jokura, A. Fujii, I. Tokimitsu, T. Hase, and I. Saito, *Ferulic Acid Restores Endothelium-Dependent Vasodilation in Aortas of Spontaneously Hypertensive Rats.* Am J Hypertens, 2007. **20**(5): p. 508-513.
- 490. Hou, Y.Z., J. Yang, G.R. Zhao, and Y.J. Yuan, *Ferulic acid inhibits vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation induced by angiotensin II.* Eur J Pharmacol, 2004. **499**(1-2): p. 85-90.
- 491. Crowe, K.M. and C. Francis, *Position of the academy of nutrition and dietetics: functional foods.* Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2013. **113**(8): p. 1096-1103.

- 492. Kay, C.D., L. Hooper, P.A. Kroon, E.B. Rimm, and A. Cassidy, *Relative impact of flavonoid composition, dose and structure on vascular function: a systematic review of randomised controlled trials of flavonoid-rich food products.* Molecular nutrition & food research, 2012. **56**(11): p. 1605-1616.
- 493. Rienks, J., J. Barbaresko, and U. Nöthlings, Association of polyphenol biomarkers with cardiovascular disease and mortality risk: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. Nutrients, 2017. **9**(4): p. 415.
- 494. Liu, X.m., Y.j. Liu, Y. Huang, H.j. Yu, S. Yuan, B.w. Tang, P.g. Wang, and Q.q. He, *Dietary total flavonoids intake and risk of mortality from all causes and cardiovascular disease in the general population: A systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies.* Molecular nutrition & food research, 2017. **61**(6).
- 495. Chen, C.-Y., P.E. Milbury, H.-K. Kwak, F.W. Collins, P. Samuel, and J.B. Blumberg, Avenanthramides and phenolic acids from oats are bioavailable and act synergistically with vitamin C to enhance hamster and human LDL resistance to oxidation. The Journal of nutrition, 2004. **134**(6): p. 1459-1466.
- 496. Woodward, K., R. Draijer, D. Thijssen, and D. Low, *Polyphenols and Microvascular Function in Humans: A Systematic Review.* Current pharmaceutical design, 2017.
- 497. Desch, S., J. Schmidt, D. Kobler, M. Sonnabend, I. Eitel, M. Sareban, K. Rahimi, G. Schuler, and H. Thiele, *Effect of cocoa products on blood pressure: systematic review and meta-analysis.* American journal of hypertension, 2010. **23**(1): p. 97-103.
- 498. Grassi, D., G. Desideri, S. Necozione, C. Lippi, R. Casale, G. Properzi, J.B. Blumberg, and C. Ferri, *Blood pressure is reduced and insulin sensitivity increased in glucose-intolerant, hypertensive subjects after 15 days of consuming high-polyphenol dark chocolate.* The Journal of nutrition, 2008. **138**(9): p. 1671-1676.
- 499. Li, F., Y. Takahashi, and K. Yamaki, *Inhibitory effect of catechin-related compounds on renin activity*. Biomedical Research, 2013. **34**(3): p. 167-171.
- 500. Brossette, T., C. Hundsdörfer, K.-D. Kröncke, H. Sies, and W. Stahl, *Direct evidence that (–)-epicatechin increases nitric oxide levels in human endothelial cells.* European journal of nutrition, 2011. **50**(7): p. 595-599.
- 501. Carey, R.M. and H.M. Siragy, *Newly recognized components of the renin-angiotensin system:* potential roles in cardiovascular and renal regulation. Endocrine reviews, 2003. **24**(3): p. 261-271.
- 502. Zaman, M.A., S. Oparil, and D.A. Calhoun, *Drugs targeting the renin–angiotensin–aldosterone system.* Nature reviews Drug discovery, 2002. **1**(8): p. 621.
- 503. Casas, J.P., W. Chua, S. Loukogeorgakis, P. Vallance, L. Smeeth, A.D. Hingorani, and R.J. MacAllister, *Effect of inhibitors of the renin-angiotensin system and other antihypertensive drugs on renal outcomes: systematic review and meta-analysis.* The lancet, 2005. **366**(9502): p. 2026-2033.
- 504. Tsikouris, J.P. and C.D. Cox, *Pharmacologic Blockade of the Renin-Angiotensin System: Vascular Benefits Beyond Commonly Understood Pharmacologic Actions.* Pharmacotherapy: The Journal of Human Pharmacology and Drug Therapy, 2003. **23**(9): p. 1141-1152.
- 505. Wu, H.-Y., J.-W. Huang, H.-J. Lin, W.-C. Liao, Y.-S. Peng, K.-Y. Hung, K.-D. Wu, Y.-K. Tu, and K.-L. Chien, *Comparative effectiveness of renin-angiotensin system blockers and other antihypertensive drugs in patients with diabetes: systematic review and bayesian network meta-analysis.* Bmj, 2013. **347**: p. f6008.
- 506. Wright Jr, J.T., G. Bakris, T. Greene, L.Y. Agodoa, L.J. Appel, J. Charleston, D. Cheek, J.G. Douglas-Baltimore, J. Gassman, and R. Glassock, *Effect of blood pressure lowering and antihypertensive drug class on progression of hypertensive kidney disease: results from the AASK trial.* Jama, 2002. **288**(19): p. 2421-2431.
- 507. Cai, H., K.K. Griendling, and D.G. Harrison, *The vascular NAD(P)H oxidases as therapeutic targets in cardiovascular diseases.* Trends in Pharmacological Sciences, 2003. **24**(9): p. 471-8.

- 508. Gonzalez, A.A., L. Liu, L.S. Lara, C.R. Bourgeois, C. Ibaceta-Gonzalez, N. Salinas-Parra, V.R. Gogulamudi, D.M. Seth, and M.C. Prieto, *PKC-α-dependent augmentation of cAMP and CREB phosphorylation mediates the angiotensin II stimulation of renin in the collecting duct.* American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology, 2015. **309**(10): p. F880-F888.
- 509. Pan, L. and K.W. Gross, *Transcriptional regulation of renin: an update.* Hypertension, 2005. **45**(1): p. 3-8.
- 510. Todorov, V.T., S. Völkl, J. Friedrich, L.A. Kunz-Schughart, T. Hehlgans, L. Vermeulen, G. Haegeman, M.L. Schmitz, and A. Kurtz, *Role of CREB1 and NFκB-p65 in the down-regulation of renin gene expression by tumor necrosis factor α.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2005. 280(26): p. 24356-24362.
- 511. Todorov, V.T., S. Völkl, M. Müller, A. Bohla, J. Klar, L.A. Kunz-Schughart, T. Hehlgans, and A. Kurtz, *Tumor necrosis factor-α activates NFκB to inhibit renin transcription by targeting cAMP-responsive element.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2004. **279**(2): p. 1458-1467.
- 512. Ying, L., B.J. Morris, and C.D. Sigmund, *Transactivation of the human renin promoter by the cyclic AMP/protein kinase A pathway is mediated by both cAMP-responsive element binding protein-1 (CREB)-dependent and CREB-independent mechanisms in Calu-6 cells.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1997. **272**(4): p. 2412-2420.
- 513. Klar, J., H. Vitzthum, and A. Kurtz, *Aldosterone enhances renin gene expression in juxtaglomerular cells.* American Journal of Physiology-Renal Physiology, 2004. **286**(2): p. F349-F355.
- 514. Stewart, P.M., *Adrenal cortex: renin-angiotensin-aldosterone axis and hypertension.* Comprehensive clinical endocrinology. Elsevier Scientific Publ. Amsterdam, 2002.
- 515. Pan, L., T.A. Black, Q. Shi, C.A. Jones, N. Petrovic, J. Loudon, C. Kane, C.D. Sigmund, and K.W. Gross, *Critical roles of a cyclic AMP responsive element and an E-box in regulation of mouse renin gene expression.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2001. **276**(49): p. 45530-45538.
- 516. Bhullar, K.S., Z. Ziaullah, and V. Rupasinghe, *In vitro regulation of enzymes of the reninangiotensin-aldosterone system by isoquercitrin, phloridzin and their long chain fatty acid derivatives.* Functional Foods in Health and Disease, 2014. **4**(5): p. 208-221.
- 517. Oyeleye, S.I., A.A. Adebayo, O.B. Ogunsuyi, F.A. Dada, and G. Oboh, *Phenolic profile and Enzyme Inhibitory activities of Almond (Terminalia catappa) leaf and Stem bark.* International Journal of Food Properties, 2018: p. 1-12.
- 518. Ryu, H.H., H.L. Kim, J.H. Chung, B.R. Lee, T.H. Kim, and B.C. Shin, *Renoprotective effects of green tea extract on renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system in chronic cyclosporine-treated rats.* Nephrology Dialysis Transplantation, 2010. **26**(4): p. 1188-1193.
- 519. Li, Y.C., J. Kong, M. Wei, Z.-F. Chen, S.Q. Liu, and L.-P. Cao, *1, 25-Dihydroxyvitamin D 3 is a negative endocrine regulator of the renin-angiotensin system.* The Journal of clinical investigation, 2002. **110**(2): p. 229-238.
- 520. Sigmund, C., K. Okuyama, J. Ingelfinger, C. Jones, J. Mullins, C. Kane, U. Kim, C. Wu, L. Kenny, and Y. Rustum, *Isolation and characterization of renin-expressing cell lines from transgenic mice containing a renin-promoter viral oncogene fusion construct.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1990. **265**(32): p. 19916-19922.
- 521. Sigmund, C.D., *Regulation of renin expression and blood pressure by vitamin D 3.* The Journal of clinical investigation, 2002. **110**(2): p. 155-156.
- 522. Levick, J.R., *An introduction to cardiovascular physiology*. 2013: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- 523. Persson, I.A.L., M. Josefsson, K. Persson, and R.G. Andersson, *Tea flavanols inhibit angiotensin-converting enzyme activity and increase nitric oxide production in human endothelial cells.* Journal of pharmacy and Pharmacology, 2006. **58**(8): p. 1139-1144.
- 524. Nicholson, S.K., G.A. Tucker, and J.M. Brameld, *Effects of dietary polyphenols on gene expression in human vascular endothelial cells.* Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 2008. **67**(1): p. 42-47.

- 525. Onat, D., D. Brillon, P.C. Colombo, and A.M. Schmidt, *Human vascular endothelial cells: a model system for studying vascular inflammation in diabetes and atherosclerosis.* Current diabetes reports, 2011. **11**(3): p. 193-202.
- 526. Petrovic, N., T.A. Black, J.R. Fabian, C. Kane, C.A. Jones, J.A. Loudon, J.P. Abonia, C.D. Sigmund, and K.W. Gross, *Role of proximal promoter elements in regulation of renin gene transcription.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1996. **271**(37): p. 22499-22505.
- 527. Sigmund, C.D., C.A. Jones, J.R. Fabian, J.J. Mullins, and K.W. Gross, *Tissue and cell specific expression of a renin promoter-reporter gene construct in transgenic mice*. Biochemical and biophysical research communications, 1990. **170**(1): p. 344-350.
- 528. Jaffe, E.A., R.L. Nachman, C.G. Becker, and C.R. Minick, *Culture of human endothelial cells derived from umbilical veins. Identification by morphologic and immunologic criteria.* The Journal of clinical investigation, 1973. **52**(11): p. 2745-2756.
- 529. Park, H.-J., Y. Zhang, S.P. Georgescu, K.L. Johnson, D. Kong, and J.B. Galper, *Human umbilical vein endothelial cells and human dermal microvascular endothelial cells offer new insights into the relationship between lipid metabolism and angiogenesis.* Stem cell reviews, 2006. **2**(2): p. 93-101.
- 530. Takeuchi, H., M. Baba, and S. Shigeta, *An application of tetrazolium (MTT) colorimetric assay for the screening of anti-herpes simplex virus compounds.* Journal of virological methods, 1991. **33**(1-2): p. 61-71.
- 531. Vistica, D.T., P. Skehan, D. Scudiero, A. Monks, A. Pittman, and M.R. Boyd, *Tetrazolium-based* assays for cellular viability: a critical examination of selected parameters affecting formazan production. Cancer research, 1991. **51**(10): p. 2515-2520.
- 532. Wang, G.T., C.C. Chung, T.F. Holzman, and G.A. Krafft, *A continuous fluorescence assay of renin activity*. Analytical biochemistry, 1993. **210**(2): p. 351-359.
- 533. Wood, J.M., N. Gulati, P. Forgiarini, W. Fuhrer, and K.G. Hofbauer, *Effects of a specific and long-acting renin inhibitor in the marmoset.* Hypertension, 1985. **7**(5): p. 797-803.
- 534. Yuan, L., J. WU, R.E. Aluko, and X. Ye, *Kinetics of renin inhibition by sodium houttuyfonate analogs.* Bioscience, biotechnology, and biochemistry, 2006. **70**(9): p. 2275-2280.
- 535. Paschalidou, K., U. Neumann, B. Gerhartz, and C. Tzougraki, *Highly sensitive intramolecularly quenched fluorogenic substrates for renin based on the combination of L-2-amino-3-(7-methoxy-4-coumaryl) propionic acid with 2, 4-dinitrophenyl groups at various positions.* Biochemical Journal, 2004. **382**(3): p. 1031-1038.
- 536. Pfaffl, M.W., *A new mathematical model for relative quantification in real-time RT–PCR.* Nucleic acids research, 2001. **29**(9): p. e45-e45.
- 537. Livak, K.J. and T.D. Schmittgen, Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2–  $\Delta\Delta$ CT method. methods, 2001. **25**(4): p. 402-408.
- 538. Mahmood, T. and P.-C. Yang, *Western blot: technique, theory, and trouble shooting.* North American journal of medical sciences, 2012. **4**(9): p. 429.
- 539. Wang, P., C. Holst, W. Wodzig, M.R. Andersen, A. Astrup, M. Van Baak, T.M. Larsen, S. Jebb, A. Kafatos, and A. Pfeiffer, *Circulating ACE is a predictor of weight loss maintenance not only in overweight and obese women, but also in men.* International journal of obesity, 2012. **36**(12): p. 1545.
- 540. Nielsen, H.M., E. Londos, L. Minthon, and S.M. Janciauskiene, *Soluble adhesion molecules and angiotensin-converting enzyme in dementia*. Neurobiology of disease, 2007. **26**(1): p. 27-35.
- 541. Friedland, J. and E. Silverstein, *A Sensitive Fluorimetric Assay for Serum Angiotensin-con venrting Enzyme.* American Journal of Clinical Pathology, 1976. **66**(2): p. 416-424.
- 542. Nims, R.W., J.F. Darbyshire, J.E. Saavedra, D. Christodoulou, I. Hanbauer, G.W. Cox, M.B. Grisham, F. Laval, J.A. Cook, and M.C. Krishna, *Colorimetric methods for the determination of nitric oxide concentration in neutral aqueous solutions.* Methods, 1995. **7**(1): p. 48-54.
- 543. Green, L.C., D.A. Wagner, J. Glogowski, P.L. Skipper, J.S. Wishnok, and S.R. Tannenbaum, *Analysis of nitrate, nitrite, and [15N] nitrate in biological fluids*. Analytical biochemistry, 1982.
   126(1): p. 131-138.

- 544. Bryan, N.S. and M.B. Grisham, *Methods to detect nitric oxide and its metabolites in biological samples.* Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 2007. **43**(5): p. 645-657.
- 545. Tsikas, D., Analysis of nitrite and nitrate in biological fluids by assays based on the Griess reaction: appraisal of the Griess reaction in the L-arginine/nitric oxide area of research. Journal of Chromatography B, 2007. **851**(1-2): p. 51-70.
- 546. Scalbert, A. and G. Williamson, *Dietary Intake and Bioavailability of Polyphenols*. The Journal of Nutrition, 2000. **130**(8): p. 2073S-2085S.
- 547. Vauzour, D., A. Rodriguez-Mateos, G. Corona, M.J. Oruna-Concha, and J.P. Spencer, *Polyphenols and human health: prevention of disease and mechanisms of action*. Nutrients, 2010. **2**(11): p. 1106-1131.
- 548. Woodward, K.A., R. Draijer, D.H. Thijssen, and D.A. Low, *Polyphenols and Microvascular Function in Humans: A Systematic Review.* Current pharmaceutical design, 2018. **24**(2): p. 203-226.
- 549. Li, P.-G., J.-W. Xu, K. Ikeda, A. Kobayakawa, Y. Kayano, T. Mitani, T. Ikami, and Y. Yamori, *Caffeic acid inhibits vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation induced by angiotensin II in stroke-prone spontaneously hypertensive rats.* Hypertension research, 2005. **28**(4): p. 369.
- 550. Suzuki, A., N. Yamamoto, H. Jokura, M. Yamamoto, A. Fujii, I. Tokimitsu, and I. Saito, *Chlorogenic acid attenuates hypertension and improves endothelial function in spontaneously hypertensive rats.* Journal of hypertension, 2006. **24**(6): p. 1065-1073.
- 551. Zhao, Y., J. Wang, O. Ballevre, H. Luo, and W. Zhang, *Antihypertensive effects and mechanisms of chlorogenic acids*. Hypertension Research, 2012. **35**(4): p. 370.
- 552. Volpe, M., C. Savoia, P. De Paolis, B. Ostrowska, D. Tarasi, and S. Rubattu, *The reninangiotensin system as a risk factor and therapeutic target for cardiovascular and renal disease.* Journal of the American Society of Nephrology, 2002. **13**(suppl 3): p. S173-S178.
- 553. Li, F., M. Ohnishi-Kameyama, Y. Takahashi, and K. Yamaki, *Tea polyphenols as novel and potent inhibitory substances against renin activity.* Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 2013. **61**(40): p. 9697-9704.
- 554. Yuan, W., W. Pan, J. Kong, W. Zheng, F.L. Szeto, K.E. Wong, R. Cohen, A. Klopot, Z. Zhang, and Y.C. Li, *1, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 suppresses renin gene transcription by blocking the activity of the cyclic AMP response element in the renin gene promoter.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2007. **282**(41): p. 29821-29830.
- 555. Liu, X., Q. Shi, and C.D. Sigmund, Interleukin-16 attenuates renin gene expression via a mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase-extracellular signal-regulated kinase and signal transducer and activator of transcription 3-dependent mechanism in As4. 1 cells. Endocrinology, 2006. **147**(12): p. 6011-6018.
- 556. Spencer, J.P., C. Rice-Evans, and R.J. Williams, *Modulation of pro-survival Akt/protein kinase B and ERK1/2 signaling cascades by quercetin and its in vivo metabolites underlie their action on neuronal viability.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 2003. **278**(37): p. 34783-34793.
- 557. Spencer, J.P., D. Vauzour, and C. Rendeiro, *Flavonoids and cognition: the molecular mechanisms underlying their behavioural effects.* Archives of biochemistry and biophysics, 2009. **492**(1-2): p. 1-9.
- 558. Williams, C.M., M.A. El Mohsen, D. Vauzour, C. Rendeiro, L.T. Butler, J.A. Ellis, M. Whiteman, and J.P. Spencer, *Blueberry-induced changes in spatial working memory correlate with changes in hippocampal CREB phosphorylation and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) levels.* Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 2008. **45**(3): p. 295-305.
- 559. Chen, M., J. Schnermann, A. Smart, F. Brosius, P. Killen, and J. Briggs, *Cyclic AMP selectively increases renin mRNA stability in cultured juxtaglomerular granular cells.* Journal of Biological Chemistry, 1993. **268**(32): p. 24138-24144.
- 560. Glenn, S.T., C.A. Jones, K.W. Gross, and L. Pan, *Control of rene gene expression*. Pflügers Archiv-European Journal of Physiology, 2013. **465**(1): p. 13-21.
- 561. Klar, J., P. Sandner, M.W. Müller, and A. Kurtz, *Cyclic AMP stimulates renin gene transcription in juxtaglomerular cells.* Pflügers Archiv, 2002. **444**(3): p. 335-344.

- 562. Corona, G., M. Deiana, A. Incani, D. Vauzour, M.A. Dessì, and J.P. Spencer, *Inhibition of p38/CREB phosphorylation and COX-2 expression by olive oil polyphenols underlies their anti- proliferative effects.* Biochemical and biophysical research communications, 2007. **362**(3): p. 606-611.
- 563. Spencer, J.P., *The impact of flavonoids on memory: physiological and molecular considerations.* Chemical Society Reviews, 2009. **38**(4): p. 1152-1161.
- 564. Ohsaki, Y., H. Shirakawa, T. Koseki, and M. Komai, *Novel effects of a single administration of ferulic acid on the regulation of blood pressure and the hepatic lipid metabolic profile in stroke-prone spontaneously hypertensive rats.* Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 2008. **56**(8): p. 2825-2830.
- 565. Khakimov, B., B.M. Jespersen, and S.B. Engelsen, *Comprehensive and comparative metabolomic profiling of wheat, barley, oat and rye using gas chromatography-mass spectrometry and advanced chemometrics.* Foods, 2014. **3**(4): p. 569-585.
- 566. Al Shukor, N., J. Van Camp, G.B. Gonzales, D. Staljanssens, K. Struijs, M.J. Zotti, K. Raes, and G. Smagghe, Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitory effects by plant phenolic compounds: A study of structure activity relationships. Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 2013.
   61(48): p. 11832-11839.
- 567. Loizzo, M.R., A. Said, R. Tundis, K. Rashed, G.A. Statti, A. Hufner, and F. Menichini, *Inhibition of angiotensin converting enzyme (ACE) by flavonoids isolated from Ailanthus excelsa (Roxb)(Simaroubaceae).* Phytotherapy Research, 2007. **21**(1): p. 32-36.
- 568. Wiseman, W., J.M. Egan, J.E. Slemmer, K.S. Shaughnessy, K. Ballem, K.T. Gottschall-Pass, and M.I. Sweeney, *Feeding blueberry diets inhibits angiotensin II-converting enzyme (ACE) activity in spontaneously hypertensive stroke-prone rats.* Canadian journal of physiology and pharmacology, 2010. **89**(1): p. 67-71.
- 569. Balasuriya, N. and H.V. Rupasinghe, *Antihypertensive properties of flavonoid-rich apple peel extract.* Food chemistry, 2012. **135**(4): p. 2320-2325.
- 570. Wijesinghe, W., S.-C. Ko, and Y.-J. Jeon, *Effect of phlorotannins isolated from Ecklonia cava on angiotensin I-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitory activity.* Nutrition research and practice, 2011. **5**(2): p. 93-100.
- 571. Ende, C. and R. Gebhardt, *Inhibition of matrix metalloproteinase-2 and-9 activities by selected flavonoids.* Planta medica, 2004. **70**(10): p. 1006-1008.
- 572. Parellada, J., G. Suárez, and M. Guinea, *Inhibition of zinc metallopeptidases by flavonoids and related phenolic compounds: structure-activity relationships*. Journal of enzyme inhibition, 1998. **13**(5): p. 347-359.
- 573. Taubert, D., R. Berkels, W. Klaus, and R. Roesen, *Nitric oxide formation and corresponding relaxation of porcine coronary arteries induced by plant phenols: essential structural features.* Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology, 2002. **40**(5): p. 701-713.
- 574. Hermanns, M., A. Müller, M. Tsokos, and C. Kirkpatrick, *LPS-induced effects on angiotensin I-converting enzyme expression and shedding in human pulmonary microvascular endothelial cells.* In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology-Animal, 2014. **50**(4): p. 287-295.
- 575. Hodgson, J.M., V. Burke, and I.B. Puddey, *Acute effects of tea on fasting and postprandial vascular function and blood pressure in humans.* Journal of hypertension, 2005. **23**(1): p. 47-54.
- 576. Jokura, H., I. Watanabe, M. Umeda, T. Hase, and A. Shimotoyodome, *Coffee polyphenol consumption improves postprandial hyperglycemia associated with impaired vascular endothelial function in healthy male adults*. Nutrition research, 2015. **35**(10): p. 873-881.
- 577. Mills, C.E., A. Flury, C. Marmet, L. Poquet, S.F. Rimoldi, C. Sartori, E. Rexhaj, R. Brenner, Y. Allemann, and D. Zimmermann, *Mediation of coffee-induced improvements in human vascular function by chlorogenic acids and its metabolites: Two randomized, controlled, crossover intervention trials.* Clinical nutrition, 2017. **36**(6): p. 1520-1529.
- 578. Poreba, R., A. Skoczynska, P. Gac, M. Poreba, I. Jedrychowska, A. Affelska-Jercha, B. Turczyn, A. Wojakowska, J. Oszmianski, and R. Andrzejak, *Drinking of chokeberry juice from the*

ecological farm Dzieciolowo and distensibility of brachial artery in men with mild hypercholesterolemia. Annals of Agricultural and Environmental Medicine, 2009. **16**(2): p. 305-308.

- 579. Wong, R., P. Howe, J. Buckley, A. Coates, I. Kunz, and N. Berry, *Acute resveratrol supplementation improves flow-mediated dilatation in overweight/obese individuals with mildly elevated blood pressure.* Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 2011. **21**(11): p. 851-856.
- 580. Bondonno, C.P., X. Yang, K.D. Croft, M.J. Considine, N.C. Ward, L. Rich, I.B. Puddey, E. Swinny, A. Mubarak, and J.M. Hodgson, *Flavonoid-rich apples and nitrate-rich spinach augment nitric oxide status and improve endothelial function in healthy men and women: a randomized controlled trial.* Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 2012. **52**(1): p. 95-102.
- 581. Grassi, D., G. Desideri, S. Necozione, F. Ruggieri, J.B. Blumberg, M. Stornello, and C. Ferri, Protective Effects of Flavanol-Rich Dark Chocolate on Endothelial Function and Wave Reflection During Acute HyperglycemiaNovelty and Significance. Hypertension, 2012. **60**(3): p. 827-832.
- 582. Arranz, S., G. Chiva-Blanch, P. Valderas-Martínez, A. Medina-Remón, R.M. Lamuela-Raventós, and R. Estruch, *Wine, beer, alcohol and polyphenols on cardiovascular disease and cancer.* Nutrients, 2012. **4**(7): p. 759-781.
- 583. Feringa, H.H., D.A. Laskey, J.E. Dickson, and C.I. Coleman, *The effect of grape seed extract on cardiovascular risk markers: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials.* Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2011. **111**(8): p. 1173-1181.
- 584. HODGSON, J.M., I.B. PUDDEY, V. BURKE, G.F. WATTS, and L.J. BEILIN, *Regular ingestion of black tea improves brachial artery vasodilator function*. Clinical Science, 2002. **102**(2): p. 195-201.
- 585. Lockyer, S., G. Corona, P. Yaqoob, J.P. Spencer, and I. Rowland, *Secoiridoids delivered as olive leaf extract induce acute improvements in human vascular function and reduction of an inflammatory cytokine: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, cross-over trial.* British Journal of Nutrition, 2015. **114**(1): p. 75-83.
- 586. Ochiai, R., Y. Sugiura, Y. Shioya, K. Otsuka, Y. Katsuragi, and T. Hashiguchi, *Coffee polyphenols improve peripheral endothelial function after glucose loading in healthy male adults.* Nutrition Research, 2014. **34**(2): p. 155-159.
- 587. Wang, X., Y. Ouyang, J. Liu, M. Zhu, G. Zhao, W. Bao, and F.B. Hu, *Fruit and vegetable consumption and mortality from all causes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer: systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies.* Bmj, 2014. **349**: p. g4490.
- 588. Ye, E.Q., S.A. Chacko, E.L. Chou, M. Kugizaki, and S. Liu, *Greater Whole-Grain Intake Is* Associated with Lower Risk of Type 2 Diabetes, Cardiovascular Disease, and Weight Gain–3. The Journal of nutrition, 2012. **142**(7): p. 1304-1313.
- 589. Duarte, J., E. Andriambeloson, M. Diebolt, and R. Andriantsitohaina, *Wine polyphenols stimulate superoxide anion production to promote calcium signaling and endothelial-dependent vasodilatation.* Physiol Res, 2004. **53**(6): p. 595-602.
- 590. Manna, C., D. Napoli, G. Cacciapuoti, M. Porcelli, and V. Zappia, *Olive oil phenolic compounds inhibit homocysteine-induced endothelial cell adhesion regardless of their different antioxidant activity.* Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 2009. **57**(9): p. 3478-3482.
- 591. Hermann, F., L. Spieker, F. Ruschitzka, I. Sudano, M. Hermann, C. Binggeli, T. Lüscher, W. Riesen, G. Noll, and R. Corti, *Dark chocolate improves endothelial and platelet function*. Heart, 2006. **92**(1): p. 119-120.
- 592. Alqurashi, R.M., L.A. Galante, I.R. Rowland, J.P. Spencer, and D.M. Commane, *Consumption of a flavonoid-rich açai meal is associated with acute improvements in vascular function and a reduction in total oxidative status in healthy overweight men, 2.* The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2016. **104**(5): p. 1227-1235.

- 593. Steffen, Y., C. Gruber, T. Schewe, and H. Sies, *Mono-O-methylated flavanols and other flavonoids as inhibitors of endothelial NADPH oxidase.* Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 2008. **469**(2): p. 209-219.
- 594. Steinkamp-Fenske, K., L. Bollinger, H. Xu, Y. Yao, S. Horke, U. Förstermann, and H. Li, *Reciprocal regulation of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase and NADPH oxidase by betulinic acid in human endothelial cells.* Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, 2007. **322**(2): p. 836-842.
- 595. Shewry, P.R., V. Piironen, A.-M. Lampi, L. Nyström, L. Li, M. Rakszegi, A. Fras, D. Boros, K. Gebruers, and C.M. Courtin, *Phytochemical and fiber components in oat varieties in the HEALTHGRAIN diversity screen.* Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 2008. **56**(21): p. 9777-9784.
- 596. Chen, C.-Y.O., P.E. Milbury, F.W. Collins, and J.B. Blumberg, *Avenanthramides are bioavailable and have antioxidant activity in humans after acute consumption of an enriched mixture from oats.* The Journal of nutrition, 2007. **137**(6): p. 1375-1382.
- 597. Tighe, P., G. Duthie, N. Vaughan, J. Brittenden, W.G. Simpson, S. Duthie, W. Mutch, K. Wahle, G. Horgan, and F. Thies, *Effect of increased consumption of whole-grain foods on blood pressure and other cardiovascular risk markers in healthy middle-aged persons: a randomized controlled trial*–. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2010. **92**(4): p. 733-740.
- 598. Keenan, J.M., J.J. Pins, C. Frazel, A. Moran, and L. Turnquist, *Oat ingestion reduces systolic and diastolic blood pressure in patients with mild or borderline hypertension: a pilot trial.* The Journal of family practice, 2002. **51**(4): p. 369-369.
- 599. Jones, N.R., N.G. Forouhi, K.-T. Khaw, N.J. Wareham, and P. Monsivais, Accordance to the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension diet pattern and cardiovascular disease in a British, population-based cohort. European journal of epidemiology, 2018: p. 1-10.
- 600. Reidlinger, D.P., J. Darzi, W.L. Hall, P.T. Seed, P.J. Chowienczyk, and T.A. Sanders, *How effective are current dietary guidelines for cardiovascular disease prevention in healthy middle-aged and older men and women? A randomized controlled trial*—. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2015. **101**(5): p. 922-930.
- 601. Saltzman, E., S.K. Das, A.H. Lichtenstein, G.E. Dallal, A. Corrales, E.J. Schaefer, A.S. Greenberg, and S.B. Roberts, *An oat-containing hypocaloric diet reduces systolic blood pressure and improves lipid profile beyond effects of weight loss in men and women*. The Journal of nutrition, 2001. **131**(5): p. 1465-1470.
- 602. Tabesh, F., H. Sanei, M. Jahangiri, A. Momenizadeh, E. Tabesh, K. Pourmohammadi, and M. Sadeghi, *The effects of beta-glucan rich oat bread on serum nitric oxide and vascular endothelial function in patients with hypercholesterolemia*. BioMed research international, 2014. **2014**.
- 603. Newens, K.J., A.K. Thompson, K.G. Jackson, J. Wright, and C.M. Williams, *DHA-rich fish oil reverses the detrimental effects of saturated fatty acids on postprandial vascular reactivity–.* The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2011. **94**(3): p. 742-748.
- 604. Nwachukwu, I.D., J.G. Devassy, R.E. Aluko, and P.J. Jones, *Cholesterol-lowering properties of oat β-glucan and the promotion of cardiovascular health: did Health Canada make the right call*? Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism, 2015. **40**(6): p. 535-542.
- 605. Van Horn, L., J.A.S. Carson, L.J. Appel, L.E. Burke, C. Economos, W. Karmally, K. Lancaster, A.H. Lichtenstein, R.K. Johnson, and R.J. Thomas, *Recommended dietary pattern to achieve adherence to the American Heart Association/American College of Cardiology (AHA/ACC) guidelines: a scientific statement from the American Heart Association.* Circulation, 2016: p. CIR. 00000000000462.
- 606. Bidulescu, A., L.E. Chambless, A.M. Siega-Riz, S.H. Zeisel, and G. Heiss, Usual choline and betaine dietary intake and incident coronary heart disease: the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study. BMC cardiovascular disorders, 2007. **7**(1): p. 20.
- 607. Corretti, M.C., T.J. Anderson, E.J. Benjamin, D. Celermajer, F. Charbonneau, M.A. Creager, J. Deanfield, H. Drexler, M. Gerhard-Herman, and D. Herrington, *Guidelines for the ultrasound*

assessment of endothelial-dependent flow-mediated vasodilation of the brachial artery: a report of the International Brachial Artery Reactivity Task Force. Journal of the American College of Cardiology, 2002. **39**(2): p. 257-265.

- 608. Ramsay, J.E., W.R. Ferrell, I.A. Greer, and N. Sattar, *Factors critical to iontophoretic assessment of vascular reactivity: implications for clinical studies of endothelial dysfunction.* Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology, 2002. **39**(1): p. 9-17.
- 609. Brocx, K. and P. Drummond, *Reproducibility of cutaneous microvascular function assessment using laser Doppler flowmetry and acetylcholine iontophoresis.* Skin pharmacology and physiology, 2009. **22**(6): p. 313-321.
- 610. Jadhav, S., N. Sattar, J.R. Petrie, S.M. Cobbe, and W.R. Ferrell, *Reproducibility and repeatability of peripheral microvascular assessment using iontophoresis in conjunction with laser Doppler imaging.* Journal of cardiovascular pharmacology, 2007. **50**(3): p. 343-349.
- 611. Stehouwer, C., *Is measurement of endothelial dysfunction clinically useful?* European journal of clinical investigation, 1999. **29**(6): p. 459-461.
- 612. Turner, J., J.J. Belch, and F. Khan, *Current concepts in assessment of microvascular endothelial function using laser Doppler imaging and iontophoresis.* Trends in cardiovascular medicine, 2008. **18**(4): p. 109-116.
- 613. O'brien, E., R. Asmar, L. Beilin, Y. Imai, J.-M. Mallion, G. Mancia, T. Mengden, M. Myers, P. Padfield, and P. Palatini, *European Society of Hypertension recommendations for conventional, ambulatory and home blood pressure measurement.* Journal of hypertension, 2003. **21**(5): p. 821-848.
- 614. Sentandreu, M.A. and F. Toldrá, *A fluorescence-based protocol for quantifying angiotensinconverting enzyme activity.* Nature Protocols, 2006. **1**(5): p. 2423.
- 615. Devlin, N., J. McKenzie, and I.F. Gow, *Effect of oatmeal on postprandial vascular compliance following a high fat meal.* Journal of Clinical Nutrition and Dietetics, 2016. **2**(1): p. 4.
- 616. Del Bo, C., P. Riso, J. Campolo, P. Møller, S. Loft, D. Klimis-Zacas, A. Brambilla, A. Rizzolo, and M. Porrini, A single portion of blueberry (Vaccinium corymbosum L) improves protection against DNA damage but not vascular function in healthy male volunteers. Nutrition research, 2013. **33**(3): p. 220-227.
- 617. Bayliss, J., M.S. Norell, R. Canepa-Anson, C. Reid, P. Poole-Wilson, and G. Sutton, *Clinical importance of the renin-angiotensin system in chronic heart failure: double blind comparison of captopril and prazosin.* Br Med J (Clin Res Ed), 1985. **290**(6485): p. 1861-1865.
- 618. Bleakley, S., M. Hayes, N. O'Shea, E. Gallagher, and T. Lafarga, *Predicted Release and Analysis* of Novel ACE-I, Renin, and DPP-IV Inhibitory Peptides from Common Oat (Avena sativa) Protein Hydrolysates Using in Silico Analysis. Foods, 2017. **6**(12): p. 108.
- 619. Maki, K., R. Galant, P. Samuel, J. Tesser, M. Witchger, J. Ribaya-Mercado, J. Blumberg, and J. Geohas, *Effects of consuming foods containing oat 6-glucan on blood pressure, carbohydrate metabolism and biomarkers of oxidative stress in men and women with elevated blood pressure.* European journal of clinical nutrition, 2007. **61**(6): p. 786.
- 620. Andersson, K.E. and P. Hellstrand, *Dietary oats and modulation of atherogenic pathways.* Molecular nutrition & food research, 2012. **56**(7): p. 1003-1013.
- 621. Maki, K.C., J.M. Beiseigel, S.S. Jonnalagadda, C.K. Gugger, M.S. Reeves, M.V. Farmer, V.N. Kaden, and T.M. Rains, *Whole-grain ready-to-eat oat cereal, as part of a dietary program for weight loss, reduces low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in adults with overweight and obesity more than a dietary program including low-fiber control foods.* Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2010. **110**(2): p. 205-214.
- 622. Zhang, J., L. Li, P. Song, C. Wang, Q. Man, L. Meng, J. Cai, and A. Kurilich, *Randomized* controlled trial of oatmeal consumption versus noodle consumption on blood lipids of urban Chinese adults with hypercholesterolemia. Nutrition journal, 2012. **11**(1): p. 54.
- 623. Schär, M.Y., P.J. Curtis, S. Hazim, L.M. Ostertag, C.D. Kay, J.F. Potter, and A. Cassidy, Orange juice–derived flavanone and phenolic metabolites do not acutely affect cardiovascular risk

*biomarkers: a randomized, placebo-controlled, crossover trial in men at moderate risk of cardiovascular disease*–. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2015. **101**(5): p. 931-938.

- 624. De Souza, R.J., A. Mente, A. Maroleanu, A.I. Cozma, V. Ha, T. Kishibe, E. Uleryk, P. Budylowski, H. Schünemann, and J. Beyene, *Intake of saturated and trans unsaturated fatty acids and risk of all cause mortality, cardiovascular disease, and type 2 diabetes: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies.* Bmj, 2015. **351**: p. h3978.
- 625. Hu, F.B., J.E. Manson, and W.C. Willett, *Types of dietary fat and risk of coronary heart disease: a critical review.* Journal of the American College of Nutrition, 2001. **20**(1): p. 5-19.
- 626. Hunter, J.E., J. Zhang, and P.M. Kris-Etherton, *Cardiovascular disease risk of dietary stearic acid compared with trans, other saturated, and unsaturated fatty acids: a systematic review*—. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2009. **91**(1): p. 46-63.
- 627. Graudal, N., G. Jürgens, B. Baslund, and M.H. Alderman, *Compared with usual sodium intake, low-and excessive-sodium diets are associated with increased mortality: a meta-analysis.* American journal of hypertension, 2014. **27**(9): p. 1129-1137.
- 628. Strazzullo, P., L. D'Elia, N.-B. Kandala, and F.P. Cappuccio, *Salt intake, stroke, and cardiovascular disease: meta-analysis of prospective studies.* Bmj, 2009. **339**: p. b4567.
- 629. Vollmer, W.M., F.M. Sacks, J. Ard, L.J. Appel, G.A. Bray, D.G. Simons-Morton, P.R. Conlin, L.P. Svetkey, T.P. Erlinger, and T.J. Moore, *Effects of diet and sodium intake on blood pressure: subgroup analysis of the DASH-sodium trial.* Annals of internal medicine, 2001. **135**(12): p. 1019-1028.
- 630. Miura, K., P. Greenland, J. Stamler, K. Liu, M.L. Daviglus, and H. Nakagawa, *Relation of vegetable, fruit, and meat intake to 7-year blood pressure change in middle-aged men: the Chicago Western Electric Study.* American journal of epidemiology, 2004. **159**(6): p. 572-580.
- 631. Whelton, S.P., A.D. Hyre, B. Pedersen, Y. Yi, P.K. Whelton, and J. He, *Effect of dietary fiber intake on blood pressure: a meta-analysis of randomized, controlled clinical trials.* 2005, LWW.
- 632. Miller, E.R., T.P. Erlinger, and L.J. Appel, *The effects of macronutrients on blood pressure and lipids: an overview of the DASH and OmniHeart trials.* Current atherosclerosis reports, 2006.
  8(6): p. 460-465.
- 633. Asgary, S., M. Keshvari, M.R. Afshani, M. Amiri, I. Laher, and S.H. Javanmard, *Effect of fresh* orange juice intake on physiological characteristics in healthy volunteers. ISRN nutrition, 2014. **2014**.
- 634. Draijer, R., Y. de Graaf, M. Slettenaar, E. de Groot, and C.I. Wright, *Consumption of a polyphenol-rich grape-wine extract lowers ambulatory blood pressure in mildly hypertensive subjects.* Nutrients, 2015. **7**(5): p. 3138-3153.
- 635. Geleijnse, J.M., L.J. Launer, D.A. van der Kuip, A. Hofman, and J. Witteman, *Inverse* association of tea and flavonoid intakes with incident myocardial infarction: the Rotterdam *Study.* The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2002. **75**(5): p. 880-886.
- 636. Loke, W.M., J.M. Hodgson, J.M. Proudfoot, A.J. McKinley, I.B. Puddey, and K.D. Croft, *Pure dietary flavonoids quercetin and (–)-epicatechin augment nitric oxide products and reduce endothelin-1 acutely in healthy men–*. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2008. **88**(4): p. 1018-1025.
- 637. Engler, M.B. and M.M. Engler, *The vasculoprotective effects of flavonoid-rich cocoa and chocolate*. Nutrition Research, 2004. **24**(9): p. 695-706.
- 638. Mennen, L.I., D. Sapinho, A. de Bree, N. Arnault, S. Bertrais, P. Galan, and S. Hercberg, *Consumption of foods rich in flavonoids is related to a decreased cardiovascular risk in apparently healthy French women.* The Journal of nutrition, 2004. **134**(4): p. 923-926.
- 639. Morand, C., C. Dubray, D. Milenkovic, D. Lioger, J.F. Martin, A. Scalbert, and A. Mazur, *Hesperidin contributes to the vascular protective effects of orange juice: a randomized crossover study in healthy volunteers*–. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2010. **93**(1): p. 73-80.

- 640. Baba, S., N. Osakabe, Y. Kato, M. Natsume, A. Yasuda, T. Kido, K. Fukuda, Y. Muto, and K. Kondo, *Continuous intake of polyphenolic compounds containing cocoa powder reduces LDL oxidative susceptibility and has beneficial effects on plasma HDL-cholesterol concentrations in humans*. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2007. **85**(3): p. 709-717.
- 641. Ruiz-Roso, B., J.C. Quintela, E. de la Fuente, J. Haya, and L. Pérez-Olleros, *Insoluble carob fiber rich in polyphenols lowers total and LDL cholesterol in hypercholesterolemic sujects*. Plant foods for human nutrition, 2010. **65**(1): p. 50-56.
- 642. Sangwan, S., R. Singh, and S.K. Tomar, *Nutritional and functional properties of oats: An update.* Journal of Innovative Biology, 2014. **1**(1): p. 3-14.
- 643. Belobrajdic, D.P. and A.R. Bird, *The potential role of phytochemicals in wholegrain cereals for the prevention of type-2 diabetes*. Nutrition journal, 2013. **12**(1): p. 62.
- 644. Borneo, R. and A.E. León, *Whole grain cereals: functional components and health benefits.* Food & function, 2012. **3**(2): p. 110-119.
- 645. Jonnalagadda, S.S., L. Harnack, R. Hai Liu, N. McKeown, C. Seal, S. Liu, and G.C. Fahey, *Putting the Whole Grain Puzzle Together: Health Benefits Associated with Whole Grains—Summary of American Society for Nutrition 2010 Satellite Symposium*–. The Journal of nutrition, 2011. **141**(5): p. 1011S-1022S.
- 646. Qi, L., J.B. Meigs, S. Liu, J.E. Manson, C. Mantzoros, and F.B. Hu, *Dietary fibers and glycemic load, obesity, and plasma adiponectin levels in women with type 2 diabetes.* Diabetes care, 2006. **29**(7): p. 1501-1505.
- 647. Whitehead, A., E.J. Beck, S. Tosh, and T.M. Wolever, *Cholesterol-lowering effects of oat β-glucan: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials*–. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2014. **100**(6): p. 1413-1421.
- 648. Bao, L., X. Cai, M. Xu, and Y. Li, *Effect of oat intake on glycaemic control and insulin sensitivity: A meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials.* British Journal of Nutrition, 2014. **112**(3): p. 457-466.
- 649. Ho, H.V., J.L. Sievenpiper, A. Zurbau, S.B. Mejia, E. Jovanovski, F. Au-Yeung, A.L. Jenkins, and V. Vuksan, *The effect of oat 6-glucan on LDL-cholesterol, non-HDL-cholesterol and apoB for CVD risk reduction: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised-controlled trials.* British Journal of Nutrition, 2016. **116**(8): p. 1369-1382.
- 650. Keogh, G.F., G.J. Cooper, T.B. Mulvey, B.H. McArdle, G.D. Coles, J.A. Monro, and S.D. Poppitt, *Randomized controlled crossover study of the effect of a highly β-glucan–enriched barley on cardiovascular disease risk factors in mildly hypercholesterolemic men.* The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2003. **78**(4): p. 711-718.
- 651. Qi, L., R.M. Van Dam, S. Liu, M. Franz, C. Mantzoros, and F.B. Hu, *Whole-grain, bran, and cereal fiber intakes and markers of systemic inflammation in diabetic women.* Diabetes care, 2006. **29**(2): p. 207-211.
- 652. Miller, S., R. Fulcher, A. Sen, and J. Arnason, *Other Tissuesl.* Cereal Chem, 1995. **72**(5): p. 42l-427.
- 653. Anderson, J.W., T.J. Hanna, X. Peng, and R.J. Kryscio, *Whole grain foods and heart disease risk.* Journal of the American College of Nutrition, 2000. **19**(sup3): p. 291S-299S.
- 654. Aune, D., N. Keum, E. Giovannucci, L.T. Fadnes, P. Boffetta, D.C. Greenwood, S. Tonstad, L.J. Vatten, E. Riboli, and T. Norat, *Whole grain consumption and risk of cardiovascular disease, cancer, and all cause and cause specific mortality: systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies.* bmj, 2016. **353**: p. i2716.
- 655. Wong, R.H., N.M. Berry, A.M. Coates, J.D. Buckley, J. Bryan, I. Kunz, and P.R. Howe, *Chronic resveratrol consumption improves brachial flow-mediated dilatation in healthy obese adults.* Journal of hypertension, 2013. **31**(9): p. 1819-1827.
- 656. Ruxton, C. and E. Derbyshire, *A systematic review of the association between cardiovascular risk factors and regular consumption of oats.* British Food Journal, 2008. **110**(11): p. 1119-1132.

- 657. Behall, K.M., D.J. Scholfield, and J. Hallfrisch, *Whole-grain diets reduce blood pressure in mildly hypercholesterolemic men and women.* Journal of the American Dietetic Association, 2006. **106**(9): p. 1445-1449.
- 658. Hallfrisch, J., D.J. Scholfield, and K.M. Behall, *Blood pressure reduced by whole grain diet containing barley or whole wheat and brown rice in moderately hypercholesterolemic men.* Nutrition Research, 2003. **23**(12): p. 1631-1642.
- 659. O'CONNOR, P.J. and L.M. CHERNEY, *Do whole-grain oat cereals reduce the need for antihypertensive medications and improve blood pressure control?* The Journal of family practice, 2002. **51**(4): p. 353.
- 660. von Lueder, T.G. and H. Krum, *RAAS inhibitors and cardiovascular protection in large scale trials*. Cardiovascular drugs and therapy, 2013. **27**(2): p. 171-179.
- 661. Ljungberg, L., U. Alehagen, T. Länne, H. Björck, R. De Basso, U. Dahlström, and K. Persson, *The association between circulating angiotensin-converting enzyme and cardiovascular risk in the elderly: a cross-sectional study.* Journal of the Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System, 2011. **12**(3): p. 281-289.
- 662. Guang, C. and R.D. Phillips, *Plant food-derived angiotensin I converting enzyme inhibitory peptides.* Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2009. **57**(12): p. 5113-5120.
- 663. Matsui, T., C.-H. Li, T. Tanaka, Y. OSAJIMA, and K. MATSUMOTO, *Depressor effect of wheat germ hydrolysate and its novel angiotensin I-converting enzyme inhibitory peptide, Ile-Val-Tyr, and the metabplism in rat and human plasma*. Biological and Pharmaceutical Bulletin, 2000. **23**(4): p. 427-431.
- 664. Lamelas, P.M., A. Mente, R. Diaz, A. Orlandini, A. Avezum, G. Oliveira, F. Lanas, P. Seron, P. Lopez-Jaramillo, and P. Camacho-Lopez, *Association of urinary sodium excretion with blood pressure and cardiovascular clinical events in 17,033 Latin Americans.* American journal of hypertension, 2015. **29**(7): p. 796-805.
- 665. O'donnell, M., A. Mente, S. Rangarajan, M.J. McQueen, X. Wang, L. Liu, H. Yan, S.F. Lee, P. Mony, and A. Devanath, *Urinary sodium and potassium excretion, mortality, and cardiovascular events.* New England Journal of Medicine, 2014. **371**(7): p. 612-623.
- 666. Davy, B.M., C.L. Melby, S.D. Beske, R.C. Ho, L.R. Davrath, and K.P. Davy, *Oat consumption does not affect resting casual and ambulatory 24-h arterial blood pressure in men with high-normal blood pressure to stage I hypertension.* The Journal of nutrition, 2002. **132**(3): p. 394-398.
- 667. Momenizadeh, A., R. Heidari, M. Sadeghi, F. Tabesh, M. Ekramzadeh, Z. Haghighatian, J. Golshahi, and M. Baseri, *Effects of oat and wheat bread consumption on lipid profile, blood sugar, and endothelial function in hypercholesterolemic patients: A randomized controlled clinical trial.* ARYA atherosclerosis, 2014. **10**(5): p. 259.
- 668. Brownlee, I.A., C. Moore, M. Chatfield, D.P. Richardson, P. Ashby, S.A. Kuznesof, S.A. Jebb, and C.J. Seal, *Markers of cardiovascular risk are not changed by increased whole-grain intake: the WHOLEheart study, a randomised, controlled dietary intervention.* British Journal of Nutrition, 2010. **104**(1): p. 125-134.
- 669. Esser, D., E. Oosterink, J. Op't Roodt, R.M. Henry, C.D. Stehouwer, M. Müller, and L.A. Afman, Vascular and inflammatory high fat meal responses in young healthy men; a discriminative role of IL-8 observed in a randomized trial. PLoS One, 2013. **8**(2): p. e53474.
- 670. Andersson, A., S. Tengblad, B. Karlstrom, A. Kamal-Eldin, R. Landberg, S. Basu, P. Aman, and B. Vessby, Whole-grain foods do not affect insulin sensitivity or markers of lipid peroxidation and inflammation in healthy, moderately overweight subjects. The Journal of nutrition, 2007. 137(6): p. 1401-1407.
- 671. Grossman, E., Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring in the diagnosis and management of hypertension. Diabetes care, 2013. **36**(Supplement 2): p. S307-S311.
- 672. O'brien, E., A. Coats, P. Owens, J. Petrie, P.L. Padfield, W.A. Littler, M. de Swiet, and F. Mee, *Use and interpretation of ambulatory blood pressure monitoring: recommendations of the British Hypertension Society.* BMJ: British Medical Journal, 2000. **320**(7242): p. 1128.

- 673. O'brien, E., *Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring in the management of hypertension.* Heart, 2003. **89**(5): p. 571-576.
- 674. Palatini, P., G. Frigo, O. Bertolo, E. Roman, R.C. Da, and M. Winnicki, *Validation of the A&D TM-2430 device for ambulatory blood pressure monitoring and evaluation of performance according to subjects' characteristics.* Blood pressure monitoring, 1998. **3**(4): p. 255-260.
- 675. Dower, J.I., J.M. Geleijnse, L. Gijsbers, P.L. Zock, D. Kromhout, and P.C. Hollman, *Effects of the pure flavonoids epicatechin and quercetin on vascular function and cardiometabolic health: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, crossover trial–.* The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2015. **101**(5): p. 914-921.
- 676. Weseler, A.R., E.J. Ruijters, M.-J. Drittij-Reijnders, K.D. Reesink, G.R. Haenen, and A. Bast, *Pleiotropic benefit of monomeric and oligomeric flavanols on vascular health-a randomized controlled clinical pilot study.* PLoS One, 2011. **6**(12): p. e28460.
- 677. Eguchi, K., J. Ishikawa, S. Hoshide, T.G. Pickering, J.E. Schwartz, K. Shimada, and K. Kario, Night time blood pressure variability is a strong predictor for cardiovascular events in patients with type 2 diabetes. American journal of hypertension, 2009. **22**(1): p. 46-51.
- 678. Fagard, R.H., H. Celis, L. Thijs, J.A. Staessen, D.L. Clement, M.L. De Buyzere, and D.A. De Bacquer, *Daytime and nighttime blood pressure as predictors of death and cause-specific cardiovascular events in hypertension.* Hypertension, 2008. **51**(1): p. 55-61.
- 679. Lanfranchi, P.A., M.-H. Pennestri, L. Fradette, M. Dumont, C.M. Morin, and J. Montplaisir, Nighttime blood pressure in normotensive subjects with chronic insomnia: implications for cardiovascular risk. Sleep, 2009. **32**(6): p. 760-766.
- 680. Dolan, E., A. Stanton, L. Thijs, K. Hinedi, N. Atkins, S. McClory, E.D. Hond, P. McCormack, J.A. Staessen, and E. O'Brien, *Superiority of ambulatory over clinic blood pressure measurement in predicting mortality: the Dublin outcome study.* Hypertension, 2005. **46**(1): p. 156-161.
- 681. Leung, L.K., Y. Su, R. Chen, Z. Zhang, Y. Huang, and Z.-Y. Chen, *Theaflavins in black tea and catechins in green tea are equally effective antioxidants.* The Journal of nutrition, 2001. **131**(9): p. 2248-2251.
- 682. Duffy, S.J., J.F. Keaney Jr, M. Holbrook, N. Gokce, P.L. Swerdloff, B. Frei, and J.A. Vita, *Short*and long-term black tea consumption reverses endothelial dysfunction in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation, 2001. **104**(2): p. 151-156.
- 683. Mineharu, Y., A. Koizumi, Y. Wada, H. Iso, Y. Watanabe, C. Date, A. Yamamoto, S. Kikuchi, Y. Inaba, and H. Toyoshima, *Coffee, green tea, black tea and oolong tea consumption and risk of mortality from cardiovascular disease in Japanese men and women.* Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health, 2011. **65**(3): p. 230-240.
- 684. Widmer, R., M. Freund, A. Flammer, J. Sexton, R. Lennon, A. Romani, N. Mulinacci, F. Vinceri, L.O. Lerman, and A. Lerman, *Beneficial effects of polyphenol-rich olive oil in patients with early atherosclerosis.* European journal of nutrition, 2013. **52**(3): p. 1223-1231.
- 685. McKay, D.L., C.O. Chen, E. Saltzman, and J.B. Blumberg, *Hibiscus Sabdariffa L. Tea (Tisane) Lowers Blood Pressure in Prehypertensive and Mildly Hypertensive Adults–4.* The Journal of nutrition, 2009. **140**(2): p. 298-303.
- 686. Kardum, N., B. Milovanović, K. Šavikin, G. Zdunić, S. Mutavdžin, T. Gligorijević, and S. Spasić, Beneficial effects of polyphenol-rich chokeberry juice consumption on blood pressure level and lipid status in hypertensive subjects. Journal of medicinal food, 2015. **18**(11): p. 1231-1238.
- 687. Ras, R.T., P.L. Zock, Y.E. Zebregs, N.R. Johnston, D.J. Webb, and R. Draijer, *Effect of polyphenol-rich grape seed extract on ambulatory blood pressure in subjects with pre-and stage I hypertension*. British Journal of Nutrition, 2013. **110**(12): p. 2234-2241.
- 688. Lynn, A., H. Hamadeh, W.C. Leung, J.M. Russell, and M.E. Barker, *Effects of pomegranate juice supplementation on pulse wave velocity and blood pressure in healthy young and middle-aged men and women.* Plant foods for human nutrition, 2012. **67**(3): p. 309-314.
- 689. Tsang, C., N.F. Smail, S. Almoosawi, I. Davidson, and E.A. Al-Dujaili, *Intake of polyphenol-rich pomegranate pure juice influences urinary glucocorticoids, blood pressure and homeostasis*

model assessment of insulin resistance in human volunteers. Journal of nutritional science, 2012. **1**.

- 690. Samaha, F.F., N. Iqbal, P. Seshadri, K.L. Chicano, D.A. Daily, J. McGrory, T. Williams, M. Williams, E.J. Gracely, and L. Stern, *A low-carbohydrate as compared with a low-fat diet in severe obesity*. New England Journal of Medicine, 2003. **348**(21): p. 2074-2081.
- 691. Sahyoun, N.R., P.F. Jacques, X.L. Zhang, W. Juan, and N.M. McKeown, *Whole-grain intake is inversely associated with the metabolic syndrome and mortality in older adults*–. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2006. **83**(1): p. 124-131.
- 692. Bos, M., J. de Vries, E. Feskens, S. Van Dijk, D. Hoelen, E. Siebelink, R. Heijligenberg, and L. de Groot, *Effect of a high monounsaturated fatty acids diet and a Mediterranean diet on serum lipids and insulin sensitivity in adults with mild abdominal obesity.* Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 2010. **20**(8): p. 591-598.
- 693. Manach, C., G. Williamson, C. Morand, A. Scalbert, and C. Rémésy, *Bioavailability and bioefficacy of polyphenols in humans. I. Review of 97 bioavailability studies*–. The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2005. **81**(1): p. 230S-242S.
- 694. Hu, F.B., *Plant-based foods and prevention of cardiovascular disease: an overview.* The American journal of clinical nutrition, 2003. **78**(3): p. 544S-551S.
- 695. Mellen, P.B., T.F. Walsh, and D.M. Herrington, *Whole grain intake and cardiovascular disease: a meta-analysis.* Nutrition, Metabolism and Cardiovascular Diseases, 2008. **18**(4): p. 283-290.
- 696. De Souza, S.R., G.M.M. De Oliveira, R.R. Luiz, and G. Rosa, *Oat Bran Associated with Nutritional Counseling in Treating Obesity and Other Risk Factors for Cardiovascular Disease.* World Academy of Science, Engineering and Technology, International Journal of Medical and Health Sciences, 2017. **4**(5).
- 697. Haas, M.K., Association of Whole Grain Intake with Diabetes and Subclinical CVD in the Multiethnic Study of Atherosclerosis: A Sensitivity Analysis. 2017.

### **Appendix 1: PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET**





PARTICIPANT INFORMATION SHEET

Study title: PRO-GRAIN 2 (Phenolic-rich oats for gut-bacteria relief and artery improvement)

You are being invited to take part in a research study. Before you decide, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with others if you wish. Ask us if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information.

Thank you for your interest in this study and taking your time to reading this participant information sheet.

Chief investigator: Professor Jeremy Spencer

Investigators: Dr Manuel Schar

Sarah Alsharif (PhD Student)

Angelika Kristek (PhD Student)

Gulten Soycan (PhD Student)

Patrizia Stanienda (MSc Student)

Study e-mail: pro.grain@reading.ac.uk

Telephone number: 0118 378 6833

### Background

It is well known that what we eat and drink can have a major role in protecting us from disease. Eating more whole grain products can improve our health and this could, in part, be due to natural elements in whole grains such as phenolic acids. Indeed, regular intakes of phenolic acid related elements found in fruits, vegetables, wine, tea and chocolate has been shown to reduce our risk of suffering from cardiovascular disease. However, the health benefits of phenolic acids from wholegrains remains unclear.

### What is the purpose of the study?

The main purpose of this study is to test if intake of a single portion of whole grain oats improves your heart and blood vessels health and if phenolic acids are, at least in part, responsible for these effects. Potential health benefits will be measured using a range of non-invasive and harmless tests. These include blood vessel elasticity, blood pressure, brain vessel function and potential further markers related to the cardiovascular system.

### Am I suitable to take part?

We aim to recruit male subjects who are generally healthy with high normal to moderately elevated blood pressure. You need to be between 25 and 65 years of age, non-smoking, free of disease, not undertaking regular vigorous exercise and not taking long-term blood pressure or blood fat medication. At the beginning of your study participation, you will receive a health check and we will fully assess your eligibility to take part in the study.

### Do I have to take part?

It is up to you to decide whether you wish to participate in the study. If you decide to proceed, you are free to withdraw at any time, without giving a reason. At your first visit, we will also describe the study to you in further detail and you can ask remaining questions. We will then ask you to sign a consent form to show you have agreed to take part.

What will happen if I decide to take part?

### 'Health and lifestyle questionnaire'

If you wish to take part, please contact us and we will ask you to fill in a health and lifestyle questionnaire. Afterwards and if you meet our broad eligibility criteria, we will invite you to a consent and health check visit.

### 'Consent and health check visit'

For a maximum 1 h morning visit, you will be asked to come to the Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition in the Department of Food and Nutritional Sciences (University of Reading) in an unfed state (fasted, not eating or drinking anything but water from 8pm the night before). At the start of the visit, we will discuss the study, answer all your questions and you will then be asked to give consent for participating in this study. After that, we will measure your weight, height, blood pressure and a skilled nurse or phlebotomist will take a small blood sample (one tablespoon). You will be asked to fill in a questionnaire related to your habitual diet and we ask you to maintain your habitual diet during your study participation. You will receive a breakfast at the end of the visit.

After approx. 2-3 weeks, you will be informed of the results of your health check and whether or not you are suitable to take part in the study. If your results are outside the normal range, we will encourage you to go to your GP to discuss the results of your health check.

### 'Study participation'

If you decide to take part and are suitable for the study, we will arrange 2 study visits at least 2 week apart from each other (See figure below).



On each study visit, we will ask you to stay with us at the Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition from around 8am to 4pm and come back for a short follow-up visit the next morning. The visit will start with a questionnaire, measurement of your weight, height and body composition. A qualified nurse will then place a small flexible cannula into a vein in your arm, and this will remain in place with minimal discomfort to allow us to take blood samples during the study day.

You will then be asked to lie on a bed in a clinical room and we will perform a range of tests (blood vessel function, blood pressure etc.) that are all harmless and non-invasive, and collect small blood samples. Afterwards, you will be asked to consume a study meal, and subsequently the tests as well as blood sample collections will be repeated several times throughout the day (see figure above). We will also ask you to collect your urine until the end of the study visit. To ensure your well-being, we will only take little blood compared to a blood donor session and we will provide you plenty of water, a lunch (consisting of a cheese sandwich) and a dinner "to go" (consisting of a pasta bake and crème brulee). To get valid study results, it is vital that you do not eat and drink anything during the study visit duration, apart from the meals and water that we provide. This includes your time outside the unit during which you will be asked to only consume the dinner "to go" at a specified time (approx. 5pm) and nothing else but water. You will be asked to remain in the nutrition unit for the duration of study visit day 1 where you will have free access to water and facilities to watch TV, DVDs, work, read and use the internet. You will receive a breakfast at the end of study visit day 2.

### Confidentiality, storage and disposal of information

Confidential information will be stored securely and can only be accessed by the study investigators. All information collected during the study will be treated in strict confidence in accordance with the relevant data protection legislation. No information will be disclosed in any way that will allow identification of yourself.

### Are there any benefits/risks to taking part [e.g. health]?

An experienced nurse will perform the blood cannulation, while fasting blood sample collections will be taken by qualified and experienced phlebotomists. There may be a small amount of discomfort during the clinical measures. Although, the measures and blood-taking are generally safe and harmless, minor bruising may occur from the venipuncture or pressure applied by blood pressure cuffs. Risk of allergies may also be possible; however, this risk will be kept to a minimum because only latex-free materials and low allergy plasters will be used.

What expenses and/or payment or equivalent will be made for participation in the study?

As an inconvenience allowance for your time and travel costs that you may incur, you will receive  $\pm 200$  for completing the study. In case of early withdrawal, you will receive the payment correspondent to the study visits you have completed.

What will the results of the study be used for?

The results of this study will be used in thesis of PhD and MSc students, will be published in a scientific journal and presented at international conferences.

Who has reviewed the study?

This project has been reviewed by the University of Reading Research Ethics Committee (Tel: +44 (0) 118 378 7119; Email: m.j.proven@reading.ac.uk) and has been given a favourable opinion for conduct.

Thank you for reading this information. Please contact us if you have any further questions or would like to take part in the study.

# Appendix 2: Health and Lifestyle Questionnaire

All the information provided will remain confidential at all times.

Please fill the questionnaire below.

		DAY		MONT	Н		YEAR			
Date completed	questionnaire									
Example		1	0	J	U	N	2	0	1	4

**Personal Details** 

Title:		Address:			
Forename(s):	Forename(s):				
Surname:					
		Postcode			
Daytime telephone no:		Evening telephone no:			
		E			
Mobile telephone no:		E-mail address:			
Best method (e.g. landline	, mobile, e-mail) and t	ime to contact you:			
	, ,	,			
Date of Birth:	Age today	Sex:			
		Weight (kg):	Proceed? Yes /		
		Height (m):	No		

## Medical & Lifestyle Questions

Brief Medical History

Please tell us if you have any pre-existing health problems, including any of the following:

Medical Questions	Circle as appropriate:	Further Details:
Has your doctor told you that you suffer from heart disease (e.g. Angina), stroke or any other disease of the circulation (i.e. Reynaud's disease)?	YES NO	
Has your doctor diagnosed you as having high blood pressure (hypertension)?	YES NO	
Has your doctor diagnosed you as having high cholesterol?	YES NO	
Has your doctor diagnosed you as having diabetes (either type 1 (insulin dependent) or type 2 (age-onset diabetes))?	YES NO	
Has your doctor diagnosed you with cancer?	YES NO	
Has your doctor diagnosed you with HIV?	YES NO	
Do you have any other health problems?	YES NO	
Do you take any prescription medication?	YES NO	
Do you take any pain killing medication ( e.g. aspirin, paracetamol, nurofen, ibuprofen etc) daily or more than 4 times per week ?	YES NO	

Dietary Intake and Supplement Use

Dietary Questions	Circle as appropriate:	Further Details:
Are you a vegan or vegeterian?	YES NO	
Do you take any form of dietary supplements? For example, minerals/vitamins, antioxidants, phytochemicals or fish oil supplements.	YES NO	
state the product name.		
Do you drink alcohol ?	YES NO	
If yes, how many units do you roughly drink per week ?		
A unit of alcohol is half a pint of beer/lager, a single pub measure of spirits e.g. gin/vodka or a small glass of wine(125ml).		

Thank you for completing this questionnaire.

## **Appendix 3: CONSENT FORM**

#### Consent Form

1. I have read and had explained to me by ..... the accompanying Information Sheet relating to the PROGRAIN 2 study

I have had explained to me the purposes of the project and what will be required of me, and any questions I have had have been answered to my satisfaction. I agree to the arrangements described in the Information Sheet in so far as they relate to my participation.

I understand that participation is entirely voluntary and that I have the right to withdraw from the project any time, and that this will be without detriment.

I authorise the Investigator to consult my General Practitioner, and provide their name and address details overleaf.

This application has been reviewed by the University Research Ethics Committee and has been given a favourable ethical opinion for conduct.

I have received a copy of this Consent Form and of the accompanying Information Sheet.

I consent to my contact details being stored on the Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition Volunteer Database.

I consent to my screening information (date of birth, height, weight, blood pressure smoking status, long-term use of medication, and blood test results such as levels of cholesterol, liver enzymes, haemoglobin, blood cell count) being stored on the Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition Volunteer Database.

Yes	No			
Name	:			
Date Signe	d:	of	birth:	
Date:				
GP de	tails			
Name	:			
Addre	ess:			
•••••				
	·····			
Witne	essed by	<b>/:</b> Name	Signature	Date

#### Initials

## **Appendix 4: Preparation Instructions**

Instant Oatmeal:

- 1. Take pre-weighted oats out of the freezer and give 5min to bring back to room temperature.
- 2. Pour content in a bowl
- 3. Add 420 g of boiling water (determine boiling temperature and consistently reach this temperature each time); stir
- 4. Let sit for 1 minute before serving

Cream of Rice:

- 1. Take container with pre-weighted cream of rice, dry skimmed milk and pectin powder out of the freezer and give 5 min to bring back to room temperature.
- 2. Pour content in a bowl
- 3. Add 6.1g of sunflower oil.
- 4. Add 250 g of boiling water (determine boiling temperature and consistently reach this temperature each time); stir
- 5. Let sit for 1 minute before serving
- 6. Serve with 170g water

Cream of Rice will be purchased from B&G Foods, Inc.

## **Appendix 5: Dietary restrictions in preparation for the study**

To make sure that our measurements at your visit show valid results, it is very important that you avoid any foods that contain phenolic acids for 2 days prior to the study day.

Foods to avoid			nat can be eaten
8	Oats, porridge, or oat bars	0	White bread (plain, no whole grain,
$\otimes$	Whole wheat bread, cereal or products		without seeds)
$\otimes$	Products containing other whole grains	$\odot$	Cereal (plain, no whole grain, without
	(rye, barley or spelt)		fruit, seeds or nuts etc.)
$\overline{\mbox{\ensuremath{\boxtimes}}}$	Fruits	$\odot$	Meat
$\otimes$	Vegetables	$\odot$	Fish
$\otimes$	Soups	$\odot$	Poultry
$\overline{\mbox{$\otimes$}}$	Spices	$\odot$	Eggs
$\otimes$	Herbs	$\odot$	Pasta (plain)
$\otimes$	Flavourings	$\odot$	Rice (plain)
$\otimes$	Nuts and seeds	$\odot$	Potatoes
8	Chocolate	$\odot$	Plain crisps (ready salted, salt & vinegar)
$\otimes$	Crisps flavoured with spices	$\odot$	Butter and margarine
8	Jams, chutneys and dips	٢	Dairy (plain cheese without fruit or spices/hers. Vanilla or greek yoghurts only)

Beverages to avoid		Beverages that can be consumed	
$\otimes$	Fruit juices	$\odot$	Water
$\otimes$	Squash/cordial	$\odot$	Dairy Milk
$\otimes$	Tea including herbal tea		
$\otimes$	Coffee		
$\otimes$	Caffeinated drinks (e.g. red bull, coke)		
$\otimes$	Hot chocolate		
$\otimes$	Alcohol (wine, beer, spirits etc.)		

 $\ensuremath{\mathfrak{S}}$  Soya, almond or oat milk

Meal examples:

- ✓ Eggs and ham
- ✓ Macaroni cheese
- ✓ Fish & chips
- ✓ Baked potatoe with tuna

- ✓ Ham & cheese sandwich
- ✓ Egg mayonnaise sandwich
- ✓ Cheese omelette
- ✓ Mince and potatoes







DevOAT study: DevOAT yourself to a healthy lifestyle

You are being invited to take part in a research study. Before you decide, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve for you. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with family and friends if you wish. Ask us if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information.

Thank you for your interest in this study and taking your time to read this participant information sheet.

Chief investigator: Professor Jeremy Spencer

Investigators: Dr Manuel Schar

Sarah Alsharif (PhD Student)

Angelika Kristek (PhD Student)

Gulten Soycan (PhD Student)

Hanna Petsch (MSc Student)

Study e-mail: <u>DevOAT.study@reading.ac.uk</u> Telephone number: 0118 378 6833

#### Background

It is well known that what we eat and drink can have a major role in protecting us from disease. Eating more whole grain products can improve our health and this could, in part, be due to natural elements in whole grains such as phenolic acids. Indeed, regular intakes of phenolic acid related elements found in fruits, vegetables, wine, tea and chocolate have been shown to reduce our risk of suffering from cardiovascular disease. Fibre from whole grains, on the other hand, is an indigestible carbohydrate (that is usually part of plant foods) with many health effects, mainly by feeding the good bacteria in our gut and easing bowel movements. However, the health benefits of phenolic acids from whole grains remain unclear.

### What is the purpose of the study?

The main purpose of this study is to test if long-term intake of a 70g breakfast cereals and 50g snacks improves your heart, blood vessels and intestinal health; and if phenolic acids are, at least in part, responsible for these effects. Potential health benefits will be measured using a range of non-invasive and harmless tests. These include blood vessel elasticity, blood pressure, gut-bacteria and further markers related to the cardiovascular system.

### Am I suitable to take part?

We aim to recruit people who are generally healthy within study range above 120/75 and 160/100 mmHg. You need to be between 25 and 75 years of age, non-smoking (or who stopped smoking in last 3 month), free of disease, not undertaking regular vigorous exercise and not taking long-term blood pressure or blood fat medication.

Females taking the contraceptive pill or hormone replacement therapy (HRT) can take part. Females who are pregnant, lactating or, if of reproductive age and not using a reliable form of contraception (including abstinence) will not be able to take part in the study.

At the beginning of your study participation, you will receive a health check and we will fully assess your eligibility to take part in the study.

### Do I have to take part?

It is up to you to decide whether you wish to participate in the study. If you decide to proceed, you are still free to withdraw from the study at any time, without giving a reason. At your first visit, we will also describe the study to you in further detail and you can ask remaining questions. We will then ask you to sign a consent form to show you have agreed to take part.

### What will happen if I decide to take part?

'Health and lifestyle questionnaire'

If you wish to take part, please contact us and we will ask you to fill in a health and lifestyle questionnaire. Afterwards and if you meet our broad eligibility criteria, we will invite you to a consent and health check visit. The consent will be taken in an unfed state (fasted, not eating or drinking anything but water from 8pm the night before).

### 'Consent and health check visit'

For a maximum 1 h morning visit, you will be asked to come to the Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition in the Department of Food and Nutritional Sciences (University of Reading) in

an unfed state (fasted, not eating or drinking anything but water from 8pm the night before). At the start of the visit, we will discuss the study, answer all your questions and you will then be asked to give consent for participating in this study.

After that, we will measure your weight, height, blood pressure and a skilled nurse or phlebotomist will take a small blood sample (equivalent to two tablespoons). You will be asked to fill in a questionnaire related to your habitual diet and we ask you to maintain your habitual diet during your study participation. You will receive a breakfast at the end of the visit.

After approx. 2-3 weeks, you will be informed of the results of your health check and whether or not you are suitable to take part in the study. If your results are outside the normal range, we will ask for your consent to send the results to your GP and encourage you to discuss these with your GP. If you are eligible we will inform your GP that you volunteered to participate in our study.

### 'Familiarisation visit'

If you decide to take part and are suitable for the study, we will arrange a familiarisation visit at the Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition. A demonstration of the vascular measurements will be given, while all further aspects of the study will be discussed in detail, including the gastrointestinal questionnaires, 3 day food diaries, intake of the study intervention materials, collection of the stool and urine samples and dietary & exercise restrictions.

### `Dietary restrictions`

For a two week period prior to your first study visit and during your total study participation (22 weeks), you will be asked to follow your habitual diet but to limit your intake of phenolic acid rich beverages (i.e. coffee and tea) to no more than 2 cups (400ml) per day and not to consume confirmed probiotics (e.g. live yoghurts, fermented milk drinks), supplementary prebiotics (such as inulin) (check last page of the Information sheet) and avoid any oat products.

### `Study participation`

If you decide to take part and are suitable for the study, we will contact you in order to offer you an option of appointments for your study participation lasting 22 weeks in total (see figure below). Your participation will include that on three periods lasting 4 weeks each you eat a specific breakfast and afternoon snack every day, and that you attend six study visits at the Nutrition Unit. The day after each of these six visits, we will also ask you to drop off the blood pressure monitor, urine and stool samples (5min visit). Overall there are 14 visits to the Nutrition Unit (including health check and familiarisation visits). We will provide the breakfasts and afternoon snacks, which will consist of products made of oats, rice or wheat.

#### A Study overview

Visi	it 1 Vis	it 2 Visi	it 3 Vis	sit 4 Vis	sit 5 Visit 6
(0w	/k) (4v	vk) (8w	/k) (12	2wk) (16	6wk) (20wk
Run in period 2 week)	4 week: daily intake of study breakfast and afternoon spack	4 weeks: habitual diet, but no oats and limited coffee/tea	4 week: daily intake of study breakfast and afternoon snack	4 weeks: habitual diet, but no oats and limited coffee/tea	4 week: daily intake of study breakfast and afternoon spack

#### Study visits`

On each study visit, we will ask you to stay with us for 3 hours at the Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition (for example from 8am to 11am) in an overnight fasted state (see figure below). The visit will start with a questionnaire, measurement of your weight, height and body composition. You will then be asked to lie on a bed in a clinical room and we will perform a range of tests (blood vessel function, blood pressure etc.) that are all harmless and non-invasive, and collect a small blood sample (3 tablespoon). Anytime during the course of the morning we will also require you to provide a stool sample. We will provide you with a breakfast before you leave the Nutrition Unit.

For the 24h after your visit, we will ask you to collect your urine and to wear a blood pressure monitor that will inflate every 30min during daytime and every hour during night-time. The following day, at a time convenient to you after 11am, we will ask you to return the urine and blood pressure monitor to us. Furthermore, you will be given the breakfasts and afternoon snacks, which you will be consuming over the following 4 weeks.



\* Restrictions include: no strenuous exercise and no intake of a range of foods (see list on last page). On the evening before the visit, we will ask you to consume a provided dinner and then fast ≥12h. \*\* Indicated times are only an example and can be agreed on an individual basis. Before each study visit, you will also be asked to complete a 28-day gastrointestinal well-being diary and a 3-day food diary. Moreover, from 24h before your study visit to the end of your blood pressure monitoring you will be asked to abstain from vigorous exercise and follow dietary restrictions low in phenolic acids, and free of alcohol, caffeine and fish (see list on last page).

Confidentiality, storage and disposal of information

Confidential information will be stored securely and can only be accessed by the study investigators. All information collected during the study will be treated in strict confidence in accordance with the relevant data protection legislation. No information will be disclosed in any way that will allow identification of yourself.

Are there any benefits/risks to taking part [e.g. health]?

By taking part in this study you will be helping us understand more about the health benefits of phenolic acids from whole grains.

The fasting blood sample collections will be taken by qualified and experienced phlebotomists or nurse. There may be a small amount of discomfort during the clinical measures. Although, the measures and blood-taking are generally safe and harmless, minor bruising may occur from the venepuncture or pressure applied by blood pressure cuffs. Risk of allergies may also be possible; however, this risk will be kept to a minimum because only latex-free materials and low allergy plasters will be used.

What if I do not wish to take part or change my mind?

The study is voluntary so that you should not feel under any pressure to take part. If you do decide to take part you are still free to withdraw at any time.

What if something goes wrong?

In the event that something does go wrong and you are harmed during the study the University of Reading has in place Professional Indemnity Insurances that provide cover against negligence, error or omission for the activities of its employers.

Who is sponsoring and funding the research

This study is sponsored by the University of Reading and financed by the UK government (90 %) and PepsiCo Research & Development (10 %).

What expenses and/or payment or equivalent will be made for participation in the study?

As an inconvenience allowance for your time and travel costs that you may incur, you will receive £300 for completing the study. In case of early withdrawal, you will receive the payment correspondent to the study days you have completed.

What will the results of the study be used for?

The results of this study will be used in the thesis of PhD and MSc students, will be published in a scientific journal and presented at international conferences.

Who has reviewed the study?

This project has been reviewed by the University of Reading Research Ethics Committee (Tel: +44 (0) 118 378 7119; Email: <u>m.j.proven@reading.ac.uk</u>) and has been given a favorable opinion for conduct.

All research in the NHS is looked at by an independent group of people, called a Research Ethics Committee, to protect your interests. This study has been reviewed and given a favourable opinion by the London – Bromley Research Ethics Committee.

Who do I contact for further information or complaints?

Main point of contact:	For formal complaints:	
Dr Manuel Schar	Prof. Jeremy Spencer (Principal Investigator)	
Email: <u>DevOat.study@reading.ac.uk</u>	Email: j.p.e.spencer@reading.ac.uk	
<i>Tel:</i> 0118 378 6833	<i>Tel:</i> 0118 378 8724	
Address: Department of Food and	Address: Department of Food and Nutritional	
Nutritional Sciences, PO Box 266,	Sciences, PO Box 266, University of Reading,	
University of Reading, Whiteknights	Whiteknights Campus, Reading, RG6 6AP	
Campus, Reading, RG6 6AP		

Thank you for reading this information. Please contact us if you have any further questions or would like to take part in the study.

This study has been reviewed according to procedures specified by the University of Reading Research Ethics Committee and has been given a favourable opinion for conduct (<u>www.reading.ac.uk/internal/res/ResearchEthics</u>)

One copy to be given to the participant and one copy to be kept in the investigator study file.

# Appendix 7: Medical and Lifestyle Questionnaire

Chronic cardiovascular and gut-bacteria effects of phenolic rich oats in adults with above average blood pressure.

Name:	Title:	
Address:		Date of Birth:
		Age:
Daytime Telephone:	Evening Telephone:	Best time to call:
Weight (kg):	Height (m):	BMI (kg/m²):
E-mail:		
Do you use emails on a regular ba	asis? YES/NO	

How did you hear about the study? \_\_\_\_\_

Please circle as appropriate

Medical questions

Have you been diagnosed as having any of the following?

a) High blood cholesterol YES/NO

b) High blood pressure YES/NO

YES/NO

If you recently had your blood pressure measured, can you give us a rough estimate of what the pressure was? (Reference example: 120 / 80 mmHg)

c) Thyroid disorder	YES/NO		
d) Diabetes or other endo	crine disorders	YES/NO	
e) Heart problems, stroke	or any vascular disease in the	e past 12 months	YES/NO
f) Inflammatory diseases (	e.g. rheumatoid arthritis)	YES/NO	
g) Renal, gastrointestinal, h) YES/NO	respiratory or liver disease		YES/NO Cancer
i) Chronic constipation, dia	arrhoea or other chronic gastr	ointestinal complaint (e.g.	
irritable	bowel		syndrome)

Have you been diagnosed as suffering from any other illness? YES/NO

If 'YES', please give details

Within the past 3 months, have you taken any medication (prescription or non-prescription)? YES/NO

If 'YES', what are they and for what reasons?

Have you had any surgery within the past 3 months or do you have surgery planned? YES/NO *If 'YES', please give details* 

Have you ever suffered from a pulmonary embolism, deep vein thrombosis, blood clots or had a blood transfusion? YES/NO

YES/NO

If 'YES', please give details

Do you have a pacemaker?

Do you regularly take painkillers? YES/NO

If 'YES', please give details

Lifestyle questions

Are you currently taking part in or within the last 3 months been involved in a clinical trial or a research study? YES/NO

If 'YES', please give details:

Have you been screened or contacted recently about a study? YES/NO

If 'YES', please give details

Are you a blood donor? YES/NO

If 'YES', when was the last time you gave blood?

If you are eligible to participate in the study, are you willing to postpone further blood donations until 3 months after your final study visit? YES/NO

Do you have any food allergies (e.g. gluten or dairy) or intolerances (e.g. lactose)? YES/NO

If 'YES', what are they?

Do you use any of the following:

Dietary supplements, e.g. fish oils, evening primrose oil, vitamins or minerals (such as iron or calcium); YES/NO

Probiotics, e.g. Actimel, Yakult, Activia yoghurts or capsules; YES/NO

Cholesterol-lowering products, e.g. Flora Pro-Activ or Benecol? YES/NO

If 'YES' to any, please give details

Are you vegetarian or vegan? YES/NO

If 'YES', please specify

Are you following or planning to start a restricted diet, e.g. to lose weight? YES/NO

If 'YES', would you be willing to postpone this until after your final study visit? YES/NO

Do you drink alcohol? YES/NO

If 'YES', approximately how many units do you drink per week? \_\_\_\_\_Units

One unit of alcohol is half a pint of beer/lager, a single pub measure of spirits e.g. gin/vodka, or a small glass of wine (125 ml).

How much exercise do you participate in per week (not including walking)?

Please specify: i) type of exercise (this includes cycling to work), ii) how often & iii) duration

Do you regularly consume wholegrain (e.g. breakfast cereal, dark bread, brown rice)?

If so, please say which types and estimate how many servings per day.

Do you regularly consume coffee?

If so, please estimate how many cups per day.

Do you regularly consume tea?

If so, please estimate how many cups per day.

Do you smoke? YES/NO

If 'YES, please give details

If female, are you pregnant, intending to become pregnant or breast-feeding? YES/NO

If female, are you using contraception? YES/NO

If yes, please give details.

This is the end of the questionnaire - thank you for your time.

All information provided will remain confidential at all times.
## **Appendix 8: Consent Form**

Study title: Devoat study (Phenolic-rich oats for gut-bacteria relief and artery improvement)

1. I confirm that have read and had explained to me by ..... the accompanying Information Sheet relating to the DevOAT study

I have had explained to me the purposes of the project and what will be required of me, and any questions I had were answered to my satisfaction. I agree to the arrangements described in the Information Sheet in so far as they relate to my participation.

I understand that participation is entirely voluntary and that I have the right to withdraw from the project any time without giving any reason, and that this will be without detriment

I understand that relevant sections of any of my data collected during the study, may be looked at by responsible individuals from University of Reading , where it is relevant to my taking part in this research. I give permission for these individuals to have access to my records

I authorise the Investigator to consult my General Practitioner, provide their name and address details overleaf and inform the GP about my study participation.

I agree for my blood, urine, stool samples to be stored for future use in this research study

This application has been reviewed by the University Research Ethics Committee and has beengivenafavourableethicalopinionforconduct.

I have received a copy of this Consent Form and of the accompanying Information Sheet.

I consent to my contact details being stored on the Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition Volunteer Database.

I consent to my screening information (date of birth, height, weight, blood pressure smoking status, long-term use of medication, and blood test results such as levels of cholesterol, liver enzymes, haemoglobin, blood cell count) being stored on the Hugh Sinclair Unit of Human Nutrition Volunteer Database.

Initials

Initials

Name:			
Date	of	birth:	
Signed:			
Date:			
GP details			
Name:			
Address:			
Witnessed by			
Name		Signature	
Date			

One copy to be given to the participant and one copy to be kept in the investigator study file.

## Appendix 9: Dietary restrictions in preparation for the study

To make sure that our measurements at your visit show valid results, it is very important that you avoid any foods that contain phenolic acids for **1 day** prior to the six study days.

Foods t	to avoid	Foods that can be eaten			
$\overline{\mathbf{O}}$	Oats, porridge, or oat bars	$\odot$	White bread (plain, no whole grain,		
$\overline{\otimes}$	Whole wheat bread, cereal or		without seeds)		
	products	$\odot$	Cereal (plain, no whole grain, without		
$\overline{\mathbf{S}}$	Products containing other whole		fruit, seeds or nuts etc.)		
	grains (rye, barley or spelt)	$\odot$	Meat		
$\overline{\mathbf{S}}$	Fruits	$\odot$	Poultry		
$\overline{\otimes}$	Vegetables	$\odot$	Eggs		
$\overline{\otimes}$	Vegetable oils	$\odot$	Pasta (plain)		
$\overline{\otimes}$	Soups	$\odot$	Rice (plain)		
$\overline{\mbox{\ensuremath{\boxtimes}}}$	Spices	$\odot$	Potatoes		
$\overline{\mbox{\ensuremath{\boxtimes}}}$	Herbs	$\odot$	Plain crisps (ready salted)		
$\overline{\mathbf{i}}$	Flavourings	$\odot$	Butter and margarine		
$\overline{\mbox{\ensuremath{\boxtimes}}}$	Nuts and seeds	$\odot$	Plain cheese (without fruit or		
$\overline{\otimes}$	Chocolate and chocolate biscuits		spices/herbs)		
$\overline{\otimes}$	Crisps flavoured with spices	$\odot$	Plain or Greek style yoghurts		
$\overline{\mathbf{i}}$	Jams, chutneys and dips				
$\overline{\mathbf{S}}$	Fish				

Beverages to avoid Beverages that can be consumed ⊗ Fruit juices ③ Water ⊗ Squash/cordial ② Dairy Milk ☺ Tea including herbal tea ⊗ Coffee ☺ Caffeinated drinks (e.g. red bull, coke) ☺ Hot chocolate Meal examples: ⊖ Alcohol (wine, beer, spirits etc.) © Eggs and ham ⊗ Soya, almond or oat milk Macaroni cheese
Baked potato with tuna ③ Ham & cheese sandwich © Egg mayonnaise sandwich ③ Cheese omelette ③ Mince and potatoes

## Appendix 10: 24-HOURS AMBULATORY BLOOD PRESSURE MEASURMENT DIARY

Volunte	eer number:	Diary number: 1/2/3/4/5/6		
Day:	M / Tu / W / Th / F / Sa / Su	Date:		
ABP Number :				
Time yo	ou went to sleep:	Time you woke up:		
Did you	u do any exercise? Y / N	If yes, at what time:		

Note: you do not need to record your activities for the first two readings.

Time	Activity (please circle)			Other activity / comments
07:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
07:30	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
08:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
08:30	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
09:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
09:30	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
10:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
10:30	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
11:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
11:30	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
12:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
12:30	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
13:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
13:30	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
14:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
14:30	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
15:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
15:30	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
16:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
16:30	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	

17:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
17:30	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
18:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	
18:30	Lying down	Sitting	Standing	

Time	Activity (please circle)			Other a comments	activity	/
19:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing			
19:30	Lying down	Sitting	Standing			
20:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing			
20:30	Lying down	Sitting	Standing			
21:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing			
21:30	Lying down	Sitting	Standing			
22:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing			
23:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing			
00:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing			
01:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing			
02:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing			
03:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing			
04:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing			
05:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing			
06:00	Lying down	Sitting	Standing			